MATERNAL AND PUP GROWTH STRATEGIES OF SYMPATRIC ANTARCTIC AND SUBANTARCTIC FUR SEALS AT ILE DE LA POSSESSION, ILES CROZET, SOUTHERN INDIAN OCEAN

SEBASTIÁN P. LUQUE





# Maternal and pup growth strategies of sympatric Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals at Ile de la Possession, Iles Crozet, Southern Indian Ocean

© Sebastián P. Luque

A dissertation submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Biology, Faculty of Science Memorial University Submitted: 2009-03-10 St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada

#### Abstract

Otariid pinnipeds exhibit large variation in lactation duration, and pups wean at different times of cycles in marine productivity. Interspecific comparisons to understand the mechanisms driving variation in maternal care strategies and pup development are difficult due to inability to control for confounding effects of differences in environment. Therefore, I investigated interspecific differences in foraging ecology, allocation of maternal resources into pups, and use of maternal resources by pups as they approach weaning, between sympatric Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals at Ile de la Possession, Iles Crozet, Southern Indian Ocean. Females of both fur seal species fed on the same myctophid fish prey over largely overlapping areas, with minor but important differences in the proportion of prey species consumed. SFS females showed less diel variation in diving behaviour, suggesting that they followed the nycthymeral migrations of their prey to a smaller extent than AFS. Diving occurred exclusively at night in both species, but SFS females dove deeper and for longer periods. AFS females had smaller aerobic dive limit (ADL), but had higher propensity to dive anaerobically. AFS females exploited more patches per unit time, and remained in them for briefer periods of time. AFS females foraged in patches of better quality, at the cost of greater foraging effort. Body shape differed significantly between species from birth, and growth involved the acquisition of a longer, more slender body with larger foreflippers in AFS. Allometric analysis showed that body shape differences present at birth were exacerbated during growth, so AFS were physically more mature at 100 d of age. Milk composition did not differ between species, and total energy intake was significantly higher in AFS at any given age. SFS pups had proportionally larger total body lipid reserves, and had lower resting

and daily metabolic rates than AFS pups. Results suggest that, under comparable foraging conditions, maternal expenditure is larger in AFS, in response to a relatively briefer and more inflexible duration of lactation.

#### Acknowledgements

The work presented here was, for me, the realization of a "dream" project for a doctoral thesis. This unique privilege was given to me by my co-supervisor Christophe Guinet at the Centre D'Etudes Biologiques de Chizé, France, who ensured the project received proper funding for gear and complex research logistics in a remote location. I am deeply grateful for the encouragement, discussions, and freedom to pursue my interests that he entrusted me with throughout these years. I will never forget the great times we shared in the field and in Chizé, where I have also learned a new language and made new friends.

The Institut Polaire Français Paul Emile Victor (IPEV) provided financial and logistic support for field work, transporting the numerous research teams around the subantarctic islands. Alain Lamalle and Roland Pagny, onboard the RSV Marion Dufresne, ensured the huts where we lived at La Mare aux Elephants were properly prepared and installed, and safely transported us to and from our field site, which was remote even by the standards of subantarctic stations.

The members of the 39th and 40th missions of Volontaires à L'aide Tecnique (VAT) to Iles Crozet, in particular: Frédéric Pawlowski, Frédéric Bailleul, and Pierrick Blanchard, provided invaluable help in the field with animal captures, handling and recording both in my presence and during the winter, when I could not be there. John P. Y. Arnould, Laurent Dubroca, Jenny Kingston, and François Grosvalet also helped in these activities under often stressful conditions. André Lacroix provided assistance working with the scintillation counter at CEBC, for tritiated water analyses. I am grateful to the students and staff at CEBC, Chizé: Gwénaël Beauplet, Dominique Besson, Olivier Chastel, Yves Cherel, Olivier Duriez, Jean-Yves Georges, Jérôme Guillaumin, Stephanie Jenouvrier, Armelle Lagarde, Maud Poisbleau, Yann Tremblay, Henri Weimerskirch, and Martin Biuw, for warmly welcoming me in the lab, the very entertaining moments at the "Grande Cuisine", and equally supportive academic environment. Unforgettable memories and good friendship.

My "dream" project would not have become a real thesis at Memorial University, had it not been for Edward (Ted) H. Miller's interest in it from the beginning. Ted enthusiastically agreed to co-supervise my thesis at Memorial University, and understood all the difficulties I was having trying to turn this project into a doctoral thesis. He provided crucial support in applications for research funding and a graduate student fellowship from the Department of Biology. I have profoundly enjoyed the stimulating and friendly academic atmosphere that he helped create in our own lab and beyond. Most importantly, I have grown as a researcher and improved my thinking thanks to his feedback in drafts and conversations.

I thank my committee members: Richard Haedrich, Garry Stenson (Fisheries and Oceans Canada), and Anne Storey for advice and comments that helped me zoom out to the big picture. Although not in my committee, John P. Y. Arnould (Deakin University) has helped me to solve difficult obstacles and helped me to sharpen my ideas through long talks in the field, and phone and email conversations across the 16 time zones between us. His research and input have been an inspiration. Similarly, Gary Sneddon at the Department of Mathematics and Statistics has provided invaluable help with many quantitative analyses. Ray Thompson allowed me to use his laboratory in the Ocean Sciences Centre for milk composition analysis.

Critical funding for my research, in addition to IPEV, was provided by the Draney-Anderson Foundation. In particular, I am deeply grateful to Robert and Kaydi Draney for their support and trust since the planning stages of my programme.

I thank my friends at Memorial and vicinity: Claudio Corbelli, Johanne Dussureault, Keith Elms, Ian Jones, Steve Insley, Rosana Paredes, Sandra Pereda, Martin Renner, and Simona Sanvito, for all the evenings of great international cuisine

V

and laughter.

I benefited greatly from the GNU Free Software Foundation (FSF) and community, led by Richard Stallman. Unlike propietary software, The FSF has provided an entire operating system and thousands of software programs that users are free to use ethically and share among friends and colleagues, while learning and sharing with the rest of society. I thank the members of the GNU R mailing list, in particular: Doug Bates, Roger Bivand, Dirk Eddelbuettel, John Fox, Andy Liaw, Martin Maechler, Brian Ripley, and Deepayan Sarkar, for their feedback during development of package diveMove. Numerous people have also helped me get through technical issues elsewhere in the FSF community, including the Emacs, GMT, GRASS, and LATEX mailing lists.

I thank my partner, Magaly Chambellant, for her encouragement and having put up with so many efforts and sacrifices along the way. Her help with numerous details during the 2002/03 field work season, and her keen interest and input on the pup development aspects presented here were important contributions.

Finally, I thank my parents: Mandy Flores and Rodrigo Perez, for making me feel so much closer through their warmth and support.

#### **Co-authorship statement**

I designed the research proposal for this thesis in agreement with my co-supervisors, Christophe Guinet (Centre D'Etudes Biologiques de Chizé) and Edward H. Miller (Memorial University). I am the principal author in all chapters and sections of this thesis, having performed all aspects of research from design, data collection in the field and laboratory, analyses, and manuscript preparation. My co-supervisors, Christophe Guinet and Edward H. Miller, co-authors and collaborators provided guidance and peer review during this process. Numerous other individuals provided help during field work and data analysis, and their contributions are described in the Acknowledgements section. The project was part of a larger programme funded by the Institut Polaire Français Paul Emile Victor (IPEV) for research in the French Antarctic and Subantarctic territories. All the material presented here is the result of my own work, except for Appendix C.1 (led by Frédéric Bailleul) and Appendix C.2 (led by Dr. John P. Y. Arnould), which were concurrent and complementary projects, derived from my initial research proposal. I contributed initial ideas, efforts in data collection, and comments during manuscript preparation for these projects that complement Parts I and II of the thesis, respectively.

# Contents

	Abs	tract	ii
	Ack	nowledgements	iv
	Co-	authorship statement	vii
1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Maternal care and offspring growth strategies in sympatry	1
	1.2	Study system	2
	1.3	Study site	8
	1.4	Natural history of Iles Crozet and Southern Indian Ocean	9
		1.4.1 Oceanography	9
		1.4.2 Fish and squid: the major prey of sea manmals and birds $\ldots$	11
		1.4.3 Seabirds	14
		1.4.4 Pinnipeds	15
	1.5	Objectives and thesis structure	18
I	M	aternal strategies	27
2	Fora	aging behaviour of adult females	28
	2.1	Introduction	29
	2.2	Materials and methods	33
		2.2.1 Fur seal study colonies	33

		2.2.2	Instrumentation, maternal attendance and diving behaviour $\ .$	34
		2.2.3	Diet	36
		2.2.4	Statistical analyses	37
	2.3	Resul	ts	38
		2.3.1	Maternal attendance and foraging-trip duration	38
		2.3.2	Diving behaviour	40
		2.3.3	Diet	42
	2.4	Discu	ssion	43
		2.4.1	Differences in maternal attendance and foraging-trip duration	44
		2.4.2	Interspecific differences in diving behaviour and diet	46
3	Ten	poral :	structure of diving behaviour	58
	3.1	Identi	fying bouts	58
		3.1.1	Introduction	59
		3.1.2	Methods	62
		3.1.3	Results	67
		3.1.4	Discussion	68
	3.2	Temp	oral structure	78
		3.2.1	Introduction	79
		3.2.2	Materials and methods	83
		3.2.3	Results	88
		3.2.4	Discussion	90
П	All	locatio	on of maternal resources and pup development 10	04
4	Pup	growt	h and physical development 1	105
	4.1	Introd	uction	.06

	4.2	Mater	rials and methods $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ 10	)9
		4.2.1	Fur seal colonies and identification procedures	)9
		4.2.2	Morphometric measurements	0.
		4.2.3	Analyses	1
	4.3	Result	ts	.4
		4.3.1	Neonatal and adult body size	.4
		4.3.2	Growth	.4
		4.3.3	Allometry	.5
	4.4	Discus	ssion	.6
		4.4.1	Neonatal and adult body size	6
		4.4.2	Preweaning growth and allometry	9
5	Due	physic	Jorical development and such that the factor of a	
9	Pup	pnysic	logical development and growth dynamics 13	0
	5.1	Introd	uction	1
	5.2	Metho	ds	4
		5.2.1	Study site and animals	4
		5.2.2	Body composition	5
		5.2.3	Milk composition	7
		5.2.4	Pup mass changes	8
		5.2.5	Statistical analyses	9
	5.3	Result	s	0
		5.3.1	Body composition	0
		5.3.2	Milk composition	1
		5.3.3	Pup mass changes during maternal foraging cycles 14	1
	5.4	Discus	sion $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $142$	2

11	I Sy	Inthesis	154
Bi	ibliog	raphy	160
A	ppei	ndices	195
A	Soft	tware	196
В	Pub	lished chapters and sections	204
	B.1	Foraging behaviour of adult females	204
	B.2	Maximum likelihood method for identifying diving bouts	217
	B.3	Temporal structure of diving behaviour in adult females	236
	B.4	Pup growth and physical development	250
С	Co-a	authored publications	262
	C.1	At-sea distribution of adult females	262
	C.2	Pup metabolism	273

## List of Tables

2.1	Summary of data on lactating female Antarctic (AFS) and subantarc-	
	tic (SFS) fur seals fitted with time-depth recorders (TDRs) on Iles	
	Crozet, in the breeding seasons of 2001-02 and 2002-03	9

- 2.2 Summary of durations of overnight (OFT) and long (LFT) foraging trips, and of the ensuing period ashore, for Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals on Iles Crozet. Mean  $\pm$  SE (N) are shown . 49
- 2.3 Overall summary of summer diving behaviour of Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals on Iles Crozet. Mean  $\pm$  SE (N) are shown 50
- 2.4 Quantitative summary of diving behaviour of Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals on Iles Crozet, during overnight (OFT) and long (LFT) foraging trips. Mean ± SE (N) are shown ...... 51
- 3.2 Summary of dive data obtained from lactating female Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals fitted with time-depth recorders (TDRs) on Ile de la Possession, in the breeding seasons of 2001-02 and 2002-03 98

- 4.3 Summary of morphometric differences between adult Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seal females. Cell entries are mean  $\pm$  SE (n)124
- 4.4 Summary of effects of species ( $\beta_{01}$  and  $\beta_{11}$ ), sex ( $\beta_{02}$  and  $\beta_{12}$ ), and their interactions ( $\beta_{03}$ ) on growth of Antarctic and subantarctic fur seal pups, estimated using model (4.1). SE is in parentheses . . . . 125
- 4.5 Comparison of growth rates of Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS)
  fur seal pups, estimated using model (4.1). Cell entries are the estimated slope taken from the model (lower upper 95% confidence limits)126

5.3	Composition of milk from Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS)
	fur seal females, at 36.9 d (range: 9–87) and 37.3 d (range: 0–82) of
	lactation, respectively
5.4	Changes in Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) and deviance during
	stepwise procedure for selecting model of variation in mass gained
	during maternal attendances. The procedure began with a model in-
	cluding the duration of the preceding maternal foraging trip (FTD),
	species, sex, initial mass $(m_1)$ , and all their interactions. The terms
	shown produced significant reductions in AIC, so were not retained.
	The final model included additive effects of FTD, species, and inter-
	action between species and FTD
5.5	Mass gained during maternal attendances, and mass-specific rate of
	mass loss (MSRML) during maternal foraging trips by Antarctic

# List of Figures

- 1.2 Phocid pinnipeds are, in general, larger than otariids, and in a) the largest species (e.g., elephant and hooded seals), mothers can build up and store most of the energy needed for lactation during a prolonged "foraging" trip that lasts most of their reproductive cycle. In this case, mothers can remain ashore, fasting, for the entire duration of lactation, which is briefer than that of otariids. Some pups are able to marginally prolong lactation by stealing milk from a female whose pup has died. However, in b) the smallest species (e.g., harbour and ringed seals), females cannot afford this strategy and, therefore, require frequent foraging to sustain the costs of lactation, especially in late lactation. This strategy is reminiscent of that observed in otariids, although lactation remains considerably briefer in phocids, and pups are weaned in late spring. The meaning of symbols is as in Figure 1.1
- 1.3 Distribution of Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic fur seal (SFS) breeding colonies in relation to average position of Southern Ocean fronts (Orsi et al. 1995, Moore et al. 1999b). The size of the symbols is proportional to the fraction of the total estimated population of each species at each locality. Empty circles demarcate sympatric sites . . .

22

23

24

- 1.5 Study site (La Mare aux Elephants) at the western end of Ile de la Possession, Iles Crozet. a) Zones where Antarctic (AFS) and sub-antarctic (SFS) fur seals were concentrated during the birth period and early lactation are indicated by the solid arrows. The dashed white line separates the colonies of each species. Nursing females and their pups spread over larger areas throughout lactation, with AFS occupying the much wider area inland up to the plateau and hills (upper left) with tussock, and SFS spreading to a much smaller area within the rocky and bouldery zone just inland from the birth zone.
  b) The typical tussock zone where AFS females nursed their pups. c) The typical rocky, bouldery, zone where SFS females nursed their pups 25
- 1.6 Seasonal composite (2002 to 2008) of sea surface temperature structure of ocean fronts (left panels) and chlorophyll a concentration (right panels) around Iles Crozet, as observed via MODIS Aqua satellite during spring (a, b), summer (c, d), autumn (e, f), and winter (g, h). The 1000, 2000, 3000, and 4000 m isobaths are shown as thin black solid lines. From north to south: Subtropical Front (solid white line), Subantarctic Front (dashed white line), and Antarctic Polar Front (dotted white line). Note the persistent northward intrusion of the Polar Frontal Zone between the Crozet plateau around the archipelago (white star) and, to the west, the Del Cano rise (white triangle) . . . 26

xvii

2.2	Frequency distributions of foraging-trip durations for sympatric lac-
	tating female Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals at Iles
	Crozet are variable and highly skewed. A discontinuity in duration is
	apparent (arrows), which was used to distinguish between brief and
	long trips (see text). Data were binned at 0.25 d

53

54

55

- 2.3 Long foraging trips (LFTs) increased in duration over the breeding season (upper) but periods of maternal attendance on land did not (lower), for sympatric lactating female Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals at Iles Crozet. Lines represent fitted linear regressions. The thin gray dashed line (upper) at 1 d separates OFTs and LFTs .....
- 2.4 Diel patterns in depth (a) and duration (b) of foraging dives differed between sympatric lactating female Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals at ILes Crozet, for overnight (OFT, right) and long (LFT, left) foraging trips. Values are mean ± SE

3.1 Relative cumulative frequencies (observed as a stepped function; estimated as the smooth lines) estimated through the maximum likelihood estimation method (MLM) were in better agreement with observed data than those estimated through log frequency analysis (SDA). A bin width of 5 s was used to fit the model through the log frequency analysis. Results of paired Student's *t*-tests comparing the squared residuals between models are also shown .....

75

76

3.5	The temporal separation between foraging patches, as indicated by
	post-bout intervals, is briefer in lactating Antarctic (AFS) than sub-
	antarctic fur seal (SFS) females, during long (LFT) and overnight
	(OFT) foraging trips. The dotted lines indicate the post-bout in-
	terval with the highest kernel density estimate. The shaded region
	denotes intervals $> 12$ hr; i.e. bouts occurring on different foraging
	nights
3.6	Lactating Antarctic (AFS) fur seal females forage more frequently
	than subantarctic (SFS) females between the surface and 20 m, and
	below 80 m. SFS females spend a greater proportion of their bouts
	between 30 and 60 m
3.7	Briefest surface post-dive intervals increase exponentially for dive du-
	rations longer than 150 and 250 s in lactating Antarctic (AFS) and
	subantarctic (SFS) fur seal females, respectively
3.8	Lactating Antarctic (AFS) fur seal females encounter foraging patches
	with higher index of patch quality (IPQ) than subantarctic (SFS)
	fur seal females at depths between 50 and 100 m. They also exploit
	patches at depths $> 140$ m, which are not used by SFS and where
	variation in IPQ is large. Values are mean $\pm$ SE
4.1	Rates of growth in a) body mass and b) body volume did not differ
	between Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seal pups during
	lactation, but growth in c) body length was faster in AFS pups, based
	on equation (4.1). The vertical dotted line indicates the weaning age

of AFS pups. See Table 4.5 for estimated growth rates ..... 127

- 4.2 Foreflipper length (a), width (b), and surface area (c) grew faster in Antarctic (AFS) compared to subantarctic (SFS) fur seal pups during lactation, based on equation (4.1). The vertical dotted line indicates weaning age of AFS pups. See Table 4.5 for estimated growth rates . 128
- 4.3 Body shape of pups at approximately 100 d of age shows more similarities with that of adults in Antarctic (AFS) than in subantarctic (SFS) fur seals, based on a) aspect ratio (relationship between foreflipper span<sup>2</sup> to foreflipper surface area), and b) relationship of distance distance from tip of nose to axillae (RL3) to body length. The slope of the relationship (lower, upper 95% confidence limits) are shown . . 129

# Acronyms

#### Behaviour

ADL Aerobic dive limit.

BEC Bout-ending criterion.

IPQ Index of patch quality.

LFT Long foraging trip.

**OFT** Overnight foraging trip.

#### Equipment

**PTT** Platform Transmitter Terminal.

TDR Time-depth recorder.

#### Oceanography

ACC Antarctic Circumpolar Current.

APF Antarctic Polar Front.

**ARF** Agulhas Return Front.

**PFZ** Polar Frontal Zone.

SAF Subantarctic Front.

STF Subtropical Front.

#### Study system

AFS Antarctic fur seal.

MAE La Mare aux Elephants.

SFS Subantarctic fur seal.

### Chapter 1

### Introduction

# 1.1 Maternal care and offspring growth strategies: insights from comparisons among sympatric species and populations

Ecological segregation results from competitive exclusion whereby two species having the same ecological niche, the concept of space occupied by a given species, which includes both the physical space, as well as the functional role of the species (Hutchinson 1957), cannot coexist indefinitely. Thus, sympatric species should either have different ecological function in their ecosystem, and/or have different reproductive strategies, so that species coexistence remains possible. Coexistence is inversely related to phylogenetic distance among primates (Houle 1997), so the mechanisms involved are most suitably studied among closely related species (MacArthur and Levins 1967, Abrams 1983). Finding appropriate research models can, thus, be challenging because closely related species are not often found in sympatry or syntopy. However, carefully chosen models of insect communities (Dietrich and Wehner 2003), terrestrial (Schoener et al. 1979, Fedigan and Rose 1995, Jones and Barnuta 2000, Belant et al. 2006) and aquatic mammals (Parra 2006), reptiles (Dodson 1975, Webb et al. 2003), and birds (Ballance et al. 1997, Hull 1999) have provided useful insights into this topic.

Lactation is the main form of parental care in mammals and the most energetically expensive activity for females (Pond 1977, Gittleman and Thompson 1988), so it is expected to play an important role in determining mechanisms of coexistence among species (Farley and Robbins 1995, Fedigan and Rose 1995). Parents should adjust their behaviour so as to maximize their fitness under different interspecific competitive interactions (Wiens 1977, Clutton-Brock 1991a). Therefore, not only can comparisons of maternal strategies of sympatrically breeding mammals help to elucidate mechanisms of coexistence, but can also provide insights into what determines life history variation without the confounding effects of environmental differences. Maternal strategy is herein referred to as the suite of maternal behaviours that affect maternal investment in current offspring, such as the temporal pattern of energy delivery, the duration of lactation, and a mother's foraging behaviour allowing her to invest in offspring (Lee et al. 1991, Clutton-Brock 1991b). Offspring are not passive receivers of maternal investment, but can control the allocation of maternal resources to physical, physiological, and behavioural development (Horning and Trillmich 1999). The latter is herein referred to as an offspring's growth strategy (Moulton 1923, Vargas and Anderson 1996).

#### 1.2 Study system

Sea lions and fur seals (Carnivora: Otariidae), are well-suited for comparative studies of foraging ecology and maternal care strategies because: i) the degree of sexual dimorphism, social structure, and natural history are relatively uniform across the family, ii) males have no role in parental care beyond copulation, iii) milk delivery to the pup and foraging are temporally separated, such that lactating females have to periodically return to land to suckle their young after foraging trips to sea, and iv) they display large variation in lactation duration (4 to 36 months), so pups are weaned at different times of the year and stages of development, depending on the species (Figure 1.1). Some of these features are shared with the smallest phocid pinnipeds (Carnivora: Phocidae), but lactation is significantly briefer and pups are weaned at about the same time of the year among phocids in general (Figure 1.2). Otariids may be regarded as central place foragers during lactation and environmental changes in the vicinity of the rookery, as well as inter- and intraspecific interactions, would be expected to affect their maternal care strategies (Stephens et al. 1986, Boyd 1998).

Behaviours comprising the "maternal strategy" can be divided into: i) at-sea behaviours, such as use of space for diving and travelling (e.g., time and depth distribution of dives, and swimming to and from food patches), which are associated with foraging, ii) the attendance or temporal pattern of visits to land for suckling young and resting vs. feeding at sea, and duration of lactation, and iii) milk delivery while ashore (time spent suckling, amount and quality of milk delivered). The pups' growth strategy includes the pattern of physical growth, and physiological and behavioural development (Figure 1.1).

Fur seals are shallow divers (<30 m) (Gentry and Kooyman 1986*a*), and most of their foraging dives occur at night as they feed on vertically migrating fish, cephalopods, and crustaceans, which are found near the surface during that time (Croxall et al. 1985, Gentry and Kooyman 1986*a*). The proximate factors responsible for such a pattern are the spatial distribution of prey, its behaviour, size and energy density (Boyd 1996, Costa and Williams 1999). Because these prey-related characteristics usually vary over time, the dive pattern employed by fur seals may change seasonally and interannually (Costa et al. 1989, Boyd et al. 1994, Mattlin et al. 1998, Georges et al. 2000*b*). Distance to foraging grounds from the suckling site, time spent resting while at sea, and distance between food patches, have a signif-

icant impact on the energy budget of lactating females (Costa et al. 1989). Therefore, the amount and quality of maternal care is influenced by these behavioural choices and environmental conditions.

The way in which lactating females allocate their time to foraging at sea and suckling ashore determines how long pups must fast and how much time they have available for milk ingestion. Therefore, lactating females should distribute their time so as to balance the net amount of energy they can gain while at sea, against the amount of time their pups can fast without negative effects on their growth and development (Oftedal et al. 1987, Bowen 1991). Intra- and interspecific variation in this component of the maternal strategy is particularly large (Trillmich 1990, Francis et al. 1998). During periods of low food availability, fur seals mothers stay at sea longer and transfer less milk to the pup than at other times (Trillmich et al. 1991b). However, this does not explain the large interspecific differences in maternal attendance patterns among fur seals. Comparative studies of maternal attendance patterns in sympatric<sup>1</sup> Antarctic (Arctocephalus gazella (Peters, 1875)) and subantarctic fur seals (A. tropicalis (Gray, 1872)) at Macquarie and Marion islands (Bester and Bartlett 1990, Goldsworthy 1999), showed small, but important, differences between both species and sites. Subantarctic fur seal females breeding in Amsterdam Island have much longer foraging trips than at Macquarie (11-23 days at Amsterdam, 3.8 days at Macquarie), but there is a window of foraging trip durations, associated with maternal characteristics, that maximizes pup growth rate (Georges and Guinet 2000b). Similarly, foraging trip duration of both species at Macquarie Island showed a bimodal distribution that is untypical of the core of each species' distribution. Local environmental factors should, therefore, be accounted for in comparisons of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The term "syntopic", which refers to the condition of local sympatry, would be more appropriate here, but I will use "sympatric" to avoid confusion in comparisons with previous studies at other sites.

attendance patterns and maternal strategies.

Because milk composition and pup demand change throughout lactation, the amount of time lactating females spend ashore is not useful to estimate energy intake by the pups (Gentry et al. 1986, Oftedal et al. 1987). Milk fat content and milk production in Antarctic (Arnould and Boyd 1995b), northern (Callorhinus ursinus (L., 1758)) (Costa et al. 1986), and Australian (Arctocephalus pusillus doriferus (Wood Jones, 1925)) (Arnould and Hindell 1999) fur seals rise throughout most of lactation, and at least in Antarctic fur seals, they decrease in the last few weeks. In contrast, milk protein remains relatively constant. In Antarctic and northern fur seals, these parameters have been shown to vary with pup age and mass (Costa et al. 1986, Arnould et al. 1996a), as well as with changes in food availability (Arnould et al. 1996a). Furthermore, on the scale of foraging cycles, milk fat content and milk consumption vary with the duration of the preceding foraging trip in these and other species (Arnould et al. 1996a, Costa 1991, Ochoa-Acuña et al. 1999). Therefore, part of the variation in pup growth rates and weaning masses that are not accounted for by maternal attendance patterns, may be explained by differences in milk intake and composition.

Pinnipeds are among the most sexually dimorphic mammals, but despite extensive research, evidence for differential maternal energy expenditure between sexes remains equivocal (Goldsworthy 1995, Ono and Boness 1996, Lunn and Arnould 1997, Guinet et al. 1999). Female Antarctic fur seals (AFSs) (Arnould et al. 1996*a*) and California sea lion (*Zalophus californianus* (Lesson, 1828)) pups (Luque and Aurioles-Gamboa 2001), have higher lipid stores than male pups, so the use of maternal resources should be studied in greater detail to clarify this issue. However, while male and female AFS pups appear to grow at the same rate in South Georgia (Lunn and Arnould 1997), males grow faster than females at Macquarie and Heard Islands (Goldsworthy 1995,

#### 1 Introduction

Guinet et al. 1999). Therefore, the factors that influence intersexual differences in mass gain and loss throughout lactation are not yet clear, and should be considered in comparisons of maternal strategies between species.

One of the advantages of using otariids as a model for studies of maternal strategies is the large variation in lactation duration. For example, northern (*Callorhinus ursinus* (L., 1758)), South American (*Arctocephalus australis* (Zimmermann, 1783)), and Antarctic fur seals, which breed at high latitudes in highly productive waters, but with large seasonal fluctuations, have brief lactation periods lasting approximately four months. In contrast, Galapagos fur seals (*Arctocephalus galapagoensis* (Heller, 1904)), which breed in less productive and less seasonal environments, but with high inter-annual variability, have extended lactation periods which may last up to three years (Trillmich 1990, Gales and Costa 1997). Species breeding in more temperate latitudes, such as New Zealand (*A. forsteri* (Lesson, 1828)), Juan Fernandez (*A. philippi* (Peters, 1866)), Guadalupe (*A. townsendi* (Merriam, 1897)), South African (*Arctocephalus pusillus pusillus* (Schreber, 1775)) and South Australian (*A. pusillus doriferus*, and subantarctic (*A. tropicalis* (Gray, 1872)) fur seals, have lactation periods of intermediate length (10 months).

Both northern and Antarctic fur seals have a relatively rigid lactation duration (4.5 months), irrespective of breeding location. Such an inflexible lactation duration may be beneficial in high latitudes, where food availability shows high seasonal, but low interannual, variation in food abundance. However, a brief lactation period may not be optimal at lower latitudes, where food availability shows less seasonal, but higher interannual, variation. A flexible lactation duration may help animals cope with such high interannual variation in food supply by allowing females to adjust the amount of maternal expenditure over a longer period. Pups that survived the first few months of life may thus increase their chances of survival during years of low food abundance by foraging on their own and consuming milk from their mothers. In species with brief lactations, pups may have to grow as fast as possible before weaning and thereafter rely exclusively on their developing foraging abilities. Their energy demands during this period are particularly high and growth is near maximum values (Baker et al. 1994, Gentry 1998). These pups wean in fall, when prey availability decreases towards the annual winter minimum and may experience greater mortality than pups that can suckle during this time. In fact, Guinet et al. (1994) found that, in Iles Crozet, interannual changes in pup production were negatively correlated with El Niño events in Antarctic but not in subantarctic fur seals.

In addition to lactation duration, previous studies have examined diet (e.g., Daneri and Coria 1992, Reid and Arnould 1996), diving behaviour (Gentry and Kooyman 1986*a*), at-sea distribution (Goebel et al. 1991, Francis et al. 1998, Bonadonna et al. 2000), as well as the characteristics of maternal care, such as time spent on shore and at sea, and time spent suckling (Trillmich 1990, Goldsworthy 1999) of fur seals. However, inter- and intraspecific differences in these components of maternal strategy are strongly affected by spatiotemporal variations in the distribution and general ecology of prey species, which may be more important determinants of these strategies than environmental seasonality (Arntz et al. 1991, Francis et al. 1998, Gentry 1998). Comparative studies seeking to determine the factors involved in the evolution of different lactation strategies have been constrained by the inability to control for different environmental conditions across the range of the species studied.

AFS and subantarctic fur seals (SFSs) breed sympatrically at 3 subantarctic islands: Marion Island, Iles Crozet, and Macquarie Island (Figure 1.3), where their populations are increasing rapidly (Guinet et al. 1994). These sites are at the southern and northern limits of the distributions of SFS and AFS, respectively, and are closely associated with the Subantarctic Front (SAF) (Figure 1.3). Therefore, the

oceanographic habitat and seasonal changes in the environment at these sites are not the same as those at the core of each species' distribution (Antarctic Polar Front for AFS; Subtropical Front for SFS). No major differences in the diving behaviour and diet were found among both species at Macquarie Island (Goldsworthy et al. 1997). However, contrasting interspecific differences in the duration of lactation are observed between allopatric and sympatric populations. Sympatrically-breeding AFS and SFS are, thus, a useful system for the study of maternal and pup growth strategies in relation to the environment.

#### 1.3 Study site

My research was conducted at La Mare aux Elephants (46°22'29" S, 51°40'13" E), at the western end of Ile de la Possession, Iles Crozet (Figure 1.4), during 2001-02 (December 4th - March 25th) and 2002-03 (December 1st - March 16th) breeding seasons (2001 and 2002 hereafter). La Mare aux Elephants consists of two adjacent AFS and SFS colonies, which are on different types of substrate (Figure 1.5). AFS used the northern part of the beach, composed of small- to medium-sized pebbles, with gentle slopes behind; while SFS used the southern part of the beach, composed of large boulders eroded from the steep hinterlands. Both species gave birth close to shore, but the AFS colony grew in size as the season progressed, while the other species tended to remain close to shore during the same period. From late January through mid-March, the AFS colony spread to occupy most of the tussock area on the site, including the plateau on Figure 1.5a.

#### 1.4 Natural history of Iles Crozet and Southern Indian Ocean

Iles Crozet are of volcanic origin and most of the coasts are rocky with little vegetation. On land, average minimum and maximum air temperatures range from 1°to about 11°C throughout the year, respectively, with precipitation being relatively high and roughly constant throughout the same period. On average, there are 300 rainy days per year and winds are strong on any given day, frequently reaching 75 km/h.

The Crozet archipelago lies near the northern limit of the Antarctic Circumpolar Current (ACC) in the Southern Ocean, which comprises the southern portions of the Atlantic, Pacific, and Indian oceans. In the Southern Indian Ocean sector, the structure of the ACC is strongly modified by the general topography of the seafloor, which affects the relative position of the major fronts that are associated with this current (Park et al. 1993, Sparrow et al. 1996). These fronts play an important role in the ecosystem, as they influence the distribution and abundance of organisms across trophic levels (Lutjeharms et al. 1985, Koubbi 1993, Bost et al. 1997, Guinet et al. 1997, Pakhomov and Froneman 2000). Seabirds and marine mammals tend to concentrate their foraging effort in and around such fronts. Therefore, knowledge of the main properties of oceanic fronts, as well as their temporal shifts, is useful to understanding community structure and predator behaviour.

#### 1.4.1 Oceanography

Sparrow et al. (1996) described the major fronts that can be identified in the Indian Ocean sector of the Southern Ocean as follows (from north to south): i) the Agulhas Return Front (ARF), with temperature changes from 12° to 16°C at 200 m depth, ii) the Subtropical Front (STF), with temperature changes from 10° to 12°C at 100 m, iii) the SAF, characterized by the rapid descent of a salinity minimum below about 300 m, iv) the Antarctic Polar Front (APF), which has a surface (maximum gradient of sea surface temperature between 2° and 6°C) and a subsurface (northern limit of the 2°C isotherm below 200 m) expression, and finally The area formed between the APF and the SAF is known as the Polar Frontal Zone (PFZ), and this is where Iles Crozet are located. Similarly, the area between the STF and the SAF is also known as the Transition Frontal Zone, and where the ARF, STF, and SAF merge, is also known as the Crozet Front. Current velocities in the Crozet Front are among the strongest in the world, accounting for most of the horizontal transport of the ACC. As a result of the merging of the ARF, STF, and SAF at 40°E, the PFZ is unusually wide between 40°E and 60°E.

Although the structure of Southern Ocean fronts is clearer below the surface, their positions can be reasonably inferred from sea surface temperature values in the Crozet region (Anilkumar et al. 2006). Thus, the 18.4°C, 12.5°C, 8°C, and 4.5°C isotherms APF (Park and Gamberoni 1997) correspond well to the ARF, STF, SAF, and APF, respectively. The association of surface temperatures with fronts is strongest in summer due to the higher stability of the water column compared with winter. The southern portion of the PFZ, particularly the APF, is extensively used by king penguins and other seabirds, as well as Antarctic fur seals, while foraging for myctophid fish and cephalopods (Stahl et al. 1985, Bost et al. 1997, Green 1997, Bonadonna et al. 2000). Fronts are areas of enhanced productivity due to strong mixing by currents and eddies, which increase the availability of nutrients for phytoplankton growth, so prey may be more abundant or available for predators at higher trophic levels (Lutjeharms et al. 1985).

Southern Ocean fronts display marked seasonal changes, as shown by seasonal composite images of sea surface temperature satellite data of the Southern Indian Ocean sector from 2002 to 2008 (Figure 1.6). Unlike the oceanographic habitat for SFSs at Amsterdam or Gough Islands, the STF does not undergo large latitudinal
movements throughout the year. Instead, relatively large fluctuations are observed in the positions of the SAF and APF, with both fronts getting compressed against the STF during winter and expanding south during summer. A characteristic feature of this region is the reduced distance between the SAF and STF north of Iles Crozet, making it difficult to distinguish the ARF, STF, and SAF, which may run together in this region in their roughly southward trajectory of this group of fronts east of Iles Crozet. The permanent, topographically induced, northward intrusion of the PFZ between the Crozet plateau that surrounds the archipelago and the Del Cano rise to the west of it has a strong influence on the dynamics of phytoplankton growth and ecosystem consumers (Read and Pollard 1993) (Figure 1.6). Therefore, the marine ecosystem around Iles Crozet presents conditions that may not be typical for both AFS and SFS.

#### 1.4.2 Fish and squid: the major prey of sea mammals and birds

Ichthyoplankton and mesopelagic fish assemblages closely follow the spatial structure of the Southern Indian Ocean. For example, the ichthyoplankton and mesopelagic fish assemblages in the PFZ can be clearly distinguished from those found in the adjacent subantarctic and polar areas (Koubbi 1993). Due to the large size of the PFZ around Iles Crozet, the fish assemblages of this archipelago and Iles kerguelen do not differ substantially (Duhamel 1997). The main difference between these archipelagos is the absence of the fish family Channichthyidae in the neritic environment around Iles Crozet, which may be due to its narrower shelf. Mid-water fish assemblages are, however, essentially the same in both Iles Crozet and Iles Kerguelen, coinciding with the location of both archipelagos in the PFZ. Some of these species have been classified by Koubbi (1993) into 5 categories, according to their distribution in relation to oceanic fronts: i) exclusively subtropical taxa, ii) taxa found between the SAF and ARF, iii) taxa found in the STF and south to the SAF, iv) taxa occurring only in the PFZ, and v) Antarctic taxa and demersal species of the Kerguelen shelf.

In addition to the vertical distribution and abundance, the ichthyofauna around the subantarctic islands also shows marked diel variation in these characteristics. For instance, in waters surrounding Iles Kerguelen (Duhamel et al. 2000), three species (Lepidonotothen squamifrons (Günther, 1880), Muraenolepis marmoratus (Günther, 1880), and Krefftichthys and erssoni (Lönnberg, 1905)) dominated the upper 150 m of the ocean during the day, with two being found exclusively in the peri-insular shelf. All of them, except K. and erssoni, were early life stages of benthic fish and only *M. marmoratus* were large enough to be considered potential prey for king penguins. Seven other myctophids were found in deeper layers (250 m and 300 m) during this time. During the night, both abundance for most species and species diversity were higher (Duhamel 1998, Duhamel et al. 2000). Five of the myctophids found in deep water during the day became dominant in the upper 100 m during the night, joined by Gymnoscopelus braueri (Lönnberg, 1905), Electrona subaspera (Günther, 1864), and G. piabilis (Whitley, 1931). These species, together with E. antarctica (Günther, 1878), G. nicholsi (Gilbert, 1911), and Protomyctophum tenisoni (Norman, 1930), tended to concentrate near the surface at night, while P. andriashevi (Becker, 1963), K. anderssoni, G. bolini (Andriashev, 1962) and E. carlsbergi (Taning, 1932), never reached the surface. Furthermore, the composition of the catches varied with distance to the shore, such that E. carlsbergi and P. andriashevi dominated close to the shelf, but were progressively replaced by K. anderssoni and, farthest from shore, by B. tenuis (Kobyliansky, 1986). All of these species are typical of the PFZ in the Indian Ocean and are also present around Iles Crozet. Therefore, a similar pattern might be found in the former group of islands, although some differences are expected, due to the larger shelf around Iles Kerguelen.

The fish diet of several seabirds and marine mammals from the Keguelen-Heard Plateau has been investigated in some detail, mostly at Heard Island (Green et al. 1989, Klages et al. 1990, Woehler and Green 1992, Cherel et al. 1997, Green et al. 1997). All of these predators consumed mainly myctophid species, but some included the Channichthyid *Champsocephalus gunnari* (Lönnberg, 1905) as an important prey item during the summer (Green et al. 1998). The bentho-pelagic *C. gunnari* inhabits shelf waters in the Kerguelen-Heard Plateau, and it might represent a profitable resource for predators during the summer, when they are constrained by the fasting abilities of their chicks or pups on land.

Consistent with the conclusions of Duhamel (1997), C. gunnari has never been found in the diet of king penguins from Iles Crozet (Cherel and Ridoux 1992, Bost et al. 1997). No information is available from other predators in this archipelago. Three myctophid fish dominated the diet of king penguins during the summer: K. anderssoni, E. carlsbergi, and P. tenisoni, with the first one being the most abundant. Penguins, however, seem to forage for these species near the APF, particularly at its northern limit, or, to a lesser extent, near the southern limit of the SAF (Guinet et al. 1997, Moore et al. 1999a). During the summer, myctophids appear to be more abundant and closer to the surface during the night in the SAF than in the APF (Pakhomov et al. 1994). Both fronts are at approximately the same distance from Iles Crozet, typically far from the islands' shelves. It is interesting to note that the three myctophids on which penguins predominantly feed are truly oceanic and, at least K. anderssoni, seems to be most abundant away from island shelves (Perissinotto and McQuaid 1992). Data from other seabirds breeding at Iles Crozet also indicate the importance of myctophids in their diets, although some consume cephalopods and crustaceans to a lower extent (Ridoux 1994, Catard et al. 2000).

At least seven cephalopod families are known to occur around Iles Crozet (Cherel

et al. 1996). Based on diet analyses of king penguins and wandering albatrosses feeding in this region, (Cherel and Weimerskirch 1999) found that the onychoteuthid squids Kondakovia longimana (Filippova, 1972), Moroteuthis ingens (Smith, 1881), and M. knipovitchi (Filippova, 1972) are abundant, and that the first two spawn in winter near the islands. According to the recent Atlas of cephalopod distribution in the Southern Ocean (Xavier et al. 1999), which shows the distribution of squids in relation to oceanic fronts, there are eight species that could potentially be found around Iles Crozet, in addition to the nine identified by Cherel et al. (1996) in king penguin diet. Some of these cephalopods, particularly the onychoteuthids, feed on myctophid fish and smaller invertebrates, including euphausid crustaceans, decapods, amphipods, and chaetognaths.

#### 1.4.3 Seabirds

There are 36 species of seabirds breeding at Iles Crozet, some of which have their largest populations in these islands, making the islands' avifauna the richest in the world when diversity and abundance are combined. Of these, the most abundant are macaroni and king penguins, with populations of  $6 \times 10^6$  and  $2 \times 10^6$  individuals, respectively (Guinet et al. 1996). King and macaroni penguins, and along with elephant and fur seals are the principal marine predators consuming 56% of the prey eaten by the whole land-based community of Iles Crozet (Guinet et al. 1996). All of these predators consume mostly myctophid fish, cephalopods, and crustaceans.

The large amount of resources used by these predators is likely to result in considerable ecological segregation between closely-related species. The broad geographic patterns in the distribution of the ichthyofauna in relation to oceanic fronts could exert a strong influence on the foraging strategies of marine predators and for ecological segregation among them. Understanding the mechanisms that control how these species divide their resources should help predict how they might be affected by natural or anthropogenic disturbances in their ecosystem.

Concurrent studies of the spatial and dietary segregation of seabirds from the Iles Crozet are lacking, but independent analyses suggest that foraging area and timing of breeding may be the most important variables determining the extent of ecological segregation among seabirds from Iles Crozet (Stahl et al. 1985, Ridoux 1994). There are four species that feed close to shore (Phalocrocorax atriceps (King, 1828), Larus dominicanus (Lichtenstein, 1823), Sterna virgata (Cabanis, 1875), and S. vittata (Gmelin, 1789)), while the rest of the species forage either over shelf areas or near oceanic fronts (Stahl et al. 1985). However, the extent of spatial habitat segregation among seabirds is apparently larger during the winter than during the summer. Although dietary differences may not be as important as spatial habitat differences, it is possible to distinguish the diet composition and prey size distribution of diving (penguins, diving petrels, and cormorant) from the surface feeding (albatrosses, petrels, and storm petrels) (Ridoux 1994). Dietary overlap indices appear to be higher and prev size distributions narrower among the former group than among the latter. Diving may allow some seabirds to access more abundant resources below the surface during a period of reduced productivity, thereby minimizing competition and thus the pressure to partition their niche along these dimensions (Pianka 1978).

### 1.4.4 Pinnipeds

Iles Crozet fosters a population of approximately 3,400 elephant seals (*Mirounga leonina* (L., 1758)), 500 AFS, and 1,000 SFS. However, elephant seals have a reproductive strategy which differs markedly from the smaller fur seals inhabiting the islands. Pregnant elephant seal mothers forage over vast areas of the Southern Ocean during most of the year (Jonker and Bester 1998) and then return to the colony in

late August to give birth and nurse their pup for about 25 days, during which they fast. All adult females are absent from the colony by the end of November, but there is another other peak in abundance occurring in late January corresponding to the molt, while a few juveniles can be found hauled out during the rest of the year. At the individual level, however, elephant seals stay on land for only one or two months in any given year. This contrasts sharply with fur seals, which congregate on land to breed from mid-November to late January, so there is a temporal segregation of phocid and otariid niches. Furthermore, female fur seals regularly forage during the whole lactation period, which lasts four and 10 months in Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals, respectively. Elephant seals from nearby Heard Island (southeast of Iles Crozet) (Slip 1995) feed mostly on cephalopods, but also consume fish, including myctophids, which they probably catch at depths of more than 300 m (Jonker and Bester 1998), much greater than that used by foraging fur seals.

There are three species of fur seal that inhabit areas under the influence of the APF: the New Zealand, subantarctic, and Antarctic fur seals. All other otariids breed north of the APF. The first of these species is found in Macquarie Island, but also has other populations in the southern coast of Australia and islands south of New Zealand. The latter two are circumpolar in distribution and can be found in several subantarctic islands (Figure 1.3). All of them were, to differing degrees, subject to exploitation during the 18th and 19th. Sealing was mostly associated with whaling operations and the exploitation of elephant seals, which took place at the more southerly locations. Because Antarctic fur seals are the only ones breeding mostly south of the APF, where sealers and whalers focused their activities, they were more negatively affected by sealing than other fur seals. Subantarctic and New Zealand fur seals breed on islands north of the APF, where few or smaller populations of elephant seals were found, so their numbers were not so severely affected during

this period.

Based on these observations, Wynen et al. (2000) postulated that subantarctic fur seals should have higher levels of genetic diversity than Antarctic fur seals. Present populations of Antarctic fur seals, on the other hand, may have arisen from a few individuals that survived the sealing period. Testing this hypothesis, Wynen et al. (2000) found that subantarctic fur seals have higher levels of population genetic structure than Antarctic fur seals. The lower level population genetic structure in the latter species is thought to result from individuals immigrating from a few source populations. However, Wynen et al. (2000) concluded that Antarctic fur seals may be divided into a western region (South Georgia, South Shetland, Bouvetøya, Marion, and Heard Islands), and an eastern region (Kerguelen and Macquarie). South Georgia and Bouvetøya were the probable source populations for most of the western region. In the case of subantarctic fur seals, Macquarie and Crozet Islands were probably colonized by animals from Marion Island, and to a lesser extent, from Amsterdam Island.

Besides the conspicuous difference in lactation duration between the fur seal species, no studies have been conducted at Iles Crozet to investigate the extent of ecological segregation between them. There is a slight difference in the timing of births, with the peak of AFS pup births occurring around 5 December, while that of SFS pups is around 15 December. The reasons for this difference are not yet clear, but given the difference in the duration of lactation, it may be more significant for AFSs because it represents a larger fraction of the total lactation period.

The most abundant of all southern fur seals is the Antarctic fur seal, which numbers at least two million individuals (Bonner 1999). Subantarctic fur seals are the next most numerous, with approximately 300,000 individuals, while New Zealand fur seals are the least abundant, with about 55,000 animals. Subantarctic fur seals are far more numerous than the Antarctic species where they breed sympatrically (Marion, Macquarie, and Crozet Islands). There are approximately 1,500 and 74,000 Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals in the Prince Edward Islands (Hofmeyr et al. 1997), 500 and 1,000 at Iles Crozet (extrapolated from data in Guinet et al. (1994) assuming equal age/sex structure as at Prince Edward Islands), and at least 111 and 42, respectively, in Macquarie Island (Goldsworthy et al. 1999). Conversely, Antarctic fur seals are much more abundant at breeding localities south of the PF, such as South Georgia and the South Shetland Islands (Boyd 1993, Croll and Tershy 1998), where subantarctic fur seals do not breed. Southeast of Iles Crozet, (Goldsworthy and Shaughnessy 1989) reported 13 subantarctic fur seals (including a pup) in Heard Island, compared with about 15,000 Antarctic fur seals hauling out there (Shaughnessy et al. 1998), although the development of a breeding colony of the first species has not been documented thereafter. This represents the farthest south of the PF subantarctic fur seals are known to breed.

The populations of both fur seal species have been increasing at a rate of approximately 16% per annum at Iles Crozet, which represents one of the highest growth rates reported for any otariid species (Guinet et al. 1994). Therefore, it is expected that fur seal numbers in 2001 will be higher than those listed above.

# 1.5 Objectives and thesis structure

In this dissertation, I investigated interspecific differences in: i) the foraging ecology of lactating females, ii) the allocation of maternal resources to their pups, and iii) the use of maternal resources by pups as they approach weaning between sympatricallybreeding Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals at Ile de la Possession, Iles Crozet, Southern Indian Ocean. I examined inter-relationships among these components of the maternal strategy, pup growth and development. I asked: what aspects of maternal and pup growth strategies are more flexible, and which aspects may be more rigid adaptations to the APF or SAF, that broadly define each species' worldwide distribution (AFS and SFS, respectively)? I also considered the implications of the answer to this question to the extent of ecological segregation between the two species at Iles Crozet.

My thesis consists of four data chapters, divided into two parts, preceded by the general introduction presented in Chapter 1. Part I contains two major chapters, where I compare the major aspects of foraging behaviour of lactating females (Chapter 2), followed by a more detailed analysis of diving behaviour to resolve what mechanisms might be driving differences at the coarser scale (Chapter 3). Proper identification of the temporal and spatial scales at which a diving forager perceives the environment relies heavily on how accurately, and objectively, diving behaviour can be grouped into natural "bouts" representing those scales. I begin Chapter 3, therefore, with a technical section describing an objective and accurate method for identifying bouts of diving behaviour that builds upon previous research. In the following section, I present evidence to argue that lactating SFS females have a greater aerobic dive limit, and that it affects the scales at which they forage. Appendix A describes characteristics of a software package I wrote to perform the analyses in Part I. Appendix C.1 is a related paper to which I contributed, where foraging locations and general descriptions of diving behaviour are compared between AFS and SFS, complementing Chapter 2.

In Part II, I compare the growth of pups from birth to 100 days of age, representing almost the entire lactation period of AFS and one half of that of SFS (Chapter 4). Numerous studies have described body mass and body length growth in AFS and SFS at allopatric sites, but none (to the best of my knowledge) have done so using a comprehensive set of morphometric variables to document the process of physical maturation prior to weaning. In Chapter 4, therefore, I compare growth and allometry for several morphological traits to argue that AFS pups mature more rapidly, in preparation for weaning at a younger age. In Chapter 5, I link the maternal strategies described and compared in Part I with pup development, examining the dynamics of mass changes during maternal foraging cycles and pup body composition in more detail. My goal here was to determine whether relative milk intake differed between species, and whether pups use energy differently to account for the observed growth patterns. Appendix C.2 is a related paper to which I contributed, where pup metabolism is compared between species, complementing Chapter 5.

I conclude with Part III, where I synthesize the key results from each chapter in terms of my thesis objectives, and discuss how they contribute to our understanding of otariid maternal care strategies.





Figure 1.1. a) In otariid species with brief lactations (e.g., northern and Antarctic fur seals), females nurse their pup during summer and early autumn, and pups are weaned in late autumn or winter. b) In species with the longest lactations (e.g., Galapagos fur seals and sea lions), pups may not be weaned before the female gives birth on her next reproductive cycle, establishing competition between siblings for maternal resources, which the younger one has a greater chance of losing. Lactating females perform regular foraging trips (black rectangles) to sea, returning to shore to nurse their pup (gray rectangles). Their pups gain mass while she is ashore nursing (solid arrows) and partly lose it when she is at sea (upward dashed arrows). Modified after (Bonner 1984)



1 Introduction

Figure 1.2. Phocid pinnipeds are, in general, larger than otariids, and in a) the largest species (e.g., elephant and hooded seals), mothers can build up and store most of the energy needed for lactation during a prolonged "foraging" trip that lasts most of their reproductive cycle. In this case, mothers can remain ashore, fasting, for the entire duration of lactation, which is briefer than that of otariids. Some pups are able to marginally prolong lactation by stealing milk from a female whose pup has died. However, in b) the smallest species (e.g., harbour and ringed seals), females cannot afford this strategy and, therefore, require frequent foraging to sustain the costs of lactation, especially in late lactation. This strategy is reminiscent of that observed in otariids, although lactation remains considerably briefer in phocids, and pups are weaned in late spring. The meaning of symbols is as in Figure 1.1

1 Introduction



Figure 1.3. Distribution of Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic fur seal (SFS) breeding colonies in relation to average position of Southern Ocean fronts (Orsi et al. 1995, Moore et al. 1999b). The size of the symbols is proportional to the fraction of the total estimated population of each species at each locality. Empty circles demarcate sympatric sites



24

Figure 1.4. a) Location of Iles Crozet in the Southern Indian Ocean and surrounding bathymetry. b) Bathymetry in the vicinity of Iles Crozet showing steep gradients close to the islands (isobaths between 200 and 1000 m, at 200 m intervals, are shown as black lines). c) La Mare aux Elephants, at the western end of Ile de la Possession (red circle), was chosen as study site

# 1 Introduction



Figure 1.5. Study site (La Mare aux Elephants) at the western end of Ile de la Possession, Iles Crozet. a) Zones where Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals were concentrated during the birth period and early lactation are indicated by the solid arrows. The dashed white line separates the colonies of each species. Nursing females and their pups spread over larger areas throughout lactation, with AFS occupying the much wider area inland up to the plateau and hills (upper left) with tussock, and SFS spreading to a much smaller area within the rocky and bouldery zone just inland from the birth zone. b) The typical tussock zone where AFS females nursed their pups. c) The typical rocky, bouldery, zone where SFS females nursed their pups

### 1 Introduction





Part I

Maternal strategies

# Chapter 2

Foraging behaviour of sympatric Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals: does their contrasting duration of lactation make a difference?<sup>1</sup>

# Abstract

The duration of periods spent ashore vs. foraging at sea, diving behaviour, and diet of lactating female Antarctic (Arctocephalus gazella (Peters, 1875), AFS) and subantarctic (Arctocephalus tropicalis (Gray, 1872), SFS) fur seals were compared at Iles Crozet, where both species coexist. The large disparity in lactation duration (SFS: 10 mo, AFS: 4 mo), even under local sympatry, has led to the expectation that AFS should exhibit higher foraging effort or efficiency per unit time than SFS to allow them to wean their pups in a shorter period of time. Previous evidence, however, has not supported these expectations. In this study, the distribution of foraging trip durations revealed two types of trips: overnight (OFT, < 1 d) and long (LFT, > 1 d), in common with other results from Macquarie Island. However, diving behaviour differed significantly between foraging trip types, with greater diving effort in OFTs than in LFTs, and diving behaviour differed between fur seal species. OFTs were more frequent in SFS (48%) than in AFS (28%). SFS performed longer LFTs

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Corresponding publication available in Appendix B.1

and maternal attendances than AFS, spending a smaller proportion of their foraging cycle at sea (66.2% vs. 77.5%, respectively). SFS dove deeper and for longer periods than AFS, in both OFTs and LFTs, although indices of diving effort were similar between species. Diel variation in diving behaviour was lower among SFS, which foraged at greater depths during most of the night time available than AFS. The diving behaviour of AFS suggests they followed the nychthemeral migration of their prey more closely. Concomitant with the differences in diving behaviour, AFS and SFS fed on the same prey species, but in different proportions of three myctophid fish (Gymnoscopelus fraseri (Fraser-Brunner, 1931), G. piabilis, and G. nicholsi) that represented most of their diet. The estimated size of the most important fish consumed did not vary significantly between fur seal species, suggesting that the difference in dive depth was mostly a result of changes in the relative abundance of these myctophids. The energy content of these fish at Iles Crozet may thus influence the amount and quality of milk delivered to pups of each fur seal species. These results contrast with those found at other sites where both species coexist, and revealed a scale of variation in foraging behaviour which did not affect their effort while at sea, but that may be a major determinant of foraging efficiency and, consequently, maternal investment.

# 2.1 Introduction

Spatiotemporal separation of foraging and breeding is a defining characteristic of pinnipeds, and may constrain their evolution (Bartholomew 1970). Unlike most phocid seals, otariid (fur seals and sea lions) lactating females cannot fast for the entire period of lactation, as they are too small to store all the required energy (Boness and Bowen 1996). Therefore, they alternate their time at sea foraging, with visits ashore to nurse their pup. Otariid lactation varies in duration from four

months (Antarctic Arctocephalus gazella (Peters, 1875) and northern Callorhinus ursinus (L., 1758) fur seals) to three years (Galápagos fur seals A. galapagoensis (Heller, 1904)), and single foraging trips range from several hours to about 50 days in duration, depending on the species, stage of lactation, population, and location (Beauplet et al. 2004, Schulz and Bowen 2004). Such large variation has prompted efforts to identify the proximate and ultimate factors that determine what particular strategy an otariid adopts.

Studies on temperate species have emphasized the importance of prey ecology and variability of the physical environment in relation to otariid maternal strategies. For example, Juan Fernández (A. philippi (Peters, 1866)) and subantarctic (A. tropicalis (Gray, 1872)) fur seals both have a 10-month lactation, during which lactating females feed on epipelagic fish (mean depths < 30 m), mostly at night (Ochoa-Acuña and Francis 1995, Beauplet et al. 2004). Mean duration of foraging trips increases in both species from 1-2 d early in lactation, to 25-50 d just prior to weaning. In contrast, foraging trips of Australian fur seals (A. pusillus doriferus (Wood Jones, 1925)) rarely exceed 10 d during lactation, and females feed at much greater depths on benthic prey at all times of day (Gales and Pemberton 1994, Arnould and Hindell 2001). These three species inhabit temperate latitudes with similar seasonal regimes, so differences among them have challenged an early hypothesis set forth to explain the variation in fur seal foraging behaviour, that presents environmental seasonality as the main determinant of interspecific differences in foraging-nursing cycles (Gentry et al. 1986).

A drawback of interspecific comparisons using samples from different locations is that environmental variation is usually unaccounted for. However, several examples of different species breeding on the same islands exist, offering the opportunity to control for this factor. Here I compare the foraging behaviour of sympatric Antarctic (A. gazella) and subantarctic (A. tropicalis) fur seals (AFS and SFS, respectively, hereafter), two phenotypically similar sister species with large differences in duration of lactation. AFS breed mainly on islands south of the Antarctic Polar Front, while SFS do so mainly on islands just north of it, but they breed sympatrically in three groups of islands: Macquarie Island, Iles Crozet, and the Prince Edward Islands (Bonner 1999). Lactation is 116 d long in AFS (Costa et al. 1988, Lunn et al. 1993) and 300 d long in SFS (Kerley 1987, Guinet and Georges 2000), and this trait appears to be constant throughout their distribution. SFS pups were shown to have lower energy requirements and higher body fat stores, compared to AFS pups (Arnould et al. 2003), even though rate of milk consumption was only slightly higher in AFS. Therefore, AFS females have <50% of the time that SFS females have for investing in their offspring, but their offspring's energy demands may be higher (Arnould et al. 2003). Understanding how individuals of these species forage when in sympatry, yet under such different pressures, can thus help reveal which elements of foraging behaviour are species-specific and relatively invariant, and which ones are plastic and adaptively responsive to environmental influences.

The foraging ecology of AFS and SFS has been studied thoroughly at various locations throughout their range, over several time scales. The diet of AFS varies geographically, with Antarctic krill (*Euphausia superba* (Dana, 1850)) being the main food resource in the southern Atlantic Ocean (South Georgia Doidge and Croxall 1985, Reid and Arnould 1996; Bouvetøya Kirkman et al. 2000), although fish complements their diet along the Antarctic peninsula (Casaux et al. 2003) and South Shetland Islands (Daneri 1996). In the southern Indian Ocean, fish is the main prey (Marion Island Klages and Bester 1998; Iles Kerguelen Lea et al. 2002*b*, and Heard Island Green et al. 1997). Based on scat analyses, SFS at Marion Island feed predominantly on myctophid fish (Klages and Bester 1998), but stomach content analyses suggest that at Marion (Ferreira and Bester 1999) and Gough (Bester and Laycock 1985) islands they feed mostly on cephalopods and on myctophid fish at Amsterdam Island (Beauplet et al. 2004). Some studies suggest that such intraspecific dietary differences are related to the analytical techniques used, but are also associated with differences in dive behaviour, both in terms of depth and diel activity patterns (AFS at South Georgia Croxall et al. 1985, Boyd and Croxall 1992; AFS at Iles Kerguelen Lea et al. 2002c, and SFS at Amsterdam Island Georges et al. 2000b).

If foraging behaviour is mainly determined by prey ecology, then dietarily similar sympatric fur seal species would be expected to differ little in foraging behaviour. At the level of entire foraging trips, this expectation has been supported in studies of AFS and SFS at Macquarie Island (Goldsworthy et al. 1997, Goldsworthy 1999, Robinson et al. 2002) and Iles Crozet (Bailleul et al. 2005). The species were similar in diet at Macquarie Island and exhibited similar foraging behaviour at both sites, with females diving close to the surface, mostly at night. Summer foraging areas of the species also overlapped considerably. Other data from Marion (Bester and Bartlett 1990, Kirkman et al. 2002, 2003) and Macquarie islands (Goldsworthy 1999) suggest no interspecific differences in the duration of foraging trips, except at Iles Crozet, where AFS made longer trips (Bester and Bartlett 1990, Robinson et al. 2002, Bailleul et al. 2005).

To date, comparisons of foraging behaviour of AFS and SFS have used the scale of the foraging trip (Bester and Bartlett 1990, Robinson et al. 2002, Kirkman et al. 2003, Bailleul et al. 2005). However, such a scale may not reveal ecologically important interspecific differences on finer scales. Night diving by fur seals is linked to the diel vertical migration of their prey (Croxall et al. 1985, Gentry 1998, Wells et al. 1999), so foraging behaviour optima are expected to show a diel pattern, particularly during the night (Mori 1998*a*). Therefore, important interspecific differences in the temporal distribution of dive effort and depth utilization may exist. Determining when and where the species concentrate their foraging effort in the water column, in relation to the prey they exploit, may reveal patterns that are related to their different lactation strategies. Moreover, the presence of overnight and longer foraging trips in both species at some locations raises the question of whether their functions differ. These questions have not been addressed, so the objectives of this study were to compare: (i) maternal attendance and foraging trip durations; (ii) diel patterns in diving, and how they vary between overnight and longer foraging trips; and (iii) diet of sympatric AFS and SFS at Iles Crozet. Because of their briefer lactation and the physiological differences between AFS and SFS pups outlined above, AFS females were expected to show briefer maternal attendance periods and foraging-trip durations. For the same reasons, they also were expected to spend greater effort while diving.

### 2.2 Materials and methods

#### 2.2.1 Fur seal study colonies

Research was carried out at La Mare Aux Elephants (46°22'29" S, 51°40'13" E), at the western end of Ile de la Possession, Crozet archipelago, Southern Indian Ocean, during 2001-02 (December 4th - March 25th) and 2002-03 (December 1st - March 16th) breeding seasons (2001 and 2002 hereafter). La Mare aux Elephants consists of two adjacent AFS and SFS colonies, which are on different types of substrate. AFS used the northern part of the beach, composed of small- to medium-sized pebbles, with gentle slopes behind; while SFS used the southern part of the beach, composed of large boulders eroded from the steep hinterlands. Both species gave birth close to shore, but the AFS colony grew in size as the season progressed, while the other species tended to remain close to shore during the same period. A total of 277 (AFS: 153, SFS: 124) pups were individually marked as previously described (Georges and Guinet 2000*a*, Arnould et al. 2003, Bailleul et al. 2005). Pup production and mean date of pupping were estimated using total pup counts (both years; including dead and living pups) on a weekly basis until no more births were observed. Peak pupping dates were 5 and 15 December (164 and 167 pups in 2001 and 2002, respectively) for AFS, and 25 and 30 December (80 and 91 pups in 2001 and 2002, respectively) for SFS. Therefore, there were inter-annual differences of up to 10 d, which suggests large environmental differences between study years (Lunn and Boyd 1993). However, Lunn and Boyd (1993) suggested that variation in pupping date at Bird Island, South Georgia, may reflect differences in environmental conditions during late gestation, rather than post-partum (my study period), so inter-annual differences in foraging behaviour were not fully analyzed. Populations of both species have been increasing at an annual rate of about 18%, at least until 1994 (Guinet et al. 1994).

#### 2.2.2 Instrumentation, maternal attendance and diving behaviour

Animal capture and handling procedures were described in Bailleul et al. (2005). Briefly, lactating females of each species were captured on land during their nursing visits. Each individual was weighed to the nearest kg, and placed on a restraint board for attachment of instruments. One of three different time-depth recorder (TDR) models was glued to the dorsal fur between the scapulae, using a two-component glue (AW 2101 Ciba Specialty Chemicals): MK5, MK7, and MK8 (Wildlife Computers, Redmond, Washington, U.S.A.). There were no significant differences in foraging trip duration, dive depth, nor dive duration between animals instrumented with different TDR models (P > 0.5 in all cases), so data from the three models were pooled for interspecific comparison purposes. TDRs were programmed to record time and depth every 5 s when the seals were at sea, with a 1 m depth resolution. The characteristics and composition of sampled females are summarized in Table 2.1. Instruments were left on the seals for 1 to 11 foraging trips, and were recovered by cutting the fur beneath them, upon the seals' return to the colony.

TDR data were downloaded to a portable computer on the same day the instrument was recovered, to allow redeployment of TDRs on different individuals. Visualization and analyses of the resulting regular time series of dive data were performed using custom written software, available as the GNU R (R development Core Team 2007) package diveMove (Luque 2007). Before analyses, depth readings were corrected for shifts in the pressure transducer of the TDR. Sections of each record were identified as foraging trips if continuous wet activity (i.e., continuous depth readings) was available for at least 6 h. This limit was imposed to exclude short excursions to sea, for activities other than foraging, as these contained isolated shallow dives and mainly surface behaviour, in contrast to the bout-organized dives typical of longer excursions (Mori et al. 2001). Therefore, maternal attendance and foraging trip durations were obtained from TDR records.

Dives were defined as departures from the surface to depths  $\geq 4$  m plus the ensuing return to surface. Dives to shallower depths were not considered, as they were indistinguishable from noise remaining after adjustment of pressure transducer drifts, which was greater than the resolution of the instrument (Beck et al. 2000). Each dive was divided into descent, bottom, and ascent phases, where: (1) descent started at the surface and ended when no further increases in depth were detected; (2) ascent was defined from the end of the dive and, with the reversed time series, ending when no further increases in depth were detected; and (3) the bottom was the period between descent and ascent phases. Dives were subsequently described by duration, maximal depth, and post-dive duration. The duration of each phase of the dive, the vertical distance covered during descent and ascent, and the cumulative vertical displacements ("wiggles") during the bottom phase also were computed by the program. These basic dive descriptors were used to estimate descent and ascent rates as  $r = \delta x/\delta t$ , where r is the rate (m/s),  $\delta x$  is vertical distance, and  $\delta t$  is the duration of the corresponding phase.

Dive rate was used as an index of diving effort, calculated as the sum of ascent and descent distances, plus the vertical distance covered during the bottom phase, divided by total night time spent at sea. The index has been used previously to estimate vertical distance travelled per unit time (Costa and Gales 2000). For comparison with previous studies, a second index of diving effort was calculated as the total time spent diving, divided by the total night time spent at sea. Total night time at sea was calculated following algorithms available from the National Oceanic & Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) at http://www.srrb.noaa.gov/ highlights/sunrise/sunrise.html.

#### 2.2.3 Diet

Scat samples, weighing an average of 50 g, were collected at each species' colony during January and February 2002 (2001 breeding season). Although species were spatially segregated on land, seals of both species occasionally used the periphery of the colony to commute between land and sea. Therefore, samples were collected only within core areas used by lactating females and pups of each species. Samples were frozen at  $-20^{\circ}$  C, until laboratory analysis.

In the laboratory, scat samples were thawed overnight in warm water, and washed through 1 and 0.5 mm diameter mesh sieves. Remains of fish (otoliths, scales and bones), cephalopods (beaks), molluscs (shells), birds (feathers), and invertebrates were sorted under a dissecting microscope and stored in 70% alcohol until identifi-

36

cation. Remains were identified to the species level where possible, using available guides (Clarke 1986, Williams and McEldowney 1990, Smale et al. 1995) and a reference collection at CEBC, Chizé, France. Standard length of the most frequent prey for each fur seal species was estimated using available regression equations (Williams and McEldowney 1990) of fish length against measured otolith standard length (to the nearest mm). Diet was quantified by calculating the relative numerical abundance of each prey taxon (number of individuals found relative to the total number of individuals), and frequency of occurrence of each taxon (number of samples containing the item divided by the total number of samples).

#### 2.2.4 Statistical analyses

Dives from the same seal were not independent of one another. Furthermore, the number of foraging trips, and hence the number of dives per individual were not the same. To give each seal the same statistical weights in analyses, and to avoid pseudoreplication, the mean of each dive variable was calculated per individual during initial foraging-trip scale analyses, to allow comparison with other studies (Hurlbert 1984). The mean also was used to represent data from each individual and each hour of the day, for studying diel variation in foraging behaviour.

Variability in dive depth was used as a measure of how closely AFS and SFS followed the vertical movements of prey, if they consumed the same prey species, or else as a measure of variability in prey vertical movements. To test for differences in this variability, the coefficient of variation (CV) was calculated for each individual, and a one-way Analysis of Variance was used to test whether it differed between species.

Results are presented as means  $\pm$  SE, unless noted otherwise. The Shapiro-Wilks statistic and Fligner-Killeen test were used to evaluate assumptions of normality

of data distributions and homogeneity of variances, respectively, prior to analyses of variance. Effects of foraging-trip duration, species, and their interaction, on each dive variable were tested using linear mixed-effects models (Pinheiro and Bates 2000). Dietary differences were tested using two-sample Wilcoxon tests. All analyses were carried out in the GNU R system (R development Core Team 2007).

# 2.3 Results

I obtained data for > 250 foraging trips from > 90 females, split roughly equally between the species (AFS, n = 49; SFS, n = 47; 1-11 per female Table 2.1). Data from two SFS females instrumented in winter 2003 (June 11th - July 15th) to determine their foraging behaviour during late lactation, were analyzed but excluded from interspecific comparisons, as no additional SFS females could be instrumented then.

#### 2.3.1 Maternal attendance and foraging-trip duration

Most seals departed the colony to forage at sea between 17:00 and 20:00 local time, although departures during all hours of the afternoon were observed for AFS (Figure 2.1). Arrival times were more variable, but occurred mostly during the morning for both species. AFS females departed from the colony significantly earlier in the late afternoon (Kruskal-Wallis  $\chi^2 = 27.56$ , P < 0.001), and returned to it later in the morning ( $\chi^2 = 26.48$ , P < 0.001). Median departure and arrival times were 17:30 and 09:31 for AFS, and 18:39 and 06:44 for SFS, respectively.

A subsample of 70 seals for which complete foraging cycles (i.e., foraging trip and the subsequent maternal attendance) were documented, showed that AFS spent significantly more time at sea ( $F_{1,68} = 7.69$ , P = 0.007, arcsine transformed data) and a larger proportion of their foraging cycle at sea than SFS (AFS:  $77.5\% \pm 0.30$ , n = 36; SFS:  $66.2\% \pm 0.54$ , n = 34). The proportion of time at sea did not vary significantly throughout the breeding season (P > 0.1 for both AFS and SFS).

Foraging trips lasted from 0.3 to 32 d, but with a highly skewed right distribution, and an absence of trips of durations 1.00 - 1.25 d (Figure 2.2). Furthermore, 43% of all trips lasted < 1 d, so a distinction between foraging trips lasting < 1 d and > 1 d was necessary. Brief, overnight foraging trips (OFTs) were significantly more frequent for SFS (48% vs 28% for AFS, Pearson's  $\chi^2 = 5.15$ , P = 0.02, Table 2.2).

Although an analysis of inter-annual variation was not the focus of this study, a comparison of durations of long foraging trip (LFT) between years did not differ significantly for either species (Kruskal-Wallis test, P > 0.1). Therefore, interannual variation in foraging and maternal attendance behaviour was not considered in subsequent analyses.

OFTs were not limited to any particular period of the breeding season, as seals alternated irregularly between OFTs and LFTs throughout that period (Figure 2.3, upper). OFTs averaged approximately half a day in duration and did not differ significantly between species (Table 2.2). However, LFTs were about 50% longer in SFS females (Table 2.2). LFTs increased significantly in duration over the breeding season (slope =  $0.92 h \cdot d^{-1}$ , P < 0.05), although variation was large ( $r^2 = 0.29$ ); rate of increase was similar between species (ANCOVA  $F_{1,81} = 2.67$ , P = 0.11, Figure 2.3). Data from two SFS individual females in winter included one foraging trip each, with a duration of 30.2 and 31.9 d, respectively, much greater than values recorded during the summer.

Maternal attendances were significantly longer in SFS, following either OFTs or LFTs (Table 2.2). Concomitant with these differences, female seals stayed ashore longer after LFTs than after OFTs ( $F_{1,93} = 10.2$ , P = 0.002; non-significant species  $\times$  trip-type interaction, P > 0.1).

#### 2.3.2 Diving behaviour

Information from 133,010 dives was obtained from all seals overall, but 16,579 of those were from two individuals deployed in winter, so 116,431 were from the summer (Table 2.3). Diving was restricted almost entirely to the night in both species. While at sea at night, both species dove 34% of the available time, on average.

Overall, diving behaviour differed significantly between species, with SFS diving deeper and for longer periods (Table 2.3). However, maximal dive depths were higher for AFS. Mean rates of descent and ascent, as well as time spent at the bottom, were higher in SFS. Despite those differences, both species spent nearly the same effort when diving, as no significant differences were found in time spent diving (mean, 34%) or the rate of diving (mean,  $1,053 \text{ m} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$ ) during the night.

Seasonal changes in diving behaviour were apparent for SFS, as the two lactating females instrumented during winter showed reduced mean diving depths and durations (24.6  $\pm$  0.38 m and 80.2  $\pm$  5.6 s, respectively), compared to summer values. Maximal dive durations increased to 337.5  $\pm$  8.8 s. Diving was mainly nocturnal (mean, 99.1%), as during the summer.

Diving behaviour varied significantly with type of foraging trip (OFT vs. LFT, linear mixed effects models, P < 0.05 all cases), and this factor did not show any significant interactions with species for any of the dive attributes studied (P >0.05 all cases). However, the inclusion of this factor did not affect interspecific comparisons. During OFTs, seals dove to significantly greater depths, for longer periods ( $F_{1,46} = 28.7$  and  $F_{1,46} = 40.0$ , P < 0.001 both cases). The deepest and longest dives for each seal were recorded during OFTs (Table 2.4). Similarly, mean descent and ascent ( $F_{1,46} = 8.4$ ,  $F_{1,46} = 9.9$ ) plus nocturnal dive rates ( $F_{1,46} = 5.4$ ), were significantly greater during OFTs (P < 0.05 all cases).

Despite the trends just reported, median dive depth was shallower ( $F_{1,46} = 5.5$ ,

P = 0.02), and mean and median dive duration ( $F_{1,46} = 17.0$  and  $F_{1,46} = 20.7$ ), plus mean bottom time ( $F_{1,46} = 20.5$ ) were briefer during OFTs (P < 0.001 in all cases). Mean dive depth and time spent diving at night did not vary with type of foraging trip (P > 0.1 all cases).

Differences in dive behaviour between foraging trip types and between species became more evident when diel patterns in dive depth and duration were considered (Figure 2.4). During OFTs, AFS females dove to mean depths of 28 m for most of the night, but increased dive depths to 61 m at dawn. In contrast, SFS females began diving at dusk to relatively shallow depths (24 m), but dive depths increased steadily to mean depths of 48 m at midnight, and decreased thereafter to mean depths of 39 m (Figure 2.4a). Nonetheless, the coefficient of variation (CV) in dive depth between dusk and dawn was similar between species during OFTs ( $F_{1,52} = 0.004$ , P = 0.95). Dive duration followed a similar pattern during these short trips, when AFS females made the longest dives at dusk and dawn. Dive durations were much less variable throughout the night among SFS females, despite relatively large changes in dive depths (Figure 2.4b).

Diel changes in dive depth differed between LFTs and OFTs (Figure 2.4). AFS females made their deepest dives at dusk and dawn (mean 44 and 65 m, respectively), but dove to relatively shallow depths (mean 28 m) for most of the night. Dive depths varied little from dusk until the end of the night in SFS (mean 37 m), and they increased to approximately 48 m at dawn (Figure 2.4a). Concomitant with these differences, the CV of nocturnal dive depths during LFTs was higher in AFS  $(F_{1,96} = 17.1, P < 0.001)$ . Again, dive durations followed approximately the same pattern in AFS, with the longest dives at dusk and dawn, and the briefest dives in the middle of the night. Dive durations of SFS females were similar to, though less pronounced than, those of AFS (Figure 2.4b). Dive rates were lowest at dusk and dawn, regardless of foraging-trip type or species. However, they showed different diel patterns between species and between foragingtrip types (Figure 2.5a). While on OFTs, dive rates varied greatly in SFS, being highest in the middle of the night and higher than those of AFS during that period. Dive rates were more homogeneous in LFTs for both species, but were again higher for SFS in the middle of the night. They showed peaks at dusk and dawn for AFS, associated with the deeper dives they performed during those hours. Changes in time spent diving per hour of night showed the same differences between foragingtrip types, although differences between species were evident only for the hours following dusk and prior to dawn in LFTs (Figure 2.5b).

SFS females instrumented in winter dove close to the surface between dusk and dawn, and at considerably lower mean depths (15-30 m) than those in summer. Winter dive durations were 50 - 110 s, with the longest dives after midnight and before dawn. Mean dive rates and time spent diving varied greatly, but were relatively constant throughout the night at 80 m  $\cdot$  h<sup>-1</sup>, and 90 s  $\cdot$  h<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, considerably lower than in summer.

#### 2.3.3 Diet

A total of 82 scat samples were analyzed (41 from each fur seal species), yielding 2,354 sagittal otoliths, 143 cephalopod beaks, and 22 crustacean remains useful for identification. Species from the family Myctophidae dominated the fish component of the diet of both species (90.8% and 92.2% of total number of prey, respectively). The genus *Gymnoscopelus* was the most common representative of that family (AFS: 71.1%; SFS: 70.0%, Figure 2.6), and seven other fish species (from 7 families) were also identified, but in very low numbers (< 1%). Seven species of cephalopod were also identified, but only one of them represented > 1% of all prey numbers (Fig-

ure 2.6).

AFS and SFS consumed the same prey species, but in different proportions ( $\chi^2 = 213.2 \ P < 0.001$ ; test based on 10 species for which relative numbers were larger than 5 for both fur seal species). The difference was due to differences in the proportions of *Gymnoscopelus* species (*G. fraseri*, *G. piabilis*, *G. nicholsi*, and other unidentified species) and, to a lesser extent, *Electrona subaspera* (Günther, 1864) and the brachioteuthid cephalopod *Slosarczykovia circumantarctica* (Lipinski, 2001) (Figure 2.6). SFS consumed *G. fraseri* and *E. subaspera* in higher numerical proportions than did AFS, and *G. nicholsi* and the cephalopod *S. circumantarctica* were more common in the diet of AFS.

Based on regression analysis of otolith size (see Methods), standard length (SL) of G. fraseri consumed by the two fur seal species was similar (AFS, 82.8  $\pm$  6.3 mm, n = 12; SFS, 81.5  $\pm$  6.4 mm, n = 102; Mann-Whitney, U = 645.0, P = 0.76). Gymnoscopelus piabilis consumed by AFS was slightly larger (132.5  $\pm$  9.8 mm, n = 14), but not significantly so (U = 776.5, P = 0.07), than that consumed by SFS (129.7  $\pm$  7.7 mm, n = 85).

# 2.4 Discussion

Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals are locally sympatric (syntopic) at Macquarie Island, Marion Island, and Iles Crozet, where they feed on the same species. At Macquarie Island and Iles Crozet they were shown to use similar foraging areas, dive to similar depths, and stay submerged for about the same amount of time. These similarities in foraging behaviour have been used to support the notion that prey ecology is the major determinant of the predators' foraging characteristics. However, the large difference in duration of lactation and in pup physiology (e.g., energy budgets and fat stores, as noted above) suggested that some interspecific differences in foraging ecology must occur. The results of the present study revealed interspecific differences in foraging behaviour which were not previously evident from foraging-trip-scale analyses.

#### 2.4.1 Differences in maternal attendance and foraging-trip duration

Several studies have used the interval between departure from the colony and the first dive as an indication of travel time to the first foraging patch (Boyd et al. 1991, Page et al. 2005). In this study, the late afternoon departure and early morning arrival from the colony for most individuals indicated that both species travelled to foraging areas close to the colony, because seals dove almost exclusively at night, in common with other fur seals that dive predominantly at night (Gentry and Kooyman 1986*a*). Indeed, this was documented in a previous satellite-tracking study, in which both species were shown to forage 50 - 100 km from the colony (Bailleul et al. 2005).

I observed two distinctly different kinds of foraging trip in both species: brief (OFT) or long (LFT). This also has been observed in these species at Macquarie Island (Goldsworthy 1999). However, mean foraging-trip duration varies both geographically and temporally in AFS (2.5 - 13.1 d: Boyd and Croxall 1992, Green 1997, Lea et al. 2002c, Kirkman et al. 2003), and the LFT durations I observed in this study (mean, 3.47 d) fall near the lower end of values in that range. At Marion Island, with a similar marine environment around it as that found around Iles Crozet, LFT durations averaged considerably longer for AFS females: 6.0 to 9.4 d (Kirkman et al. 2003), suggesting they fed closer to the colony at Iles Crozet.

The LFT durations I observed for SFS (mean 5.23 d) were similar to those observed at Marion Island (Kirkman et al. 2002), but much briefer than those observed in an allopatric population at Amsterdam Island, where summer foraging trip durations averaged 11 d (Georges and Guinet 2000b). SFS females at Amsterdam Island forage in the Subtropical Front (Georges et al. 2000a), which is found much farther from the colony, and increasingly so throughout lactation, than the Polar and Subpolar Fronts around Iles Crozet (Sparrow et al. 1996), where this species finds food. Therefore, the proximity of these two oceanic fronts around Iles Crozet may account for the briefer durations of foraging-trips in this SFS population. This may also be the case for SFS at Marion Island (Kirkman et al. 2002).

A finding common to all three sites where AFS and SFS breed sympatrically is the longer duration of SFS maternal attendance, compared to AFS females (Goldsworthy 1999, Bester and Bartlett 1990). Increased frequency of brief foraging trips, and reduced duration of maternal attendance, both suggest higher energy transfer rates to offspring (Boyd et al. 1994, Arnould et al. 1996a, Boyd 1999). In the Amsterdam Island SFS population, however, pups from mothers making very brief or very long foraging trips suffered reduced growth rates, compared to those from mothers making trips 9 - 13 d in duration (Georges and Guinet 2000b), so OFTs may not always be the most profitable for mother and pup. Otherwise, females of both species would be expected to use OFTs as much as possible. Therefore, SFS females may have increased the proportion of OFTs at a cost of reducing energy transfer rates to their pups. This foraging strategy may be optimal for species with relatively long lactation, with offspring that must fast for long periods during which they have reduced energy requirements (Arnould et al. 2003). In contrast, lactating female AFS may be under stronger pressure to perform for aging trips > 1 d in duration, to transfer sufficient energy to sustain pup activity and growth during maternal absence. Indeed, lactating female AFS spent a greater proportion of their foraging cycle at sea.

#### 2.4.2 Interspecific differences in diving behaviour and diet

The major aspects of diving behaviour of lactating female AFS and SFS in this study differed little from allopatric populations of those species (Boyd and Croxall 1992, Georges et al. 2000*b*, Lea et al. 2002*c*). However, AFS may have greater versatility in diving behaviour, as they also dive frequently during daylight hours in some populations (McCafferty et al. 1998, Lea et al. 2002*c*); presumably this is related to variation in diet. In contrast, during this study and another one carried out at Amsterdam Island, < 1% of all SFS dives occurred during daylight hours, and SFS diet consisted primarily of myctophid fish (Beauplet et al. 2004).

I documented diel changes in dive characteristics, which revealed some fine-scale ecological differences between AFS and SFS: (i) relatively deep and long dusk and dawn diving, with shallow, brief diving for most of the night in AFS, particularly during LFTs, (ii) dives to relatively constant depths and durations for most of the night, with a depth increase at dawn, and dive duration maxima at dusk and dawn during LFTs for SFS, and (iii) deep diving around midnight, decreasing to minima at dusk and dawn, with relatively constant dive duration for most of the night during OFTs for SFS. These patterns resulted in SFS diving deeper and for longer periods overall. The associated changes in night dive rate and time spent diving also indicated that they concentrated diving efforts at different times of the night. Thus, AFS females focused their dive effort in the hour immediately after dusk and before dawn during LFTs, and in the hours between midnight and dawn during OFTs. In comparison, SFS females progressively increased dive effort between dusk and dawn during LFTs, and concentrated most of it around midnight during OFTs.

The first feature (i) of AFS female dives, noted above, has been considered typical of fur seals closely tracking the vertical migration of their prey (Goebel et al. 1991, Croxall et al. 1985); such as myctophid fish in this study. Most myctophids are
known to undergo migrations from deep (200 - 800 m) layers in the water column during the daytime, to a few tens of meters from the surface at night (Robison 2003). Therefore, the deep crepuscular dives performed by AFS in both types of foraging trip suggest they were following their prey, as they return to their deeper daytime locations.

The diel diving pattern of SFS in LFTs suggests that this species did not follow the vertical migrations of their prey as closely as AFS (feature iii, as noted above). Consistent with this observation, variability in dive depth throughout the night was lower in SFS, and their dives were concentrated deeper in the water column, so foraging exhibited some vertical segregation between species during LFTs. This was not mirrored in nocturnal dive rates or time spent diving, as diel patterns in those variables were similar between species. The diving behaviour of SFS during LFTs is similar to that of benthic-feeding otariids (Costa and Gales 2003, Arnould and Hindell 2001); however, both SFS and AFS are pelagic foragers (Bailleul et al. 2005), and the bottom phase of dives was characterized by numerous "wiggles", which is not typical of benthic feeders. The overall similarity in the diets of both species suggests that they exploit the same prey resource, but in slightly different ways, as they distribute their dive effort differently over time and through the water column.

AFS and SFS females differed most strikingly in OFT diving characteristics. During OFTs, some of these differences resulted in vertical segregation of approximately 20 m around midnight. The nocturnal dive rate at dusk and dawn was very low for these trips among SFS, even lower than among AFS, hence they made very few dives at these times. Consistent with the reduction in dive effort at dawn, SFS females arrived at the colony earlier, and the later arrival of AFS females reflects their greater effort diving deeply at dawn.

The diet and diving behaviour of SFS have only been studied previously at Amster-

dam Island. The myctophids consumed there differed greatly from those I identified (Beauplet et al. 2004) at Ile de la Possession, with none of the same species being noted. However, diving behaviour is strikingly similar between the two sites. Although OFTs do not occur at Amsterdam Island, LFT dives of SFS from both sites showed relatively constant depths throughout the night, and my limited data from winter also show similarities between the two sites. This contrasts with AFS studies showing broad differences in diving behaviour, in association with differences in diet. SFS may thus be less flexible in their diving behaviour than their southern cousins.

The vertical distribution and migration of myctophids consumed by fur seals in waters around Iles Crozet are unknown, but data from Iles Kerguelen (1400 km to the southeast) provide some indications. The three most important myctophids identified in Iles Crozet fur seal scats have been found in the upper 50 m layer of waters around Iles Kerguelen (Duhamel et al. 2000). Gymnoscopelus fraseri shows strong vertical migrations there, but is less abundant than G. nicholsi near the surface at that location. If the same pattern exists around Iles Crozet, it may explain the higher frequency of G. fraseri in SFS and of G. nicholsi in AFS scats. Interestingly, G. nicholsi from that location is richer in lipid content than G. fraseri (18.0 vs. 11.6 % wet mass; Lea et al. 2002d). Therefore, AFS may forage more efficiently by trading off the larger abundance of an energetically poorer prey deeper in the water column, for a richer prey closer to the surface. The consequences of such foraging behaviour differences between sympatric fur seals with contrasting lactation durations need to be investigated in terms of mother-offspring energetics.

#### 2 Foraging behaviour of adult females

Species	Breeding	Body mass	TDR model				Foraging
	Season	(kg)	MK5	MK7	MK8	All	trips
AFS	2001	$33.2\pm0.44$	5	16	16	37	102
	2002	$31.6\pm0.58$	3	4	5	12	30
	Both	$32.7\pm0.36$	8	20	21	49	132
SFS	2001	$30.6\pm0.55$	3	17	17	37	113
	2002	$30.4\pm0.78$	2	4	4	10	32
	Both	$30.5\pm0.45$	5	21	21	47	145

Table 2.1. Summary of data on lactating female Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals fitted with time-depth recorders (TDRs) on Iles Crozet, in the breeding seasons of 2001-02 and 2002-03

**Table 2.2.** Summary of durations of overnight (OFT) and long (LFT) foraging trips, and of the ensuing period ashore, for Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals on Iles Crozet. Mean  $\pm$  SE (N) are shown

Activity	Species	Duration (d)			
		OFT	LFT		
At-sea	AFS	$0.52 \pm 0.03$ (19)	$3.47 \pm 0.20$ (49)		
	SFS	$0.48 \pm 0.02$ (35)	$5.23 \pm 0.51$ (38)		
	F-ratio	$F_{1,52} = 1.72$	$F_{1,85} = 12.4^{ m b}$		
Ashore <sup>a</sup>	AFS	$0.74 \pm 0.17$ (17)	$1.18 \pm 0.09$ (31)		
	SFS	$1.17 \pm 0.12$ (28)	$1.94 \pm 0.19$ (19)		
	F-ratio	$F_{1,43} = 4.63^{ m b}$	$F_{1,48} = 16.0^{\mathrm{b}}$		

<sup>a</sup> Periods ashore were grouped according to duration of the preceding foraging trip

<sup>b</sup> P < 0.01 between species

### 2 Foraging behaviour of adult females

Table 2.3. Overall summary of summer diving behaviour of Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals on Iles Crozet. Mean  $\pm$  SE (N) are shown

Dive variable <sup>a</sup>	AFS	SFS	F-ratio
Total number of dives	59,636	56, 795	
Night dives (% of total)	$97.8\pm0.04$	$98.5\pm0.04$	4.71 <sup>b</sup>
Mean dive depth (m)	$29.2\pm0.24$	$39.7\pm0.31$	14.3 <sup>c</sup>
Median dive depth (m)	$23.7\pm0.33$	$39.9\pm0.39$	19.8 <sup>c</sup>
Maximum dive depth (m)	$122.9\pm0.66$	$99.8\pm0.34$	17.4 <sup>c</sup>
Deepest dive (m)	193	141	
Mean dive duration (s)	$78.5\pm0.42$	$93.2\pm0.46$	10.6 <sup>b</sup>
Median dive duration (s)	$74.5\pm0.57$	$94.5\pm0.57$	11.5 <sup>c</sup>
Maximum dive duration (s)	$219.0\pm0.63$	$206.9\pm0.58$	3.77
Longest dive (s)	295	310	
Mean descent rate (m $\cdot s^{-1}$ )	$0.92\pm0.003$	$1.07\pm0.004$	19.9 <sup>c</sup>
Mean ascent rate $(m \cdot s^{-1})$	$1.07\pm0.004$	$1.23\pm0.005$	12.6 <sup>c</sup>
Mean bottom time (s)	$31.8\pm0.14$	$36.4\pm0.19$	7.1 <sup>b</sup>
Time spent diving at night (% of night time)	$34.5\pm0.19$	$33.4\pm0.17$	0.29
Night dive rate $(m \cdot h^{-1})$	$988.5 \pm 7.84$	$1,116.6 \pm 8.97$	2.23

 $^{\rm a}$  For each individual, the mean was used to avoid pseudoreplication  $^{\rm b}$  P<0.05 between species

<sup>c</sup> P < 0.001 between species

Table 2.4. Quantitative summary of diving behaviour of Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals on Iles Crozet, during overnight (OFT) and long (LFT) foraging trips. Mean  $\pm$  SE (N) are shown

Dive variable <sup>b</sup>	AFS	SFS
OFT		
Total number of dives	4,088	8,573
Mean dive depth (m)	$29.7\pm0.25$	$37.8\pm0.35$
Median dive depth (m)	$24.2\pm0.33$	$37.4\pm0.46$
Maximum dive depth (m)	$122.0\pm0.67$	$99.9 \pm 0.36$
Deepest dive (m)	193	141
Mean dive duration (s)	$78.7\pm0.44$	$88.1\pm0.51$
Median dive duration (s)	$74.5\pm0.58$	$88.3\pm0.66$
Maximum dive duration (s)	$218.2\pm0.65$	$207.2\pm0.69$
Longest dive (s)	295	310
Mean descent rate $(m \cdot s^{-1})$	$0.92\pm0.003$	$1.07\pm0.004$
Mean ascent rate $(m \cdot s^{-1})$	$1.08\pm0.004$	$1.23\pm0.006$
Mean bottom time (s)	$31.5\pm0.15$	$34.9\pm0.22$
Time spent diving at night (% of night time)	$35.4\pm0.20$	$33.1\pm0.21$
Night dive rate $(m \cdot h^{-1})$	$1,008.9 \pm 8.17$	$1,105.8 \pm 10.92$
LFT		
Total number of dives	54,850	48,064
Mean dive depth (m)	$29.6\pm0.89$	$43.7\pm0.48$
Median dive depth (m)	$29.7 \pm 1.10$	$45.7\pm0.57$
Maximum dive depth (m)	$92.1 \pm 1.78$	$89.3\pm0.70$
Deepest dive (m)	151	134
Mean dive duration (s)	$90.6 \pm 1.37$	$103.7\pm0.72$
Median dive duration (s)	$94.6 \pm 1.79$	$108.0\pm0.86$
Maximum dive duration (s)	$185.0\pm1.40$	$180.2\pm1.03$
Longest dive (s)	220	255
Mean descent rate $(m \cdot s^{-1})$	$0.80\pm0.01$	$1.04\pm0.006$
Mean ascent rate $(m \cdot s^{-1})$	$0.93\pm0.02$	$1.22\pm0.008$
Mean bottom time (s)	$39.6\pm0.56$	$39.5\pm0.38$
Time spent diving at night (% of night time)	$34.5\pm0.68$	$33.1\pm0.34$
Night dive rate $(m \cdot h^{-1})$	$833.2 \pm 24.16$	$1,082.4 \pm 14.68$

<sup>a</sup> See text for results of statistical comparisons
 <sup>b</sup> For each individual, the mean was used to avoid pseudoreplication

2 Foraging behaviour of adult females



Figure 2.1. Sympatric lactating female Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals at Iles Crozet differ significantly in times of morning returns from foraging trips (left) and of afternoon departures for foraging trips (right). Shaded area: time between dusk and dawn; dashed vertical lines: median times

2 Foraging behaviour of adult females



Figure 2.2. Frequency distributions of foraging-trip durations for sympatric lactating female Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals at Iles Crozet are variable and highly skewed. A discontinuity in duration is apparent (arrows), which was used to distinguish between brief and long trips (see text). Data were binned at 0.25 d



Figure 2.3. Long foraging trips (LFTs) increased in duration over the breeding season (upper) but periods of maternal attendance on land did not (lower), for sympatric lactating female Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals at Iles Crozet. Lines represent fitted linear regressions. The thin gray dashed line (upper) at 1 d separates OFTs and LFTs



Figure 2.4. Diel patterns in depth (a) and duration (b) of foraging dives differed between sympatric lactating female Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals at ILes Crozet, for overnight (OFT, right) and long (LFT, left) foraging trips. Values are mean  $\pm$  SE



Figure 2.5. Diel patterns in nocturnal dive rate (vertical meters travelled per night hour, a), and time spent diving (b) differed between sympatric lactating Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals at lles Crozet, for overnight (OFT, right) and long (LFT, left) foraging trips. Values are mean  $\pm$  SE



Figure 2.6. Percentage by number (of total prey items) and relative frequency of occurrence of identified prey in scat samples of Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals from La Mare aux Elephants, Iles Crozet. Only those species with relative frequency or frequency of occurrence higher than 1% are shown

## **Chapter 3**

# Temporal structure of diving behaviour as an indicator of foraging habitat characteristics

# 3.1 A maximum likelihood approach for identifying dive bouts improves accuracy, precision, and objectivity<sup>1</sup>

#### Abstract

Foraging behaviour frequently occurs in bouts, and considerable efforts to properly define those bouts have been made because they partly reflect different scales of environmental variation. Methods traditionally used to identify such bouts are diverse, include some level of subjectivity, and their accuracy and precision is rarely compared. Therefore, the applicability of a maximum likelihood estimation method (MLM) for identifying dive bouts was investigated and compared with a recently proposed sequential differences analysis (SDA). Using real data on interdive durations from Antarctic fur seals (*Arctocephalus gazella* (Peters, 1875)), the MLM-based model produced briefer bout-ending criterion (BEC) and more precise parameter estimates than the SDA approach. The MLM-based model was also in better agreement with real data, as it predicted the cumulative frequency of differences in interdive duration more accurately. Using both methods on simulated data showed that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Corresponding publication available in Appendix B.2

MLM-based approach produced less biased estimates of the given model parameters than the SDA approach. Different choices of histogram bin widths involved in SDA had a systematic effect on the estimated BEC, such that larger bin widths resulted in longer BECs. These results suggest that using the MLM-based procedure with the sequential differences in interdive durations, and possibly other dive characteristics, may be an accurate, precise, and objective tool for identifying dive bouts.

#### 3.1.1 Introduction

Many seabirds and marine mammals dive in bouts (Gentry et al. 1986, Huin and Prince 1997, Kato et al. 2003); i.e., most of their dives occur in rapid succession, while the remaining are separated by longer intervals. Dives occurring in the same bout tend to resemble each other more than those occurring in different bouts. Based on their characteristics (e.g., mean dive depth and time spent at the bottom of the dive), bouts can be associated with a particular activity, such as travelling or foraging (Lea et al. 2002c). Numerous studies use dive bouts to infer instances of a forager exploiting discrete prey patches (Boyd 1996, Harcourt et al. 2002, Mori et al. 2002, Mori and Boyd 2004a), because food resources are patchily distributed (Wroblewski et al. 1975, Croxall et al. 1985) at scales that organisms respond to (With and Crist 1995, Wu and Loucks 1995). Depending on the scale(s) at which food resources display patchiness (Wiens 1976, Levin 1992), the same argument is applied more generally to most animal behaviours associated with foraging, in both terrestrial (e.g., Munger 1984, Schaefer and Messier 1995, Rotenberry and Wiens 1998) and aquatic environments (e.g., Kruuk et al. 1990, Fauchald 1999). Therefore, it is essential to accurately and objectively identify behavioural bouts in studies of foraging ecology of aquatic and terrestrial predators. This can be achieved by determining a bout-ending criterion (BEC), or how long an interval between two

successive dives should be to assign them to different bouts.

The theory and methods used to determine the BEC have been reviewed elsewhere (Slater and Lester 1982, Tolkamp and Kyriazakis 1999). Events occurring in bouts are thought to be generated by a combination of two or more processes operating on progressively larger time scales. At the smallest scale, events are separated by similar and brief intervals. Events separated by markedly longer intervals define different groups of events (or bouts), thereby distinguishing the scale at which one process generates individual events from that generating bouts. Processes of both types are thought to follow a random Poisson distribution, where the intervals between them are described by a mixture of exponential distributions (Slater and Lester 1982). Defining the BEC is, therefore, a problem of finding the time intervals that separate each process from the others.

Methods for searching the BEC include log-survivorship and log-frequency analysis (Gentry and Kooyman 1986b, Sibly et al. 1990). Boyd (1996) developed an iterative method to group dives into bouts by comparing the interdive duration of a given dive with the mean of those preceding it, considering it as part of a new bout if these values differed significantly. More recently, Mori et al. (2001) suggested another method, termed sequential differences analysis (SDA hereafter), based on log-frequency analysis. The BEC in this method could be estimated using the absolute differences between interdive durations, rather than the interdive durations themselves. If the occurrence of dives can be described by a mixture of Poisson distributions, the mean interdive duration should be the same for all bouts (Karlis and Xekalaki 2005). However, in cases where dive bouts are considered as instances of a diver foraging in patches, interdive duration is expected to vary between bouts because it is closely related to dive depth (Houston and Carbone 1992, Carbone and Houston 1996, Boyd 1997), which in turn depends on prey species composition and determines foraging patch quality for the predator (Thompson and Fedak 2001). Mori et al. (2001), therefore, pointed out that previous methods may erroneously assume that mean interdive duration is common to all bouts; an assumption that can be avoided with SDA.

Although SDA has been useful in studies of foraging behaviour (Mori 1998b, Mori and Boyd 2004b, Mori et al. 2005), it is based on fitting a non-linear model to the logarithm of frequencies of absolute differences in interdive durations, and possibly other dive characteristics (e.g., dive depth). SDA relies on the construction of a histogram, using the midpoints of each class as the independent variable (Sibly et al. 1990). Therefore, a certain level of subjectivity is involved in the selection of class widths, and some information is lost by summarizing data from each class with a single value. Furthermore, class widths must be adjusted, or a weighting scheme must be implemented, to avoid empty classes. There are currently no objective criteria for dealing with these factors. Johnson et al. (2006) recently pointed out that the choices made throughout this procedure can have large influences on the BEC.

Some of these issues have been raised by Langton et al. (1995), who proposed to address them by using a maximum likelihood estimation method (MLM hereafter) for defining the BEC. This approach uses the information in the entire dataset of intervals between events. Unfortunately, the method has not been adopted to identify behavioural bouts in general, and dive bouts of marine predators in particular, where understanding spatiotemporal variation in prey distribution and quality is of major interest. My aim was, therefore, to demonstrate the usefulness of this approach in this field, incorporating the concept used in SDA to avoid the assumption of invariant mean dive characteristics between dive bouts. I used time-depth recorder (TDR) data from lactating female Antarctic fur seal (*Arctocephalus gazella* (Peters, 1875)), during their foraging trips at sea, to compare models of the frequency of differences in interdive duration fit using SDA vs. those fit using MLM.

#### 3.1.2 Methods

Data were obtained from lactating female Antarctic fur seals at La Mare aux Elephants (46°22'29" S, 51°40'13" E), at the western end of Ile de la Possession, Crozet archipelago, Southern Indian Ocean, during the 2001-02 (4 December - 25 March) and 2002-03 (1 December - 16 March) breeding seasons.

#### Instrumentation and measurement of diving behaviour

Animal capture and handling procedures were described in Bailleul et al. (2005). Briefly, lactating females were captured on land during their nursing visits. Each individual was weighed to the nearest kg, and placed on a restraint board for attachment of instruments. One of three different TDR models was glued to the dorsal fur between the scapulae, using a two-component glue (AW 2101 Ciba Specialty Chemicals): MK5, MK7, and MK8 (Wildlife Computers, Redmond, Washington, U.S.A.). TDRs were programmed to record time and depth every 5 s when the seals were at sea, with a 1 m depth resolution. Instruments were left on the seals for 1 to 11 foraging trips, and were recovered by cutting the fur beneath them, upon the seals' return to the colony.

TDR data were downloaded to a portable computer, where analyses of the resulting time series of dive data were performed using custom-written software, available as the GNU R (R development Core Team 2007) package diveMove (Luque 2007). Before analyses, depth readings were corrected for shifts in the pressure transducer of the TDR. Sections of each record were identified as foraging trips if continuous wet activity (i.e., continuous depth readings) was available for at least 6 h. This limit was selected to exclude short excursions to sea for activities other than foraging, because these contained isolated shallow dives and mainly surface behaviour.

Dives were defined as departures from the surface to depths  $\geq 4$  m plus the ensuing return to surface. Dives to shallower depths were not considered because they were indistinguishable from noise remaining after adjustment of pressure transducer drifts, which was greater than the resolution of the instrument (Beck et al. 2000). Dives were thus described by their duration, maximal depth, and interdive duration.

For the purposes of this paper, data from the first recorded foraging trip to sea of four randomly-selected individual seals were used in subsequent analyses. The models described below were fitted to each seal's dive record separately because foraging trip durations varied between them, and to avoid effects of interindividual variation in diving behaviour masking bout structure.

#### Identifying bouts using SDA

The variable used for defining bouts with SDA- and MLM-based methods was the absolute difference in interdive duration (t); the time between a dive and the preceding one. This procedure is based on a log-frequency analysis described in detail by Sibly et al. (1990) and further developed by Mori et al. (2001). Briefly, the first step of the method consists of creating a histogram of t, with the frequencies expressed as a logarithm. Because large values of t are considerably less frequent than small ones, some class intervals may have a frequency of zero, leading to the erroneous representation of frequencies in larger class intervals. To correct for this effect, the frequency of class intervals following intervals with zero frequency was divided by the number of preceding empty intervals plus one. The logarithm of the frequencies of all class intervals where frequency > 0 is thus considered a function of the midpoint of the intervals.

The distribution of t is assumed to be a mixture of two random Poisson processes; a fast and a slow one (Sibly et al. 1990). The fast process represents the small time scale at which individual dives occur, while the slow process represents the large time scale where bouts are distinguished. Therefore, the relationship described above can be defined as the sum of both processes:

$$y = \log[N_f \lambda_f e^{-\lambda_f t} + N_s \lambda_s e^{-\lambda_s t}]$$
(3.1)

where y is the logarithm of the frequency of any given t; the subscripts f and s denote the fast and slow processes, respectively; N is the number of interdive intervals occurring in each process; and  $\lambda$  represents the probability of an event occurring in a given process per unit time (Sibly et al. 1990). Initial values for the N and  $\lambda$  parameters must be obtained in order to fit this negative exponential function. The broken-stick method was used for this purpose, following Sibly et al. (1990).

The BEC defining the threshold between the two Poisson processes can be obtained from eq. (3.1):

$$BEC = \frac{1}{\lambda_f - \lambda_s} \log \frac{N_f \lambda_f}{N_s \lambda_s}$$
(3.2)

To assess the effect of the choice of histogram bin widths on the estimation procedure, the model was fit, and the BEC calculated using bin widths from 5 (i.e., the sampling resolution) to 50 s.

#### Identifying bouts using MLM

Langton et al. (1995) suggested that eq. (3.1) did not consider that the total number of events observed should be equal to  $N_f + N_s$ , and hence that the model can be simplified by expressing one of these parameters as a function of the other. The authors presented also a maximum likelihood estimation method using all observed data, rather than a histogram of these, to describe the frequency of any given event. The log likelihood of all the  $N_t$  absolute differences in interdive duration can be expressed as:

$$\log L_2 = \sum_{i=1}^{N_t} \log[p\lambda_f e^{-\lambda_f t_i} + (1-p)\lambda_s e^{-\lambda_s t_i}]$$
(3.3)

where p is a mixing parameter representing the proportion of fast to slow process events in the sampled population. The parameters from eq. (3.3) must be estimated numerically, hence an optimization procedure is required using appropriate initial values. These values were obtained by first maximizing a reparameterized version of eq. (3.3) using a logit transformation of the p parameter, and a logarithm transformation of the  $\lambda$  parameters. Initial values for this reparameterized model were in turn calculated as for the SDA (i.e., by using the broken-stick method). Such transformations stabilized the variance in the parameters, and rescaled them to avoid difficulties with the optimization algorithm. The parameter estimates obtained from this procedure were untransformed, and used as initial values for maximizing eq. (3.3). Therefore, parameter estimates and their standard errors were obtained in their original scales.

The BEC in this case was estimated analogously to eq. (3.2):

$$BEC = \frac{1}{\lambda_f - \lambda_s} \log \frac{p\lambda_f}{(1-p)\lambda_s}$$
(3.4)

#### **Comparison between methods**

Models describing the distribution of interdive differences in dive duration (t) should accurately predict t's relative cumulative frequency. The expected relative cumulative frequency  $(f_c)$  of t can be calculated from parameters in models (3.1) and (3.3) using:

$$f_c = 1 - p e^{-\lambda_f t} - (1 - p) e^{\lambda_s t}$$
(3.5)

Thus,  $f_c$  for the range of observed t, and the actual relative cumulative frequency distribution of t were also calculated. The observed and expected relative cumulative frequencies of t were plotted simultaneously against t (logarithmically transformed) to compare the fit of the two models to data, as proposed by Langton et al. (1995). Differences in model outcomes, relative to observed cumulative frequencies, were tested by comparing the squared residuals (observed - predicted values, squared) between the models with a paired Student's t-test (Zar 1996).

Standard errors (SEs) for each parameter estimate provided a measure of the precision of each fitted model, and hence that of the estimated BEC. Bias was compared using simulated data generated with chosen mixing (p) and probability  $(\lambda)$  parameters. Based on the mid-range of observed data for all four seals, the mixing parameter was set to 0.7, and values for the probability parameters were set to 0.05 and 0.005  $(\lambda_f, \text{ and } \lambda_s, \text{ respectively})$ . Thus, one thousand values for t were simulated 100 times with these values, by generating a mixture of two random samples with exponential distribution  $(f(\lambda_x, t) = \lambda_x e^{-\lambda_x t})$ : one with  $\lambda_x = 0.05$  if a random uniform variable x  $(1 \ge x \ge 0)$  from the total of 100 was < 0.7, and another with  $\lambda_x = 0.005$ otherwise. Each simulated mixture was fit with both models, using the respective methods described above. The bias of the estimates in the simulations, with respect to the true value for the parameters, were subsequently calculated and compared. All data manipulations and computations were done in the GNU R statistical system and programming language (R development Core Team 2007).

To compare the effect of each method on interpretations of the behaviour of study animals, each seal's dive record was divided into bouts using the estimated BECs. The mean and variance of bout duration and interval between bouts was calculated and compared between models for each seal using Wilcoxon rank sum and Fligner-Killeen tests, respectively (Conover et al. 1981).

#### 3.1.3 Results

The number of dives observed for each seal varied from 910 to 1,881 (Table 3.1). Probability parameter ( $\lambda$ ) estimates from these samples were larger using MLM compared to those obtained through SDA. Conversely, the mixing parameter (p) was consistently smaller using MLM, and the total number of interdive intervals ( $N_f + N_s$ ) was largely overestimated using SDA. As a result of these differences, estimated BECs were markedly larger using SDA, by factors ranging from 2 to 6 (Table 3.1). SEs of estimated parameters were generally smaller using MLM. More importantly, the total number of bouts identified for each seal was considerably smaller when using SDA (Table 3.1).

Varying the bin width for creating the histograms used in SDA resulted in systematic changes in most parameters: estimated BECs and numbers of interdive intervals  $(N_f \text{ and } N_s)$  increased, but  $\lambda_f$  tended to decrease. SEs of estimated parameters increased as class bin widths were increased (Table 3.1). Using the narrowest bin width for the sampling interval programmed for TDRs (5 s), variation in estimated BECs among seals was larger using SDA than MLM (range 91.3 - 191.2 vs. 43.8 - 59.5 s).

Estimated and observed cumulative frequencies differed for high but non-asymptotic t values, regardless of the model (Figure 3.1). However, such departures were larger for models fit through SDA. Models fit through MLM followed the observed cumulative frequencies more closely, although they underestimated these frequencies for large t values (Figure 3.1). The sum of squared residuals from MLM-derived frequencies (relative to observed) ranged from 0.06 to 0.09, and from 0.5 to 1.0 for SDA-derived frequencies. The difference between models was significant for all seals

#### (Figure 3.1).

Bias of estimated parameters from models of simulated t values were 0.001, 0.0002, 0.00002 when fit through MLM, and 0.031, -0.0028, -0.0010 when fit through SDA  $(p, \lambda_f, \lambda_s, \text{respectively})$ . Thus, biases were smaller, and variation for each parameter was smaller for MLM estimates, particularly in the case of  $\lambda_f$  estimated using this method (Figure 3.2).

Variance in the duration of bouts was significantly larger (Fligner-Killeen  $\chi^2 = 50.9, 10.9, \text{ and } 13.6, \text{ seals } 1, 2, \text{ and } 3, \text{ respectively; } P < 0.001 \text{ all cases}) \text{ when SDA}$  with a 5 s bin width was used (Figure 3.3), except for one seal ( $\chi^2 = 3.0, P = 0.08$ ; seal 4). Similar results were observed for postbout duration (Fligner-Killeen  $\chi^2 = 22.2, 16.6, 25.2, \text{ and } 18.2, \text{ seals } 1, 2, 3, \text{ and } 4$  respectively; P < 0.001 all cases). Median duration of bouts (Wilcoxon U = 654, 1976, 6254, and 1220, P < 0.05, all cases), and postbout duration (Wilcoxon U = 1327, 1570, 6356, and 1048, P < 0.05, all cases) were also significantly larger when using SDA (Figure 3.3). The mean number of dives per bout was concomitantly smaller when using MLM (range: 7.4, 15.8), than when using SDA (range: 11.5, 20.1). Furthermore, the number of isolated dives varied from 158 to 323 when using MLM, whereas it varied from 54 to 170 when using SDA.

#### 3.1.4 Discussion

There are several advantages to using the MLM approach for defining the BEC, compared to other methods. Langton et al. (1995) showed that it provides more precise parameter estimates than log-frequency analysis (Sibly et al. 1990) by using all the information in the data, and that methods based on log-frequency analysis may include some subjectivity in the choice of histogram bin widths, which form the basis of the model. Despite these advantages, MLM approaches remain unused

for identifying foraging bouts, and dive bouts in particular, where methods based on log-frequency analysis are predominantly selected for this purpose. My results support and extend the conclusions in Langton et al. (1995), and suggest that SDA (Mori et al. 2001) may be improved by using this approach.

Because the BEC is defined in terms of the parameters of a mixture of Poisson distributions, its accuracy depends on how well the fitted models describe observed data. The MLM estimates of the model performed better than SDA at describing the cumulative frequency distribution of t. This was evident with real data from all four randomly-selected seals. In contrast, expected cumulative frequency distributions based on SDA estimates showed large deviations from observed data, resulting in serious overestimation of the number of interdive intervals within or between bouts. This condition was reproduced in the simulated data, and suggests it is a property of eq. (3.1) fit to the sequential absolute differences in interdive duration. Langton et al. (1995) found a bias in the opposite direction when fitting eq. (3.1) to the interval between events; i.e.,  $N_f + N_s$  was underestimated. These problems were avoided using MLM.

Differences between methods in their ability to predict observed cumulative frequencies were associated with large differences in estimated BECs. BECs determined through SDA were at least twice as large as BECs determined through MLM. Furthermore, simulated data suggest that BECs estimated through MLM are more accurate and precise than those estimated using log-frequency-based analyses. Such large differences between methods have not been shown previously, and the consequences for any study of foraging ecology based on diving behaviour can be important. Indeed, the number of bouts identified for each seal was considerably larger using MLM, providing finer temporal resolution of the animals' activity at sea. These differences lead to different interpretations of patch structure and characteristics (e.g., Boyd 1996, Harcourt et al. 2002, Mori and Boyd 2004a, Mori et al. 2005), where the BEC is used to determine different scales of foraging. Most notably, the temporal scale at which prey patches are encountered by the forager is smaller with the more accurate MLM approach.

My results showed that increasing the bin widths for constructing the histograms required for identifying bouts based on log-frequency analysis result in larger BECs. A similar effect has been shown for identifying different scales of movement of ungulates (Johnson et al. 2006) using this technique. In this study, I varied the choice of bin width, from a minimum determined by the sampling resolution to 10 times this value, and found associated increases in BEC estimates of approximately 50% using the largest bin widths. There are no guidelines for choosing appropriate bin widths when using this approach, but Sibly et al. (1990) recommended increasing the bin width of longer, infrequent, intervals. However, using larger bin widths results in larger estimates of the BEC. Regardless of the method used for selecting the histogram bin widths, it is not clear what procedure was adopted in any particular analysis of dive bouts, as proxies of patch structure. Therefore, it is difficult to evaluate conclusions about scales of foraging, optimal diving behaviour, and prey patch quality.

Despite the increased accuracy and precision of the MLM approach, some departures from the model were observed. All model fits to real data resulted in underestimation of the cumulative frequency for high but non-asymptotic values of t (see eq. (3.1)) in all seals. Reasons for this departure are not clear with the available data, but may be related to the assumptions of the model. The distribution of intervals, or absolute differences between successive intervals, within each of the two Poisson processes is assumed to be random (Sibly et al. 1990). Therefore, the observed underestimations may indicate departures from this assumption. Large departures from a two-process model, similar to the one in eq. (3.1), have been documented for very brief and very long intervals between meals in dairy cows (Tolkamp et al. 1998). Tolkamp et al. (1998) argued that the departures could be explained by the cows' level of satiety, and proposed an alternative model to account for this effect. However, Tolkamp et al. (1998) studied the feeding behaviour of cows with almost unlimited access to food, which differs from conditions encountered by free-ranging fur seals and their prey. That departures from the model occurred only for t > BECsupports this assertion. Therefore, it is difficult to assess the role of satiety levels in the departures from the model without independent measurements of prey ingestion, and distribution of prey patches.

The arguments and principles in favour of the MLM approach for identifying bouts not only apply to analyses of diving behaviour, but also to analyses of other foraging behaviours that are likely to reflect the spatiotemporal distribution of foraging patches (Wu and Loucks 1995). For instance, log-survivorship plots of the number of steps taken by kudus (*Tragelaphus strepsiceros* (Pallas, 1766)) (Owen-Smith and Novellie 1982) and by muskoxen (*Ovibos moschatus* (Zimmermann, 1780)) (Schaefer and Messier 1995) between feeding stations have been used to identify different scales of food patchiness. Johnson et al. (2002) used the same methods, considering movement rates between successive woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus caribou* (L., 1758)) location estimates as analogous to interdive durations in this study, and determined that ungulate movements within patches were strongly influenced by predation risk. Therefore, the improvements in accuracy achieved through MLM methods can bring new insights into foraging behaviour theory. In particular, accurately defining the time spent by animals in and between foraging patches is critical in models of optimal foraging (Stephens et al. 1986).

Whereas foraging behaviour bouts can provide a temporal proxy for foraging

patches, the spatial location of those patches must be determined through animal movement data. Considerable efforts have been made to understand animal movement in relation to resource distribution, under the premise that animals move optimally through their habitat so as to maximize long-term energy intake rate (Fauchald 1999, Fortin 2002, Fauchald and Tveraa 2003, Klaassen et al. 2006). The concept of first-passage time; the time taken for an animal to cross a circle of a given radius along its path (Johnson et al. 1992), has been useful for defining spatial scales at which predators concentrate foraging effort (Fauchald and Tveraa 2003). Fauchald and Tveraa (2003) argued that the scale at which predators are most likely to display area-restricted search behaviour is equal to the radius at which variance in first-passage time is highest. However, this decision is based on the horizontal displacements of animals alone, and may not only reflect feeding activity (Robinson et al. 2007). Therefore, animal movement analysis techniques (e.g., first-passage time) combined with methods for accurate identification of behavioural bouts that can subsequently be attributed to foraging activities, may offer a better assessment of where and how animals exploit food resources.

The SDA procedure (Mori et al. 2001) improved upon previous methods of dive bout detection by removing the assumption of homogeneous dive bout characteristics. This assumption was considered inadequate, as animals may adjust their diving behaviour depending on the characteristics of the patch in which they forage (Mori et al. 2002, 2005). I suggest that the method can be further improved by adopting the MLM approach, which avoids the limitations associated with methods based on a histogram of observed data. Using this procedure to identify bouts based on other dive behaviour characteristics, in addition to differences in interdive duration (Mori et al. 2001), is possible, so more detailed information on foraging patches might be inferred. This approach may thus be a powerful tool to help understand foraging 3 Temporal structure of diving behaviour

3.1 Identifying bouts

behaviour and prey patch characteristics more accurately.

#### 3 Temporal structure of diving behaviour

Table 3.1. Estimated parameters and bout ending criteria (BEC) (mean  $\pm$  SE) from a model of sequential differences in interdive duration, using a maximum likelihood estimation method (MLM), and a log frequency analysis (SDA). Results from four different choices of bin widths (s) were used for the SDA approach. The number of dives observed for each seal is in parenthesis

MLM <sup>a</sup>		SDA <sup>b</sup>						
		5 <i>s</i>	10 <i>s</i>	20s	50 <i>s</i>			
	Seal 1 $(n = 1081)$							
p	$0.65 \pm 0.025$							
$N_{f}$		$3,070\pm477$	$6,480 \pm 1,300$	$13,500 \pm 3,800$	$36,700 \pm 15,600$			
$N_s$		$803\pm95.7$	$1,370\pm177$	$2,270\pm390$	$4,720\pm1220$			
$\lambda_f$	$0.069 \pm 0.006$	$0.021 \pm 0.003$	$0.020\pm0.003$	$0.018 \pm 0.003$	$0.016 \pm 0.004$			
$\lambda_s$	$0.005 \pm 0.0003$	$0.002\pm0.0002$	$0.002 \pm 0.0003$	$0.002\pm0.0003$	$0.002\pm0.0004$			
BEC	51.1	191.2	209.6	249.6	289.3			
Bouts	339	126	116	103	88			
Seal 2 $(n = 910)$								
p	$0.63 \pm 0.026$		,					
$N_{f}$		$2,440\pm427$	$5,090 \pm 1,170$	$10,700 \pm 2,910$	$29,900 \pm 10,800$			
$N_s$		$1,120\pm102$	$1,960\pm203$	$3,420\pm433$	$7,390 \pm 1,270$			
$\lambda_f$	$0.060\pm0.004$	$0.023 \pm 0.003$	$0.022\pm0.004$	$0.019\pm0.004$	$0.017 \pm 0.004$			
$\lambda_s$	$0.004\pm0.0002$	$0.002\pm0.0002$	$0.002\pm0.0002$	$0.002\pm0.0002$	$0.002\pm0.0003$			
BEC	59.5	156.8	173.9	202.4	237.9			
Bouts	320	186	168	146	139			
		Seal 3	(n = 1881)					
p	$0.74\pm0.014$							
$N_{f}$		$5,230 \pm 1,220$	$10,500 \pm 2,990$	$22,800 \pm 8,890$	$90,800 \pm 53,200$			
$N_s$		$1,550 \pm 127$	$2,850\pm285$	$5,420\pm725$	$14,000 \pm 2,630$			
$\lambda_f$	$0.096 \pm 0.004$	$0.047\pm0.007$	$0.042\pm0.008$	$0.041\pm0.010$	$0.044\pm0.014$			
$\lambda_s$	$0.004\pm0.0003$	$0.003 \pm 0.0002$	$0.003\pm0.0002$	$0.003 \pm 0.0003$	$0.003\pm0.0003$			
BEC	43.8	91.3	100.2	105.7	110.0			
Bouts	478	287	276	270	270			
Seal 4 $(n = 1164)$								
p	$0.80\pm0.015$							
$N_{f}$		$3,140 \pm 736$	$6,120\pm1,690$	$12,900 \pm 4,230$	$47,400 \pm 24,000$			
$N_s$		$906 \pm 82$	$1,530\pm152$	$2,760 \pm 303$	$6,570 \pm 1,050$			
$\lambda_f$	$0.083 \pm 0.004$	$0.046\pm0.007$	$0.038 \pm 0.006$	$0.034\pm0.007$	$0.036\pm0.009$			
$\lambda_s$	$0.004\pm0.0003$	$0.002\pm0.0002$	$0.002\pm0.0002$	$0.002 \pm 0.0002$	$0.002\pm0.0003$			
BEC	56.6	96.7	118.9	134.8	140.9			
Bouts	223	169	156	144	132			

<sup>a</sup> The log likelihood function is shown in eq. (3.1)
 <sup>b</sup> Columns represent four different bin choices of class interval width for fitting eq. (3.1)



Figure 3.1. Relative cumulative frequencies (observed as a stepped function; estimated as the smooth lines) estimated through the maximum likelihood estimation method (MLM) were in better agreement with observed data than those estimated through log frequency analysis (SDA). A bin width of 5 s was used to fit the model through the log frequency analysis. Results of paired Student's *t*-tests comparing the squared residuals between models are also shown



Figure 3.2. Bias of estimated parameters from 100 simulations of differences in interdive duration were smaller using the maximum likelihood estimation method (MLM), than with the histogram method (SDA). The median is indicated by the horizontal solid line; the interquartile range by the box; and the value that is, at most,  $1.5 \cdot$  interquartile range away from the box by the whiskers. The dashed lines indicate the true values of each parameter for all simulations

3 Temporal structure of diving behaviour



Figure 3.3. The median and variability of bout and postbout durations were significantly larger when using a log frequency analysis (SDA), compared to the maximum likelihood estimation method (MLM). Only bouts with at least two dives are shown. The median is indicated by the horizontal solid line; the interquartile range by the box; and the value that is, at most,  $1.5 \cdot$  interquartile range away from the box by the whiskers

# 3.2 Temporal structure of diving behaviour in sympatric Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals<sup>2</sup>

#### Abstract

Lactation is considerably briefer (4 vs. 10 months) and daily pup energy expenditure is higher in Antarctic (AFS, Arctocephalus gazella (Peters, 1875)) than in subantarctic (SFS, Arctocephalus tropicalis (Gray, 1872)) fur seals, even in sympatric populations of both species, where their foraging locations and diets are similar. Therefore, lactational demands may be higher for AFS females. I investigated whether sympatric lactating AFS and SFS fur seal females differ in their physiological or behavioural diving capacities, and in the temporal structure of foraging behaviour. Mean dive depth and duration were larger in SFS, but dives below 130 m were performed only by AFS. An index of the activity level during the bottom phase of dives, when fur seals are thought to capture prev, was higher in SFS. Despite these differences, SFS females showed a steady increase in the minimum post-dive interval following dives lasting longer than 250 s, compared to 150 s in AFS. These results suggest that physiological constraints on diving behavior are stronger on AFS females, and that behavioural aerobic dive limit is greater for SFS. Assuming that dive bouts reflect foraging in prey patches, AFS females exploited more patches per unit time, and remained in them for briefer periods of time, compared to SFS females. Dive bout structure did not differ between overnight and long foraging trips. My data suggest that AFS females spend greater effort foraging, but may gain access to prey patches of better quality, which may help them cope with higher lactational demands.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Corresponding publication available in Appendix B.3

#### 3.2.1 Introduction

Exploitative competition for food between animals is difficult to assess, partly because it requires knowledge of whether the level of their common resources is limiting or not (Birch 1957, MacArthur and Levins 1964). Yet it is considered a major component of species interactions, and influences community structure (Milinski and Parker 1991). In the absence of data on the level of common resources, it is often inferred from measurements of resource overlap or manipulations of population densities (Schoener 1974). However, an approach based on comparisons of the biology and behaviour of the potentially competing species may be more useful for understanding interspecific interactions (Tilman 1987). This approach has been used to study mechanisms of coexistence in a broad range of species (Stamps 1983, Cowlishaw 1999, Hull 1999, Robinson et al. 2002).

Using this approach, Ballance et al. (1997) showed that competitive ability and energetic constraints play a major role in the structure of seabird assemblages. Cases where morphologically similar, related, species occur in sympatry or syntopy are particularly attractive for studying these interactions. Under such conditions, it is possible to compare the ecology of co-occurring species, while minimizing the influence of extraneous factors, which are difficult or impossible to control for. Studies of related seabirds have provided evidence of physiological constraints on the behavioural response of coexisting predators to heterogeneity in the distribution of common prey resources (Hull 1999, Mori and Boyd 2004*b*). Therefore, they can be used as the basis for predicting the outcome of reductions in prey abundance and/or availability.

Lactation constrains the foraging behaviour of mammals (Sæther and Gordon 1994), especially in the marine environment (Costa and Williams 1999). Therefore, new insights into the mechanisms linking prey distribution and predator behaviour

can be gained by comparing the foraging behaviour of sympatric marine mammals. Otariid (fur seals and sea lions) pinnipeds are good models in comparative foraging ecology because they exhibit large variation in adult body size and lactation duration, while other life history traits are relatively homogeneous (Ridgway and Harrison 1981). Female body mass varies from ~30 (Galápagos fur seals, Arctocephalus galapagoensis (Heller, 1904)) to 275 kg (Steller sea lions, E. jubatus), and lactation duration varies from 4 (Antarctic fur seal, Arctocephalus gazella (Peters, 1875)) to 36 months (Galápagos fur seals; range: 12-36 months (Trillmich and Kooyman 1986)). Large pinnipeds have higher aerobic dive limits (ADLs) than smaller ones (Kooyman 1989), so they can dive for longer periods of time (Halsey et al. 2006) without the negative effects of increased concentration of lactic acid. Consequently, they have more time available to search for and capture prey. However, species of similar body mass can display large differences in lactation duration, energy transfer to pups, and patterns of energy allocation by pups (Arnould 1997, Arnould et al. 2003). Therefore, the interplay between body mass, foraging behaviour, and lactation duration remains unclear. Sympatric otariids of similar body mass, yet different lactation duration, offer a unique opportunity to understand what physiological and behavioural tradeoffs breeding females face during lactation.

Diving marine predators often dive in bouts, i.e., most dives occur in rapid succession, while the rest are separated by longer intervals, and each bout may indicate foraging in a particular patch (Mori and Boyd 2004a). Researchers thus deduced that the temporal structure of diving may be used to infer the distribution and characteristics of foraging patches in several seabirds (Kato et al. 2000, Mehlum et al. 2001), and pinnipeds (Mori and Boyd 2004a, Mori et al. 2005). This provides a framework on which to compare the foraging behaviour of sympatric marine mammals in relation to a common prey resource. Antarctic and subantarctic (A. tropicalis (Gray, 1872) fur seals (AFS and SFS, respectively, hereafter) have broadly different spatial distributions. AFS breed mostly south of the Antarctic Polar Front, while SFS breed mostly north of it, but they breed sympatrically at three locations (Bonner 1999): Macquarie Island, Ile de la Possession (Iles Crozet), and Marion Island (Prince Edward Islands). Adult females of these species have similar body mass, and show little differences in at-sea distribution and diet when in sympatry (Klages and Bester 1998, Robinson et al. 2002, Bailleul et al. 2005, Luque et al. 2007*a*), yet pups are weaned at 4 vs. 10 months of age in AFS and SFS (Bester and Bartlett 1990), respectively, as they are in allopatric populations. Furthermore, AFS pups showed higher daily energy expenditures (Arnould et al. 2003), and also grow faster in body length (Luque et al. 2007b) at Ile de la Possession. Therefore, their mothers must meet these demands in addition to their own, and also complete lactation in less than one half the time available to SFS. Lactational demands may thus be higher in AFS, which females should satisfy during their foraging trips to sea.

Previous comparisons of diving behaviour between these species in sympatry have not shown major differences at the scale of entire foraging trips (Goldsworthy et al. 1997, Robinson et al. 2002). At Ile de la Possession, however, overnight foraging trips (OFTs) are significantly more frequent in SFS, and as in Marion Island, AFS appear to spend a greater proportion of their time at sea (Bester and Bartlett 1990, Bailleul et al. 2005, Luque et al. 2007*a*). Differences at finer scales have been studied at Ile de la Possession, where lactating female AFS exhibit stronger diel variation in dive depth, with relatively shallow (AFS: 25-30 m; SFS: 35-50 m) diving during the noncrepuscular hours of the night, and deep (AFS: 45-65 m; SFS: 40-50 m) diving during crepuscular hours (Luque et al. 2007*a*). At Marion Island (Klages and Bester 1998, Ferreira and Bester 1999) and Macquarie Island (Robinson et al. 2002), no interspecific differences in diet were found. Scat analyses suggest that sympatric AFS and SFS feed on the same prey species (myctophid fish), although differences in their relative abundance were found at Ile de la Possession (Luque et al. 2007a). Comparisons of the temporal structure of diving behaviour between AFS and SFS, however, are unavailable, but may help understand how these species with different lactational demands respond to distribution of similar prey.

Diving capacity of otariid species with similar body mass is expected to be similar (Kooyman 1989), assuming other factors do not differ. In this case, optimal diving models predict that their optimal foraging depth should be similar (Mori 1998a, 2002). Optimal diving models typically assume that divers maximize energy intake rate, although predation risk may significantly influence such predictions (Frid et al. 2007). They also predict that divers should increase the time spent in foraging patches as depth increases (Mori 1998b, Thompson and Fedak 2001), but only if diving remains aerobic (Houston and Carbone 1992) or patch quality (as reflected by prey density) increases. A previous study does not support the first prediction (Luque et al. 2007a), suggesting that important physiological or behavioural differences exist between female AFS and SFS, which may affect how they exploit prey patches. Therefore, I investigated whether the temporal structure of diving behaviour and vertical distribution of foraging patches differ between fur seal species at Ile de la Possession. Given the shorter lactation and higher daily energy requirements of AFS pups, I assessed the hypothesis that female AFS have higher energy demands during lactation, so they should spend more effort foraging, despite their overlapping foraging areas.
## 3.2.2 Materials and methods

Data on diving behaviour of AFS and SFS was obtained at La Mare aux Elephants (46°22'29" S, 51°40'13" E), at the western end of Ile de la Possession, Crozet archipelago, Southern Indian Ocean, during the 2001-02 (4 December - 25 March) and 2002-03 (1 December - 16 March) breeding seasons (2001 and 2002 hereafter). A total of 277 (AFS: 153, SFS: 124) pups were individually marked as previously described (Georges and Guinet 2000*a*, Arnould et al. 2003, Bailleul et al. 2005), providing a means to identify their mothers, a subset of which were instrumented with time and depth recorders (time-depth recorders (TDRs); Table 3.2).

## Instrumentation and measurement of diving behaviour

Animal capture and handling procedures were described in Luque et al. (2007*a*). Briefly, lactating females of each species were captured on land during their nursing visits. Each individual was weighed to the nearest kg, and placed on a restraint board for attachment of instruments. One of three different TDR models was glued to the dorsal fur between the scapulae, using a two-component glue (AW 2101 Ciba Specialty Chemicals): MK5, MK7, and MK8 (Wildlife Computers, Redmond, Washington, U.S.A.). Fur seals travelled 50 to 100 km from the colony to forage, and there were no significant differences in foraging trip duration, dive depth, nor dive duration between animals instrumented with different TDR models (P > 0.5 in all cases). Therefore, data from the three models were pooled for interspecific comparison purposes. TDRs were programmed to record time and depth every 5 s when the seals were at sea, with a 1 m depth resolution. MK8 TDRs also recorded speed to the nearest 0.02 m  $\cdot$  s<sup>-1</sup>. Instruments were left on the seals for 1 to 11 foraging trips, and were recovered by cutting the fur beneath them, upon the seals' return to the colony.

TDR data were downloaded to a portable computer, and analyses of the resulting time series of dive data were performed using custom written software, available through GNU R (R development Core Team 2007) package diveMove (Luque 2007). Before analyses, depth readings were corrected for shifts in the pressure transducer of the TDR. Sections of each record were identified as foraging trips if continuous wet activity (i.e., continuous depth readings) was available for at least 6 h. This limit was selected to exclude short excursions to sea for activities other than foraging, because they occurred mostly during daytime, and contained isolated shallow (< 20 m) dives, which contrasted with the bout-organized dives typical of foraging trips (Luque et al. 2007a).

Dives were defined as departures from the surface to depths  $\geq 4$  m plus the ensuing return to the surface. Dives to lower depths were not considered, as they were indistinguishable from noise remaining after adjustment of pressure transducer drifts, which was greater than the resolution of the instrument (Beck et al. 2000). Each dive was divided into descent, bottom, and ascent phases, where: (1) descent started at the surface and ended when no further increases in depth were detected; (2) ascent was defined from the end of the dive and, with the reversed time series, ending when no further increases in depth were detected; and (3) the bottom was the period between descent and ascent phases. Dives were thus described by their duration, maximal depth, bottom time, and postdive duration.

Fur seals catch their prey predominantly during the bottom phase of dives, although it has been demonstrated only for AFS (Hooker et al. 2002). Therefore, I calculated the absolute number of vertical meters each individual swam during this phase divided by bottom time, as a measure of the level of activity during the bottom (foraging) phase of dives. I also calculated mean swimming speed during the bottom phase of dives from fur seals deployed with MK8 TDRs. Speed measurements do not correspond to true speed because they need to be calibrated against true speed of the seals. However, I was interested in comparing the level of activity during the bottom phase of dives between species, rather than estimating true speed, so measured speed was used as an index of such levels for the purposes of this study.

To investigate whether physiological constraints differ between species, I studied the relationship between the briefest postdive duration and dive duration binned at 5 s intervals. The dive duration beyond which the briefest postdive interval begins to rise was taken as a behavioural proxy for the ADL; the dive duration beyond which blood lactate levels rise, as a result of increasing anaerobic metabolism (Kooyman 1989).

## Identification of dive bouts

Identification of bouts of most behaviours has traditionally relied on log-survivorship or log-frequency analysis (Gentry and Kooyman 1986*b*, Sibly et al. 1990). However, Langton et al. (1995) pointed out that these methods included some level of subjectivity, because they are based on fitting a curve to histogram data. The procedure involves an arbitrary choice of histogram class width, and adjustment for empty class intervals. Langton et al. (1995) presented an improved approach, based on Maximum Likelihood estimation, which uses the entire dataset to describe the frequency distribution of events such as diving. This procedure was used to model the distribution of sequential differences in surface interval duration, to allow for variation in dive characteristics between bouts (Mori et al. 2001). The log likelihood of all  $N_t$ absolute differences in surface interval duration t was expressed as a combination of fast (within bout) and slow (between bout) events (Luque and Guinet 2007):

$$\log L_2 = \sum_{i=1}^{N_t} \log[p\lambda_f e^{-\lambda_f \cdot t_i} + (1-p)\lambda_s e^{-\lambda_s \cdot t_i}]$$
(3.6)

where p is a mixing parameter representing the proportion of fast to slow process events in the sampled population; the subscripts f and s denote the fast and slow processes, respectively, and  $\lambda$  represents the probability of an event occurring in a given process per unit time (Sibly et al. 1990). A bout-ending criterion (BEC), determining whether two successive dives should be grouped in the same bout or not can be calculated from Eq. (3.6):

$$BEC = \frac{1}{\lambda_f - \lambda_s} log \frac{p\lambda_f}{(1-p)\lambda_s}$$
(3.7)

If the difference in surface interval duration between two successive dives exceeded the BEC, then they were grouped in different bouts.

## Statistical approach

BECs were determined for each individual separately, because foraging trip durations varied between them, and to avoid effects of interindividual variation in diving behaviour masking bout structure. The number of bouts, their duration, and the duration of intervals between bouts were thus calculated. Because both AFS and SFS dove almost exclusively during the night, the first two variables were divided by the number of night hours available during the foraging trip for each individual. Night time was defined as the number of hours between sunset and sunrise. Bouts consisting of a single dive were excluded from analyses because they were not deemed to be indicative of foraging behaviour.

AFS and SFS displayed a bimodal distribution of foraging trip duration (Luque et al. 2007a), with overnight (OFT, < 1 d) and long foraging trips (long foraging trip (LFT), > 1 d). Therefore, interspecific comparisons included fixed effects terms to test for differences between these types of foraging trip, and data for multiple trips of the same type were averaged for each individual, except for bout and post-bout

duration because they represent variation within the foraging trip. A single value per individual and bout was considered for the latter two cases. A random effect term for individual was included, so mixed effects models (Pinheiro and Bates 2000) were used to describe data for the *i*th individual, *j*th species, and *k*th foraging trip type, as follows:

$$y_{ijk} = \beta_0 + \beta_j + \beta_k + \beta_{jk} + b_i + \epsilon_{ijk} \quad b_i \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \sigma_b^2), \epsilon_{ijk} \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \sigma^2)$$
(3.8)

where  $\beta_0$  represents an intercept;  $\beta_j$ ,  $\beta_k$ ,  $\beta_{jk}$  represent the fixed effects for species, foraging trip type, and corresponding interaction, respectively;  $b_i$  denotes the random effect for individual, and  $\epsilon_{ijk}$  denotes an independent error term. The  $b_i$  and  $\epsilon_{ijk}$ terms are assumed to be normally distributed, with mean zero, and variances  $\sigma_b^2$  and  $\sigma^2$ , respectively. Multiple bout and post-bout duration for the same individual were, thus, included as part of  $\epsilon_{ijk}$  for the corresponding models.

The significance of the interactions were assessed by comparing the models with and without the interaction term, using a log likelihood ratio test (Pinheiro and Bates 2000). The significance of other fixed effects was tested via Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) simulations based on samples of the posterior distribution of the model parameters (Baayen et al. 2008). All analyses were carried out in the GNU R system (R development Core Team 2007), with packages diveMove for dive behaviour analysis (Luque 2007) and lmer for fitting mixed effects models. Results are presented as means  $\pm$  SE, unless stated otherwise.

## 3.2.3 Results

Dive data from a total of 96 females were obtained, providing information from 277 foraging trips (Table 3.2). Most dives (83%) occurred in bouts for both species. However, this proportion was significantly  $\chi^2 = 1157$ , df = 1, P < 0.001) larger in SFS (SFS = 86.4%, AFS = 78.8%), indicating that isolated dives were relatively more common in AFS. The number of bouts per night of foraging trip was larger in AFS (log-transformed to normalize residuals;  $F_{1,148} = 58.85$ , P < 0.001, Fig. 3.4a), regardless of foraging trip type (interaction term:  $\chi^2 = 0.08$ , P = 0.78). No significant differences between foraging trip types were found ( $F_{1,148} = 0.07$ , P = 0.8), and the pooled estimates for each species were  $35.7 \pm 1.05$  and  $21.5 \pm 1.05$  bouts per night for AFS and SFS, respectively.

The BEC was significantly higher for SFS during both seasons ( $F_{1,88} = 52.39$ , P < 0.001), and higher for both species during the 2001 season ( $F_{1,88} = 7.42$ , P < 0.01). Although this suggests that foraging conditions may have differed between seasons, data for both of them were pooled for further analyses because there was no interaction between species and season ( $F_{1,88} = 1.55$ , P = 0.2), and interannual differences were not the focus of this paper.

## **Dive bout structure**

The total time spent in bouts per night was similar between species ( $F_{1,144} = 2.00$ , P = 0.2) and foraging trip types ( $F_{1,144} = 0.01$ , P = 0.9), without any interaction between both factors (interaction term  $\chi^2 = 0.01$ , P = 0.92, Fig. 3.4b). Pooled estimates for each species were 9.6  $\pm$  1.05 and 10.6  $\pm$  1.05 h per night for AFS and SFS, respectively. Bout duration, however, was significantly higher in SFS during both foraging trip types ( $F_{1,9520} = 43.37$ , P < 0.001, Fig. 3.4c); consistent with the higher number of bouts per night for AFS, but similar time spent in those bouts.

Bout duration was similar between foraging trip types ( $F_{1,9520} = 0.24, P > 0.9$ ), independently of the differences between species ( $\chi^2 = 0.88, P = 0.35$ ).

The temporal distribution of foraging patches, as reflected by the density distribution post-bout durations, showed that AFS encountered patches at a slightly faster rate than SFS (Fig. 3.5). The difference was significant for OFTs (Kruskal-Wallis  $\chi^2 = 4.60$ , df = 1, P = 0.03) and LFTs ( $\chi^2 = 91.68$ , df = 1, P < 0.001), but small. Patch encounter rate, as measured by post-bout duration, did not differ significantly between foraging trip types ( $\chi^2 = 2.62$ , df = 1, P = 0.11). Foraging bout depths were most frequent near the surface for both species, but their relative frequencies were higher in AFS near the surface and below 80 m, while depths between 30 and 60 m were more heavily used by SFS females (Fig. 3.6).

## Behavioural and physiological limits

The absolute number of meters that fur seals swam per unit time during the bottom phase of dives was significantly higher in SFS ( $F_{1,149} = 13.2$ , P < 0.001), independently of foraging trip type ( $\chi^2 = 2.08$ , P = 0.15). SFS swam  $0.13 \pm 0.006$  m  $\cdot$  s<sup>-1</sup>, and AFS  $0.10 \pm 0.006$  m  $\cdot$  s<sup>-1</sup> while at the bottom of dives. Furthermore, this rate appeared to be higher for both fur seal species during LFTs ( $0.12 \pm 0.005$  m  $\cdot$  s<sup>-1</sup>) than OFTs ( $0.10 \pm 0.006$  m  $\cdot$  s<sup>-1</sup>). This difference was significant ( $F_{1,149} = 22.3$ , P < 0.001).

The mean swim speed during the bottom phase of the dive did not differ between species ( $F_{1,58} < 0.01, P > 0.9$ ), nor between foraging trip types ( $F_{1,58} = 0.14, P = 0.7$ ), without interaction between these factors ( $\chi^2 = 0.01, P = 0.9$ ). Similarly, mean swim speed during surface intervals did not differ between species for OFTs ( $F_{1,20} = 1.18, P = 0.29$ ), nor for LFTs ( $F_{1,36} = 4.1, P = 0.05$ ), despite a significant interaction between foraging trip type and species ( $\chi^2 = 4.35, P = 0.04$ ) The relationship between the duration of the briefest surface interval and dive duration showed no changes in surface interval for dives lasting up to almost 150 s in both species (Fig. 3.7). However, surface intervals following dives that were longer than this value increased steadily for AFS; whereas SFS showed a similar response for dives beyond 250 s in duration (Fig. 3.7), despite the larger rate of vertical movements they showed at the bottom of dives.

## 3.2.4 Discussion

I hypothesized that lactating female AFS have higher energy demands during lactation and, therefore, should spend greater effort foraging to meet those demands. Female AFS displayed higher indices of diving effort, reduced patch residence times, and briefer post-bout intervals, suggesting that they spent more effort foraging, and encountered prey patches at a faster rate. An important premise of my analyses is that both species forage optimally; specifically, that they maximize energy intake rate, relative to physiological constraints. Previous results have shown subtle interspecific differences in diet and dive depth associated with differences in life history and pup physiology (Luque et al. 2007a), so behavioural and physiological constraints may not be similar between AFS and SFS. Therefore, the optimal foraging behaviour (e.g., time spent in foraging patches and patch encounter rate) may also differ between species, and affect their rates of energy intake. My results largely supported these predictions, and suggest a possible origin for the differences in foraging behaviour. I review the assumptions that were required to use my approach, and discuss the implications of my results for inferring the characteristics of the foraging habitat of sympatric AFS and SFS.

90

## Assumptions

Using the information on differences in physiological constraints required making assumptions regarding the diving behaviour of fur seals (Mori et al. 2002, 2005, Mori and Boyd 2004*b*). A major assumption of the model is that energy intake is a function of time spent at the bottom of dives; i.e., prey is assumed to be obtained during the bottom phase of dives. Although it was not possible to ascertain whether this assumption was held with a two-dimensional dive profile and sampling interval of 5 s, direction reversals (wiggles) during descent or ascent phases were rare. Furthermore, the mean vertical distance covered during the bottom phase of dives (a measure of the amount of wiggling) was relatively high for both species (AFS = 12.7 m; SFS = 15.0 m) for dive depths > 10 m. These values exclude shallow V-shaped dives, which are indicative of travelling behaviour. Therefore, fur seals from La Mare aux Elephants probably concentrated their energy intake during bottom time.

A more fundamental assumption of the model is that fur seals dove optimally, so as to maximize the rate of energy intake during the dive cycle. Foragers may not always use an energy intake rate maximizing currency to behave optimally (Caraco 1980), as other factors play important roles in determining what behaviour is optimal under particular time scales. Nonacs (2001) reviewed a number of studies testing predictions based on this assumption and found a consistent bias in the predictions, arguing that inclusion of the forager's state (e.g., nutritional status and predation risk) in the models can improve the predictive power of these models. Heithaus and Frid (2003) proposed a model to account for predation risk during the surface interval for diving predators, which may help to explain why diving behaviour is often considered suboptimal, according to previously used models. Killer whales are common around Iles Crozet during the summer (Guinet 1992), but they feed mainly on penguins and elephant seals at this location. Although the risk of predation on fur seals can be high in some populations (Boveng et al. 1998), it is probably low at Ile de la Possession, because none of the females identified at La Mare aux Elephants were lost while they had a pup to nurse, nor were any visible wounds or scars detected, that could have been inflicted by a predator. Nonetheless, studies to determine whether there are differential effects of predation risk on the foraging behaviour of sympatric fur seals at Ile de la Possession may provide further insights into the mechanisms driving the observed differences.

Closely related to predation risk, the nutritional status of fur seals is another potential influence on the observed differences in foraging behaviour because animals may tradeoff energy gain against safety from predators (Nonacs 2001, Wirsing et al. 2008). Direct measurements of fat stores, the primary form of energy storage in pinnipeds, are not available for our study animals. However, a concurrent study showed that foraging trips at Ile de La Possession were among the briefest reported for each species at comparable stages of lactation (Luque et al. 2007a). Furthermore, the large proportion of overnight foraging trips, the relative proximity (50-100 km) of foraging grounds (Bailleul et al. 2005), and the relatively fast growth rates of pups compared to other populations of both species, suggest that neither of them was under nutritional stress. Differences in energy stores between species under such conditions are expected to have a small influence on foraging behaviour (Houston et al. 1993, Nonacs 2001).

## Behavioural versus physiological differences

I found conflicting evidence regarding the level of activity of fur seals, measured as the mean speed and absolute number of meters that fur seals swam during the bottom phase of dives. The former showed no differences between fur seal species, but the latter showed higher activity levels in SFS females. Speed is typically measured by counting the number of revolutions per unit time taken by a turbine on TDRs, which are susceptible to clogging by debris (Shepard et al. 2008). Therefore, speed measurements for any given dive phase are not available with the same regularity as depth measurements, despite having been taken with the same sampling frequency. Consequently, fewer speed measurements were available for my comparisons of mean speed during any given dive phase, so the power of statistical comparisons was reduced relative to tests based on depth measurements. The vertical distance that fur seals swam per unit time during the bottom phase of dives may, thus, have been a better index of activity level, and my results suggest that SFS females were more active during this phase. Despite the behavioural difference during the bottom of dives, SFS females showed increasing surface intervals following longer dives than AFS females.

My data suggest that an important physiological parameter, the aerobic dive limit (ADL), is higher in SFS than in AFS females. This result was unexpected and counter-intuitive because maximum dive depth was highest for AFS females, which were expected to be associated with a higher ADL. Lactating AFS females required exponentially longer periods at the surface when dive duration exceeded 150 s, while SFS females responded similarly, but to dives exceeding 250 s in duration. Consistent with these observations, SFS dove deeper and for longer periods of time, on average. ADL calculations based on direct measurements of oxygen stores and diving metabolic rates of fur seals from South Georgia (Costa et al. 2004) yielded a value (96 s) that is much lower than that reported here, especially considering the larger body mass of animals in that study. However, my data cannot easily be compared with direct measurements of ADL, and factors such as fur seals exceeding the ADL during deep diving bouts could account for the difference. Unfortunately, similar data are not available for SFS females, but if the tendency of study animals

to exceed the ADL is similar, then the observed interspecific differences may parallel actual differences in ADL. Costa et al. (2004) suggest that the tendency of epipelagic feeders such as AFS and SFS to exceed the ADL is indeed expected to be similar and relatively low. Although direct measurements of diving metabolism are needed to corroborate it, the differences illustrated in Fig. 3.7 are likely a result of differences in actual ADL.

## Inferring foraging patch characteristics

Previous analyses suggested that AFS and SFS females from La Mare aux Elephants used similar foraging areas during the 2001 and 2002 breeding seasons (Bailleul et al. 2005). Dietary analyses (Luque et al. 2007a), indicate that these fur seals also feed on the same myctophid fish species, albeit in different proportions (Luque et al. 2007a). Similar results have been found in sympatric populations at Macquarie Island (Robinson et al. 2002). The present study suggests that differences in physiological constraints may have led to different temporal and vertical distribution of diving, despite similarities in horizontal distribution of foraging locations and prey species. Whereas AFS foraged between the surface and 20 m more frequently than SFS females, the latter foraged more extensively between 30 and 60 m. Furthermore, both species reduced the frequency of foraging below 80 m, but SFS females did so more rapidly, and dive bouts below 140 m were only observed in AFS females. Assuming that dive bouts reflect foraging in different prey patches, AFS females exploited more patches per night of foraging, and a larger fraction of patches close to the surface. It may have been more profitable for AFS females to rapidly move between different patches at shallow depths, thereby reducing mean dive time and, possibly, the extent of anaerobic diving also (Costa et al. 2004).

Similar segregation of foraging depth has been observed in macaroni (Eudyptes

chrysolophus) and gentoo (Pygoscelis papua) penguins at Bird Island, South Georgia (Mori and Boyd 2004b), showing some analogies in their response with the fur seals in this study. Macaroni penguins increased surface times in response to briefer dive durations (Mori and Boyd 2004b, Fig. 1), so their ADL is presumably lower than gentoo penguins. Macaroni penguins concentrated their foraging bouts at shallower depths compared to gentoo penguins, analogous to the higher frequencies of shallow bout depths observed in AFS compared to SFS females at La Mare aux Elephants. Although direct measurements of prey density and abundance at different depths were not available in the present study to validate an index of patch quality (IPQ) Mori and Boyd (2004a), it can be calculated with the available data to examine potential interspecific differences in foraging patch quality. According to Mori and Boyd (2004a), energy intake rate (G) can be expressed in terms of dive duration (u)and travel time from/to the surface  $(\tau)$  as  $G = a \times (u - \tau)^x / (u + y(u))$ , where a is a conversion constant and y(u) is surface time, which is a function of dive duration, obtained from Fig. 3.7. If divers regulate dive duration so as to maximize the rate of energy intake, the IPQ for a dive can be determined by finding the value of xthat maximizes G. The IPQ thus calculated indicates that foraging patch quality is higher for AFS below 50 m, suggesting that this species for aged more profitably deeper in the water column than SFS (Fig. 3.8). Concurrent measurements of the distribution and densities of different prey species and foraging behaviour of their air-breathing predators are needed to evaluate this suggestion. Since the IPQ may be similar between species at shallow depths, why did SFS females not exploit patches at these depths as extensively as AFS females, despite their higher ADL? Conversely, why did AFS females exploit deep patches more extensively than their congenerics, despite their lower ADL?

Optimal diving models (Mori 1998a, b) predict that divers with higher ADLs should

find the optimal depth of foraging deeper in the water column, for any given prey patch quality. The models also predict that anaerobic diving is relatively more favourable when the prey patch is deep and of high quality (Mori 1998b). SFS females may thus require higher prey patch qualities near the surface to dive optimally. Factors such as swimming mechanics (Fish et al. 2003, Sato et al. 2007), and searching and/or travelling behaviour (Hindell et al. 2002) may explain why these favourable conditions were encountered less frequently by SFS compared to AFS females above 20 and below 80 m. For instance, young adult AFS and SFS show significant differences in fore- and hind-flipper size and shape (Bester and Wilkinson 1989, Luque et al. 2007b). Supporting this conjecture, AFS females showed a larger proportion of isolated dives, suggesting that they searched for foraging patches more extensively. Interestingly, activity during the bottom foraging phase of dives was higher in SFS, but their behavioural ADL was higher, suggesting that differences in the relationship between surface interval and dive duration were a result of physiological, rather than behavioural, constraints. Otherwise, the behavioural ADL would have been lower in SFS. Further studies comparing foraging efficiency between these species should help explain this pattern.

Indeed, the briefer bout durations and post-bout intervals, in addition to the larger proportion of exploratory dives, observed in AFS females may allow them to sample prey patches near the surface more frequently, thus foraging with better knowledge of conditions in this part of the habitat (Charnov 1976). Dive traces from AFS females at La Mare aux Elephants display stronger diel changes in dive depth than SFS females (see examples in accompanying electronic supplementary material), indicating that they find their deepest foraging patches during the crepuscular vertical migration of their myctophid prey (Boyd et al. 1994, McCafferty et al. 1998, Luque et al. 2007a). Some myctophid fish species of this sector of the Southern Ocean are known to form denser patches at their deep daytime depth locations than during the night (Bost et al. 2002), when they are patchily distributed near the surface. AFS, and to a much lesser extent SFS, females may profit from the more densely aggregated fish during dawn and dusk, as they shift between these depth locations and spatial organizations. My observations, therefore, suggest that AFS females spent a larger fraction of foraging time in patches of higher quality, particularly after dusk and before dawn, both during OFTs and LFTs, even when costs may have been higher due to deep (Luque et al. 2007a), anaerobic diving.

To conclude, I have shown interspecific differences in the temporal distribution of diving and foraging depth between sympatric AFS and SFS, which are consistent with the hypothesis that lactation pressure is higher in AFS. The larger number of bouts, briefer post-bout interval, and higher propensity to dive anaerobically in AFS, suggest that they spent more effort foraging. Furthermore, they appeared to concentrate that effort in prey patches of higher quality. These differences were associated with lower ADL, briefer duration of lactation, and higher pup energy demands in AFS. Gentry et al. (1986) hypothesized that a suite of fur seal life history traits, including foraging behaviour and lactation duration, follow a latitudinal gradient, ultimately determined by environmental seasonality and predictability. Since then, additional information from species inhabiting temperate latitudes has indicated that prey ecology may be more important than latitude, as a factor influencing foraging and maternal behaviours (Francis et al. 1998). Moreover, my results suggest that intrinsic differences in physiological constraints and lactational demands play important roles in determining the fine scale foraging behaviour in sympatric populations of some species, despite similarities in diet and prey ecology.

Table 3.2. Summary of div	ve data obtained from lactating	g female Antarctic (AFS)	and subantarctic (SFS)	fur seals fitted
with time-depth recorders (	TDRs) on Ile de la Possession	, in the breeding seasons	of 2001-02 and 2002-03	1

Species	Breeding Season	Body mass (kg)	N	Foraging trips	Dives	BEC <sup>a</sup> (s)	Bouts	Dives in Bouts	Mean dive depth (m)	Mean dive duration (s)
AFS	2001	$33.2\pm0.44$	37	102	42095	$54.9\pm0.44$	3814	33522	$31.2 \pm 0.32$	$80.1 \pm 0.60$
	2002	$31.6\pm0.58$	12	30	17541	$38.5\pm0.83$	1614	13500	$22.8\pm0.70$	$73.4 \pm 1.32$
	Both	$32.7\pm0.36$	49	132	59636	$50.9\pm0.33$	5428	47022	$29.2\pm0.24$	$78.5\pm0.42$
SFS	2001	$30.6\pm0.55$	37	113	39102	$84.8\pm0.91$	2839	33780	$42.1\pm0.44$	$94.2 \pm 0.63$
	2002	$30.4\pm0.78$	10	32	17693	$72.8 \pm 1.44$	1156	15302	$32.9\pm0.70$	$90.2 \pm 1.68$
	Both	$30.5\pm0.45$	47	145	56795	$81.7\pm0.61$	3995	49082	39.7 ± 0.31	$93.2\pm0.46$

<sup>a</sup> Bout ending criterion

3 Temporal structure of diving behaviour



Figure 3.4. Lactating Antarctic fur seal (AFS) females perform more bouts per night, spend a similar amount of time in bouts per night, and their bouts are briefer than in lactating subantarctic fur seal (SFS) females on Ile de la Possession



Figure 3.5. The temporal separation between foraging patches, as indicated by post-bout intervals, is briefer in lactating Antarctic (AFS) than subantarctic fur seal (SFS) females, during long (LFT) and overnight (OFT) foraging trips. The dotted lines indicate the post-bout interval with the highest kernel density estimate. The shaded region denotes intervals > 12 hr; i.e. bouts occurring on different foraging nights

3 Temporal structure of diving behaviour



Figure 3.6. Lactating Antarctic (AFS) fur seal females forage more frequently than subantarctic (SFS) females between the surface and 20 m, and below 80 m. SFS females spend a greater proportion of their bouts between 30 and 60 m

3 Temporal structure of diving behaviour



Figure 3.7. Briefest surface post-dive intervals increase exponentially for dive durations longer than 150 and 250 s in lactating Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seal females, respectively



Figure 3.8. Lactating Antarctic (AFS) fur seal females encounter foraging patches with higher index of patch quality (IPQ) than subantarctic (SFS) fur seal females at depths between 50 and 100 m. They also exploit patches at depths > 140 m, which are not used by SFS and where variation in IPQ is large. Values are mean  $\pm$  SE

## Part II

# Allocation of maternal resources and pup development

## Chapter 4

## Ontogeny of body size and shape of Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals<sup>1</sup>

## Abstract

Pre- and postweaning functional demands on body size and shape of mammals are often in conflict, especially in species where weaning involves a change of habitat. Brief lactations are expected to be associated with fast rates of development and attainment of adult traits, compared to long lactations. I describe allometry and growth for several morphological traits in two closely related fur seal species with large differences in lactation duration at a sympatric site. Longitudinal data were collected from Antarctic (Arctocephalus gazella (Peters, 1875); 120-d lactation) and subantarctic (Arctocephalus tropicalis (Gray, 1872); 300-d lactation) fur seals. Body mass was similar in neonates of both species, but A. gazella neonates were longer, less voluminous, and had larger foreflippers. The species were similar in rate of preweaning growth in body mass, but growth rates of linear variables were faster for A. gazella pups. Consequently, neonatal differences in body shape increased over lactation, and A. gazella pups approached adult body shape faster than did A. tropicalis pups. My results indicate that preweaning growth is associated with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Corresponding publication available in Appendix B.4

significant changes in body shape, involving the acquisition of a longer, more slender body with larger foreflippers in *A. gazella*. These differences suggest that *A. gazella* pups are physically more mature at approximately 100 d of age (close to weaning age) than *A. tropicalis* pups of the same age.

## 4.1 Introduction

Magnitude, rate, and pattern of mammalian growth determine adult body size and shape (Brody 1964, McNab 2002). Adult body size and shape, in turn, have major influences on viability and reproduction, among other life-history traits (Stearns 1992, Arendt 1997, Lindström 1999). Growth must be optimized relative to other demands, therefore it varies across individuals, populations, and species (Mangel and Stamps 2001, Caley and Schwarzkopf 2004). Some tradeoffs occur in offspring, and others are imposed by different tradeoffs acting on their mothers, which may alter the quality and quantity of milk they deliver. Interspecifically, milk composition and energy content are related to duration of lactation, so differences in the latter do not necessarily reflect total energy transferred to the offspring. Tilden and Offedal (1997) noted that, in primates, the energy density of milk is inversely related to duration of lactation. Similarly, slowly growing and highly mobile offspring typify ungulate and macropod (kangaroos, wallabies, etc.) species with long lactations (Sæther and Gordon 1994, Fisher et al. 2002). However, body size is an important complicating factor, as lactation typically lasts longer in larger species (Peters 1983, Clutton-Brock 1991b, Ross 1998). Because of these confounding factors, reasons for interspecific variation in growth with respect to lactation duration remain poorly understood.

Pinnipeds are an attractive model for studying preweaning development because they undergo a transition from suckling on land to foraging at sea, involving major physical, physiological, and behavioural changes in preparation for that transition. The success of the transition ultimately depends on the acquisition of sufficient oxygen stores in relation to energy expenditure while diving (Burns and Castellini 1996, Burns 1999, Thorson et al. 1994, Horning and Trillmich 1997a,b). However, increased physiological diving capacity must be closely coordinated with physical growth and the gradual development of swimming skills (Jørgensen et al. 2001, Bowen et al. 1999). Recent studies suggest that, across a broad range of marine mammal species, oxygen storage capacity does not reach adult levels before independent foraging (Noren et al. 2001, Burns et al. 2004). Therefore, lactation duration is an important factor affecting the ontogeny of physical and behavioural traits of offspring.

Relationships between life-history traits have been extensively studied in pinnipeds because they are ecologically and reproductively diverse, and display a wide range of body sizes (Stirling and Kleiman 1983, Bonner 1984, Oftedal et al. 1987, Costa 1993, McLaren 1993, Boyd 1998). For instance, lactation lasts from < 4 d (hooded seal, Cystophora cristata (Erxleben, 1777)) to 2-3 yr (walrus, Odobenus rosmarus (L., 1758)). Quality of knowledge, however, varies across species; good estimates of lactation duration are available for only eight species; three otariids and five phocids (Schulz and Bowen 2004). Good quantitative estimates of growth rate and duration of lactation for the same species are available for even fewer. Considering the difficulty in obtaining comprehensive and precise data, and given the widespread effects of spatiotemporal environmental variability on one-time estimates (Trillmich et al. 1991a, Lunn et al. 1993), an alternative approach for comparing ecologically different and related species might be profitable. Two otariid species that have recently been used in the context of foraging and growth studies are the Antarctic (Arctocephalus gazella (Peters, 1875); AFS hereafter) and subantarctic (Arctocephalus tropicalis (Gray, 1872); SFS hereafter) fur seals (Kerley 1985, Goldsworthy et al. 1997, Klages

and Bester 1998, Goldsworthy and Crowley 1999, Robinson et al. 2002).

I investigated comparative growth in AFS and SFS pups to determine the presence and nature of differences that may influence how the species cope with the critical postweaning period, as pups become independent foragers. These species have similar adult body mass and length (Payne 1979, Bester and Van Jaarsveld 1994), yet exhibit a large disparity in lactation duration: 116 in AFS (Costa et al. 1988, Lunn et al. 1993) and 300 d in SFS (Kerley 1987, Guinet and Georges 2000), respectively. Therefore, the time required to acquire the physical and physiological characteristics enabling pups to become independent foragers may differ between the species. Comparisons between two species species cannot be used to elucidate the relationship between lactation duration and growth patterns, but offer an advantage that is rarely found in multispecies comparisons: the ability to control for confounding factors, such as environmental differences between populations of different species, in syntopic (locally sympatric) populations. AFS and SFS breed syntopically at a few locations, where habitat differences between species are likely to be minimal, facilitating the interpretation of comparative analyses.

In previous research, Arnould et al. (2003) found that daily pup energy expenditure was higher in AFS than in SFS breeding syntopically at Ile de la Possession, Crozet archipelago, in the Southern Indian Ocean. In contrast, earlier reports from other syntopic sites suggested higher growth rates in body mass of AFS (Kerley 1985, Goldsworthy and Crowley 1999). I suggest that the reported disparity may reflect differences in body shape, which commonly differs adaptively between related species (Dodson 1975, Carrier 1983, Alatalo et al. 1984, Atchley 1984, Creighton and Strauss 1986, Gisbert 1999, Hochuli 2001).

Functional demands on body size and shape may change sharply between preand postweaning ages in young pinnipeds, especially in otariids because of their long preweaning terrestrial existence (Koehler and Barclay 2000). Within the otariids, AFS and SFS differ substantially in this regard, so I predicted that these species would differ in growth trajectories and in the rate at which they acquire adult body form or shape (e.g., in foreflippers; Fish 1998, Fish et al. 2003). Specifically, I predicted that AFS pups should acquire adult flipper size and shape relatively sooner than SFS, assuming that this allows them to make a successful transition to independent foraging at an earlier age.

## 4.2 Materials and methods

## 4.2.1 Fur seal colonies and identification procedures

Research was carried out at La Mare aux Elephants (46°22'29" S, 51°40'13" E), at the western end of Ile de la Possession, Crozet archipelago, Southern Indian Ocean, during the 2001-02 (4 December - 25 March) and 2002-03 (1 December - 16 March) breeding seasons (2001 and 2002 hereafter). The site consists of two adjacent AFS and SFS colonies on different types of substrate: AFS on the northern part of the beach, composed of small- to medium-sized pebbles, with gentle slopes behind; and SFS on the southern part of the beach, composed of large boulders that have fallen from the steep hinterlands. Both species give birth close to shore, but the AFS colony grows in size as the season progresses, while the other species tends to remain close to shore during the same period.

Pups were individually marked (Georges and Guinet 2000*a*, Arnould et al. 2003, Bailleul et al. 2005) over a 6- (2001) or 13- (2002) day period (Table 4.1). Pup production and mean pupping date were estimated using total pup counts (both years; including dead and living pups) on a weekly basis until no more births were observed, and mark-recapture methods (2001 only). Peak pupping dates were 5 and 15 December (2001: 164, and 2002: 167 pups) for AFS, and 25 and 30 December (2001: 80, and 2002: 91 pups) for SFS. Populations of both species have been increasing at an annual rate of about 18% annually at least until 1994 (Guinet et al. 1994).

## 4.2.2 Morphometric measurements

Body mass (BM) of pups was measured to the nearest 0.05 kg at first capture, and every 5-9 d thereafter, on a 25-kg capacity digital suspension balance (Salter Brecknell, ElectroSamson). The following variables were also measured on pups upon first capture and every 12-16 d thereafter: body length (BL; nearest 0.5 cm, straight line from the tip of the nose to the flesh tip of the tail) with a tape measure, while animals were manually restrained over a board, and positioned straight and flat on their ventral surface. In 2002, I also measured the following variables (nearest 0.5 cm) taken the same way, and on the same schedule: body girth at levels of pinna, mid neck, axillae, and umbilicus (G1-G4, hereafter); distance from the tip of the nose to each of these points (see next; RL1-RL4, hereafter). BL and RL1-RL4 were measured with a straight tape measure glued onto the board on which animals were placed. Length, width, and surface area of foreflippers were measured as follows. First, the right foreflipper was extended and held to the side of and perpendicular to the body, and was placed on a wooden board with horizontal and vertical scales (20 cm, marked every 5 cm). Second, a photograph was taken (Nikon Coolpix E885) in dorsal aspect from a distance of approximately 1.25 m. Finally, measurements were made from the photographs: (1) length (FL), defined as the distance from proximal end of the humerus (estimated by palpation) to the tip of foreflipper, through the midline of the flipper; (2) width (FW), defined as the largest distance, perpendicular to foreflipper length; and (3) area (FA; estimated from the traced outline of the foreflipper, using Object-Image, version 2.11, U.S. National Institutes of Health, available from http://simon.bio.uva.nl/object-image.html). FL and FW were also measured directly on the foreflipper for cross-validation and subsequent analyses.

The relationship between direct measurements on flippers, and those taken photogrammetrically, were tested for linearity to detect outliers or invalid estimates. This led to the exclusion of FA estimates for pups with FL > 27 cm, as the corresponding relationship became asymptotic beyond this value, indicating decreasing accuracy.

I also took all measurements on 63 AFS and 70 SFS adult females, but BM was measured to the nearest 0.5 kg. Each female was measured at least twice, and the median value for each variable was used to set adult body measurements, for comparisons with pups. Estimates for some variables on adult males were included using data taken at South Georgia for AFS (Payne 1979) and at Marion Island (about 950 km west of Crozet) for SFS (Bester and Van Jaarsveld 1994).

Body volume (BV;  $\pm$  0.01 l) of pups was obtained by using model B in Luque and Aurioles-Gamboa (2001), in which the body was modelled as two cones plus two truncated cones. Volumes of cones  $(\frac{1}{3}\pi h[r_1^2 + r_2^2 + r_1^2r_2^2])$  and truncated cones  $(\frac{1}{3}[\pi r^2 h])$ were calculated using the lengths (h) of cones estimated from RL1 and RL4, and lengths of truncated cones were estimated from RL2 and RL3, respectively. Girth was used to calculate radius (r).

## 4.2.3 Analyses

Interspecific differences in neonatal and adult body size were assessed using double classification analyses of variance, with a term for sex effects, including only data for which accurate ages were available. However, adult females were assigned to a single age category because their ages were unknown. To determine whether growth trajectories varied according to species or sex, a linear mixed effects model (Raudenbush and Bryk 2002) was designed for the jth observation on the *i*th individual:

$$y_{ij} = [\beta_{00} + \beta_{01} \operatorname{species}_i + \beta_{02} \operatorname{sex}_i + \beta_{03} \operatorname{species}_i \operatorname{sex}_i + b_{i0}] +$$

$$[\beta_{10} + \beta_{11} \operatorname{species}_i + \beta_{12} \operatorname{sex}_i + \beta_{13} \operatorname{species}_i \operatorname{sex}_i + b_{i1}] x_{ij} + \varepsilon_{ij}$$

$$(4.1)$$

where  $\beta_{00}$  and  $\beta_{10}$  refer to the population intercept and slope, respectively, for AFS female pups, the baseline group.  $\beta_{01}$ ,  $\beta_{02}$ , and  $\beta_{03}$  are fixed effects for the change in population intercept associated with the species, sex, and their interaction, in relation to the baseline group.  $\beta_{11}$ ,  $\beta_{12}$ , and  $\beta_{13}$  are the changes in population slope associated with the same effects.  $b_{i0}$  and  $b_{i1}$  are the random intercept and slope effects for the *i*th individual, respectively, and  $\varepsilon_{ij}$  is a within-subject residual term. Other terms were added to test for year effects and their interactions with body mass and body length, but were subsequently dropped if they were non-significant here and elsewhere, at  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

Based on exploratory analyses and because ages were < 300 d, a linear model was assumed, rather than a more complicated one. No assumptions were made regarding the autocorrelation structure of the  $\varepsilon_{ij}$ 's. However, it was assumed that these were independent and normally distributed, regardless of the  $b_i$ 's. In this model, species<sub>i</sub> and sex<sub>i</sub> take on values zero and one, to indicate whether  $y_{ij}$  refers to AFS or SFS, and to a female or a male pup, respectively. I fitted the model using a restricted log-likelihood method, as described in Pinheiro and Bates (2000), and implemented in the nlme R package (Pinheiro et al. 2004). I subsequently estimated linear equations from this model, collapsing across and (or) within fixed effects that were not significantly different from zero. Only pups that were measured more than twice throughout the study period were considered for these analyses.

Because absolute age was not known for all individuals (Table 4.1), relative age was defined as the number of days elapsed since seals were first seen, which was taken as day zero. The difference in peak pupping dates between species was taken into account by adding the corresponding value from each breeding season (2001: 20, and 2002: 15 d) to the relative age of Antarctic fur seal (AFS) pups. Relative age was then used as the regressor x in model (4.1). Relative age was logarithmically transformed (logarithm base 10), and a constant added to it, to achieve linearity before using it as the regressor for BL in model (4.1). This transformation was chosen because BL changed faster in young pups (< 30 d) than older pups.

To address the question of whether growth trajectories gave rise to interspecific differences in the rate at which pups acquired adult body shape, two allometric relationships that might influence aquatic locomotory performance (e.g., Feldkamp 1987, Fish et al. 1988, Stelle et al. 2000) were studied: (1) foreflipper span (FS; see next) squared vs total FA (TFA; see next), and (2) RL3 vs BL. FS was calculated as  $2 \cdot FL+G3 \cdot \pi^{-1}$ , and TFA as  $2 \cdot FA$ . The first relationship is foreflipper aspect ratio expressed allometrically, whereas the second was used as an index of the position of foreflippers along the body axis, relative to BL. One random measurement per female pup where 80 d < age < 120 d, was selected for this analysis, to eliminate any dependence between observations, while maintaining a large enough sample size with valid foreflipper measurements (i.e., < 27 cm). For adult females, the median value for each variable was used, assuming their growth was negligible.

To investigate how allometric relationships (1) and (2) compared between species and age groups (female pups vs adult females), I used analysis of covariance (Zar 1996). I was interested in the interaction between age group (adult or pup) and species to test whether pups of one species were more allometrically similar to adults than the other. This approach avoided known biases associated with ratios between the variables from each relationship (Packard and Boardman 1999).

All statistical analyses were performed in the GNU R system (R development Core Team 2007). Shapiro-Wilks statistic and Fligner-Killeen test were used to evaluate assumptions of normality of data distributions and homogeneity of variances, respectively, in analyses of variance and covariance. Results show SE as the measure of dispersion, unless stated otherwise.

## 4.3 Results

## 4.3.1 Neonatal and adult body size

There was no evidence of interannual effects on neonatal BM ( $F_{1,160} = 1.70, P = 0.19$ ) nor body length ( $F_{1,157} = 2.03, P = 0.16$ ), when species and sex were taken into account. Therefore, measurements were pooled across years for subsequent analyses.

Male neonates were larger than females in most measurements (Table 4.2). AFS neonates were significantly longer than SFS neonates, had longer head and neck regions (RL1 and RL2), longer and narrower foreflippers, and greater FA (Table 4.2). Other interspecific differences were found among females only; AFS female pups were larger in girth and BV than SFS pups. Adult female AFS were significantly heavier than SFS. AFS adult females were larger in all flipper measurements than SFS adult females (Table 4.3).

## 4.3.2 Growth

Growth trajectories for each variable showed differing patterns of growth between species. No main effects or interactions of year with species or sex effects were significant in the models of mass and body length growth (P > 0.5, all cases), so the data were pooled. The magnitude and standard error of interspecific and intersexual effects, in terms of model (4.1), are shown in Table 4.4. Estimated growth rates for each variable, with results of interspecific comparisons, are shown in Table 4.5.

In both species, sexual differences in BM increased steadily throughout lactation due to faster growth of male pups ( $t_{2822} = 4.0, P < 0.01$ ). However, pups grew at a similar rate in both species ( $t_{2822} = -0.04, P > 0.90$ ), after sex effects were removed (Figure 4.1). Neonatal BM did not differ between species, but the intercept of the relationship between BM and relative age was higher in AFS pups. No interactions were significant between species and sex ( $t_{264} = -1.34, P > 0.1; t_{2822} = 0.18, P >$ 0.8, respectively). A similar pattern was found for BV (Figure 4.1), consistent with faster rates of growth in SFS girth (Table 4.5).

Growth in BL was faster in AFS pups  $(t_{1321} = -2.57, P = 0.01)$ , and in males of both species  $(t_{1321} = 2.21, P = 0.03)$  (Figure 4.1). There were no interactions between species and sex for slope  $(t_{1321} = -0.05, P > 0.9)$  or intercept  $(t_{260} =$ -0.93, P > 0.3). RL1 and RL2 showed faster rates of growth in AFS  $(t_{441} =$ -4.65; -2.80, P < 0.01, both cases), irrespective of sex  $(t_{441} = 1.49; 1.53, P > 0.1)$ (Table 4.5).

All foreflipper measurements increased in size faster in AFS: FL and FW ( $t_{441} = -10.50; -2.45, P < 0.02$ , both variables); FA ( $t_{208} = -5.13, P < 0.01$ ) (Figure 4.2). There were no significant interactions with sex (FL and FW:  $t_{441} = 0.96; 1.92, P > 0.3$ , FA:  $t_{208} = 0.47, P > 0.6$ ).

## 4.3.3 Allometry

Pup growth trajectories along individual variables led to differing allometric relationships between species and age groups. A two-way analysis of covariance indicated that age-group differences in the slope of the relationship between FS<sup>2</sup> and TFA were dependent of species ( $F_{1,43} = 5.00$ , P = 0.03, slope interaction term). Age-group did not significantly affect the allometric slope ( $F_{1,27} = 2.83$ , P = 0.10) in AFS, but it did in SFS ( $F_{1,16} = 5.29$ , P = 0.04); female SFS pups had a higher allometric slope than adult females (Figure 4.3a). Among pups, the allometric slope showed large differences between species ( $F_{1,25} = 11.4$ , P = 0.002), but it was similar between species among adults ( $F_{1,18} = 0.36$ , P = 0.55). In agreement with this trend, differences in the allometric slope between pups and adults were larger in SFS. Foreflipper size differences between pups and adults were also much larger in SFS.

RL3 scaled with BL differently between species ( $F_{1,69} = 6.01$ , P = 0.02), but similarly between age-groups ( $F_{1,69} = 0.29$ , P = 0.59), without any interaction between these factors ( $F_{1,65} = 1.08$ , P = 0.30). The allometric slope of the relationship was higher in AFS, particularly among female pups (Figure 4.3b).

## 4.4 Discussion

## 4.4.1 Neonatal and adult body size

Based on multiple traits, I documented many interspecific differences in neonatal body size, preweaning growth, and changes in body growth between two otariid species, AFS and SFS. I hypothesized that AFS pups should mature physically faster than SFS pups, given their younger weaning age. Neonates of the two species differed little on any measurements, but differed greatly in rates of growth. However, if adults show larger differences between species than neonates, the results may simply reflect intrinsic morphological differences between species, rather than different development patterns. Therefore, I begin by comparing neonate and adult body size of AFS and SFS at Iles Crozet with other populations, and then focus on the factors that could have given rise to species differences in development.

I found no species differences in neonatal body mass at Iles Crozet, as Kerley (1985) also found for seven animals at Marion Island. No comparable data are available from Macquarie Island, the third site where the two species coexist. However, body mass alone cannot be used to compare body size between the species, because neonatal body shape differs: at birth, AFS pups are longer, have longer heads and necks, and have larger foreflippers. Therefore, the similarity between species in body mass may indicate differences in body composition, rather than similarities in body size. Based on a small sample of pups from 2001, Arnould et al. (2003) showed that AFS pups had lower total body lipid stores than SFS pups at approximately two months of age, and my results suggest that the difference may also be present at birth.

Neonates of both species from my study were about a kilogram heavier than those weighed by Kerley (1985), although the difference cannot readily be attributed to any ecological factor due to the small sample size in the latter study. Estimated pup birth dates in my study were similar to those reported by Kerley (1985) on Marion Island, and consistent with Sparrow et al. (1996), who showed that the two archipelagoes have a similar marine environment. The body mass of neonatal SFS pups in my study is comparable to that obtained from allopatric sites at Amsterdam Island (Georges and Guinet 2000*a*) and Gough Island (Bester 1987, Bester and Van Jaarsveld 1994) for SFS, and at Bird Island, South Georgia (Lunn et al. 1993) for AFS, suggesting that adult females are equally able to meet the demands of gestation in these environments, or can compensate for any differences without a cost to newborn offspring.

Sexual differences in neonatal body size occur in all otariids, including the species in this study (Bester 1987, Kerley 1985, Lunn et al. 1993). However, pup sex did not influence most interspecific comparisons of neonatal body size in my analyses; sexual-size differences were similar for both species, except for girth measurements, body volume, and foreflipper surface area. For the latter three variables, AFS pups were larger than their congenerics only among females. The larger axillary girth and body volume of female AFS pups may reflect sex-specific differences in relative body lipid stores. Several authors have reported higher total body lipid stores in female, compared to male pups in several species (e.g., Arnould et al. 1996*a*, Donohue et al. 2002, Beauplet et al. 2003), including those in this study. Therefore, everything else being equal, female pups would be expected to be more voluminous than male pups (Luque and Aurioles Gamboa 2002).

Intraspecifically in pinnipeds, large mothers tend to give birth to large pups (Costa et al. 1988, Arnbom et al. 1997, Mellish et al. 1999). Boltnev and York (2001) found that neonatal mass increases at a decelerating rate with maternal mass in northern fur seals (*Callorhinus ursinus* (L., 1758)). The same relationship appears to hold interspecifically (Costa 1991), but whether the relationship is linear or not is unclear. Adult female AFS did not give birth to heavier pups in my study, despite being heavier than adult female SFS. Compared to body mass, linear measurements (body length, axillary girth, and RL3) of physically restrained fur seals include larger measurement errors, reducing the statistical power of interspecific comparisons. Therefore, comparisons of pup body size in relation to maternal body size require more accurate measurements.

Both adult females and neonates differed in body shape between species, so interspecific differences in growth of body size may simply reflect morphological differences between AFS and SFS. I did not measure adult males of both species at La Mare aux Elephants, so I cannot generalize the argument to both sexes. However, if growth rates of individual variables were mainly determined by species-specific morphometric traits, then interspecific differences in these traits would be expected
to be similar in neonates and adults, and body shape would be expected to remain relatively constant with age. Both expectations from this argument were not supported by my results. The magnitude of morphometric differences between species were considerably larger among adult females than among neonates, and more similarities in body shape between adult females and 80-120 d old pups were found in AFS than in SFS. Therefore, the growth patterns exhibited by each species may not be only related to intrinsic morphometric differences between them.

#### 4.4.2 Preweaning growth and allometry

I found no interspecific differences in rate of growth in body mass. This contrasts with previous studies of these species where they are sympatric (Marion Island: Kerley (1985); Macquarie Island: Goldsworthy and Crowley (1999)). My estimates of growth rates in body mass also were lower at Ile de la Possession than at those two sites. The reasons for such discrepancy are not clear, but methodological differences in pup sampling protocol (longitudinal vs cross-sectional) and period of lactation covered hinder the comparison of results among these studies.

In this study, SFS and AFS pups had similar rates of growth in body mass and body volume. However, AFS pups had: (1) faster rates of growth in body length, length of anterior portions of the body (RL1-RL2), and foreflipper dimensions, and (2) lower rates of growth in body girth. These differences lead to a more streamlined body with relatively large foreflippers in AFS, and a stockier body in SFS.

Two-species comparisons cannot provide general conclusions about relations between lactation duration and growth pattern (Garland and Adolph 1994) in otariids, but by minimizing other confounding factors, such a comparison can provide insights into possible mechanisms (Fisher et al. 2002). I hypothesized that AFS pups would exhibit more precocial growth than SFS pups. In AFS, differences between pup and adult foreflipper shape, and their position along the body, differed more than in SFS, which supports this hypothesis. These differences were reflected in the relationship between foreflipper span<sup>2</sup> and foreflipper surface area, which defines an important measure (aspect ratio) of aquatic locomotory ability (e.g., Feldkamp 1987, Fish et al. 1988, Norberg et al. 1993). For instance, low-aspect ratio flippers are associated with increased costs of transport during steady swimming, but are better suited for rapid accelerations during quick turns in open water (Fish and Nicastro 2003, Fish et al. 2003). A similar argument can be made for the relationship between RL3 and body length, which is an index of the position of the foreflippers along the body. Relative position of the foreflippers along the body may have functional significance in aquatic stability and maneuverability, which is favoured when foreflippers are located far from the center of gravity (Fish et al. 2003).

Allometric analysis (Figure 4.3) suggests that AFS pups have foreplippers positioned more posteriorly along the body, and lower foreflipper aspect ratio than SFS pups, and hence potentially greater aquatic turning abilities at 100 d ( $\pm$  20) of age. However, while AFS pups are near the end of lactation at this age, SFS pups are in mid-lactation, so increased aquatic turning abilities may be more critical for the former. Indeed, the largest foreflipper surface areas of female AFS pups were close to adult values, which was not the case for female SFS pups. Further studies are needed to assess the effect of differences in flipper size and structure for terrestrial locomotion, and the acquisition of foraging skills at sea of these two species. Other factors that are likely to influence this process, such as the timing and pattern of moulting, should also be considered because they are known to affect pup thermoregulatory ability (Donohue et al. 2000).

To summarize, I found many differences in growth of AFS and SFS pups at Iles Crozet, where the species breed sympatrically, but maintain species-specific differences in lactation duration. Compared to SFS pups, AFS pups adopted a growth strategy that favours the acquisition of a longer, more slender body, with larger foreflippers. The growth differences between species led to different allometric relationships between female pups and adult females, whereby AFS pups showed more similarities in foreflipper shape and position along the body with their adult counterparts than SFS pups. These interspecific comparisons of allometric relationships suggest AFS pups are physically more mature at approximately 100 d of age (close to weaning age) than SFS pups of the same age. Whether SFS pups achieve a similar level of physical maturity close to their weaning age, and whether different morphological development patterns affect the ontogeny of foraging skills, remain to be determined.

Table 4.1. Summary of numbers of Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seal used in the study, broken down by year, species, and sex. Cell entries indicate total number, including newborn pups; number of newborn pups is shown in parentheses

Species	Sex	Bree	Breeding season				
		2001	2002	Both			
AFS	Females	47 (10)	29 (24)	76			
	Males	48 (6)	29 (19)	77			
	Both	95	58	153			
SFS	Females	31 (27)	36 (32)	67			
	Males	27 (22)	30 (28)	57			
	Both	58	66	124			

A
Pup
growth
and
physical
development

**Table 4.2.** Summary of morphometric differences between species and sexes in neonatal Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals. Sample sizes (n; females, males) were: AFS n = 22, 17; SFS: n = 32, 28 for all variables, except for body mass and body length, for which AFS n = 34, 25; SFS n = 59, 50

Variable		Fema	les	Mal	es	F-ratio <sup>a</sup>
		AFS	SFS	AFS	SFS	
Body mass (kg)	BM	$4.90\pm0.150$	$4.60\pm0.080$	$5.40\pm0.210$	$5.45\pm0.100$	0.98; 35.28
Body length (cm)	BL	$60.3\pm0.54$	$58.8\pm0.32$	$63.8\pm0.75$	$61.7\pm0.40$	11.34; 46.63
Girth (cm)	G1	$30.4 \pm 0.30^{b}$	$28.9\pm0.14$	$30.6\pm0.26$	$30.4\pm0.15$	9.57
	G2	$29.5\pm0.32^{\rm b}$	$27.4\pm0.26$	$28.6\pm0.48$	$29.2\pm0.27$	16.22
	G3	$39.6\pm0.54^{\rm b}$	$37.2 \pm 0.33$	$39.3 \pm 0.71$	$39.6\pm0.43$	7.87
	G4	$39.1\pm0.64^{\text{b}}$	$36.7\pm0.41$	$39.1\pm0.72$	$40.2\pm0.55$	9.27
Reference length (cm)	RL1	$8.3\pm0.13$	$7.8\pm0.11$	$8.8\pm0.17$	$8.1\pm0.11$	25.33; 9.24
	RL2	$12.9\pm0.15$	$12.1\pm0.16$	$13.6\pm0.30$	$12.8\pm0.19$	16.86; 14.16
	RL3	$30.3\pm0.41$	$29.0\pm0.37$	$31.1\pm0.62$	$30.9\pm0.43$	2.45; 11.15
	RL4	$43.8\pm0.43$	$40.2\pm0.34$	$45.0\pm0.59$	$41.9\pm0.37$	62.84; 13.99
Foreflipper length (cm)	FL	$22.2\pm0.23$	$21.1\pm0.14$	$23.0\pm0.45$	$22.0\pm0.18$	21.66; 13.77
Foreflipper width (cm)	FW	$8.0\pm0.11$	$8.2\pm0.10$	$8.4\pm0.17$	$8.8\pm0.10$	10.95; 24.10
For effipper surface area $(cm^2)$	FA	$142.1\pm3.57^{\rm b}$	$126.6 \pm 2.41$	$145.4\pm5.99$	$144.1\pm2.50$	4.30
Body volume (l)	BV	$4.5\pm0.15^{\rm b}$	$3.6\pm0.08$	$4.5\pm0.21$	$4.2\pm0.11$	4.93

<sup>a</sup> Values for interspecific and intersexual comparisons (respectively) are shown. Significant effects are in bold. For significant interactions, only the value for the interaction is shown

<sup>b</sup> For significant interactions, this is the species and sex with the highest mean

4 Pup growth and physical development

**Table 4.3.** Summary of morphometric differences between adult Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seal females. Cell entries are mean  $\pm$  SE (n)

Variable		AFS	SFS	F-ratio <sup>a</sup>
Body mass (kg)	BM	32.7±0.36 (63)	<b>30.5 ± 0.45 (70)</b>	6.88
Body length (cm)	BL	$118.0 \pm 0.49$ (63)	$117.0 \pm 0.51$ (70)	1.07
Axillary girth (cm)	G3	$75.0 \pm 0.70$ (24)	$73.8 \pm 1.12$ (22)	0.44
Reference length (cm)	RL3	$63.3 \pm 0.52$ (24)	$61.6 \pm 0.55$ (18)	2.74
Foreflipper length (cm)	FL	$40.3 \pm 0.25$ (62)	33.9±0.23 (70)	179.80
Foreflipper width (cm)	FW	$12.9 \pm 0.08$ (62)	$11.9 \pm 0.07$ (70)	43.8
For effipper surface area $(cm^2)$	FA	431.5±11.46 (16)	$348.1 \pm 6.4$ (11)	17.67

<sup>a</sup> Significant effects are in bold

Variable			Intercept effects		Slope	effects
		$\beta_{01}$	$\beta_{02}$	$\beta_{03}$	$\beta_{11}$	$\beta_{12}$
Body Mass (kg)	BM	-0.950 (0.180)		n.s.	n.s.	0.010 (0.003)
Body length <sup>b</sup>	BL			n.s.	-1.740 (0.680)	1.410 (0.640)
Foreflipper length	FL		0.880 (0.330)	n.s.	-0.040 (0.004)	n.s.
Foreflipper width	FW	<b>n.s</b> .	0.570 (0.140)	n.s.	-0.004 (0.001)	n.s.
Foreflipper surface area	FA		n.s.	n.s.	-0.410 (0.080)	n.s.
Body volume	BV	-1.030 (0.230)		n.s.	n.s.	0.010 (0.004)
Girth	G1	-1.400 (0.300)	0.860 (0.310)	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
Girth	G2		n.s.	1.700 (0.750)	0.040 (0.008)	n.s.
Girth	G3		n.s.	n.s.	0.030 (0.010)	n.s.
Girth	G4		n.s.	n.s.	0.060 (0.015)	n.s.
Reference length	RL1		0.550 (0.190)	n.s.	-0.010 (0.003)	n.s.
	RL2		1.150 (0.310)	n.s.	-0.020 (0.006)	n.s.
	RL3	-2.770 (0.580)	1.530 (0.590)	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
	RL4	-4.070 (0.590)		n.s.	n.s.	n.s.

Table 4.4. Summary of effects of species ( $\beta_{01}$  and  $\beta_{11}$ ), sex ( $\beta_{02}$  and  $\beta_{12}$ ), and their interactions ( $\beta_{03}$ ) on growth of Antarctic and subantarctic fur seal pups, estimated using model (4.1)<sup>a</sup>. SE is in parentheses

<sup>a</sup> Interactions in slopes  $\beta_{13}$  were non-significant, so were omitted. Significant effects are in bold, n.s. = non-significant effect, and meaningless effects (due to interactions) were left blank <sup>b</sup> Relative age (d) was log-transformed to linearize this relationship

Table 4.5.	Comparison of growth	rates of Antarctic	c (AFS) and	subantarctic (	(SFS) fur seal	pups, estimated	l using
model (4.1).	Cell entries are the estim	mated slope taken :	from the mod	lel (lower - up)	per 95% confid	lence limits)	

Variable		Fem	Females		ales
		AFS	SFS	AFS	SFS
Body mass $(kg \cdot d^{-1})$	BM	0.06 (0.0	6 - 0.07) <sup>a</sup>	0.08 (0.0	7 - 0.08) <sup>a</sup>
Body length (cm $\cdot \log d^{-1}$ )	BL	17.58 (16.68 - 18.47)	15.83 (14.85 - 16.82)	18.99 (18.11 - 19.86)	17.19 (16.15 - 18.23)
Girth (cm $\cdot$ d <sup>-1</sup> )	G1		0.04 (0.0	$(4 - 0.05)^{b}$	
	G2	0.07 (0.06 - 0.08)	0.10 (0.09 - 0.11)	0.09(0.07 - 0.10)	0.10 (0.09 - 0.1)
	G3	0.14 (0.13 - 0.15)	0.17 (0.15 - 0.18)	0.14 (0.13 - 0.15)	0.17 (0.15 - 0.18)
	G4	0.09 (0.08 - 0.11)	0.15 (0.13 - 0.18)	0.09 (0.08 - 0.11)	0.15 (0.13 - 0.18)
Reference length (cm $\cdot d^{-1}$ )	RL1	0.05 (0.05 - 0.06)	0.04 (0.03 - 0.04)	0.05 (0.05 - 0.06)	0.04 (0.03 - 0.04)
	RL2	0.10 (0.10 - 0.11)	0.09 (0.08 - 0.10)	0.10 (0.10 - 0.11)	0.09 (0.08 - 0.10)
	RL3		0.10 (0.0	9 - 0.11) <sup>b</sup>	
	RL4		0.13 (0.1	3 - 0.14) <sup>b</sup>	
For flipper length (cm $\cdot d^{-1}$ )	FL	0.08 (0.08 - 0.08)	0.04 (0.03 - 0.05)	0.08 (0.08 - 0.08)	0.04 (0.03 - 0.05)
For flipper width (cm $\cdot$ d <sup>-1</sup> )	FW	0.02 (0.02 - 0.02)	0.02 (0.02 - 0.02)	0.02 (0.02 - 0.02)	0.02 (0.02 - 0.02)
For eflipper surface area (cm <sup>2</sup> $\cdot$ d <sup>-1</sup> )	FA	0.99 (0.89 - 1.09)	0.58 (0.45 - 0.72)	0.99 (0.89 - 1.09)	0.58 (0.45 - 0.72)
Body volume $(1 \cdot d^{-1})$	BV	0.04 (0.03	3 - 0.04) <sup>a</sup>	0.04 (0.0	4 - 0.05) <sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Growth rate was common to both species <sup>b</sup> Growth rate was common to both species and both sexes

4 Pup growth and physical development



Figure 4.1. Rates of growth in a) body mass and b) body volume did not differ between Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seal pups during lactation, but growth in c) body length was faster in AFS pups, based on equation (4.1). The vertical dotted line indicates the weaning age of AFS pups. See Table 4.5 for estimated growth rates





Figure 4.2. Foreflipper length (a), width (b), and surface area (c) grew faster in Antarctic (AFS) compared to subantarctic (SFS) fur seal pups during lactation, based on equation (4.1). The vertical dotted line indicates weaning age of AFS pups. See Table 4.5 for estimated growth rates



Figure 4.3. Body shape of pups at approximately 100 d of age shows more similarities with that of adults in Antarctic (AFS) than in subantarctic (SFS) fur seals, based on a) aspect ratio (relationship between foreflipper span<sup>2</sup> to foreflipper surface area), and b) relationship of distance distance from tip of nose to axillae (RL3) to body length. The slope of the relationship (lower, upper 95% confidence limits) are shown

## Chapter 5

# Pup physiological development and growth dynamics

## Abstract

Otariid pinnipeds exhibit large variation in lactation duration, and pups wean at different times of cycles in marine productivity. Therefore, pup growth and development patterns differ between species, intimately associated with maternal care strategies. Interspecific comparisons to understand the mechanisms driving variation in otariid maternal care strategies and pup development are difficult due to the inability to control for confounding effects of differences in environment. I compared the body composition and dynamics of mass changes associated with maternal attendance and foraging trips in two closely related, morphologically similar, fur seal species at a syntopic site. I measured total body lipids, absolute mass gain (milk intake) during maternal attendance, and mass-specific rate of mass loss during maternal foraging trips in Antarctic (Arctocephalus gazella Peters 1875; 120 d lactation) and subantarctic (A. tropicalis Gray 1872; 300 d lactation) fur seal pups. Relative to body mass, total body lipid stores increased during lactation, and were larger in A. tropicalis pups. Absolute mass gain increased with the duration of the preceding maternal foraging trip, but the slope of this relationship was higher for A. gazella, so that mass gained per day mothers spent at sea and average mass gain was larger

in this species. Milk fat content increased similarly for both species during lactation, and total energy intake was larger for A. gazella pups at any given age. Mass-specific rate of mass loss did not differ between species among females, but female A. gazella pups had higher rates of mass loss than their congenerics of the same sex. These results support previous suggestions that maternal expenditure during foraging cycles is larger in A. gazella, and that pups of this species are under stronger selection to develop lean body mass, in preparation for weaning at a younger age, at a time of reduced prey availability.

## 5.1 Introduction

Lactation is the main form of parental care in mammals and the most energetically expensive activity for females (Pond 1977, Gittleman and Thompson 1988). A wide spectrum of physiological and behavioural adaptations allows females to cope with the large energy costs of lactation, under a variety of conditions (Millar 1977, Pond 1977, Prentice and Prentice 1988). Mothers and offspring interact closely during lactation, influencing each other's physiology and behaviour according to their own fitness interests (Trivers 1974, Rogowitz 1996). The process occurs in a context of large variation in the physical environment, giving rise to complex patterns in lactation strategies. In pinnipeds, lactation strategies can be ordered along a continuum ranging from strict "income" to "capital" strategies (Drent and Daan 1980, Boyd 1998), determined primarily by differences in energy storage capabilities relative to body size. However, lactation duration, a major component of lactation strategy, is highly variable even among species at either end of this spectrum (Schulz and Bowen 2005, Trillmich and Weissing 2006). Therefore, the interplay between maternal and offspring development strategies in pinnipeds remains difficult.

According to an early hypothesis (Gentry et al. 1986) to explain latitudinal varia-

tion in duration of lactation of otariids (fur seals and sea lions), species breeding at subpolar latitudes [e.g., Antarctic (Arctocephalus gazella (Peters, 1875)) and northern (Callorhinus ursinus (L., 1758)) fur seals] exhibit brief lactations (4 mo) due to the combination of high seasonality, predictability, and productivity of the environment, compared to species breeding at lower latitudes. In these conditions, lactation is restricted to summer and early fall, when prey availability is highest and close to the colony. At the other extreme, otariids breeding in the tropics [e.g., Galápagos fur seals (A. galapagoensis (Heller, 1904)), and Galápagos sea lions (Zalophus wollebaecki (Sivertsen, 1953))] display the longest lactations (2-3 yr), presumably as a bet-hedging strategy to buffer against large interannual variation in marine productivity. Although this hypothesis has received recent support from analyses controlling for phylogeny and body size (Schulz and Bowen 2005), data from species breeding at temperate latitudes suggest that nearly every other aspect of maternal strategy (e.g., foraging cycle duration and milk characteristics) is more strongly influenced by prey ecology and distribution (Francis et al. 1998).

One of the difficulties of interspecific comparisons is the inability to control for confounding effects of environmental differences. The problem is often unavoidable because breeding distributions of species do not overlap. However, several otariid species with widely differing lactation duration have overlapping distributions [e.g., northern fur seals and California sea lions (*Zalophus californianus* (Lesson, 1828))], and can even be found breeding syntopically at certain sites. In this situation, the environment exhibits the same levels of productivity, seasonality, and predictability, yet maternal expenditure is spread over periods of different duration. Thus, it is not clear what particular strategy a female should adopt, and how her pup should respond because different trade-offs may be under selection (Peaker 1989, Owen-Smith 2004). Some physiological and behavioural traits of the maternal strategy may have become more rigid, especially in species that have evolved under relatively predictable environmental regimes at the core of their distribution, while others may be more flexible (König and Markl 1987, Rehling and Trillmich 2007). Clearly, trade-offs acting on pups are part of the observed strategies.

Two otariid species inhabiting the Southern Ocean are particularly suited for this topic – Antarctic fur seal (AFS) and subantarctic fur seal (SFS) – because they are closely related (Bininda-Emonds et al. 1999), and are morphologically very similar (Payne 1979, Bester and Van Jaarsveld 1994), yet exhibit a large disparity in lactation duration: 116 d in AFS (Costa et al. 1988, Lunn et al. 1993) and 300 d in SFS (Kerley 1987, Guinet and Georges 2000). AFS breed primarily south of the Antarctic Polar Front (APF), while SFS do so around the Subtropical Front (STF) (Bonner and Harrison 1981), so represent the subpolar and temperate maternal strategy in the continuum described above. However, both species breed syntopically at a few locations where for aging habitat differences between species are likely to be minimal, facilitating the interpretation of comparative analyses. Recent comparisons of the foraging ecology of lactating females at Iles Crozet have shown important differences in their diving behaviour (Luque et al. 2007a) that appear to be driven by greater physiological constraints in AFS (Luque et al. 2008), despite largely overlapping foraging areas. AFS pups at this location show higher resting and field metabolic rates than SFS pups (Arnould et al. 2003). Furthermore, growth studies suggest that AFS pups trade-off fat storage for increased lean body mass growth, compared to SFS pups (Luque et al. 2007b). However, the mechanisms linking maternal strategy and pup development remain unclear.

In this study, I investigated the process linking two major aspects of maternal strategy – attendance and milk delivery – to the associated dynamics of preweaning pup growth in AFS and SFS. Specifically, my aim was to determine whether milk intake, measured as pup mass gain during maternal attendances, and the ensuing mass loss during maternal foraging trips, differed between species to account for the observed overall differences in growth patterns. Given the previously reported interspecific differences in metabolism, I also compared body composition (total body lipid) and milk composition to assess possible differences in energy allocation by pups. Based on previously reported differences in pup metabolism and maternal foraging behaviour, I hypothesize that lactating AFS females show greater rate of maternal expenditure during lactation than SFS, and that AFS pups should show greater mass gain during maternal attendances.

## 5.2 Methods

#### 5.2.1 Study site and animals

Research was carried out at La Mare aux Elephants (46°22'29" S, 51°40'13" E), at the western end of Ile de la Possession, Crozet archipelago, Southern Indian Ocean, during the 2001-02 (4 December - 25 March) and 2002-03 (1 December - 16 March) breeding seasons (2001 and 2002 hereafter). The site consists of two adjacent AFS and SFS colonies, where peak pupping dates were found to be 5 and 15 December (2001: 164, and 2002: 167 pups) for AFS, and 25 and 30 December (2001: 80, and 2002: 91 pups) for SFS. During both pupping periods, 277 fur seal pups were individually marked with a numbered piece of tape temporarily glued to the fur on top of the head. At approximately 30 d of age, pups were permanently marked by attaching a tag to the trailing-edge of both fore-flippers. Because absolute age was not known for all pups, relative age was defined as the number of days elapsed since individuals were first seen, which was taken as day zero. The difference in peak pupping dates between species was taken into account by adding the corresponding value from each breeding season (2001: 20, and 2002: 15 d) to the relative age of AFS pups. Molting began in February for both species, so 1 February was used to differentiate pre- and postmolting pups.

As part of concurrent growth studies (Luque et al. 2007*b*), pups were weighed to the nearest 0.05 kg at first capture, and every 5-9 d thereafter, on a 25-kg capacity digital suspension balance (Salter Brecknell, ElectroSamson). Straight-line body length (to the nearest 0.5 cm) was also measured upon first capture, and every 12-16 d thereafter. Mothers of a subset of marked pups (AFS: n = 49; SFS: n = 47) were equipped with time-depth recorders (TDRs) and Platform Transmitter Terminals (PTTs) throughout both study periods as part of research on maternal foraging behaviour (Luque et al. 2007*a*). Body mass (to the nearest kg) and body length (to the nearest cm) of instrumented females were recorded immediately before and after deployment, and again when females were recorded and tagged to recover instruments after 1-11 foraging trips (Jiang et al. 2002). Maternal attendance was determined from the times of arrival and departure to and from the colonies recorded by the instruments. Maternal attendance was also monitored by visually searching the colonies three times per day (09:00, 14:00, and 18:00), and recording the presence of mothers of marked pups.

#### 5.2.2 Body composition

Pups were selected pseudo-randomly for body composition analysis throughout both study periods. The selection of study of pups was ultimately constrained by the availability of marked pups known to have been fasting for a minimum of 24 h, to allow for digestion of milk consumed during the last maternal attendance. Body composition was measured using hydrogen isotope dilution techniques (Costa et al. 1987). Pups were weighed and measured before collecting a background blood sample (5 ml) from an inter-digital vein in a hind-flipper. They were subsequently given an intramuscular injection of a weighed dose of tritiated water (HTO; approximately 1 ml, 7.4 mBq  $\cdot$  ml<sup>-1</sup> or 50  $\mu$ Ci  $\cdot$  ml<sup>-1</sup>). Pups were kept in an enclosure for 3 h to allow equilibration of injected tritiated water with body water, and a second blood sample (5 ml) was collected to determine total body water (TBW).

Blood samples were kept at about 4°C for several hours before being centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 10 min, and the plasma fraction separated. Aliquot samples (1-2 ml) were stored frozen (-20°C) until laboratory analysis were performed in May 2002 and 2003. Thawed subsample aliquots of plasma (0.1-0.2 ml) were distilled into pre-weighed scintillation vials (Ortiz et al. 1978). Vials were re-weighed to obtain the mass of distilled water ( $\pm$ 0.1 mg), and a scintillant (5 ml Pico Fluor; Canberra Packard) was added to each vial. The specific activity of tritium was counted for 10 min using a Packard Liquid Scintillation Counter (1600TR), with correction for quenching by means of the sample channels ratio and an external standard to set the counting window for the vials. Samples were analyzed in duplicate and each vial was counted twice. Subsamples of the injectant (0.2 ml) were also counted similarly and at the same time as the vials with plasma samples to determine the specific activity of the tritium injected.

Total body water was calculated from HTO dilution space using equation 5 from Bowen et al. (1998) ( $TBW = 0.003 + 0.968 \cdot H - space$ ). Lean body mass was calculated from TBW, assuming a hydration constant of 74.7% (Arnould et al. 1996b), and total body lipid (TBL) was calculated by subtracting lean body mass from total body mass.

#### 5.2.3 Milk composition

Upon recapture, lactating females equipped with TDRs were given an intramuscular injection of oxytocin (1 ml, 10 UI ml<sup>-1</sup>), and a milk sample (5-30 ml) was collected by manual expression and stored in a plastic vial at -20°C until laboratory analysis were performed (May-June 2002 and 2003). Samples from mothers of two AFS and four SFS pups that were not instrumented were also collected. Frozen milk samples were thawed at room temperature (20°C) and thoroughly mixed using a high-speed stirring rod. Water content was determined by drying subsamples (1.5-2.0 g) in preweighed aluminium foil trays for 72 h at 80°C in an oven. The dried samples were cooled in a dissicator before weighing them again to determine water content by subtraction.

Protein and lipid content were determined using the relationships between elemental carbon (C), hydrogen (H), and nitrogen (N), studied in AFS from South Georgia (Gnaiger and Bitterlich 1984, Arnould et al. 1995). Subsamples of the dried solids (200-250 mg) from water content analyses were placed in preweighed tinfoil containers, and stored in a dissicator until they were analyzed in an automatic CHN analyser (Perkin Elmer, Elemental Analyser 2400 CHN), by using a certified reference standard (supplied by Laboratory Services Division, University of Guelph, Ontario). Protein and lipid content were calculated using the measured C, H, and N proportions of dry mass following procedures outlined in Gnaiger and Bitterlich (1984), modified to account for the particular characteristics of fur seal milk (Arnould et al. 1995).

Gross energy content was calculated by multiplying the derived lipid and protein compositions by standard values of energy density of these components (lipid: 38.12  $kJ \cdot g^{-1}$ ; protein: 23.64  $kJ \cdot g^{-1}$ ) (Perrin 1958). Carbohydrates typically represent less than 0.5% of total milk volume, equivalent to less than 0.2% of gross energy in pinniped milks (Oftedal et al. 1987), so were not considered in the calculation of gross energy content.

Due to problems with the CHN analyser, protein, lipid, and associated gross energy content could not determined for 12 AFS and 13 SFS samples. Therefore, the strong negative relationship between lipid and water content (Arnould et al. 1995, Goldsworthy and Crowley 1999) was used to recalculate the lipid and gross energy content of all samples to allow for comparisons. From CHN analyses, lipid (%) could be reasonably ( $r^2 = 0.79$ , residual SE=0.04, P < 0.001) predicted from water content (%):

$$lipid = 78.44 - 82.14 \times water \tag{5.1}$$

Consequently, gross energy content was strongly related to water content ( $r^2 = 0.97$ , residual SE=0.55, P < 0.001):

$$energy = 33.44 - 0.34 \times water \tag{5.2}$$

which is nearly identical to the relationship observed in these two species at Macquarie Island (Goldsworthy and Crowley 1999), and in AFS at South Georgia (Arnould and Boyd 1995*a*). Lipid and gross energy content were recalculated for all samples using these equations for comparisons.

#### 5.2.4 Pup mass changes

Body mass changes due to maternal attendance patterns were studied by observing the attendance of mothers of marked pups, and weighing pups daily when mothers were at sea. The colonies were monitored throughout the day and study period, so care was taken to weigh pups soon after departure of the mother, and daily until her return.

Using  $t_0$  to denote the time when a pup was weighed following its mother's departure to sea, and  $t_1$  the time when it was weighed immediately before her return, respectively, mass-specific rate of mass loss (MSRML,  $\% \cdot d^{-1}$ ) was defined as:

$$MSRML = \frac{\log m_1 - \log m_0}{\Delta t} \times 100 \tag{5.3}$$

where  $m_0$  and  $m_1$  represent the mass of the pup at  $t_0$  and  $t_1$ , respectively, and  $\Delta t = t_1 - t_0$  (d).

Lactating females perform overnight foraging trips (OFTs) at La Mare aux Elephants (Luque et al. 2007*a*), which are not reliably detected by observers in the field. Therefore, mass gained by pups during maternal attendances was calculated only for pups whose mothers were instrumented. Using subscript 2 to indicate the time when a pup was weighed following its mother's departure (after  $t_1$ ) the absolute mass gained by pups during maternal attendances was defined as  $m_2 - m_1$ . Only pup mass records obtained no more than 1 d before the beginning or 1 d after the end of a maternal attendance were considered for calculation of absolute pup mass gain.

#### 5.2.5 Statistical analyses

A small proportion of marked pups (5-10%) were selected for body composition or mass changes analyses more than once throughout the study period, so a single record was chosen at random to avoid pseudoreplication and give all pups the same weight during analyses. Factors influencing variation in TBL, milk components, and mass changes were examined using linear multivariate analyses of covariance (Tabachnick and Fidell 2001). Model selection began by including all main effects and interaction terms, and subsequently removing in a stepwise manner terms that did not contribute significantly to the design, while keeping the model as simple as possible. The Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) was used to guide the decision process (Venables and Ripley 2002). All data analyses were performed with the GNU R system (R development Core Team 2007).

## 5.3 Results

#### 5.3.1 Body composition

Variation in total body lipid (TBL) stores of SFS and AFS pups was most parsimoniously accounted for by body mass, species, and sex (Table 5.1). The selected model did not include interactions between any of these factors, showing that SFS  $(F_{1,94} = 4.57, P = 0.03)$  had significantly higher TBL stores for any given body mass than AFS (Figure 5.1a). Female pups had higher TBL  $(F_{1,94} = 5.63, P = 0.02)$  than male pups of the same body mass. SFS and female pups had, on average, 1.5% and 1.2% higher TBL stores (percent body mass) than AFS and male pups, respectively (Table 5.2).

Post-moult pups had significantly higher TBL (percent of body mass, Figure 5.1b) than pre-moult pups in both species ( $F_{1,95} = 14.81$ , P < 0.001), without intersexual differences nor interactions between species and sexes affecting the comparison (ANOVA test significance of inclusion/removal of model terms P > 0.1, all cases). Although SFS pups had higher TBL than AFS throughout the study period, the difference was not significant ( $F_{1,95} = 3.58$ , P = 0.06). The same result was found if relative age, rather than moulting stage, was used as covariate.

#### 5.3.2 Milk composition

AFS and SFS milk was composed of about 40% water in both species (Table 5.3). Protein content, determined from CHN analysis of subsamples from 81 adult females, was approximately 10% (Table 5.3). Water content decreased significantly with pup relative age ( $F_{1,99} = 51.76$ , P < 0.001), and the pattern was similar for both species (species × relative age interaction:  $F_{1,99} = 0.48$ , P > 0.1). Consequently, predicted lipid and gross energy content increased during lactation (Figure 5.2a). At any given age, pups of both species consumed milk with similar lipid content, although the value was marginally higher for SFS pups ( $F_{1,99} = 3.13$ , P = 0.08). Lipid content increased by approximately 10% between pre-moult and post-moult stages of lactation (Figure 5.2b), again without interaction with species ( $F_{1,99} = 0.76$ , P > 0.1), and marginally higher values for SFS pups ( $F_{1,99} = 3.53$ , P = 0.06). Gross energy content also followed this pattern of variation with pup relative age. Therefore, data were pooled, and gross energy content of milk (kJ  $\cdot$  g<sup>-1</sup>) could be predicted from pup relative age (d) using ( $r^2 = 0.33$ , residual SE = 2.44, P < 0.001):

$$gross\ energy = 17.21 + 0.072 \times age \tag{5.4}$$

#### 5.3.3 Pup mass changes during maternal foraging cycles

Mass gained by pups during maternal attendances was not significantly related to sex, nor to body mass immediately prior to arrival of their mothers (Table 5.4). Mass gain averaged 0.85 kg during each maternal attendance, but AFS gained significantly more mass ( $F_{1,58} = 6.28$ , P = 0.02) than SFS (Table 5.5), at about 41 d relative age. Mass gain was similar for both sexes ( $F_{1,58} = 0.1$ , P > 0.1), and pup sex did not influence interspecific comparisons ( $F_{1,58} = 0.6$ , P > 0.1).

Variation in mass gain was parsimoniously accounted for by the duration of preced-

ing maternal foraging trip (FTD), species, and the interaction between these factors (Table 5.4). Thus, the overall interspecific differences in mass gain reflected the more rapid increase in mass gain per unit increase in maternal foraging trip duration in AFS (Figure 5.3). The relationship did not hold for OFTs, when mass gain could be as high as 1.12 kg, particularly among AFS (Figure 5.3). Small sample size prevented inclusion of foraging trip type in the model selection procedure, so data from OFTs were excluded from comparisons.

Absolute energy gain was calculated for all pups using equation (5.4) to predict energy content from relative age, and multiplying the result by mass gain. Energy gain increased with relative age at a similar rate for both species (Figure 5.4), but AFS gained more energy at any given age than SFS ( $F_{1,53} = 5.13$ , P = 0.03).

Study of mass-specific rate of mass loss (MSRML) during maternal foraging trips required inclusion of a species  $\times$  sex ( $F_{1,83} = 7.1$ , P < 0.01) interaction term. Interspecific differences were found only among female pups, where AFS had higher MSRML than SFS ( $F_{1,37} = 10.7$ , P = 0.002) (Table 5.5). Furthermore, female AFS pups had significantly higher MSRML than males ( $F_{1,49} = 13.4$ , P < 0.001), whereas there was no significant difference in SFS pups ( $F_{1,33} = 0.12$ , P > 0.1).

#### 5.4 Discussion

I show that, under conditions of syntopy, AFS pups: i) consume greater quantities of milk, with the difference being larger during maternal attendances preceded by long foraging trips (LFTs) lasting more than about 3 d, ii) have higher energy intake at any given age, and iii) have significantly smaller TBL stores than SFS pups of the same mass. These differences support the hypothesis stating that rate of energy expenditure is greater in lactating AFS females, and provide further evidence that physiological constraints on maternal strategy may be stronger in this species.

I made two crucial assumptions interpreting these results. First, that observed absolute mass gain is equivalent to milk intake. Other methods exist to measure milk intake in the field, such as isotopic analyses to estimate water intake (Costa et al. 1987). These methods do not necessarily provide more accurate estimates of milk intake because they tend to overestimate metabolic water production when water intake from sources other than milk is substantial, which leads to underestimation of total water intake attributed to milk (Lea et al. 2002a). Arnould et al. (1996a) showed good agreement between actual and estimated water intake in AFS pups from South Georgia. Anecdotal evidence from this study suggests that freshwater drinking does occur at Ile de la Possession on particularly warm days (>  $12^{\circ}$ C), but the extent to which it occurs is unknown. The absolute mass gain values found here are similar to those found at Iles Kerguelen (Guinet et al. 2000) and Macquarie Island (Guinet et al. 1999) for AFS, and at Amsterdam Island for SFS (Georges and Guinet 2000b). By setting strict rules on the selection of pup mass records, and using the most accurate information on maternal attendance, comparisons of milk intake using this method seem to be valid, and may be more accurate than using more expensive and time-consuming methods.

Second, I assumed that the relationship between milk lipid content and age (Figure 5.2) described the relationship for all study pups. Milk composition was not determined for all pups in the absolute mass gain study, so it is possible that the milk they consumed had a different lipid content than that predicted for their age, and thus carried a bias to the calculation of energy intake [equation (5.4)]. Milk composition is known to vary with mammary evacuation in several terrestrial mammals (Oftedal 1984), but this effect has not been found in AFS (Arnould and Boyd 1995a). All samples in this study were collected soon after females returned from their foraging trips, so any potential effect of this source of variation was probably small. Nonetheless, milk samples collected serially from individuals would allow a more rigorous analysis accounting for interindividual differences. In combination with larger samples, this would also help clarify the biological significance of the slightly larger lipid content in SFS, adjusted for pup age, which in turn influence energy intake calculations.

Removing the effect of pup age, I did not find significant differences in milk lipid, and hence, gross energy content between species. The average lipid content of AFS milk in this study appears to be slightly larger than that reported for Macquarie Island (in syntopy with SFS, Goldsworthy and Crowley 1999) and South Georgia (Arnould and Boyd 1995*a*), covering similar stages of lactation. The values for SFS milk also appear slightly larger in this study than those reported for Macquarie Island Goldsworthy and Crowley (1999), and similar to those obtained at Amsterdam Island (Georges et al. 2001), for the same period of lactation and maternal attendance characteristics. In both species, however, milk lipid content changed similarly with pup age in all studies. These comparisons are in agreement with Francis et al.'s (1998) hypothesis stating that milk characteristics reflect local for aging habitat more than latitudinal variation in marine productivity, seasonality, and predictability.

Absolute pup mass gain during maternal attendances increased with the duration of the preceding foraging trip of mothers, as has been found previously for both species (Guinet et al. 1999, Guinet and Georges 2000, Guinet et al. 2000). However, this increase was more pronounced in AFS, which was reflected in the larger average mass gained by AFS pups. Interestingly, lactating females of both species returning from OFTs provided pups with a wide range of milk quantities that did not follow the same relationship observed during LFTs. In both species, there is no obvious temporal pattern in the occurrence of OFTs (Luque et al. 2007*a*), so the large variation in pup mass gain after these trips may reflect different levels of foraging success during these trips. Absolute mass gain did not differ between sexes in both species, in agreement with substantial evidence for equality in maternal expenditure between sexes (Ono and Boness 1996, Lunn and Arnould 1997, Guinet et al. 1999, Guinet and Georges 2000, Guinet et al. 2000).

Supporting my hypothesis, AFS pups had significantly larger average pup mass (milk) gain, and they also gained more mass per day their mothers spent at sea, particularly during the longest LFTs. Total energy gain was also larger in AFS pups at any given age, confirming that the differences in mass gain were not due to uneven sampling of LFTs between species. This is consistent with evidence of greater foraging effort and access to prey patches of better quality in lactating AFS females (Luque et al. 2008). It also suggests that the rate of energy transfer from mother to pup during lactation is higher in AFS, which may reflect adaptations of each species' maternal strategy to the typical marine habitat at the core of their geographical distributions, and are more rigid aspects of the maternal strategy. Milk composition and consumption data from other otariids breeding at temperate latitudes is still scarce. However, similar low values were found in Australian fur seals (Arctocephalus pusillus doriferus (Wood Jones, 1925)) in southern Australia (Arnould and Hindell 2001, 2002), and SFS in Amsterdam Island (Georges and Guinet 2000b, Guinet and Georges 2000) (10 mo lactation, both species), compared to subpolar AFS and northern fur seals (Donohue et al. 2002), has been attributed to lower marine productivity at those sites. Thus, my study of this aspect of maternal strategy is congruent with the productivity-seasonality hypothesis (Gentry et al. 1986), and supports a recent analysis (Schulz and Bowen 2005).

I found also that MSRML was higher in AFS pups, but the difference existed only among females. Furthermore, females had higher MSRML than males only among AFS pups, suggesting that previously reported differences in fasting metabolism between sexes (Arnould et al. 1996*a*) may be species-specific. Indeed, MSRML did not differ between sexes in SFS at Amsterdam Island (Beauplet et al. 2003). Similar to the results shown here, MSRML was higher for females than males among AFS at lles Kerguelen (Guinet et al. 2000). In both species, female pups seem to rely more heavily on protein catabolism when fasting than male pups, despite having relatively larger fat stores (Arnould et al. 1996*a*, Beauplet et al. 2003). If this intersexual difference is present in both species, why is MSRML higher in females only in AFS pups? Mass-specific resting and field metabolic rates are higher in female AFS pups, compared to conspecific male pups (Arnould et al. 2001). Field metabolic rate did not differ significantly between sexes in SFS (Beauplet et al. 2003), but studies comparing resting metabolic rate between sexes in this species await more detailed analyses (Arnould et al. 2003). The answer to this question may lie in physiological adaptations to the extremely long, by otariid standards, fasting durations experienced by SFS pups (Georges and Guinet 2000*b*, Beauplet et al. 2003), forcing females to adopt a strategy similar to that of males.

This study did not cover the entire lactation period of SFS, but data from two lactating females that were monitored during July and August 2003, showed foraging trips lasting more than a month in both cases (Luque et al. 2007a), which does not differ from findings at Amsterdam Island (Georges et al. 2000b, Beauplet et al. 2004). Therefore, SFS pups at Ile de la Possession may experience similar increases in fasting duration throughout lactation as those observed at lower latitudes. The presence of two different patterns of MSRML between syntopic populations of these species suggests that they are more rigid aspects of pup growth strategy. The differences in body composition reported here confirm those presented previously with a smaller sample size during February 2002 (Arnould et al. 2003), and are consistent with differences in pattern of physical growth over the initial 100 d of lactation (Luque

et al. 2007b). My analyses suggest that, compared to SFS, AFS pups adopt a growth strategy that requires higher levels of maternal energy expenditure that is used for proportionally greater development of lean body mass, in preparation for weaning at a younger age.

Some aspects of maternal and pup growth strategies (maternal expenditure and pup fasting metabolism) in otariids may have evolved in response to weaning at different times of marine productivity cycles. Whereas AFS pups wean at the time of lowest productivity, SFS pups do so during the following peak in productivity. Therefore, there may be stronger selection for lean body mass growth in AFS during their briefer lactation to allow for adequate physical and physiological maturation needed for successful foraging at a time of reduced prey availability. Conversely, there may be stronger selection for development of larger fat stores in SFS pups during summer, in preparation for prolonged periods of fasting in winter. Lean body mass (muscle) growth may become more important for SFS during winter, as weaning approaches during a period of increasing prey availability. Although this seems intuitive, comparative studies of species with differing lactation durations at syntopic sites facilitate interpretation and highlight the importance of constraints acting on mothers vs. those acting on offspring.

Table 5.1. Changes in Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) and deviance during stepwise procedure for selecting model of variation in pup total body lipid stores. The procedure began with a model including body mass, species, sex, and all their interactions. The terms shown produced significant reductions in AIC, so were not retained. The final model included additive effects of body mass, species, and sex

Effect tested	Deviance	Residual df	Residual deviance	AIC
Full model		90	18.3	-148.5
body mass $\times$ species $\times$ sex	0.32	91	18.6	-148.7
body mass $\times$ species	< 0.001	92	18.6	-150.7
$species \times sex$	0.19	93	18.8	-151.7
body mass $\times$ sex	0.20	94	19.0	-152.7

**Table 5.2.** Total body lipid stores (relative to body mass) were higher in subantarctic (SFS) than in Antarctic (AFS) fur seal pups

Species	Sex	N	Relative age (d)	Body mass (kg)	Total body lipid (%)
AFS	Females Males	23 24	$35.3 \pm 7.86 \\ 40.3 \pm 7.65$	$8.5 \pm 0.34 \\ 9.6 \pm 0.49$	$26.3 \pm 0.01 \\ 25.9 \pm 0.01$
	Both	47	$37.8 \pm 5.39$	$9.0\pm0.31$	$26.1\pm0.008^{\mathtt{a}}$
SFS	Females Males	28 23	$\begin{array}{c} 48.2 \pm 4.77 \\ 42.1 \pm 5.72 \end{array}$	$7.3 \pm 0.32 \\ 8.7 \pm 0.44$	$28.5 \pm 0.01 \\ 26.5 \pm 0.01$
	Both	51	$45.4\pm3.67$	$8.0\pm0.28$	$27.6\pm0.008^{\rm a}$

<sup>a</sup> Significant interspecific differences ( $F_{1,94} = 4.57$ , P = 0.03), accounting for differences between sexes ( $F_{1,94} = 5.63$ , P = 0.02)

Table 5.3. Composition of milk from Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seal females, at 36.9 d (range: 9–87) and 37.3 d (range: 0–82) of lactation, respectively

Component	AFS $(N = 51)$	SFS $(N = 51)$	F-ratio	Р
Water (%)	$41.2\pm1.20$	$38.6 \pm 1.26$	2.22	0.14
Lipid (%) <sup>a</sup>	$44.6\pm0.97$	$46.7 \pm 1.03$		_
Protein (%) <sup>b</sup>	$9.8\pm0.59$	$9.7\pm0.61$	0.01	0.93
Gross energy $(kJ \cdot g^{-1})^c$	$19.5\pm0.40$	$20.3\pm0.43$	_	_

<sup>a</sup> Determined from relationship between water and lipid content of subsamples (AFS: 39, SFS: 38) using an empirical stoichiometric relationship between elemental carbon (C), hydrogen (H), and nitrogen (N) (Arnould et al. 1995). ANOVA not shown; same as for water

<sup>b</sup> Obtained from empirical stoichiometric relationships between C, H, and N in subsamples (a)

<sup>c</sup> Calculated from equation equation (5.2), so ANOVA not shown; same as for water

Table 5.4. Changes in Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) and deviance during stepwise procedure for selecting model of variation in mass gained during maternal attendances. The procedure began with a model including the duration of the preceding maternal foraging trip (FTD), species, sex, initial mass  $(m_1)$ , and all their interactions. The terms shown produced significant reductions in AIC, so were not retained. The final model included additive effects of FTD, species, and interaction between species and FTD

Effect tested	Deviance	Residual df	Residual deviance	AIC
Full model		34	4.41	-79.92
FTD  imes species  imes sex	0.024	35	4.43	-81.69
FTD  imes sex	0.025	36	4.46	-83.45
$m_1$	0.173	37	4.63	-83.81
$species \times sex$	0.186	38	4.82	-84.11
sex	< 0.01	39	4.82	-86.10

Table 5.5. Mass gained during maternal attendances, and mass-specific rate of mass loss (MSRML) during maternal foraging trips, by Antarctic (AFS) and subntarctic (SFS) fur seal pups

Species	Sex		Absolute mass gain (kg)			MSRML (%)			
		N	Rel. age (d)	Mean±SE	N	Rel. age (d)	$Mean \pm SE$		
AFS	Females	14	$37.9\pm6.31$	$0.99 \pm 0.118$	23	$33.6 \pm 4.41$	$3.56\pm0.190^{\rm b}$		
	Males	20	$45.0\pm5.45$	$0.95\pm0.103$	28	$38.5 \pm 4.48$	$2.60\pm0.179$		
	Both	34	$42.1\pm4.11$	$0.96\pm0.076^a$	51	$36.3\pm3.15$	$3.04 \pm 0.146$		
SFS	Females	18	$42.7\pm4.70$	$0.61 \pm 0.107$	16	$51.6\pm9.62$	$2.61\pm0.219^{\rm b}$		
	Males	8	$36.9\pm7.80$	$0.77 \pm 0.209$	19	$35.1\pm4.80$	$2.71\pm0.193$		
	Both	26	$40.9 \pm 3.99$	$0.66\pm0.097^a$	35	$42.6\pm5.22$	$2.67\pm0.143$		

<sup>a,b</sup> Significant interspecific differences:  $F_{1,58} = 6.28$ , (P = 0.02) and  $F_{1,37} = 10.7$  (P = 0.002), respectively

5 Pup physiological development and growth dynamics



Figure 5.1. a) Female pups had higher total body lipid (TBL) stores, relative to body mass, than male pups in Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals. Accounting for differences between sexes, SFS pups had higher TBL stores than AFS (summary in Table 5.2). b) Post-moult pups had significantly higher TBL (as percent of body mass), compared to pre-moult animals, but interspecific differences were not significant. Shape of the box-percentile represents all quantiles from first through 99th, the mean (circle), median, and 25th and 75th quantiles (solid vertical reference lines) of the distributions



Figure 5.2. a) Lipid content (%) of milk increased with relative pup age in AFS and SFS females, without significant differences between species (summary of milk composition in Table 5.3). b) Milk secreted during the post-moult period had significantly higher lipid content than during the pre-moult period for both species. Shape of the box-percentile represents all quantiles from first through 99th, the mean (circle), median, and 25th and 75th quantiles (solid vertical reference lines) of the distributions







Figure 5.4. The absolute energy (from milk) gained by AFS and SFS pups during a maternal attendance period increased with relative age. At any given age, AFS pups gained more energy than their congeners. Energy gain was calculated from relationship between milk gross energy content and relative age for both species combined

Part III

Synthesis
I compared several aspects of maternal and pup growth strategies in two closely related, and morphologically similar, otariid species differing primarily in lactation duration and global distribution. My main motivation was to address prevailing weaknesses in interspecific comparisons attempting to explain variation in lactation duration among otariids, namely the inability to control for confounding effects of differences in environment. Therefore, I took advantage of a rare situation where species with widely differing lactation duration and global distribution breed sympatrically. Local foraging habitat was recognized as a major determinant of foraging behaviour of females during lactation (Francis et al. 1998), but are females constrained by different lactation duration? Offspring influence the physiology and behaviour of their mothers and viceversa, so these interactions are obviously an important part of the environment in which lactation occurs, and cannot easily be disentangled from other influences. At the expense of reducing the number of species in comparisons, I used a system where differences in physical environment are minimized to provide insights into mechanisms driving variation in maternal strategies in otariids.

In Part I of my thesis, I compared the major aspects of foraging ecology between lactating Antarctic (AFS), and subantarctic fur seal (SFS) females. I showed that:

- Lactating females of both species fed on the same myctophid fish prey over largely overlapping areas, with minor but important differences in the proportion of species consumed.
- 2. In common with other sites where both species breed sympatrically, and in contrast with allopatric sites, lactating females displayed a bimodal distribution in foraging trip duration, with females spending greater foraging effort in overnight foraging trips (OFTs).
- 3. SFS females made longer long foraging trips (LFTs), more frequent OFTs, and

spent a smaller proportion of their foraging cycle (attendance and foraging trip) at sea. Furthermore, they showed less diel variation in diving behaviour and effort, suggesting that they followed the nycthymeral migrations of their prey to a smaller extent than AFS. Diving occurred almost exclusively at night in both species, but SFS females dove deeper and for longer periods.

- 4. Species differed in physiological constraints when foraging during lactation, as inferred from the greater behavioural aerobic dive limit (ADL) in SFS, which may explain the longer and deeper diving observed in this species. However, AFS females had higher propensity to dive anaerobically.
- 5. Structure of prey patches, as revealed by temporal structure of diving bouts, suggests that AFS females exploited more patches per unit time, and remained in them for briefer periods of time. Considering the differences in behavioural ADL in an index of patch quality (IPQ), AFS females appeared to forage in patches of better quality, at the cost of greater foraging effort<sup>1</sup>.

In Part II, I considered aspects of the maternal strategy related to the delivery of energy (via milk) to offspring, and the allocation of that energy into growth. To summarize these findings:

- Body shape differed significantly between species from birth. Growth during the first 100 d of lactation involved the acquisition of a longer, more slender body with larger foreflippers in AFS.
- 2. Allometric analysis showed that body shape differences present at birth were exacerbated during growth. AFS pups seemed to reach adult body shape faster than SFS pups, suggesting that they are physically more mature at 100 d.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Section 3.1 was a necessary technical development to allow the comparisons in the following section (summarized here) to be done more rigourously than was possible with previously available methods.

- 3. AFS pups consumed greater quantities of milk, both on absolute terms, and adjusted for differences due to maternal foraging trip duration. Furthermore, milk composition did not differ between species, so that total energy intake was significantly higher in AFS at any given age.
- 4. SFS pups had proportionally larger total body lipid reserves, and had lower resting and daily metabolic rates than AFS pups. Oxygen storage capacity also appeared to be smaller in SFS pups of the same age.

Globally, these results show evidence of flexibility in aspects of maternal and pup growth strategies in response to features of the foraging habitat, and of rigidity in other aspects that might reflect each species' evolutionary history under different regimes of environmental variation. Across most otariids, lactation duration is significantly related to latitude (Schulz and Bowen 2005), supporting an early hypothesis stating that maternal strategies follow regimes of marine productivity, seasonality, and predictability (Gentry et al. 1986). The analyses I presented elaborate on Francis et al.'s (1998) suggestion that local habitat is a major influence on particular characteristics of maternal foraging behaviour, adding that pup growth strategies may be more inflexible than those of their mothers, further constraining how lactating females forage. Pups' growth may be attuned to weaning at different ages without first-hand knowledge of the environment, which their mothers possess, so their physiology is likely to be a stronger influence on their mothers' behaviour than viceversa.

I did not find evidence of extensive ecological segregation between AFS and SFS. Foraging behaviour and pup growth rates indicated that environmental conditions during the study were favourable for both fur seal species. Although there are no abundance estimates for these species at Iles Crozet after 1995, new colonies are

detected frequently at Ile de la Possession since 2004 (CEBC, unpublished data). Furthermore, AFS and SFS are thought to breed sympatrically only recently in evolutionary history (Wynen et al. 2000), so opportunities to develop extensive ecological segregation between them may have been limited at these sites under prevailing favourable environmental conditions, and longer periods of coexistence may be required for its emergence.

A major feature of foraging behaviour in both species at Ile de la Possession is the presence of two types of foraging trip. This was previously reported only at Macquarie Island (Goldsworthy 1999), although it may also occur at Marion Island with more extensive sampling (M. Bester, pers. comm.). It has not been reported at allopatric sites of either species (e.g., Amsterdam Island for SFS, or South Georgia for AFS). Duration of LFTs were at the lower end of values reported for both species. Thus, these aspects of maternal strategy display great plasticity, and appear to be a response to local foraging conditions around the islands. Recent studies (Venables et al. 2007, and references therein) have highlighted the significance of a regular, annual, phytoplankton bloom occurring just north of Ile de la Possession (Figure 1.6), where both fur seal species concentrated their foraging activity (Figure 3, Bailleul et al. 2005). This bloom may be a predictable source of food for plankton and myctophid fish, providing in turn prey availability for fur seals close to the colony.

These observations showed the importance of considering variation in diving behaviour at fine scales throughout foraging trips because they revealed important ecological differences between species that were not apparent at the scale of entire foraging trips. Previous comparisons between sympatric populations of these species at Macquarie and Marion Islands have not shown any major differences at the scale of foraging trips (Bester and Bartlett 1990, Robinson et al. 2002, Kirkman et al. 2003, Bailleul et al. 2005). If actual (rather than behavioural) ADL is greater in SFS

across populations, we might expect to find similar differences between species at those sites, using finer scales of analysis. ADL is a fundamental physiological constraint in diving vertebrates (Kooyman 1989), and affects their decisions, even in the same foraging habitat (Mori and Boyd 2004b). Therefore, accurate measurements of actual ADL in both species are required to elucidate the physiological basis of the behavioural differences observed in this study. Regardless of the precise mechanism, this difference had important repercussions for the foraging behaviour of fur seals, so is a more rigid aspect of maternal strategy.

These results show evidence that the pattern of physical growth and maturation is faster in AFS, and that it involves fast development of lean body mass (muscle). AFS pups adopted a growth strategy that requires larger maternal expenditure and effort (Chapter 3), regardless of similarities in local foraging conditions experienced by their mothers. These differences may reflect weaning at different times of marine productivity cycles. Whereas AFS pups wean at the time of lowest productivity, SFS pups do so during the following peak in productivity. Therefore, there may be stronger selection for lean body mass growth in AFS during their briefer lactation to allow for adequate physical and physiological maturation needed for successful foraging at a time of reduced prey availability (Burns et al. 2004). Conversely, there may be stronger selection for development of larger fat stores in SFS pups during summer, in preparation for prolonged periods of fasting in winter. Whether lean body mass (muscle) growth is as important for SFS close to weaning as it was for AFS during summer is more difficult to predict. Weaning in SFS occurs in fall during a period of increasing prey availability, so the trade-off between lean body mass vs. fat stores may differ between species. Research on the development of foraging skills by pups of both species, and of the weaning process, is required to clarify what these trade-offs might be.

- Abrams PA (1983). The theory of limiting similarity. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 14:359–376
- Alatalo R, Gustafsson L, Lundberg A (1984). Why do young passerine birds have shorter wings than older birds? Ibis 126:410–415
- Anilkumar N, Luis AJ, Somayajulu YK, Babu VR, Dash MK, Pednekar SM, Babu KN, Sudhakar M, Pandey PC (2006). Fronts, water contents and heat content variability in the Western Indian sector of the Southern Ocean during austral summer 2004. J Mar Syst 63:20-34
- Arendt JD (1997). Adaptive intrinsic growth rates: an integration across taxa. Q Rev Biol 72:149–177
- Arnbom T, Fedak MA, Boyd IL (1997). Factors affecting maternal expenditure in southern elephant seals during lactation. Ecology 78:471–483
- Arnould JPY (1997). Lactation and the cost of pup-rearing in Antarctic fur seals. Mar Mamm Sci 13:516-526
- Arnould JPY, Boyd IL (1995a). Inter- and intra-annual variation in milk composition in Antarctic fur seals (Arctocephalus gazella). Physiol Zool 68:1164–1180
- Arnould JPY, Boyd IL (1995b). Temporal patterns of milk production in Antarctic fur seals (Arctocephalus gazella). J Zool (Lond) 237:1–12

- Arnould JPY, Boyd IL, Clarke A (1995). A simplified method for determining the gross chemical composition of pinniped milk samples. Can J Zool 73:404-410
- Arnould JPY, Boyd IL, Socha DG (1996a). Milk consumption and growth efficiency in Antarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus gazella) pups. Can J Zool 74:254-266
- Arnould JPY, Boyd IL, Speakman JR (1996b). Measuring the body composition of Antarctic fur seals (Arctocephalus gazella): Validation of hydrogen isotope dilution. Physiol Zool 69:93-116
- Arnould JPY, Green JA, Rawlins DR (2001). Fasting metabolism in Antarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus gazella) pups. Comp Biochem Physiol 129:829–841
- Arnould JPY, Hindell MA (1999). The composition of Australian fur seal (Arctocephalus pusillus doriferus) milk throughout lactation. Physiol Biochem Zool 72:605-612
- Arnould JPY, Hindell MA (2001). Dive behaviour, foraging locations, and maternal attendance patterns of Australian fur seals (*Arctocephalus pusillus doriferus*). Can J Zool 79:35–48
- Arnould JPY, Hindell MA (2002). Milk consumption, body composition and preweaning growth rates of Australian fur seal (Arctocephalus pusillus doriferus) pups. J Zool (Lond) 256:351-359
- Arnould JPY, Luque SP, Guinet C, Costa DP, Kingston J, Shaffer SA (2003). The comparative energetics and growth strategies of sympatric Antarctic and Subantarctic fur seal pups at Îles Crozet. J Exp Biol 206:4497–4506

Arntz W, Pearcy WG, Trillmich F, Ono KA (1991). Biological consequences of the

- 1982-83 El Niño in the Eastern Pacific. In: Trillmich F (ed.) Pinnipeds and El Niño: Responses to environmental stress. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp 22–44
- Atchley WR (1984). Ontogeny, timing of development, and genetic variancecovariances structure. Am Nat 123:519-540
- Baayen RH, Davidson DJ, Bates DM (2008). Mixed-effects modeling with crossed random effects for subjects and items. J Mem Lang 59:390-412
- Bailleul F, Luque SP, Dubroca L, Arnould JPY, Guinet C (2005). Differences in foraging strategy and maternal behaviour between two sympatric fur seal species at the Crozet Islands. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 293:273–282
- Baker JD, Fowler CH, Antonelis GA (1994). Body weight and growth of juvenile male northern Fur Seals, *Callorhinus ursinus*. Mar Mamm Sci 10:151–162
- Ballance LT, Pitman RL, Reilly SB (1997). Seabird community structure along a productivity gradient: importance of competition and energetic constraint. Ecology 78:1502–1518
- Bartholomew GA (1970). A model for the evolution of pinniped polygyny. Evolution 24:546–559
- Beauplet G, Dubroca L, Guinet C, Cherel Y, Dabin W, Gagne C, Hindell M (2004).
  Foraging ecology of subantarctic fur seals Arctocephalus tropicalis breeding on Amsterdam Island: seasonal changes in relation to maternal characteristics and pup growth. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 273:211-225
- Beauplet G, Guinet C, Arnould JPY (2003). Body composition changes, metabolic fuel use, and energy expenditure during extended fasting in subantarctic fur

seal (Arctocephalus tropicalis) pups at Amsterdam Island. Physiol Biochem Zool 76:262–270

- Beck CA, Bowen WD, Iverson SJ (2000). Seasonal changes in buoyancy and diving behaviour of adult grey seals. J Exp Biol 203:2323-2330
- Belant JL, Kielland K, Follmann EH, Adams LG (2006). Interspecific resource partitioning in sympatric ursids. Ecol Appl 16:2333–2343
- Bester MN (1987). Subantarctic fur seal, Arctocephalus tropicalis, at Gough Island (Tristan Da Cunha group). In: Croxall JP, Gentry RL (eds.) Status, biology, and ecology of fur seals, NOAA Technical Report NMFS, Vol. 1, pp 57–60
- Bester MN, Bartlett PA (1990). Attendance behaviour of Antarctic and subantarctic fur seal females at Marion Island. Antarct Sci 2:309–312
- Bester MN, Laycock PA (1985). Cephalopod prey of the Subantarctic fur seal, Arctocephalus tropicalis, at Gough Island. In: Siegfried WR, Condy PR, Laws RM (eds.) Antarctic nutrient cycles and food webs. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp 551-554
- Bester MN, Van Jaarsveld AS (1994). Sex-specific and latitudinal variance in postnatal growth of the Subantarctic fur seal (*Arctocephalus tropicalis*). Can J Zool 72:1126–1133
- Bester MN, Wilkinson IS (1989). Field identification of Antarctic and Subantarctic fur seal pups. S Afr J Wildl Res 19:140–144
- Bininda-Emonds ORP, Gittleman JL, Purvis A (1999). Building large tree by combining phylogenetic information: a complete phylogeny of the extant Carnivora (Mammalia). Biol Rev 74:143–175

Birch LC (1957). The meanings of competition. Am Nat 91:5-18

- Boltnev AI, York AE (2001). Maternal investment in northern fur seals (*Callorhinus ursinus*): interrelationships among mothers' age, size, parturition date, offspring size and sex ratios. J Zool (Lond) 254:219–228
- Bonadonna F, Lea MA, Guinet C (2000). Foraging routes of Antarctic fur seals (Arctocephalus gazella) investigated by the concurrent use of satellite tracking and time-depth recorders. Polar Biol 23:149–159
- Boness DJ, Bowen WD (1996). The evolution of maternal care in pinnipeds. Bioscience 46:645-654

Bonner N (1999). Seals and sea lions of the world. Blandford, London

- Bonner WN (1984). Lactation strategies in pinnipeds: problems for a marine mammalian group. Symp Zool Soc Lond 51:253-272
- Bonner WN, Harrison RJ (1981). Southern fur seals Arctocephalus. In: Ridgway SH (ed.) Handbook of Marine Mammals: The Walrus, Sea Lions, Fur Seals and Sea Otter. Academic Press, San Diego, CA, Vol. 1, pp 161–208
- Bost CA, Georges JY, Guinet C, Cherel Y, Pütz K, Charrasin JB, Handrich Y, Zorn T, Lage J, Le Maho Y (1997). Foraging habitat and food intake of satellite-tracked king penguins during the austral summer at Crozet Archipelago. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 150:21-33
- Bost CA, Zorn T, Le Maho Y, Duhamel G (2002). Feeding of diving predators and diel vertical migration of prey: king penguins' diet versus trawl sampling at Kerguelen Islands. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 227:51-61

- Boveng PL, Hiruki LM, Schwartz MK, Bengtson JL (1998). Population growth of Antarctic fur seals: limitation by a top predator, the leopard seal? Ecology 79:2863-2877
- Bowen WD (1991). Behavioural ecology of pinniped neonates. In: Renouf D (ed.) The behaviour of pinnipeds. Chapman and Hall, New York, NY, pp 66–127
- Bowen WD, Boness DJ, Iverson SI (1998). Estimation of total body water in harbor seals: how useful is bioelectrical impedance analysis? Mar Mamm Sci 14:765–777
- Bowen WD, Boness DJ, Iverson SJ (1999). Diving behaviour of lactating harbour seals and their pups during maternal foraging trips. Can J Zool 77:978–988
- Boyd IL (1993). Pup production and distribution of breeding Antarctic fur seals (Arctocephalus gazella) at South Georgia. Antarct Sci 5:17-24
- Boyd IL (1996). Temporal scales of foraging in a marine predator. Ecology 77:426–434
- Boyd IL (1997). The behavioural and physiological ecology of diving. Trends Ecol Evol 12:213-217
- Boyd IL (1998). Time and energy constraints in pinniped lactation. Am Nat 152:717– 728
- Boyd IL (1999). Foraging and provisioning in Antarctic fur seals: interannual variability in time-energy budgets. Behav Ecol 10:198–208
- Boyd IL, Arnould JPY, Barton T, Croxall JP (1994). Foraging behaviour of Antarctic fur seals during periods of contrasting prey abundance. J Anim Ecol 63:703-713
- Boyd IL, Croxall JP (1992). Diving behaviour of lactating Antarctic fur seals. Can J Zool 70:919–928

Boyd IL, Lunn NJ, Barton T (1991). Time budgets and foraging characteristics of lactating Antarctic fur seals. J Anim Ecol 60:577–592

Brody S (1964). Bionergetics and growth. Darien, Connecticut: Hafner Press

- Burns JM (1999). The development of diving behavior in juvenile Weddell seals: pushing physiological limits in order to survive. Can J Zool 77:737–747
- Burns JM, Castellini MA (1996). Physiological and behavioral determinants of the aerobic dive limit in Weddell seal (*Leptonychotes weddelli*) pups. J Comp Physiol
  B Biochem Syst Environ Physiol 166:473-483
- Burns JM, Clark CA, Richmond JP (2004). The impact of lactation strategy on physiological development of juvenile marine mammals: implications for the transition to independent foraging. In: Proceedings of the Third International Conference of Comparative Physiology and Biochemistry, Kwa-Zulu, Natal, South Africa, pp 341–350
- Caley MJ, Schwarzkopf L (2004). Complex growth rate evolution in a latitudinally widespread species. Evolution 58:862–869
- Caraco T (1980). On foraging time allocation in a stochastic environment. Ecology 61:119-128
- Carbone C, Houston AI (1996). The optimal allocation of time over the dive cycle: an approach using aerobic and anaerobic respiration. Anim Behav 51:1247–1255
- Carrier DR (1983). Postnatal ontogeny of musculo-skeletal system in the black-tailed jack rabbit (*Lepus californicus*). J Zool (Lond) 201:27–55

- Casaux R, Baroni A, Arrighetti F, Ramón A, Carlini A (2003). Geographical variation in the diet of the Antarctic fur seal *Arctocephalus gazella*. Polar Biol 26:753-758
- Catard A, Weimerskirch H, Cherel Y (2000). Exploitation of distant Antarctic waters and close shelf-break waters by white-chinned petrels rearing chicks. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 194:249–261
- Charnov EL (1976). Optimal foraging, the marginal value theorem. Theor Popul Biol 9:129-136
- Cherel Y, Guinet C, Tremblay Y (1997). Fish prey of Antarctic fur seals Arctocephalus gazella at Ile de Croy, kerguelen. Polar Biol 17:87–90
- Cherel Y, Ridoux V (1992). Prey species and nutritive value of food fed during the summer to king penguin Aptenodytes patagonica chicks at Possession Island, Crozet Archipelago. Ibis 134:118–127
- Cherel Y, Ridoux V, Rodhouse PG (1996). Fish and squid in the diet of king penguin chicks, Aptenodytes patagonicus, during winter at sub-antarctic Crozet Islands. Mar Biol 126:559–570
- Cherel Y, Weimerskirch H (1999). Spawning cycle of onycoteuthid squids in the southern Indian Ocean: new information from seabird predators. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 188:93-104
- Clarke MR (1986). A handbook for the identification of squid beaks. Clarendon Press, Oxford

Clutton-Brock T (1991a). Parental investment. In: Krebs JR, Davies NB (eds.)

Behavioural ecology: an evolutionary approach, Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, pp 234–262

- Clutton-Brock TH (1991b). The evolution of parental care. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey, NJ
- Conover WJ, Johnson ME, Johnson MM (1981). A comparative study of tests for homogeneity of variances, with applications to the Outer Continental Shelf Bidding Data. Technometrics 23:351–361
- Costa DP (1991). Reproductive and foraging energetics of pinnipeds: Implications for life history patterns. In: Renouf D (ed.) The behaviour of pinnipeds. Chapman and Hall, New York, NY, pp 300–344
- Costa DP (1993). The relationship between reproductive and foraging energetics and the evolution of the Pinnipedia. Symp Zool Soc Lond 66:293-314
- Costa DP, Croxall JP, Duck CD (1989). Foraging energetics of Antarctic Fur Seals in relation to changes in prey availability. Ecology 70:596–606
- Costa DP, Gales NJ (2000). Foraging energetics and diving behavior of lactating New Zealand sea lions, *Phocarctos hookeri*. J Exp Biol 203:3655–3665
- Costa DP, Gales NJ (2003). Energetics of a benthic diver: seasonal foraging ecology of the Australian sea lion, *Neophoca cinerea*. Ecol Monogr 73:27–43
- Costa DP, Gentry RL, Kooyman GL (1986). Free-ranging energetics of northern fur seals. In: Gentry RL, Kooyman GL (eds.) Fur Seals: maternal strategies on land and at sea. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey, NJ, pp 79–101

Costa DP, Kuhn CE, Weise MJ, Shaffer SA, Arnould JPY (2004). When does

physiology limit the foraging behaviour of freely diving mammals? Int Congr Ser 1275:359–366

- Costa DP, Trillmich F, Croxall JP (1988). Intraspecific allometry of neonatal size in the Antarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus gazella). Behav Ecol Sociobiol 22:361-364
- Costa DP, Williams TM (1999). Marine mammal energetics. In: Reynolds III JE (ed.) Biology of marine mammals. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, D.
  C. 176-217
- Costa DP, Worthy GAJ, Castellini MA (1987). Isotopic methods for quantifying material and energy intake of free-ranging marine mammals. In: Huntley AC (ed.) Approaches to Marine Mammal Energetics. Society for Marine Mammalogy, Lawrence, KS, pp 43–66
- Cowlishaw G (1999). Ecological and social determinants of spacing behaviour in desert baboon groups. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 45:67–77
- Creighton GK, Strauss RE (1986). Comparative patterns of growth and development in cricetine rodents and the evolution of ontogeny. Evolution 40:94–106
- Croll DA, Tershy BR (1998). Penguins, fur seals, and fishing: prey requirements and potential competition in the South Shetland Islands, Antarctica. Polar Biol 19:365-374
- Croxall JP, Everson I, Kooyman GL, Ricketts C, Davis RW (1985). Fur seal diving behaviour in relation to vertical distribution of krill. J Anim Ecol 54:1–8
- Daneri GA (1996). Fish diet of the Antarctic fur seal, Arctocephalus gazella, in summer, at Stranger Point, King George Island, South Shetland Islands. Polar Biol 16:353-355

- Daneri GA, Coria NR (1992). The diet of Antarctic fur seals, Arctocephalus gazella, during the austral summer-autumn period at Mossman Peninsula, Laurie Island (South Orkneys). Polar Biol 11:565–566
- Dietrich B, Wehner R (2003). Sympatry and allopatry in two desert ant sister species: how do *Cataglyphis bicolor* and *C. savignyi* coexist? Oecologia 136:63-72
- Dodson P (1975). Relative growth in two sympatric species of Sceloporus. Am Nat 94:421-450
- Doidge DW, Croxall JP (1985). Diet and energy budget of the Antarctic fur seal, Arctocephalus gazella, at South Georgia. In: Siegfried WR, Condy PR, Laws RM (eds.) Antarctic nutrient cycles and food webs. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp 543-550
- Donohue MJ, Costa DP, Goebel E, Antonelis GA, Baker JD (2002). Milk intake and energy expenditure of free-ranging northern fur seal, *Callorhinus ursinus*, pups. Physiol Biochem Zool 75:3–18
- Donohue MJ, Costa DP, Goebel ME, Baker JD (2000). The ontogeny of metabolic rate and thermoregulatory capabilities of northern fur seal, *Callorhinus ursinus*, pups in air and water. J Exp Biol 203:1003–1016
- Drent RH, Daan S (1980). The prudent parent: energetic adjustments in avian breeding. Ardea 68:225-252
- Duhamel G (1997). The ichthyofauna of the French Southern Indian Ocean Islands. Cybium 21:147–168
- Duhamel G (1998). The pelagic fish community of the Polar Frontal Zone off the Kerguelen Islands. In: di Prisco G, Pisano E, Clarke A (eds.) Fishes of Antarctica.A biological overview, Springer-Verlag, Italia, pp 63-74

- Duhamel G, Koubbi P, Ravier C (2000). Day and night mesopelagic fish assemblages off the Kerguelen Islands. Polar Biol 23:106–112
- Farley SD, Robbins CT (1995). Lactation, hibernation, and mass dynamics of American black bears and grizzly bears. Can J Zool 73:2216–2222
- Fauchald P (1999). Foraging in a hierarchical patch system. Am Nat 153:603-613
- Fauchald P, Tveraa T (2003). Using first-passage time in the analysis of arearestricted search and habitat selection. Ecology 84:282-288
- Fedigan LM, Rose LM (1995). Interbirth interval variation in three sympatric species of neotropical monkeys. Am J Primatol 37:9–24
- Feldkamp SD (1987). Swimming in the California sea lion: morphometrics, drag, and energetics. J Exp Biol 131:117-135
- Ferreira SM, Bester MN (1999). Chemical immobilization, physical restraint, and stomach lavaging of fur seals (Arctocephalus spp.) at Marion Island. S Afr J Wildl Res 29:55–61
- Fish FE (1998). Comparative kinematics and hydrodyamics of odontocete cetaceans: morphological and ecological correlates with swimming performance. J Exp Biol 201:2867–2877
- Fish FE, Hurley J, Costa DP (2003). Maneuverability by the sea lion Zalophus californianus: turning performance of an unstable body design. J Exp Biol 206:667– 674
- Fish FE, Innes S, Ronald K (1988). Kinematics and estimated thrust production in swimming harp and ringed seals. J Exp Biol 137:157–173

- Fish FE, Nicastro AJ (2003). Aquatic turning performance by the whirligig beetle: constraints on maneuverability by a rigid biological system. J Exp Biol 206:1649– 1656
- Fisher DO, Blomberg SP, Owens IPF (2002). Convergent maternal care strategies in ungulates and macropods. Evolution 56:167-176
- Fortin D (2002). Optimal searching behaviour: the value of sampling information. Ecol Model 153:279–290
- Francis J, Boness D, Ochoa-Acuña H (1998). A protracted foraging and attendance cycle in female Juan Fernández fur seals. Mar Mamm Sci 14:552–574
- Frid A, Heithaus MR, Dill LM (2007). Dangerous dive cycles and the proverbial ostrich. Oikos 116:893–902
- Gales NJ, Costa DP (1997). The Australian sea lion: a review of an unusual life history. In: Hindell MA, Kemper C (eds.) Marine mammal research in the Southern hemisphere: status, ecology and medicine. Surrey Beatty & Sons, Chipping Norton, Australia, Vol. 1, pp 78–87
- Gales R, Pemberton D (1994). Diet of the Australian fur seal in Tasmania. Aust J Mar Freshw Res 45:653-664
- Garland T, Adolph SC (1994). Why not to do two-species comparative studies: limitations on inferring adaptation. Physiol Zool 67:797-828
- Gentry RL (1998). Behavior and Ecology of the northern fur seal. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey, NJ
- Gentry RL, Costa DP, Croxall JP, David JHM, Davis RW, Kooyman GL, Majluf P, McCann TS, Trillmich F (1986). Synthesis and conclusions. In: Gentry RL,

- Kooyman GL (eds.) Fur Seals: maternal strategies on land and at sea. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey, NJ, pp 220–264
- Gentry RL, Kooyman GL (1986a). Fur Seals: maternal strategies on land and at sea. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey, NJ
- Gentry RL, Kooyman GL (1986b). Methods of dive analysis. In: Gentry RL, Kooyman GL (eds.) Fur Seals: maternal strategies on land and at sea. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey, NJ, pp 28–40
- Georges JY, Bonadonna F, Guinet C (2000*a*). Foraging habitat and diving activity of lactating Subantarctic fur seals in relation to sea-surface temperatures at Amsterdam Island. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 196:291–304
- Georges JY, Groscolas R, Guinet C, Robin JP (2001). Milking strategy in subantarctic fur seals *Arctocephalus tropicalis* breeding on Amsterdam Island: evidence from changes in milk composition. Physiol Biochem Zool 74:548–559
- Georges JY, Guinet C (2000a). Early mortality and perinatal growth in the subantarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus tropicalis) on Amsterdam Island. J Zool (Lond) 251:277-287
- Georges JY, Guinet C (2000b). Maternal care in the Subantarctic fur seals on Amsterdam Island. Ecology 81:295-308
- Georges JY, Tremblay Y, Guinet C (2000b). Seasonal diving behaviour in lactating Subantarctic fur seals on Amsterdam Island. Polar Biol 23:59–69
- Gisbert E (1999). Early development and allometric growth patterns in Siberian sturgeon and their ecological significance. J Fish Biol 54:852–862

- Gittleman JL, Thompson SD (1988). Energy allocation in mammalian reproduction. Am Zool 28:863–875
- Gnaiger E, Bitterlich G (1984). Proximate biochemical composition and caloric content calculated from elemental CHN analysis: a stoichiometric concept. Oecologia 62:289–298
- Goebel ME, Bengtson JL, DeLong RL, Gentry RL, Loughlin TR (1991). Diving patterns and foraging locations of female northern fur seals. Fish Bull 89:171-179
- Goldsworthy SD (1995). Differential expenditure of maternal resources in Antarctic fur seals, Arctocephalus gazella, at Heard Island, Southern Indian Ocean. Behav Ecol 6:218–228
- Goldsworthy SD (1999). Maternal attendance behaviour of sympatrically breeding Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals, Arctocephalus spp., at Macquarie Island. Polar Biol 21:316–325
- Goldsworthy SD, Boness DJ, Fleischer RC (1999). Mate choice among sympatric fur seals: female preference for conspecific males. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 45:253–267
- Goldsworthy SD, Crowley HM (1999). The composition of the milk of Antarctic (Arctocephalus gazella) and subantarctic (A. tropicalis) fur seals at Macquarie Island. Aust J Zool 47:593-603
- Goldsworthy SD, Hindell MA, Crowley HM (1997). Diet and diving behaviour of sympatric fur seals Arctocephalus gazella and A. tropicalis at Macquarie Island.
  In: Hindell MA, Kemper C (eds.) Marine mammal research in the Southern hemisphere: status, ecology and medicine. Surrey Beatty & Sons, Chipping Norton, Australia, Vol. 1, pp 151–163

- Goldsworthy SD, Shaughnessy PD (1989). Subantarctic fur seals Arctocephalus tropicalis at Heard Island. Polar Biol 9:337–339
- Green K (1997). Diving behaviour of Antarctic fur seals Arctocephalus gazella Peters around Heard Island. In: Hindell MA, Kemper C (eds.) Marine mammal research in the Southern hemisphere: status, ecology and medicine. Surrey Beatty & Sons, Chipping Norton, Australia, Vol. 1, pp 97–104
- Green K, Burton HR, Williams R (1989). The diet of Antarctic fur seals Arctocephalus gazella (Peters) during the breeding season at Heard Island. Antarct Sci 1:317-324
- Green K, Slip DJ, Moore GJ (1998). The take of fish species by seabirds and marine mammals in the Australian Fisheries Zone around Heard Island: the potential for competition with a commercial fishery. Polar Biol 20:273–280
- Green K, Williams R, Burton HR (1997). Foraging ecology of Antarctic fur seals Arctocephalus gazella Peters around Heard Island. In: Hindell MA, Kemper C (eds.) Marine mammal research in the Southern hemisphere: status, ecology and medicine. Surrey Beatty & Sons, Chipping Norton, Australia, Vol. 1, pp 105–113
- Guinet C (1992). Comportement de chasse des orques (Orcinus orca) autour des iles Crozet. Can J Zool 70:1656–1667
- Guinet C, Cherel Y, Ridoux V, Jouventin P (1996). Consumption of marine resources by seabirds and seals in Crozet and Kerguelen waters: changes in relation to consumer biomass 1962-85. Antarct Sci 8:23-30
- Guinet C, Georges JY (2000). Growth in pups of the subantarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus tropicalis) on Amsterdam Island. J Zool (Lond) 251:289–296

- Guinet C, Goldsworthy SD, Robinson S (1999). Sex differences in mass loss rate and growth efficiency in Antarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus gazella) pups at Macquarie Island. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 46:157–163
- Guinet C, Jouventin P, Georges JY (1994). Long term population changes of fur seals Arctocephalus gazella and Arctocephalus tropicalis on subantarctic (Crozet) and subtropical (St. Paul and Amsterdam) islands and their possible relationship to El Niño Southern Oscillation. Antarct Sci 6:473–478
- Guinet C, Koudil M, Bost CA, Durbec JP, Georges JY, Mouchot MC, Jouventin P (1997). Foraging behaviour of satellite-tracked king penguins in relation to sea-surface temperatures obtained by satellite telemetry at Crozet Archipelago, a study during three austral summers. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 150:11-20
- Guinet C, Lea MA, Goldsworthy SD (2000). Mass change in Antarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus gazella) pups in relation to maternal characteristics at the Kerguelen Islands. Can J Zool 78:476–483
- Halsey LG, Butler PJ, Blackburn TM (2006). A phylogenetic analysis of the allometry of diving. Am Nat 167:276–287
- Harcourt R, Bradshaw CJA, Dickson K, Davis LS (2002). Foraging ecology of a generalist predator, the female New Zealand fur seal. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 227:11– 24
- Heithaus MR, Frid A (2003). Optimal diving under the risk of predation. J Theor Biol 223:79–92
- Hindell MA, Harcourt R, Waas JR, Thompson D (2002). Fine-scale threedimensional spatial use by diving, lactating female Weddell seals Leptonychotes weddellii. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 242:275-284

- Hochuli DF (2001). Insect herbivory and ontogeny: how do growth and development influence feeding behaviour, morphology and host use? Austral Ecol 26:563–570
- Hofmeyr GJG, Bester MN, Jonker FC (1997). Changes in population sizes and distribution of fur seals at Marion Island. Polar Biol 17:150–158
- Hooker SK, Boyd IL, Jessopp M, Cox O, Blackwell J, Boveng P, Bengston JL (2002). Monitoring the prey-field of marine predators: combining digital imaging with datalogging tags. Mar Mamm Sci 18:680–697
- Horning M, Trillmich F (1997a). Development of hemoglobin, hematocrit, and erythrocyte values in Galápagos fur seals. Mar Mamm Sci 13:100–113
- Horning M, Trillmich F (1997b). Ontogeny of diving behaviour in the Galápagos fur seal. Behaviour 134:1211–1257
- Horning M, Trillmich F (1999). Lunar cycles in diel prey migrations exert a stronger effect on the diving of juveniles than adult Galápagos fur seals. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 266:1127–1132
- Houle A (1997). The role of phylogeny and behavioral competition in the evolution of coexistence among primates. Can J Zool 75:827-846
- Houston AI, Carbone C (1992). The optimal allocation of time during the diving cycle. Behav Ecol 3:255-265
- Houston AI, McNamara JM, Hutchinson JMC (1993). General results concerning the trade-off between gaining energy and avoiding predation. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 341:375–397
- Huin N, Prince PA (1997). Diving behaviour of the grey-headed albatross. Antarct Sci 9:243-249

- Hull CL (1999). Comparative diving behaviour and segregation of the marine habitat by breeding Royal penguins, *Eudyptes schlegeli*, and eastern Rockhopper penguins, *Eudyptes chrysocome filholi*, at Macquarie Island. Can J Zool 78:333–345
- Hurlbert SH (1984). Pseudoreplication and the design of ecological field experiments. Ecol Monogr 54:187–211
- Hutchinson GE (1957). Concluding remarks. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 22:415-427
- Jiang Z, Takatsuki S, Li J, Wang W, Ma J, Gao Z (2002). Feeding type and seasonal digestive strategy of Mongolian gazelles in China. J Mammal 83:91–98
- Johnson AR, Wiens JA, Milne BT, Crist TO (1992). Animal movements and population dynamics in heterogeneous landscapes. Landsc Ecol 7:63–75
- Johnson CJ, Parker KL, Heard DC, Gillingham MP (2002). Movement parameters of ungulates and scale-specific responses to the environment. J Anim Ecol 71:225–235
- Johnson CJ, Parker KL, Heard DC, Gillingham MP (2006). Unrealistic animal movement rates as behavioural bouts: a reply. J Anim Ecol 75:303–308
- Jones ME, Barmuta LA (2000). Niche differentiation among sympatric Australian dasyurid carnivores. J Mammal 81:434–447
- Jonker FC, Bester MN (1998). Seasonal movements and foraging areas of adult southern female elephant seals, *Mirounga leonina*, from Marion Island. Antarct Sci 10:21-30
- Jørgensen C, Lydersen C, Brix O, Kovacs KM (2001). Diving development in nursing harbour seal pups. J Exp Biol 204:3993–4004

Karlis D, Xekalaki E (2005). Mixed Poisson distributions. Int Stat Rev 73:35-58

- Kato A, Watanuki Y, Naito Y (2003). Foraging behaviour of chick-rearing rhinoceros auklets Cerorhinca monocerata at Teuri Island, Japan, determined by accelerationdepth recording micro data loggers. J Avian Biol 34:282–287
- Kato A, Watanuki Y, Nishiumi I, Kuroki M, Shaughnessy P, Naito Y (2000). Variation in foraging and parental behaviour of king cormorants. Auk 117:718–730
- Kerley GIH (1985). Pup growth in the fur seals Arctocephalus tropicalis and A. gazella on Marion Island. J Zool (Lond) 205:315-324
- Kerley GIH (1987). Arctocephalus tropicalis on the Prince Edward islands. In: Croxall JP, Gentry RL (eds.) Status, biology, and ecology of fur seals, NOAA Technical Report NMFS, Vol. 51, pp 61-64
- Kirkman SP, Bester MN, Hofmeyr GJG, Pistorius PA, Makhado AB (2002). Pup growth and maternal attendance patterns in Subantarctic fur seals. Afr Zool 37:13–19
- Kirkman SP, Bester MN, Makhado AB, Pistorius PA (2003). Female attendance patterns of Antarctic fur seals at Marion Island. Afr Zool 38:402–405
- Kirkman SP, Wilson W, Klages NTW, Bester MN, Isaksen K (2000). Diet and estimated food consumption of Antarctic fur seals at Bouvetoya during summer. Polar Biol 23:745–752
- Klaassen RHG, Nolet BA, van GIls JA, Bauer S (2006). Optimal movement between patches under incomplete information about the spatial distribution of food items. Theor Popul Biol 70:452–463

- Klages NTW, Bester MN (1998). Fish prey of fur seals Arctocephalus spp. at subantarctic Marion Island. Mar Biol 131:559–566
- Klages NTW, Pemberton D, Gales RP (1990). The diets of king and gentoo penguins at Heard Island. Aust Wildl Res 17:53–60
- Koehler CE, Barclay RMR (2000). Post-natal growth and breeding biology of the hoary bat (*Lasiurus cinereus*). J Mammal 81:234-244
- Kooyman GL (1989). Diverse divers: physiology and behavior. Springer-Verlag, Berlin
- Koubbi P (1993). Influence of the frontal zones on ichthyoplankton and mesopelagic fish assemblages in the Crozet Basin (Indian sector of the Southern Ocean). Polar Biol 13:557–564
- Kruuk H, Wansink D, Moorhouse A (1990). Feeding patches and diving success of otters, Lutra lutra, in Shetland. Oikos 57:68–72
- König B, Markl H (1987). Maternal care in house mice. I. The weaning strategy as a means for parental manipulation of offspring quality. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 20:1–9
- Langton SD, Collett D, Sibly RM (1995). Splitting behaviour into bouts; a maximum likelihood approach. Behaviour 132:781–799
- Lea MA, Bonadonna F, Hindell MA, Guinet C, Goldsworthy SD (2002*a*). Drinking behaviour and water turnover rates of Antarctic fur seal pups: implications for the estimation of milk intake by isotopic dilution. Comp Biochem Physiol 132:321–331
- Lea MA, Cherel Y, Guinet C, Nichols PD (2002b). Antarctic fur seals foraging in the Polar Frontal zone: inter-annual shifts in diet as shown from fecal and fatty acid analyses. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 245:281–297

- Lea MA, Hindell M, Guinet C, Goldsworthy S (2002c). Variability in the diving activity of Antarctic fur seals, *Arctocephalus gazella*, at Iles Kerguelen. Polar Biol 25:269–279
- Lea MA, Nichols PD, Wilson G (2002d). Fatty acid composition of lipid-rich myctophids and mackerel fish (*Champsocephalus gunnari*) - Southern Ocean food-web implications. Polar Biol 25:843-854
- Lee PC, Majluf P, Gordon IJ (1991). Growth, weaning and maternal investment from a comparative perspective. J Zool (Lond) 225:99-114

Levin SA (1992). The problem of pattern and scale in ecology. Ecology 73:1943–1967

- Lindström J (1999). Early development and fitness in birds and mammals. Trends Ecol Evol 14:343–348
- Lunn NJ, Arnould JPY (1997). Maternal investment in Antarctic fur seals: evidence for equality in the sexes? Behav Ecol Sociobiol 40:351–362
- Lunn NJ, Boyd IL (1993). Influence of maternal characteristics and environmental variation on reproduction in Antarctic fur seals. Symp Zool Soc Lond 66:115–129
- Lunn NJ, Boyd IL, Barton T, Croxall JP (1993). Factors affecting the growth rate and mass at weaning of Antarctic fur seals at Bird island, South Georgia. J Mammal 74:908-919

Luque SP (2007). Diving behaviour analysis in R. R News 7:8-14

Luque SP, Arnould JPY, Guinet C (2008). Temporal structure of diving behaviour in sympatric Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 372:277–287

- Luque SP, Arnould JPY, Miller EH, Cherel Y, Guinet C (2007*a*). Foraging behaviour of sympatric Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals: does their contrasting duration of lactation make a difference? Mar Biol 152:213-224
- Luque SP, Aurioles Gamboa D (2002). Estimation of body volume and body density in California sea lion pups. J Mar Biol Assoc U K 82:1019–1022
- Luque SP, Aurioles-Gamboa DG (2001). Sex differences in body size and body condition of California sea lion (*Zalophus californianus*) pups from the Gulf of California. Mar Mamm Sci 17:147–160
- Luque SP, Guinet C (2007). A maximum likelihood approach for identifying dive bouts improves accuracy, precision, and objectivity. Behaviour 144:1315–1332
- Luque SP, Miller EH, Arnould JPY, Chambellant M, Guinet C (2007b). Ontogeny of body size and shape of Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals. Can J Zool 85:1275– 1285
- Lutjeharms JRE, Walters NM, Allanson R (1985). Oceanic frontal systems and biological enhancement. In: Siegfried WR, Condy PR, Laws RM (eds.) Antarctic nutrient cycles and food webs. Springer, Berlin, pp 11–21
- MacArthur R, Levins R (1964). Competition, habitat selection, and character displacement in a patchy environment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 51:1207–1210
- MacArthur R, Levins R (1967). The limiting similarity, convergence, and divergence of coexisting species. Am Nat 101:377–385
- Mangel M, Stamps J (2001). Trade-offs between growth and mortality and the maintenance of individual variation in growth. Evol Ecol Res 3:583-593

- Mattlin RH, Gales NJ, Costa DP (1998). Seasonal dive behaviour of lactating New Zealand fur seals (Arctocephalus forsteri). Can J Zool 76:350–360
- McCafferty DJ, Boyd IL, Walker TR, Taylor RI (1998). Foraging responses of Antarctic fur seals to changes in the marine environment. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 166:285–299

McLaren IA (1993). Growth in pinnipeds. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc 68:1-79

- McNab BK (2002). The physiological ecology of vertebrates: a view from energetics. Cornell University Press, Ithaca, NY
- Mehlum F, Watanuki Y, Takahashi A (2001). Diving behaviour and foraging habitats of Brünnich's guillemots (*Uria lomvia*) breeding in the High-Arctic. J Zool (Lond) 255:413–423
- Mellish JAE, Iverson SJ, Bowen WD (1999). Variation in milk production and lactation performance in grey seals and consequences for pup growth and weaning characteristics. Physiol Biochem Zool 72:677–690
- Milinski M, Parker GA (1991). Competition for resources. In: Krebs JR, Davies NB (eds.) Behavioural ecology: an evolutionary approach. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, pp 137–168
- Millar JS (1977). Adaptive features of mammalian reproduction. Evolution 31:370–386
- Moore GJ, Wienecke B, Robertson G (1999a). Seasonal change in foraging areas and dive depths of breeding king penguins at Heard Island. Polar Biol 21:376–384
- Moore JK, Abbott MR, Richman JG (1999b). Location and dynamics of the Antarctic Polar Front from satellite sea surface temperature data. J Geophys Res 104:3059-3073

- Mori Y (1998a). Optimal choice of foraging depth in divers. J Zool (Lond) 245:279–283
- Mori Y (1998b). The optimal patch use in divers: optimal time budget and the number of dive cycles during the bout. J Theor Biol 190:187-199
- Mori Y (2002). Optimal diving behaviour for foraging in relation to body size. J Evol Biol 15:269-276
- Mori Y, Boyd IL (2004*a*). The behavioral basis for nonlinear functional responses and optimal foraging in Antarctic fur seals. Ecology 85:398–410
- Mori Y, Boyd IL (2004b). Segregation of foraging between two sympatric penguin species: does rate maximization make the difference? Mar Ecol Prog Ser 275:241– 249
- Mori Y, Takahashi A, Mehlum F, Watanuki Y (2002). An application of optimal diving models to diving behaviour of Brünnich's guillemots. Anim Behav 64:739–745
- Mori Y, Watanabe Y, Mitani Y, Sato K, Cameron MF, Naito Y (2005). A comparison of prey richness estimates for Weddell seals using diving profiles and image data. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 295:257–263
- Mori Y, Yoda K, Sato K (2001). Defining dive bouts using a sequential differences analysis. Behaviour 138:1451–1466
- Moulton CR (1923). Age and chemical development in mammals. J Biol Chem 57:79-97
- Munger JC (1984). Optimal foraging? Patch use by horned lizards (Iguanidae: Phrynosoma). Am Nat 123:654-680

- Nonacs P (2001). State dependent behavior and the marginal value theorem. Behav Ecol 12:71-83
- Norberg UM, Kunz TH, Steffensen JF, Winter Y, von Helversen O (1993). The cost of hovering and forward flight in a nectar feeding bat, *Glossophaga soricina*, estimated from aerodynamic theory. J Exp Biol 182:207–227
- Noren SR, Williams TM, Pabst DA, McLellan WA, Dearolf JL (2001). The development of diving in marine endotherms: preparing the skeletal muscles of dolphins, penguins, and seals for activity during submergence. J Comp Physiol B Biochem Syst Environ Physiol 171:127–134
- Ochoa-Acuña H, Francis JM (1995). Spring and summer prey of the Juan Fernández fur seal, Arctocephalus philippii. Can J Zool 73:1444–1452
- Ochoa-Acuña H, Francis JM, Oftedal OT (1999). Influence of long intersuckling interval on composition of milk in the Juan Fernández fur seal, Arctocephalus philippii. J Mammal 80:758–767
- Oftedal OT (1984). Milk composition, milk yield and energy output at peak lactation: a comparative review. Symp Zool Soc Lond 51:33-83
- Oftedal OT, Boness DJ, Tedman RA (1987). The behavior, physiology, and anatomy of lactation in the pinnipedia. In: Genoways HH (ed.) Current Mammalogy. Plenum Press, New York, NY, Vol.1, pp 175–245
- Ono KO, Boness DJ (1996). Sexual dimorphism in sea lion pups: differential maternal investment, or sex-specific differences in energy allocation? Behav Ecol Sociobiol 38:31-41

- Orsi AH, Whitworth III T, Nowlin Jr WD (1995). On the meridional extent and fronts of the Antarctic Circumpolar Current. Deep-Sea Res I 42:641–673
- Ortiz CL, Costa DP, Le Boeuf BJ (1978). Water and energy flux in elephant seal pups fasting under natural conditions. Physiol Zool :166–178
- Owen-Smith N (2004). Allocation of food gains to storage versus growth in a variable environment. In: Proceedings of the Third International Conference of Comparative Physiology and Biochemistry, Kwa-Zulu, Natal, South Africa, pp 341–350
- Owen-Smith N, Novellie P (1982). What should a clever ungulate eat? Am Nat 119:151-178
- Packard GC, Boardman TJ (1999). The use of percentages and size-specific indices to normalize physiological data for variation in body size: wasted time, wasted effort? Comp Biochem Physiol Part A Mol Integr Physiol 122:37–44
- Page B, McKenzie J, Goldsworthy SD (2005). Inter-sexual differences in New Zealand fur seal behaviour. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 304:249–264
- Pakhomov EA, Froneman PW (2000). Composition and spatial variability of macroplankton and micronekton within the Antarctic Polar Frontal Zone of the Indian Ocean during austral autumn 1997. Polar Biol 23:410-419
- Pakhomov EA, Perissinotto R, McQuaid CD (1994). Comparative structure of the macrozooplankton/micronekton communities of the Subtropical and Antarctic Polar Fronts. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 111:155–169
- Park YH, Gamberoni L (1997). Cross-frontal exchange of Antarctic Intermediate
  Water and Antarctic Bottom Water in the Crozet Basin. Deep-Sea Res II 44:963– 986

- Park YH, Gamberoni L, Charriaud E (1993). Frontal structure, water masses, and circulation in the Crozet Basin. J Geophys Res 98:12361–12385
- Parra G (2006). Resource partitioning in sympatric delphinids: space use and habitat preferences of Australian snubfin and Indo-Pacific humpback dolphins. J Anim Ecol 75:862–874
- Payne MR (1979). Growth in the Antarctic fur seal Arctocephalus gazella. J Zool (Lond) 187:1–20
- Peaker M (1989). Evolutionary strategies in lactation: nutritional implications. Proc Nutr Soc 48:53–57
- Perissinotto R, McQuaid CD (1992). Land-based predator impact on vertically migrating zooplankton and micronekton advected to a Southern Ocean archipelago. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 80:15–27
- Perrin DR (1958). The calorific value of milk of different species. J Dairy Res 25:215-220
- Peters RH (1983). The ecological implications of body size. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Pianka ER (1978). Evolutionary ecology. Harper & Row publishers, New York, NY
- Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, Sarkar D (2004). nlme: Linear and nonlinear mixed effects models. R package version 3.1-53
- Pinheiro JC, Bates DM (2000). Mixed-effects models in S and S-PLUS. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY
- Pond CM (1977). The significance of lactation in the evolution of mammals. Evolution 31:177-199

Prentice AM, Prentice A (1988). Energy costs of lactation. Annu Rev Nutr 8:63-79

- R development Core Team (2007). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. http: //www.R-project.org
- Raudenbush SW, Bryk AS (2002). Hierarchical linear models: applications and data analysis methods. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, CA
- Read JF, Pollard RT (1993). Structure and transport of the Antarctic Circumpolar Current and Agulhas Return Current at 40E. J Geophys Res 98:12281–12295
- Rehling A, Trillmich F (2007). Weaning in the guinea pig (*Cavia aperea* f. porcellus):who decides and by what measure? Behav Ecol Sociobiol 62:149–157
- Reid K, Arnould JPY (1996). The diet of Antarctic fur seals Arctocephalus gazella during the breeding season at South Georgia. Polar Biol 16:105–114
- Ridgway SH, Harrison RJ (eds.) (1981). Handbook of Marine Mammals: The Walrus, Sea Lions, Fur Seals and Sea Otter. Academic Press, San Diego, CA, Vol. 1
- Ridoux V (1994). The diets and dietary segregation of seabirds at the subantarctic Crozet Islands. Mar Ornithol 22:1–192
- Robinson PW, Tremblay Y, Crocker DE, Kappes MA, Kuhn CE, Shaffer SA, Simmons SE, Costa DP (2007). A comparison of indirect measures of feeding behaviour based on ARGOS tracking data. Deep-Sea Res II 54:356–368
- Robinson SA, Goldsworthy SD, van den Hoff J, Hindell MA (2002). The foraging ecology of two sympatric fur seal species, *Arctocephalus gazella* and *Arctocephalus tropicalis*, at Macquarie Island during the austral summer. Mar Freshw Res 53:1071-1082

- Robison BH (2003). What drives the diel vertical migrations of Antarctic midwater fish? J Mar Biol Assoc U K 83:639-642
- Rogowitz GL (1996). Trade-offs in energy allocation during lactation. Am Zool 36:197-204

Ross C (1998). Primate life histories. Evol Anthropol 6:54–63

- Rotenberry JT, Wiens JA (1998). Foraging patch selection by shrubsteppe sparrows. Ecology 79:1160–1173
- Sato K, Watanuki Y, Takahashi A, Miller PJO, Tanaka H, Kawabe R, Ponganis PJ, Handrich Y, Akamatsu T, Watanabe Y, Mitani Y, Costa DP, Bost CA, Aoki K, Amano M, Trathan P, Shapiro A, Naito Y (2007). Stroke frequency, but not swimming speed, is related to body size in free-ranging seabirds, pinnipeds, and cetaceans. Proc R Soc London, B 274:471-477
- Schaefer JA, Messier F (1995). Winter foraging by muskoxen: a hierarchical approach to patch residence time and cratering behaviour. Oecologia 104:39–44
- Schoener T (1974). Resource partitioning in ecological communities. Science 185:27–39
- Schoener TW, Huey RB, Pianka ER (1979). A biogeographic extension of the compression hypothesis: competitors in narrow sympatry. Am Nat 113:295–317
- Schulz TM, Bowen WD (2004). Pinniped lactation strategies: evaluation of data on maternal and offspring life history traits. Mar Mamm Sci 20:86–114
- Schulz TM, Bowen WD (2005). The evolution of lactation strategies in pinnipeds: a phylogenetic analysis. Ecol Monogr 75:159–177

- Shaughnessy P, Erb E, Green K (1998). Continued increase in the population of Antarctic fur seals, Arctocephalus gazella, at Heard Island, Southern Ocean. Mar Mamm Sci 14:384–389
- Shepard ELC, Wilson RP, Liebsch N, Quintana F, Gómez Laich A, Lucke K (2008). Flexible paddle sheds new light on speed: a novel method for the remote measurement of swim speed in aquatic animals. Endangered Species Research 4:157–164
- Sibly RM, Nott HMR, Fletcher DJ (1990). Splitting behaviour into bouts. Anim Behav 39:63-69
- Slater PJ, Lester NP (1982). Minimising errors in splitting behaviour into bouts. Behaviour 79:153-161
- Slip DJ (1995). The diet of southern elephant seals (Miroung leonina) from Heard Island. Can J Zool 73:1519–1528
- Smale MJ, Watson G, Hecht T (1995). Otolith atlas of southern African marine fishes. JBL Smith Institute of Ichthyology, Grahamstown
- Sparrow MD, Heywood KJ, Brown J, Stevens DP (1996). Current structure of the south Indian Ocean. J Geophys Res 101:6377–6391
- Stahl JC, Jouventin P, Mougin JL, Roux JP, Weimerskirch H (1985). The foraging zones of seabirds in the Crozet Islands Sector of the Southern Ocean. In: Siegfried WR, Condy PR, Laws RM (eds.) Antarctic nutrient cycles and food webs. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp 478–486
- Stamps JA (1983). The relationship between ontogenetic habitat shifts, competition and predator avoidance in a juvenile lizard (Anolis aeneus). Behav Ecol Sociobiol 12:19-33
Stearns SC (1992). The evolution of life histories. Oxford University Press, Oxford

- Stelle LL, Blake RW, Trites AW (2000). Hydrodynamic drag in Steller sea lions (Eumetopias jubatus). J Exp Biol 203:1915–1923
- Stephens DW, Krebs JR, Clutton-Brock T (1986). Foraging theory. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey, NJ
- Stirling I, Kleiman DG (1983). The evolution of mating systems in pinnipeds. In: Eisenberg JF (ed.) Advances in the study of mammalian behavior. American Society of Mammalogists, Special Publication No. 7, pp 489–527
- Sæther BE, Gordon IJ (1994). The adaptive significance of reproductive strategies in ungulates. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 256:263-268
- Tabachnick BG, Fidell LS (2001). Using multivariate statistics. HarperCollins College Publishers, 4th edn.
- Thompson D, Fedak MA (2001). How long should a dive last? A simple model of foraging decisions by breath hold divers in a patchy environment. Anim Behav 61:287-296
- Thorson PH, Le Boeuf BJ, Laws RM (1994). Developmental aspects of diving in northern elephant seal pups. In: Le Boeuf BJ (ed.) Elephant seals: population ecology, behavior, and physiology. University of California Press, Berkeley, pp 271–289
- Tilden CD, Oftedal OT (1997). Milk composition reflects pattern of maternal care in prosimian primates. Am J Primatol 41:195–211
- Tilman D (1987). The importance of the mechanisms of interspecific competition. Am Nat 129:769–774

- Tolkamp BJ, Allcroft DJ, Austin EJ, Nielsen BL, Kyriazakis I (1998). Satiety splits feeding behaviour into bouts. J Theor Biol 194:235–250
- Tolkamp BJ, Kyriazakis I (1999). To split behaviour into bouts, log-transform the intervals. Anim Behav 57:807–817
- Trillmich F (1990). The behavioral ecology of maternal effort in fur seals and sea lions. Behaviour 114:3–19
- Trillmich F, Kooyman GL (1986). Attendance behavior of Galápagos fur seals. In: Gentry RL, Kooyman GL (eds.) Fur Seals: maternal strategies on land and at sea. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey, NJ pp 168–187
- Trillmich F, Ono KA, Costa DP, DeLong RL, Feldkamp SD, Francis JM, Gentry RL, Heath CB, LeBoeuf BJ, Majluf P, York AE (1991a). The effects of El Niño on pinniped populations in the Eastern Pacific. In: Trillmich F (ed.) Pinnipeds and El Niño: Responses to environmental stress. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Vol. 88, pp 247-270
- Trillmich F, Ono KA, Golley F, Lange OL, Olson JS, Remmert H (1991b). Pinnipeds and El Niño: responses to environmental stress. In: Billings WD (ed.) Ecological Studies: analysis and synthesis. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Vol. 88, pp 293
- Trillmich F, Weissing FJ (2006). Lactation patterns of pinnipeds are not explained by optimization of maternal energy delivery rates. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 60:137–149

Trivers RL (1974). Parent-offspring conflict. Am Zool 14:249–264

Vargas A, Anderson SH (1996). Growth and physical development of captive-raised black-footed ferrets (*Mustela nigripes*). Am Midl Nat 135:43-52

Venables HJ, Pollard RT, Popova EA (2007). Physical conditions controlling the development of a regular phytoplankton bloom north of the Crozet Plateau, Southern Ocean. Deep-Sea Res II 54:1949–1965

Venables WN, Ripley BD (2002). Modern applied statistics with S. Springer

- Webb JK, Brook BW, Shine R (2003). Does foraging mode influence life-history traits? A comparative study of growth, maturation and survival of two species of sympatric snakes from south-eastern Australia. Austral Ecol 28:601–610
- Wells RS, Boness DJ, Rathbun GB, Rommel SA (1999). Behavior. In: Reynolds III
  JE (ed.) Biology of marine mammals. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington,
  D. C., pp 324-422
- Wiens JA (1976). Population responses to patchy environments. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 7:81-120

Wiens JA (1977). On competition and variable environments. Am Sci 65:590–597

- Williams D, McEldowney A (1990). A guide to the fish otoliths from the waters off the Australian Antarctic Territory, Heard and Maquarie Islands. ANARE Res Notes 75:1-173
- Wirsing AJ, Heithaus MR, Frid A, Dill LM (2008). Seascapes of fear: evaluating sublethal predator effects experienced and generated by marine mammals. Mar Mamm Sci 24:1–15
- With KA, Crist TO (1995). Critical thresholds in species' responses to landscape structure. Ecology 76:2446–2459
- Woehler EJ, Green K (1992). Consumption of marine resources by seabirds and seals at Heard Island and the McDonald Islands. Polar Biol 12:659–665

- Wroblewski JS, O'Brien JJ, Platt T (1975). On the physical and biological scales of phytoplankton patchiness in the ocean. Mém Soc R Sci Liège 6:43-57
- Wu J, Loucks OL (1995). From balance of nature to hierarchical patch dynamics: a paradigm shift in ecology. Q Rev Biol 70:439–466
- Wynen LP, Goldsworthy SD, Guinet C, Bester MN, Boyd IL, Gjertz I, Hofmeyr GJG, White RWG, Slade NA (2000). Postsealing genetic variation and population structure of two species of fur seal (*Arctocephalus gazella* and *A. tropicalis*). Mol Ecol 9:299–314
- Xavier JC, Rodhouse PG, Trathan PN, Wood AG (1999). A Geographical Information System (GIS) Atlas of cephalopod distribution in the Southern Ocean. Antarct Sci 11:61-62
- Zar JH (1996). Biostatistical analysis. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Upper Saddle River, New Jersey, NJ

Appendices

# A Software

This technical paper describes a software package (diveMove) I developed in the GNU R system to perform the diving behaviour analyses throughout this dissertation. This software package is freely and publicly available.

# **Diving Behaviour Analysis in R**

An Introduction to the diveMove Package

by Sebastián P. Luque

### Introduction

Remarkable developments in technology for electronic data collection and archival have increased researchers' ability to study the behaviour of aquatic animals while reducing the effort involved and impact on study animals. For example, interest in the study of diving behaviour led to the development of minute time-depth recorders (TDRs) that can collect more than 15 MB of data on depth, velocity, light levels, and other parameters as animals move through their habitat. Consequently, extracting useful information from TDRs has become a time-consuming and tedious task. Therefore, there is an increasing need for efficient software to automate these tasks, without compromising the freedom to control critical aspects of the procedure.

There are currently several programs available for analyzing TDR data to study diving behaviour. The large volume of peer-reviewed literature based on results from these programs attests to their usefulness. However, none of them are in the free software domain, to the best of my knowledge, with all the disadvantages it entails. Therefore, the main motivation for writing **diveMove** was to provide an R package for diving behaviour analysis allowing for more flexibility and access to intermediate calculations. The advantage of this approach is that researchers have all the elements they need at their disposal to take the analyses beyond the standard information returned by the program.

The purpose of this article is to outline the functionality of **diveMove**, demonstrating its most useful features through an example of a typical diving behaviour analysis session. Further information can be obtained by reading the vignette that is included in the package (vignette("diveMove")) which is currently under development, but already shows basic usage of its main functions. **diveMove** is available from CRAN, so it can easily be installed using install.packages().

### The diveMove Package

**diveMove** offers functions to perform the following tasks:

 Identification of wet vs. dry periods, defined by consecutive readings with or without depth measurements, respectively, lasting more than a user-defined threshold. Depending on the sampling protocol programmed in the instrument, these correspond to wet vs. dry periods, respectively. Each period is individually identified for later retrieval.

8

- Calibration of depth readings, which is needed to correct for shifts in the pressure transducer. This can be done using a tcltk graphical user interface (GUI) for chosen periods in the record, or by providing a value determined a priori for shifting all depth readings.
- Identification of individual dives, with their different phases (descent, bottom, and ascent), using various criteria provided by the user. Again, each individual dive and dive phase is uniquely identified for future retrieval.
- Calibration of speed readings using the method described by Blackwell et al. (1999), providing a unique calibration for each animal and deployment. Arguments are provided to control the calibration based on given criteria. Diagnostic plots can be produced to assess the quality of the calibration.
- Summary of time budgets for wet vs. dry periods.
- Dive statistics for each dive, including maximum depth, dive duration, bottom time, postdive duration, and summaries for each dive phases, among other standard dive statistics.
- tcltk plots to conveniently visualize the entire dive record, allowing for zooming and panning across the record. Methods are provided to include the information obtained in the points above, allowing the user to quickly identify what part of the record is being displayed (period, dive, dive phase).

Additional features are included to aid in analysis of movement and location data, which are often collected concurrently with TDR data. They include calculation of distance and speed between successive locations, and filtering of erroneous locations using various methods. However, **diveMove** is primarily a diving behaviour analysis package, and other packages are available which provide more extensive animal movement analysis features (e.g. trip).

The tasks described above are possible thanks to the implementation of three formal S4 classes to represent TDR data. Classes TDR and TDRspeed are used to represent data from TDRs with and without speed sensor readings, respectively. The latter class inherits from the former, and other concurrent data can be included with either of these objects. A third formal class (TDRcalibrate) is used to represent data

#### Vol. 7/3, December 2007

obtained during the various intermediate steps described above. This structure greatly facilitates the retrieval of useful information during analyses.

#### **Data Preparation**

TDR data are essentially a time-series of depth readings, possibly with other concurrent parameters, typically taken regularly at a user-defined interval. Depending on the instrument and manufacturer, however, the files obtained may contain various errors, such as repeated lines, missing sampling intervals, and invalid data. These errors are better dealt with using tools other than R, such as awk and its variants, because such stream editors use much less memory than R for this type of problems, especially with the typically large files obtained from TDRs. Therefore, **diveMove** currently makes no attempt to fix these errors. Validity checks for the TDR classes, however, do test for time series being in increasing order.

Most TDR manufacturers provide tools for downloading the data from their TDRs, but often in a proprietary format. Fortunately, some of these manufacturers also offer software to convert the files from their proprietary format into a portable format, such as comma-separated-values (csv). At least one of these formats can easily be understood by R, using standard functions, such as read.table() or read.csv(). diveMove provides constructors for its two main formal classes to read data from files in one of these formats, or from simple data frames.

#### How to Represent TDR Data?

TDR is the simplest class of objects used to represent TDR data in **diveMove**. This class, and its TDRspeed subclass, stores information on the source file for the data, the sampling interval, the time and depth readings, and an optional data frame containing additional parameters measured concurrently. The only difference between TDR and TDRspeed objects is that the latter ensures the presence of a speed vector in the data frame with concurrent measurements. These classes have the following slots:

file: character,

dtime: numeric,

time: POSIXct,

depth: numeric,

concurrentData: data.frame

Once the TDR data files are free of errors and in a portable format, they can be read into a data frame, using e.g.:

R> ff <- system.file(file.path("data", + "dives.csv"), package = "diveMove") R> tdrXcsv <- read.csv(ff)</pre>

**R** News

and then put into one of the TDR classes using the function createTDR(). Note, however, that this approach requires knowledge of the sampling interval and making sure that the data for each slot are valid:

9

```
R> library("diveMove")
R> ddtt.str <- paste(tdrXcsv$date,
+ tdrXcsv$time)
R> ddtt <- strptime(ddtt.str,
+ format = "%d/%m/%Y %H:%M:%S")
R> time.posixct <- as.POSIXct(ddtt,
+ tz = "GMT")
R> tdrX <- createTDR(time = time.posixct,
+ depth = tdrXcsv$depth,
+ concurrentData = tdrXcsv[,
+ -c(1:3)], dtime = 5,</pre>
```

file = ff)

R> tdrX <- createTDR(time = time.posixct,

- depth = tdrXcsv\$depth,
- + concurrentData = tdrXcsv[,
- + -c(1:3)], dtime = 5,
- + file = ff, speed = TRUE)

If the files are in \*.csv format, these steps can be automated using the readTDR() function to create an object of one of the formal classes representing TDR data (TDRspeed in this case), and immediately begin using the methods provided:

R> tdrX <- readTDR(ff, speed = TRUE)
R> plotTDR(tdrX)



Figure 1: The plotTDR() method for TDR objects produces an interactive plot of the data, allowing for zooming and panning.

#### Vol. 7/3, December 2007

Several arguments for readTDR() allow mapping of data from the source file to the different slots in diveMove's classes, the time format in the input and the time zone attribute to use for the time readings.

Various methods are available for displaying TDR objects, including show(), which provides an informative summary of the data in the object, extractors and replacement methods for all the slots. There is a plotTDR() method (Figure 1) for both TDR and TDRspeed objects. The interact argument allows for suppression of the tcltk interface. Information on these methods is available from methods?TDR.

TDR objects can easily be coerced to data frame (as.data.frame() method), without losing information from any of the slots. TDR objects can additionally be coerced to TDRspeed, whenever it makes sense to do so, using an as.TDRspeed() method.

# Identification of Activities at Various Scales

One the first steps of dive analysis involves correcting depth for shifts in the pressure transducer, so that surface readings correspond to zero. Such shifts are usually constant for an entire deployment period, but there are cases where the shifts vary within a particular deployment, so shifts remain difficult to detect and dives are often missed. Therefore, a visual examination of the data is often the only way to detect the location and magnitude of the shifts. Visual adjustment for shifts in depth readings is tedious, but has many advantages which may save time during later stages of analysis. These advantages include increased understanding of the data, and early detection of obvious problems in the records, such as instrument malfunction during certain intervals, which should be excluded from analysis.

Zero-offset correction (ZOC) is done using the function zoc(). However, a more efficient method of doing this is with function calibrateDepth(), which takes a TDR object to perform three basic tasks. The first is to ZOC the data, optionally using the tcltk package to be able to do it interactively:

#### R> dcalib <- calibrateDepth(tdrX)

This command brings up a plot with tcltk controls allowing to zoom in and out, as well as pan across the data, and adjust the depth scale. Thus, an appropriate time window with a unique surface depth value can be displayed. This allows the user to select a depth scale that is small enough to resolve the surface value using the mouse. Clicking on the ZOC button waits for two clicks: i) the coordinates of the first click define the starting time for the window to be ZOC'ed, and the depth corresponding to the surface, ii) the second click defines the end time for the window (i.e. only the x coordinate has any meaning). This procedure can be repeated as many times as needed. If there is any overlap between time windows, then the last one prevails. However, if the offset is known a priori, there is no need to go through all this procedure, and the value can be provided as the argument offset to calibrateDepth(). For example, preliminary inspection of object tdrX would have revealed a 3 m offset, and we could have simply called (without plotting):

10

#### R> dcalib <- calibrateDepth(tdrX, + offset = 3)

Once depth has been ZOC'ed, the second step calibrateDepth() will perform is identify dry and wet periods in the record. Wet periods are those with depth readings, dry periods are those without them. However, records may have aberrant missing depth that should not define dry periods, as they are usually of very short duration<sup>1</sup>. Likewise, there may be periods of wet activity that are too short to be compared with other wet periods, and need to be excluded from further analyses. These aspects can be controlled by setting the arguments dry.thr and wet.thr to appropriate values.

Finally, calibrateDepth() identifies all dives in the record, according to a minimum depth criterion given as its dive.thr argument. The value for this criterion is typically determined by the resolution of the instrument and the level of noise close to the surface. Thus, dives are defined as departures from the surface to maximal depths below dive.thr and the subsequent return to the surface. Each dive may subsequently be referred to by an integer number indicating its position in the time series.

Dive phases are also identified at this last stage. Detection of dive phases is controlled by three arguments: a critical quantile for rates of vertical descent (descent.crit.q), a critical quantile for rates of ascent (ascent.crit.q), and a proportion of maximum depth (wiggle.tol). The first two arguments are used to define the rate of descent below which the descent phase is deemed to have ended, and the rate of ascent above which the ascent phases is deemed to have started, respectively. The rates are obtained from all successive rates of vertical movement from the surface to the first (descent) and last (ascent) maximum dive depth. Only positive rates are considered for the descent, and only negative rates are considered for the ascent. The purpose of this restriction is to avoid having any reversals of direction or histeresis events resulting in phases determined exclusively by those events. The wiggle.tol argument determines the proportion of maximum dive depth above which wiggles are not allowed to terminate descent, or below which they should be considered as part of the bottom phase.

<sup>1</sup>They may result from animals resting at the surface of the water long enough to dry the sensors.

R News

4

#### Vol. 7/3, December 2007

A more refined call to calibrateDepth() for object tdrX may be:

```
R> dcalib <- calibrateDepth(tdrX,
```

- offset = 3, wet.thr = 70,
- dry.thr = 3610, dive.thr = 4,
- descent.crit.q = 0.1,
- ascent.crit.q = 0.1, wiggle.tol = 0.8)

The result (value) of this function is an object of class TDRcalibrate, where all the information obtained during the tasks described above are stored.

#### How to Represent Calibrated TDR Data?

Objects of class TDR calibrate contain the following slots, which store information during the major procedures performed by calibrateDepth():

tdr: TDR. The object which was calibrated.

- gross.activity: list. This list contains four components with details on wet/dry activities detected, such as start and end times, durations, and identifiers and labels for each activity period. Five activity categories are used for labelling each reading, indicating dry (L), wet (W), underwater (U), diving (D), and brief wet (Z) periods. However, underwater and diving periods are collapsed into wet activity at this stage (see below).
- dive.activity: data.frame. This data frame contains three components with details on the diving activities detected, such as numeric vectors identifiying to which dive and post-dive interval each reading belongs to, and a factor labelling the activity each reading represents. Compared to the gross.activity slot, the underwater and diving periods are discerned here.
- dive.phases: factor. This identifies each reading with a particular dive phase. Thus, each reading belongs to one of descent, descent/bottom, bottom, bottom/ascent, and ascent phases. The descent/bottom and bottom/ascent levels are useful for readings which could not unambiguously be assigned to one of the other levels.

dry.thr. numeric.

wet.thr: numeric.

- dive the numeric These last three slots store information given as arguments to calibrateDepth(), documenting criteria used during calibration.
- speed.calib.coefs: numeric. If the object calibrated was of class TDRspeed, then this is a vector of length 2, with the intercept and the slope of the speed calibration line (see below).

**R** News

All the information contained in each of these slots is easily accessible through extractor methods for objects of this class (see class?TDRcalibrate). An appropriate show() method is available to display a short summary of such objects, including the number of dry and wet periods identified, and the number of dives detected.

11

The TDRcalibrate plotTDR() method for these objects allows visualizing the major wet/dry activities throughout the record (Figure 2):

R> plotTDR(dcalib, concurVars = "light". concurVarTitles = c("speed (m/s)", "light"), surface = TRUE)



Figure 2: The plotTDR() method for TDRcalibrate objects displays information on the major activities identified throughout the record (wet/dry periods here).

The dcalib object contains a TDRspeed object in its tdr slot, and speed is plotted by default in this case. Additional measurements obtained concurrently can also be plotted using the concurVars argument. Titles for the depth axis and the concurrent parameters use separate arguments; the former uses ylab.depth, while the latter uses concurVarTitles. Convenient default values for these are provided. The surface argument controls whether post-dive readings should be plotted; it is FALSE by default, causing only dive readings to be plotted which saves time plotting and re-plotting the data. All plot methods use the underlying plotTD() function, which has other useful arguments that can be passed from these methods.

#### Vol. 7/3, December 2007

A more detailed view of the record can be obtained by using a combination of the diveNo and the labels arguments to this plotTDR() method. This is useful if, for instance, closer inspection of certain dives is needed. The following call displays a plot of dives 2 through 8 (Figure 3):

R> plotTDR(dcalib, diveNo = 2:8, + labels = "dive.phase")



Figure 3: The plotTDR() method for TDRcalibrate objects can also display information on the different activities during each dive record (descent=D, descent/bottom=DB, bottom=B, bottom/ascent=BA, ascent=A, X=surface).

The labels argument allows the visualization of the identified dive phases for all dives selected. The same information can also be obtained with the extractDive() method for TDRcalibrate objects:

#### R> extractDive(dcalib, diveNo = 2:8)

Other useful extractors include: getGAct() and getDAct(). These methods extract the whole gross.activity and dive.activity, respectively, if given only the TDRcalibrate object, or a particular component of these slots, if supplied a string with the name of the component. For example: getGAct(dcalib, "trip.act") would retrieve the factor identifying each reading with a wet/dry activity and getDAct(dcalib, "dive.activity") would retrieve a more detailed factor with information on whether the reading belongs to a dive or a brief aquatic period.

With the information obtained during this calibration procedure, it is possible to calculate dive statistics for each dive in the record.

**R** News

### **Dive Summaries**

A table providing summary statistics for each dive can be obtained with the function diveStats() (Figure 4).

12

diveStats() returns a data frame with the final summaries for each dive (Figure 4), providing the following information:

- The time of start of the dive, the end of descent, and the time when ascent began.
- The total duration of the dive, and that of the descent, bottom, and ascent phases.
- The vertical distance covered during the descent, the bottom (a measure of the level of "wiggling", i.e. up and down movement performed during the bottom phase), and the vertical distance covered during the ascent.
- The maximum depth attained.
- The duration of the post-dive interval.

A summary of time budgets of wet vs. dry periods can be obtained with timeBudget(), which returns a data frame with the beginning and ending times for each consecutive period (Figure 4). It takes a TDRcalibrate object and another argument (ignoreZ) controlling whether aquatic periods that were briefer than the user-specified threshold<sup>2</sup> should be collapsed within the enclosing period of dry activity.

These summaries are the primary goal of dive-Move, but they form the basis from which more elaborate and customized analyses are possible, depending on the particular research problem. These include investigation of descent/ascent rates based on the depth profiles, and bout structure analysis. Some of these will be implemented in the future.

In the particular case of TDRspeed objects, however, it may be necessary to calibrate the speed readings before calculating these statistics.

#### **Calibrating Speed Sensor Readings**

Calibration of speed sensor readings is performed using the procedure described by Blackwell et al. (1999). Briefly the method rests on the principle that for any given rate of depth change, the lowest measured speeds correspond to the steepest descent angles, i.e. vertical descent/ascent. In this case, measured speed and rate of depth change are expected to be equal. Therefore, a line drawn through the bottom edge of the distribution of observations in a plot of measured speed vs. rate of depth change would provide a calibration line. The calibrated speeds, therefore, can be calculated by reverse estimation of rate of depth change from the regression line.

<sup>2</sup>This corresponds to the value given as the wet.thr argument to calibrateDepth().

# A Software

Vol. 7	7/3, December 2007				13
R> t	drXSumm1 <- diveSta	ts(dcalib)			
R> n	ames(tdrXSumm1)				
[1]	"begdesc"	"enddesc"	"begasc"	"desctim"	
[5]	"botttim"	"asctia"	"descdist"	"bottdist"	
[9]	"ascdist"	"desc.tdist"	"desc.mean.speed"	"desc.angle"	
[13]	"bott.tdist"	"bott.mean.speed"	"asc.tdist"	"asc.mean.speed"	
[17]	"asc.angle"	"divetim"	"maxdep"	"postdive.dur"	
[21]	"postdive.tdist"	"postdive.mean.speed	<b>4</b> <sup>n</sup>	1	
R> t	budget <- timeBudge	t(dcalib, ignoreZ = TRU	E)		
R> h	ead(tbudget, 4)				
ph	aseno activity	beg	end		
1	1 ¥ 2002	-01-05 11:32:00 2002-01	-06 06:30:00		
2	2 L 2002	-01-06 06:30:05 2002-01-	-06 17:01:10		
3	3 ¥ 2002	-01-06 17:01:15 2002-01	-07 05:00:30		
4	4 L 2002	-01-07 05:00:35 2002-01-	-07 07:34:00		
R> t.	rip.labs <- stampDi	ve(dcalib, ignoreZ = TR	UE)		
R> t	drXSumm2 <- data.fr	ame(trip.labs. tdrXSumm	1)		
R> n	ames(tdrXSumm2)				
[1]	"trip.no"	"trip.type"	"beg"	"end"	
[5]	"begdesc"	"enddesc"	"begasc"	"desctim"	
[9]	"botttim"	"asctim"	"descdist"	"bottdist"	
[13]	"ascdist"	"desc.tdist"	"desc.mean.speed"	"desc.angle"	
[17]	"bott.tdist"	"bott.mean.speed"	"asc.tdist"	"asc.mean.speed"	
[21]	"asc.angle"	"divetim"	"maxdep"	"postdive.dur"	
[25]	"postdive.tdist"	"postdive.mean.speed	1"	-	

Figure 4: Per-dive summaries can be obtained with functions diveStats(), and a summary of time budgets with timeBudget(). diveStats() takes a TDRcalibrate object as a single argument (object dcalib above, see text for how it was created).

**diveMove** implements this procedure with function calibrateSpeed(). This function performs the following tasks:

- Subset the necessary data from the record. By default only data corresponding to depth changes > 0 are included in the analysis, but higher constraints can be imposed using the z argument. A further argument limiting the data to be used for calibration is bad, which is a vector with the minimum rate of depth change and minimum speed readings to include in the calibration. By default, values > 0 for both parameters are used.
- 2. Calculate the binned bivariate kernel density and extract the desired contour. Once the proper data were obtained, a bivariate normal kernel density grid is calculated from the relationship between measured speed and rate of depth change (using the KernSmooth package). The choice of bandwidths for the binned kernel density is made using bw.nrd. The contour.level argument to calibrateSpeed() controls which particular contour should be extracted from the density grid. Since the interest is in defining a regression line passing through the lower densities of the grid, this value should be relatively low (it is set to 0.1 by default).
- 3. Define the regression line passing through the lower edge of the chosen contour. A quantile regression through a chosen quantile is used for this purpose. The quantile can be specified using the tau argument, which is passed to the rq() function in package **quantreg**. tau is set to 0.1 by default.
- Finally, the speed readings in the TDR object are calibrated.

As recognized by Blackwell et al. (1999), the advantage of this method is that it calibrates the instrument based on the particular deployment conditions (i.e. controls for effects of position of the instrument on the animal, and size and shape of the instrument, relative to the animal's morphometry, among others). However, it is possible to supply the coefficients of this regression if they were estimated separately; for instance, from an experiment. The argument coefs can be used for this purpose, which is then assumed to contain the intercept and the slope of the line. calibrateSpeed() returns a TDRcalibrate object, with calibrated speed readings included in its tdr slot, and the coefficients used for calibration.

For instance, to calibrate speed readings using the 0.1 quantile regression of measured speed vs. rate of depth change, based on the 0.1 contour of the bivariate kernel densities, and including only changes in depth > 1, measured speeds and rates of depth

# A Software

#### Vol. 7/3, December 2007

change > 0:

### R> vcalib <- calibrateSpeed(dcalib.

- tau = 0.1, contour.level = 0.1, 4 +
- z = 1, bad = c(0, 0),
- cex.pts = 0.2)4



Figure 5: The relationship between measured speed and rate of depth change can be used to calibrate speed readings. The line defining the calibration for speed measurements passes through the bottom edge of a chosen contour, extracted from a bivariate kernel density grid.

This call produces the plot shown in Figure 5, which can be suppressed by the use of the logical argument plot. Calibrating speed readings allows for the meaningful interpretation of further parameters calculated by diveStats(), whenever a TDRspeed object was found in the TDRcalibrate object:

- · The total distance travelled, mean speed, and diving angle during the descent and ascent phases of the dive.
- The total distance travelled and mean speed during the bottom phase of the dive, and the post-dive interval.

# Summary

The diveMove package provides tools for analyzing diving behaviour, including convenient methods for the visualization of the typically large amounts of data collected by TDRs. The package's main strengths are its ability to:

14

- 1. identify wet vs. dry periods,
- 2. calibrate depth readings,
- 3. identify individual dives and their phases,
- 4. summarize time budgets,
- 5. calibrate speed sensor readings, and
- 6. provide basic summaries for each dive identified in TDR records.

Formal S4 classes are supplied to efficiently store TDR data and results from intermediate analysis, making the retrieval of intermediate results readily available for customized analysis. Development of the package is ongoing, and feedback, bug reports, or other comments from users are very welcome.

## Acknowledgements

Many of the ideas implemented in this package developed over fruitful discussions with my mentors John P.Y. Arnould, Christophe Guinet, and Edward H. Miller. I would like to thank Laurent Dubroca who wrote draft code for some of diveMove's functions. I am also greatly endebted to the regular contributors to the R-help newsgroup who helped me solve many problems during development.

## **Bibliography**

S. Blackwell, C. Haverl, B. Le Boeuf, and D. Costa. A method for calibrating swim-speed recorders. Marine Mammal Science, 15(3):894-905, 1999.

Sebastián P. Luque Department of Biology, Memorial University St. John's, NL, Canada sluque@mun.ca

**R** News

# **B** Published chapters and sections

# **B.1** Foraging behaviour of adult females

Luque SP, Arnould JPY, Miller EH, Cherel Y, Guinet C (2007) Foraging behaviour of sympatric Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals: does their contrasting duration of lactation make a difference? *Marine Biology* **152**: 213-224

# B Published chapters and sections

Mar Biol (2007) 152:213-224 DOI 10.1007/s00227-007-0677-1

RESEARCH ARTICLE

# Foraging behaviour of sympatric Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals: does their contrasting duration of lactation make a difference?

Sebastián P. Luque · John P. Y. Arnould · Edward H. Miller · Yves Cherel · Christophe Guinet

Received: 8 November 2006 / Accepted: 12 March 2007 / Published online: 5 April 2007 © Springer-Verlag 2007

Abstract The duration of periods spent ashore versus foraging at sea, diving behaviour, and diet of lactating female Antarctic (Arctocephalus gazella, AFS) and subantarctic (A. tropicalis, SFS) fur seals were compared at Iles Crozet, where both species coexist. The large disparity in lactation duration (SFS: 10 months, AFS: 4 months), even under local sympatry, has led to the expectation that AFS should exhibit higher foraging effort or efficiency per unit time than SFS to allow them to wean their pups in a shorter period of time. Previous evidence, however, has not supported these expectations. In this study, the distribution of foraging trip durations revealed two types of trips: overnight (OFT, <1 day) and long (LFT, >1 day), in common with other results from Macquarie Island. However, diving behaviour differed significantly between foraging trip types, with greater diving effort in OFTs than in LFTs, and diving behaviour differed between fur seal species. OFTs were more frequent in SFS (48%) than in AFS (28%). SFS performed longer LFTs and maternal attendances than AFS, but spent a smaller proportion of their foraging cycle at sea (66.2 vs. 77.5%, respectively). SFS dove deeper and for

Communicated by O. Kinne.

S. P. Luque (⊠) · E. H. Miller Department of Biology, Memorial University, St John's, Canada, NL A1B 3X9 e-mail: sluque@mun.ca

S. P. Luque · Y. Cherel · C. Guinet Centre d'Etudes Biologiques de Chizé, CNRS, 79 360 Villiers en Bois, France

J. P. Y. Arnould School of Life and Environmental Sciences, Deakin University, 221 Burwood Highway, Burwood, VIC 3215, Australia

longer periods than AFS, in both OFTs and LFTs, although indices of diving effort were similar between species. Diel variation in diving behaviour was lower among SFS, which foraged at greater depths during most of the night time available than AFS. The diving behaviour of AFS suggests they followed the nychthemeral migration of their prey more closely. Concomitant with the differences in diving behaviour, AFS and SFS fed on the same prey species, but in different proportions of three myctophid fish (Gymnoscopelus fraseri, G. piabilis, and G. nicholsi) that represented most of their diet. The estimated size of the most important fish consumed did not vary significantly between fur seal species, suggesting that the difference in dive depth was mostly a result of changes in the relative abundance of these myctophids. The energy content of these fish at Iles Crozet may thus influence the amount and quality of milk delivered to pups of each fur seal species. These results contrast with those found at other sites where both species coexist, and revealed a scale of variation in foraging behaviour which did not affect their effort while at sea, but that may be a major determinant of foraging efficiency and, consequently, maternal investment.

#### Introduction

Temporospatial separation of foraging and breeding is a defining characteristic of pinnipeds, and may constrain their evolution (Costa 1991). Unlike most phocid seals, otariid (fur seals and sea lions) lactating females cannot fast for the entire period of lactation, as they are too small to store all the required energy (Boness and Bowen 1996). Therefore, they alternate their time at sea foraging with visits ashore to nurse their pup. Otariid lactation varies in duration from 4 months (Antarctic Arctocephalus gazella and northern Callorhinus

D Springer

*ursinus* fur seals) to 3 years (Galápagos fur seals *A. galapagoensis*), and single foraging trips range from several hours to about 50 days in duration, depending on the species, stage of lactation, population, and location (Beauplet et al. 2004; Schulz 2004). Such large variation has prompted efforts to identify the proximate and ultimate factors that determine what particular strategy an otariid adopts.

Studies on temperate species have emphasized the importance of prey ecology and variability of the physical environment in relation to otariid maternal strategies. For example, Juan Fernández (A. philippii) and subantarctic (A. tropicalis) fur seals both have a 10-month lactation, during which lactating females feed on epipelagic fish (mean depths <30 m), mostly at night (Ochoa-Acuña and Francis 1995; Beauplet et al. 2004). Mean duration of foraging trips increases in both species from 1-2 days early in lactation, to 25-50 days just prior to weaning. In contrast, foraging trips of Australian fur seals (A. pusillus doriferus) rarely exceed 10 days during lactation, and females feed at much greater depths on benthic prey at all times of day (Gales and Pemberton 1994; Arnould and Hindell 2001). These three species inhabit temperate latitudes with similar seasonal regimes, so differences among them have challenged an early hypothesis set forth to explain the variation in fur seal foraging behaviour, that presents environmental seasonality as the main determinant of interspecific differences in foraging-nursing cycles (Gentry et al. 1986).

A drawback of interspecific comparisons using samples from different locations is that environmental variation is usually unaccounted for. However, several examples of different species breeding on the same islands exist, offering the opportunity to control for this factor. Here we compare the foraging behaviour of sympatric Antarctic (A. gazella) and subantarctic (A. tropicalis) fur seals (AFS and SFS, respectively, hereafter), two phenotypically similar sister species with large differences in duration of lactation. AFS breed mainly on islands south of the Antarctic Polar Front, while SFS do so mainly on islands just north of it, but they breed sympatrically in three groups of islands: Macquarie Island, Iles Crozet, and the Prince Edward Islands (Bonner 1999). Lactation is 116 days long in AFS (Costa et al. 1988; Lunn et al. 1993) and 300 days long in SFS (Kerley 1987; Guinet and Georges 2000), and this trait appears to be constant throughout their distribution. SFS pups were shown to have lower energy requirements and higher body fat stores, compared to AFS pups (Arnould et al. 2003), even though rate of milk consumption was only slightly higher in AFS. Therefore, AFS females have <50% of the time that SFS females have for investing in their offspring, but their offspring's energy demands may be higher (Arnould et al. 2003). Understanding how individuals of these species forage when in sympatry, yet under such different pressures, can thus help reveal which elements of

D Springer

foraging behaviour are species-specific and relatively invariant, and which ones are plastic and adaptively responsive to environmental influences.

The foraging ecology of AFS and SFS has been studied at various locations throughout their range, over several time scales. The diet of AFS varies geographically, with Antarctic krill (Euphausia superba) being the main food resource in the southern Atlantic Ocean (South Georgia, Doidge and Croxall 1985; Reid and Arnould 1996; Bouvetøya, Kirkman et al. 2000), although fish complements their diet along the Antarctic peninsula (Casaux et al. 2003) and South Shetland Islands (Daneri 1996). In the southern Indian Ocean, fish is the main prey (Marion Island, Klages and Bester 1998; Iles Kerguelen, Lea et al. 2002a; Heard Island, Green et al. 1997). Based on scat analyses, SFS at Marion Island feed predominantly on myctophid fish (Klages and Bester 1998), although stomach content analyses suggest that at Marion (Ferreira and Bester 1999) and Gough (Bester and Laycock 1985) islands they feed mostly on cephalopods and on myctophid fish at Amsterdam Island (Beauplet et al. 2004). Some studies suggest that such intraspecific dietary differences are related to the analytical techniques used, but are also associated with differences in dive behaviour, both in terms of depth and diel activity patterns (AFS at South Georgia, Croxall et al. 1985; Boyd and Croxall 1992; AFS at Iles Kerguelen, Lea et al. 2002b; SFS at Amsterdam Island, Georges et al. 2000b).

If foraging behaviour is mainly determined by prey ecology, then dietarily similar sympatric fur seal species would be expected to differ little in foraging behaviour. At the level of entire foraging trips, this expectation has been supported in studies of AFS and SFS at Macquarie Island (Goldsworthy et al. 1997; Goldsworthy 1999; Robinson et al. 2002) and Iles Crozet (Bailleul et al. 2005). The species were similar in diet at Macquarie Island and exhibited similar foraging behaviour at both sites, with females diving close to the surface, mostly at night. Summer foraging areas of the species also overlapped considerably. Other data from Marion (Bester and Bartlett 1990; Kirkman et al. 2002, 2003) and Macquarie islands (Goldsworthy 1999; Robinson et al. 2002) suggest there are no interspecific differences in the duration of foraging trips, except at Iles Crozet, where AFS made longer trips (Bailleul et al. 2005).

To date, comparisons of foraging behaviour of AFS and SFS have used the scale of the foraging trip (Bester and Bartlett 1990; Robinson et al. 2002; Kirkman et al. 2003; Bailleul et al. 2005). However, such a scale may not reveal ecologically important interspecific differences on finer scales. Night diving by fur seals is linked to the diel vertical migration of their prey (Croxall et al. 1985; Gentry 1998; Wells et al. 1999), so foraging behaviour optima are expected to show a diel pattern, particularly during the night (Mori 1998). Therefore, important interspecific differences in the

#### Mar Biol (2007) 152:213-224

temporal distribution of dive effort and depth utilization may exist. Determining when and where the species concentrate their foraging effort in the water column, in relation to the prey they exploit, may reveal patterns that are related to their different lactation strategies. Moreover, the presence of overnight and longer foraging trips in both species at some locations raises the question of whether their functions differ. These questions have not been addressed, so the objectives of this study were to compare: (1) maternal attendance and foraging trip durations; (2) diel patterns in diving, and how they vary between overnight and longer foraging trips; and (3) diet of sympatric AFS and SFS at Iles Crozet. Because of their briefer lactation and the physiological differences between AFS and SFS pups outlined above, AFS females were expected to show briefer maternal attendance periods and foraging-trip durations. For the same reasons, they also were expected to spend greater effort while diving.

#### Materials and methods

#### Fur seal study colonies

Research was carried out at La Mare Aux Elephants (MAE;  $46^{\circ} 22'29''$  S,  $51^{\circ} 40'13''$  E), at the western end of Ile de la Possession, Crozet archipelago, Southern Indian Ocean, during the 2001–2002 (December 4th–March 25th) and 2002–2003 (December 1st–March 16th) breeding seasons (2001 and 2002 hereafter). MAE consists of two adjacent AFS and SFS colonies, which are on different types of substrate. AFS used the northern part of the beach, composed of small- to medium-sized pebbles, with gentle slopes behind; while SFS used the southern part of the beach, composed of large boulders eroded from the steep hinterlands. Both species gave birth close to shore, but the AFS colony grew in size as the season progressed, while the other species tended to remain close to shore during the same period.

A total of 277 (AFS: 153, SFS: 124) pups were individually marked as previously described (Georges and Guinet 2000a; Arnould et al. 2003; Bailleul et al. 2005). Pup production and mean date of pupping were estimated using total pup counts (both years; including dead and living pups) on a weekly basis until no more births were observed. Peak pupping dates were 5 and 15 December (164 and 167 pups in 2001 and 2002, respectively) for AFS, and 25 and 30 December (80 and 91 pups in 2001 and 2002, respectively) for SFS. Therefore, there were inter-annual differences of up to 10 days, which suggests large environmental differences between study years (Lunn and Boyd 1993). However, Lunn and Boyd (1993) suggested that variation in pupping date at Bird Island, South Georgia, may reflect differences in environmental conditions during late gestation, rather than postpartum, which is our study period, so inter-annual differences in foraging behaviour were not fully analysed. Populations of both species have been increasing at an annual rate of about 18%, at least until 1994 (Guinet et al. 1994).

#### Instrumentation, maternal attendance and diving behaviour

Animal capture and handling procedures were described in Bailleul et al. (2005) Briefly, lactating females of each species were captured on land during their nursing visits. Each individual was weighed to the nearest kg, and placed on a restraint board for attachment of instruments. One of 3 different time-depth recorder (TDR) models was glued to the dorsal fur between the scapulae, using a two-component glue (AW 2101 Ciba Specialty Chemicals): MK5, MK7, and MK8 (Wildlife Computers, Redmond, Washington, USA). There were no significant differences in foraging trip duration, dive depth, nor dive duration between animals instrumented with different TDR models (P > 0.5 in all cases), so data from the three models were pooled for interspecific comparison purposes. TDRs were programmed to record time and depth every 5 s when the seals were at sea, with a 1 m depth resolution. The characteristics and composition of sampled females are summarized in Table 1. Instruments were left on the seals for 1-11 foraging trips, and were recovered by cutting the fur beneath them, upon the seals' return to the colony.

TDR data were downloaded to a portable computer on the same day the instrument was recovered, to allow redeployment of TDRs on different individuals. Visualization and analyses of the resulting regular time series of dive data were performed using custom written software, available as GNU R (R development Core Team 2006) package dive-Move (Luque 2007). Before analyses, depth readings were corrected for shifts in the pressure transducer of the TDR. Sections of each record were identified as foraging trips if continuous wet activity (i.e. continuous depth readings) was recorded for at least 6 h. This limit was imposed to

Table 1 Summary of data on lactating female Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals fitted with time-depth recorders (TDRs) on lles Crozet, in the breeding seasons of 2001–2002 and 2002–2003

Species	Breeding season	Body mass (kg)	TDR model				Foraging
			MK5	MK7	MK8	All	trips
AFS	2001	33.2 ± 0.44	5	16	16	37	102
	2002	$31.6 \pm 0.58$	3	4	5	12	30
	Both	32.7 ± 0.36	8	20	21	49	132
SFS	2001	$30.6 \pm 0.55$	3	17	17	37	113
	2002	$30.4\pm0.78$	2	4	4	10	32
	Both	$30.5 \pm 0.45$	5	21	21	47	145

D Springer

## 216

exclude short excursions to sea, for activities other than foraging because they contained isolated shallow dives and mainly surface behaviour, in contrast to the bout-organized dives typical of longer excursions (Mori et al. 2001). Therefore, maternal attendance and foraging trip durations were obtained from TDR records.

Dives were defined as departures from the surface to depths  $\geq 4$  m plus the ensuing return to the surface. Dives to lower depths were not considered because they were indistinguishable from noise remaining after adjustment of pressure transducer drifts, which was greater than the resolution of the instrument (Beck et al. 2000). Each dive was divided into descent, bottom, and ascent phases, where: (1) descent started at the surface and ended when no further increases in depth were detected; (2) ascent was defined from the end of the dive and, with the reversed time series, ending when no further increases in depth were detected; and (3) the bottom was the period between descent and ascent phases. Dives were subsequently described by duration, maximal depth, and post-dive duration. The duration of each phase of the dive, the vertical distance covered during descent and ascent, and the cumulative vertical displacements ("wiggles") during the bottom phase also were computed by the program. These basic dive descriptors were used to estimate descent and ascent rates as  $r = \delta x / \delta t$ , where r is the rate (m/s),  $\delta x$  is vertical distance, and  $\delta t$  is the duration of the corresponding phase.

Dive rate was used as an index of diving effort, calculated as the sum of ascent and descent distances, plus the vertical distance covered during the bottom phase, divided by total night time spent at sea. The index has been used previously to estimate vertical distance travelled per unit time (Costa and Gales 2000). For comparison with previous studies, a second index of diving effort was calculated as the total time spent diving, divided by the total night time spent at sea. Total night time at sea was calculated following algorithms available from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) at http://www.srrb. noaa.gov/highlights/sunrise/sunrise.html.

#### Diet

Scat samples, weighing an average of 50 g, were collected at each species' colony during January and February 2002 (2001 breeding season). Although species were spatially segregated on land, seals of both species occasionally used the periphery of the colony to commute between land and sea. Therefore, samples were collected only within core areas used by lactating females and pups of each species. Samples were frozen at  $-20^{\circ}$ C, until laboratory analysis.

In the laboratory, scat samples were thawed overnight in warm water, and washed through 1 and 0.5 mm diameter mesh sieves. Remains of fish (otoliths, scales and bones),

D Springer

#### Mar Biol (2007) 152:213-224

cephalopod (beaks), mollusc (shells), bird (feathers), and invertebrates were sorted under a dissecting microscope and stored in 70% alcohol until identification. Remains were identified to the species level where possible, using available guides (Clarke 1986; Williams and McEldowney 1990; Smale et al. 1995) and our own reference collection at CEBC, Chizé, France. Standard length of the most frequent prey for each fur seal species was estimated using available regression equations (Williams and McEldowney 1990) of fish length against measured otolith standard length (to the nearest mm). Diet was quantified by calculating the relative numerical abundance of each prey taxon (number of individuals found relative to the total number of individuals), and frequency of occurrence of each taxon (number of samples containing the item divided by the total number of samples).

#### Statistical analyses

Dives from the same seal were not independent of one another. Furthermore, the number of foraging trips, and hence the number of dives per individual were not the same. To give each seal the same statistical weights in analyses, and to avoid pseudoreplication, the mean of each dive variable was calculated per individual during initial foraging-trip scale analyses, thus allowing comparison with other studies (Hurlbert 1984). The mean also was used to represent data from each individual and each hour of the day, for studying diel variation in foraging behaviour.

Variability in dive depth was used as a measure of how closely AFS and SFS followed the vertical movements of prey, if they consumed the same prey species, or else as a measure of variability in prey vertical movements. To test for differences in this variability, the coefficient of variation (CV) was calculated for each individual, and a one-way Analysis of Variance was used to test whether it differed between species.

Results are presented as means  $\pm$  SE, unless noted otherwise. The Shapiro-Wilks statistic and Fligner-Killeen test were used to evaluate assumptions of normality of data distributions and homogeneity of variances, respectively, prior to analyses of variance. Effects of foraging-trip duration, species, and their interaction, on each dive variable were tested using linear mixed-effects models (Pinheiro and Bates 2000). Dietary differences were tested using twosample Wilcoxon tests. All analyses were carried out in the GNU R system (R development Core Team 2006).

#### Results

We obtained data for >250 foraging trips from >90 females, split roughly equally between the species (AFS, n = 49;

#### Mar Biol (2007) 152:213-224

SFS, n = 47; 1–11 per female Table 1). Data from two SFS females deployed in winter 2003 (June 11th–July 15th) to determine their foraging behaviour during late lactation, were analysed but excluded from interspecific comparisons, because no additional SFS females could be instrumented then.

Maternal attendance and foraging-trip duration

Most seals departed the colony to forage at sea between 17:00 and 20:00 local time, although departures during all afternoon were observed for AFS (Fig. 1). Arrival times were more variable, but occurred mostly during the morning for both species. AFS females departed from the colony significantly earlier in the afternoon (Kruskal–Wallis  $\chi^2 = 27.56$ , P < 0.001), and returned to it later in the morning ( $\chi^2 = 26.48$ , P < 0.001). Median departure and arrival times were 17:30 and 09:31 for AFS, and 18:39 and 06:44 for SFS, respectively.

A subsample of 70 seals for which complete foraging cycles (i.e. foraging trip and the subsequent maternal attendance) were documented, showed that AFS spent significantly more time at sea ( $F_{1, 68} = 7.69$ , P = 0.007, arcsine transformed data) and a larger proportion of their foraging cycle at sea than SFS (AFS:  $77.5\% \pm 0.30$ , n = 36; SFS:  $66.2\% \pm 0.54$ , n = 34). The proportion of time at sea did not vary significantly throughout the breeding season (P > 0.1 for both AFS and SFS).

Foraging trips lasted from 0.3 to 32 days, but with a highly skewed right distribution, and an absence of trips of durations 1.00–1.25 days (Fig. 2). Furthermore, 43% of all trips lasted <1 day, so a distinction between foraging trips lasting <1 day and >1 day was necessary. Brief, overnight foraging trips (OFT) were significantly more frequent for SFS (48 vs. 28% for AFS, Pearson's  $\chi^2 = 5.15$ , P = 0.02, Table 2).

Although an analysis of inter-annual variation was not the focus of this study, a comparison of durations of long forag-

Flg. 1 Sympatric lactating female Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals at lles Crozet differ significantly in times of morning returns from foraging trips (*left*) and of afternoon departures for foraging trips (*right*). Shaded area time between dusk and dawn; dashed vertical lines median times



Fig. 2 Frequency distributions of foraging-trip durations for sympatric lactating female Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals at lles Crozet are variable and highly skewed. A discontinuity in duration is apparent (*arrows*), which was used to distinguish between brief and long trips (see text). Data were binned at 0.25 days

ing trips (LFT) between years did not differ significantly for either species (Kruskal-Wallis test, P > 0.1). Therefore, inter-annual variation in foraging and maternal attendance behaviour was not considered in subsequent analyses.

OFTs were not limited to any particular period of the breeding season because seals alternated irregularly between OFTs and LFTs throughout that period (Fig. 3, upper). OFTs averaged approximately half a day in duration and did not differ significantly between species (Table 2). However, LFTs were about 50% significantly longer in SFS females (Table 2). LFTs increased significantly in duration over the breeding season (slope =  $0.92 h \times d^{-1}$ , P < 0.05),





218

Table 2 Summary of durations of overnight (OFT) and long (LFT) foraging trips, and of the ensuing period ashore, for Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals on Iles Crozet. Mean  $\pm$  SE (N) are shown

Activity	Species	Duration (d)			
		OFT	LFT		
At-sea	AFS	0.52 ± 0.03 (19)	3.47 ± 0.20 (49)		
	SFS	0.48 ± 0.02 (35)	$5.23 \pm 0.51$ (38)		
	F-ratio	$F_{1,52} = 1.72$	$F_{1, 85} = 12.4^{b}$		
Ashore <sup>a</sup>	AFS	0.74 ± 0.17 (17)	$1.18 \pm 0.09$ (31)		
	SFS	1.17 ± 0.12 (28)	1.94 ± 0.19 (19)		
	F-ratio	$F_{1, 43} = 4.63$ b	$F_{1,48} = 16.0^{b}$		

\* Periods ashore were grouped according to duration of the preceding foraging trip

<sup>b</sup> P < 0.01 between species



Fig. 3 Long foraging trips increased in duration over the breeding season (upper) but periods of maternal attendance on land did not (lower), for sympatric lactating female Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals at lles Crozet. Lines represent fitted linear regressions. The thin gray dashed line (upper) at 1 day separates overnight and long foraging trips

although variation was large  $(r^2 = 0.29)$ ; rate of increase was similar between species (ANCOVA  $F_{1, 81} = 2.67$ , P = 0.11, Fig. 3). Data from two SFS individual females in winter included one foraging trip each, with a duration of 30.2 and 31.9 days, respectively, much greater than values recorded during the summer.

Maternal attendances were significantly longer in SFS, following either OFTs or LFTs (Table 2). Concomitant

D Springer

Mar Biol (2007) 152:213-2
---------------------------

Table 3 Overall summary of diving behaviour of Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals on Iles Crozet. Mean  $\pm$  SE (N) are shown

Dive variable <sup>a</sup>	AFS	SFS	F-ratio
Total number of dives	59,636	56,795	
Night dives (% of total)	97.8 ± 0.04	98.5 ± 0.04	4.71 <sup>b</sup>
Mean dive depth (m)	29.2 ± 0.24	39.7 ± 0.31	14.3°
Median dive depth (m)	$23.7 \pm 0.33$	39.9 ± 0.39	19.8 <sup>c</sup>
Maximum dive depth (m)	122.9 ± 0.66	99.8 ± 0.34	17.4 <sup>c</sup>
Deepest dive (m)	193	141	
Mean dive duration (s)	$78.5 \pm 0.42$	93.2 ± 0.46	10.6 <sup>b</sup>
Median dive duration (s)	$74.5 \pm 0.57$	94.5 ± 0.57	11.5°
Maximum dive duration (s)	$219.0 \pm 0.63$	206.9 ± 0.58	3.77
Longest dive (s)	295	310	
Mean descent rate (m s <sup>-1</sup> )	0.92 ± 0.003	$1.07 \pm 0.004$	19.9 <sup>c</sup>
Mean ascent rate (m s <sup>-1</sup> )	1.07 ± 0.004	1.23 ± 0.005	12.6°
Mean bottom time (s)	$31.8 \pm 0.14$	36.4 ± 0.19	7.1 <sup>b</sup>
Time spent diving at night (% of night time)	34.5 ± 0.19	33.4 ± 0.17	0.29
Night dive rate (m h <sup>-1</sup> )	988.5 ± 7.84	1,116.6 ± 8.97	2.23

\* For each individual, the mean was used to avoid pseudoreplication

<sup>b</sup> P < 0.05 between species

<sup>c</sup> P < 0.001 between species

with these differences, female seals stayed ashore longer after LFTs than after OFTs ( $F_{1, 93} = 10.2$ , P = 0.002; non-

significant species  $\times$  trip-type interaction, P > 0.1).

#### Diving behaviour

Information from 133,010 dives was obtained from all seals overall, but 16,579 of those were from two individuals deployed in winter, so 116,431 were from the summer (Table 3). Diving was restricted almost entirely to the night in both species. While at sea at night, both species dove 34% of the available time, on average.

Overall, diving behaviour differed significantly between species, with SFS diving deeper and for longer periods (Table 3). However, maximal dive depths were higher for AFS. Mean rates of descent and ascent, as well as time spent at the bottom, were higher in SFS. Despite those differences, both species spent nearly the same effort when diving, as no significant differences were found in time spent diving (mean, 34%) or the rate of diving (mean, 1,053 m  $\times$  h<sup>-1</sup>) during the night.

Seasonal changes in diving behaviour were apparent for SFS, as the two lactating females instrumented during winter showed reduced mean diving depths and durations (24.6  $\pm$  0.38 m and 80.2  $\pm$  5.6 s, respectively), compared to summer values. Maximal dive durations increased to 337.5  $\pm$  8.8 s. Diving was mainly nocturnal (mean, 99.1%), as during the summer.

#### Mar Biol (2007) 152:213-224

Diving behaviour varied significantly with type of foraging trip (OFT vs. LFT, linear mixed effects models, P < 0.05 all cases), and this factor did not show any significant interactions with species for any of the dive attributes studied (P > 0.05 all cases). However, the inclusion of this factor did not affect interspecific comparisons. During OFTs, seals dove to significantly greater depths, for longer periods ( $F_{1, 46} = 28.7$  and  $F_{1, 46} = 40.0$ , P < 0.001 both cases). The deepest and longest dives for each seal were recorded during OFTs (Table 4). Similarly, mean descent and ascent ( $F_{1, 46} = 8.4$ ,  $F_{1, 46} = 9.9$ ) plus nocturnal dive rates ( $F_{1, 46} = 5.4$ ), were significantly greater during OFTs (P < 0.05 all cases).

Table 4 Quantitative summary of diving behaviour of Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals on Iles Crozet, during overnight (OFT) and long (LFT) foraging trips. Mean  $\pm$  SE (N) are shown

Dive variable <sup>b</sup>	AFS	SFS
OFT		
Total number of dives	4,088	8,573
Mean dive depth (m)	29.7 ± 0.25	37.8 ± 0.35
Median dive depth (m)	24.2 ± 0.33	$37.4 \pm 0.46$
Maximum dive depth (m)	122.0 ± 0.67	99.9 ± 0.36
Deepest dive (m)	193	141
Mean dive duration (s)	78.7 ± 0.44	88.1 ± 0.51
Median dive duration (s)	$74.5 \pm 0.58$	88.3 ± 0.66
Maximum dive duration (s)	$218.2 \pm 0.65$	207.2 ± 0.69
Longest dive (s)	295	310
Mean descent rate (m s <sup>-1</sup> )	0.92 ± 0.003	$1.07 \pm 0.004$
Mean ascent rate (m s <sup>-1</sup> )	$1.08 \pm 0.004$	$1.23 \pm 0.006$
Mean bottom time (s)	31.5 ± 0.15	$34.9 \pm 0.22$
Time spent diving at night (% of night time)	35.4 ± 0.20	33.1 ± 0.21
Night dive rate (m h <sup>-1</sup> )	$1,008.9 \pm 8.17$	1,105.8 ± 10.92
LFT		
Total number of dives	54,850	48,064
Mean dive depth (m)	$29.6 \pm 0.89$	43.7 ± 0.48
Median dive depth (m)	29.7 ± 1.10	45.7 ± 0.57
Maximum dive depth (m)	92.1 ± 1.78	89.3 ± 0.70
Deepest dive (m)	151	134
Mean dive duration (s)	90.6 ± 1.37	$103.7 \pm 0.72$
Median dive duration (s)	94.6 ± 1.79	$108.0 \pm 0.86$
Maximum dive duration (s)	185.0 ± 1.40	$180.2 \pm 1.03$
Longest dive (s)	220	255
Mean descent rate (m s <sup>-1</sup> )	0.80 ± 0.01	1.04 ± 0.006
Mean ascent rate (m s <sup>-1</sup> )	$0.93 \pm 0.02$	$1.22 \pm 0.008$
Mean bottom time (s)	39.6 ± 0.56	$39.5 \pm 0.38$
Time spent diving at night (% of night time)	34.5 ± 0.68	33.1 ± 0.34
Night dive rate (m h <sup>-1</sup> )	833.2 ± 24.16	$1,082.4 \pm 14.68$

Despite the trends just reported on, median dive depth was shallower ( $F_{1, 46} = 5.5$ , P = 0.02), and mean and median dive duration ( $F_{1, 46} = 17.0$  and  $F_{1, 46} = 20.7$ ), as well as mean bottom time ( $F_{1, 46} = 20.5$ ) were briefer during OFTs (P < 0.001 in all cases). Mean dive depth and time spent diving at night did not vary with type of foraging trip (P > 0.1 all cases).

219

Differences in diving behaviour between foraging trip types and between species became more evident when diel patterns in dive depth and duration were considered (Fig. 4). During OFTs, AFS females dove to mean depths of 28 m for most of the night, but increased dive depths to 61 m at dawn. In contrast, SFS females began diving at dusk to relatively shallow depths (24 m), but dive depths increased steadily to mean depths of 48 m at midnight, and decreased thereafter to mean depths of 39 m (Fig. 4a). Nonetheless, the coefficient of variation (CV) in dive depth between dusk and dawn was similar between species during OFTs ( $F_{1,52} = 0.004$ , P = 0.95). Dive duration followed a similar pattern during these short trips, when AFS females made the longest dives at dusk and dawn. Dive durations were much less variable throughout the night among SFS females, despite relatively large changes in dive depths (Fig. 4b).



Fig. 4 Diel patterns in depth (a) and duration (b) of foraging dives differed between sympatric lactating female Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals at 1Les Crozet, for overnight (OFT, right) and long (LFT, left) foraging trips. Values are mean  $\pm$  SE

<sup>b</sup> For each individual, the mean was used to avoid pseudoreplication long (LFT,

D Springer

220

Diel changes in dive depth differed between LFTs and OFTs (Fig. 4). AFS females made their deepest dives at dusk and dawn (mean 44 and 65 m, respectively), but dove to relatively shallow depths (mean 28 m) for most of the night. Dive depths varied little from dusk until the end of the night in SFS (mean 37 m), and they increased to approximately 48 m at dawn (Fig. 4a). Concomitant with these differences, the CV of nocturnal dive depths during LFTs was higher in AFS ( $F_{1, 96} = 17.1$ , P < 0.001). Again, dive durations followed approximately the same pattern in AFS, with the longest dives at dusk and dawn, and the briefest dives in the middle of the night. Dive durations of SFS females were similar to, though less pronounced than, those of AFS (Fig. 4b).

Dive rates were lowest at dusk and dawn, regardless of foraging-trip type or species. However, they showed different diel patterns between species and between foraging-trip types (Fig. 5a). While on OFTs, dive rates varied greatly for SFS, being highest in the middle of the night and higher than those of AFS during that period. Dive rates were more homogeneous in LFTs for both species, but were again higher for SFS in the middle of the night. They showed peaks at dusk and dawn for AFS, associated with the deeper dives they performed during those hours. Changes in time



Fig. 5 Diel patterns in nocturnal dive rate (vertical meters travelled per night hour (a)), and time spent diving (b) differed between sympatric lactating Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals at lles Crozet, for overnight (OFT, right) and long (LFT, left) foraging trips. Values are mean  $\pm$  SE

Springer

spent diving per hour of night showed the same differences between foraging-trip types, although differences between species were evident only for the hours following dusk and prior to dawn in LFTs (Fig. 5b).

SFS females instrumented in winter dove close to the surface between dusk and dawn, and at considerably lower mean depths (15–30 m) than those in summer. Winter dive durations were 50–110 s, with the longest dives after midnight and before dawn. Mean dive rates and time spent diving varied greatly, but were relatively constant throughout the night at 80 m  $\times$  h<sup>-1</sup>, and 90 s  $\times$  h<sup>-1</sup>, respectively; considerably lower than in summer.

#### Diet

A total of 82 scat samples were analysed (41 from each fur seal species), yielding 2,354 sagittal otoliths, 143 cephalopod beaks, and 22 crustacean remains useful for identification. Species from the family Myctophidae dominated the fish component of the diet of both species (90.8 and 92.2% of total number of prey, respectively). The genus *Gymnoscopelus* was the most common representative of that family (AFS: 71.1%; SFS: 70.0%, Fig. 6), and seven other fish species (from 7 families) were also identified, albeit in very low numbers (<1%). Seven species of cephalopod were also identified, but only one of them represented >1% of all prey numbers (Fig. 6).

AFS and SFS consumed the same prey species, but in different proportions ( $\chi^2 = 213.2$ , P < 0.001; test based on ten species for which relative numbers were larger than 5 for both fur seal species). The difference was due to differences in the proportions of *Gymnoscopelus* species (*G. fraseri*, *G. piabilis*, *G. nicholsi*, and other unidentified species) and, to a lesser extent, *Electrona subaspera* and the brachioteuthid cephalopod *Slosarczykovia circumantarctica* (Fig. 6). SFS consumed *G. fraseri* and *E. subaspera* in higher numerical proportions than did AFS, and *G. nicholsi* and the cephalopod *S. circumantarctica* were more common in the diet of AFS.

Based on regression analysis of otolith size (see Materials and methods), standard length of *G. fraseri* consumed by the two fur seal species was similar (AFS,  $82.8 \pm 6.3 \text{ mm}$ , n = 12; SFS,  $81.5 \pm 6.4 \text{ mm}$ , n = 102; Mann-Whitney, U = 645.0, P = 0.76). *G. piabilis* consumed by AFS was slightly larger ( $132.5 \pm 9.8 \text{ mm}$ , n = 14), but not significantly so (U = 776.5, P = 0.07), than that consumed by SFS ( $129.7 \pm 7.7 \text{ mm}$ , n = 85).

#### Discussion

Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals are locally sympatric (syntopic) at Macquarie Island, Marion Island, and Iles

# B Published chapters and sections

Mar Biol (2007) 152:213-224

Fig. 6 Percentage by number (of total prey items) and relative frequency of occurrence of identified prey in scat samples of Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals from MAE, Iles Crozet. Only those species with relative frequency or frequency of occurrence higher than 1% are shown



Crozet, where they feed on the same species. At Macquarie Island and Iles Crozet they were shown to use similar foraging areas, dive to similar depths, and stay submerged for about the same amount of time. These similarities in foraging behaviour have been used to support the notion that prey ecology is the major determinant of the predators' foraging characteristics. However, the large difference in duration of lactation and in pup physiology (e.g. energy budgets and fat stores, as noted above) suggested to us that some interspecific differences in foraging ecology must occur. The results of the present study revealed interspecific differences in foraging behaviour which were not previously evident from foraging-trip scale analyses.

# Differences in maternal attendance and foraging-trip duration

Several studies have used the interval between departure from the colony and the first dive as an indication of travel time to the first foraging patch (Boyd et al. 1991; Page et al. 2005). In out study, the late afternoon departure and early morning arrival from the colony for most individuals indicated that both species travelled to foraging areas close to the colony, because seals dove almost exclusively at night, in common with other fur seals that dive predominantly at night (Gentry and Kooyman 1986). Indeed, this was documented in a previous satellite-tracking study, in which both species were shown to forage 50–100 km from the colony (Bailleul et al. 2005). We observed two distinctly different kinds of foraging trip in both species: brief (OFT) or long (LFT). This also has been observed in these species at Macquarie Island (Goldsworthy 1999). However, mean foraging-trip duration varies both geographically and temporally in AFS (2.5– 13.1 days: Boyd and Croxall 1992; Green 1997; Lea et al. 2002b; Kirkman et al. 2003), and the LFT durations we observed in this study (mean, 3.47 days) fall near the lower end of values in that range. At Marion Island, which has a similar marine environment around it as that found around lles Crozet, LFT durations averaged considerably longer for AFS females: 6.0–9.4 days (Kirkman et al. 2003), suggesting they fed closer to the colony at lles Crozet.

The LFT durations we observed for SFS (mean 5.23 days) were similar to those observed at Marion Island (Kirkman et al. 2002), but much briefer than those observed in an allopatric population at Amsterdam Island, where summer foraging trip durations averaged 11 days (Georges and Guinet 2000b). SFS females at Amsterdam Island forage in the Subtropical Front (Georges et al. 2000a), which is found much farther from the colony, and increasingly so throughout lactation, than the Polar and Subpolar Fronts around Iles Crozet (Sparrow and Heywood 1996), where this species finds food. Therefore, the proximity of these two oceanic fronts around Iles Crozet may account for the briefer durations of foraging-trips in this SFS population. This may also be the case for SFS at Marion Island (Kirkman et al. 2002).

A finding common to all three sites where AFS and SFS breed sympatrically is the longer duration of SFS maternal

2 Springer

attendance, compared to AFS females (Goldsworthy 1999; Bester and Bartlett 1990). Increased frequency of brief foraging trips, and reduced duration of maternal attendance, both suggest higher energy transfer rates to offspring (Boyd et al. 1994; Amould et al. 1996; Boyd 1999). In the Amsterdam Island SFS population, however, pups from mothers making very brief or very long foraging trips suffered reduced growth rates, compared to those from mothers making trips 9-13 days in duration (Georges and Guinet 2000b), so OFTs may not always be the most profitable for mother and pup. Otherwise, females of both species would be expected to use OFTs as much as possible. Therefore, SFS females may have increased the proportion of OFTs at a cost of reducing energy transfer rates to their pups. This foraging strategy may be optimal for species with relatively long lactation, with offspring that must fast for long periods during which they have reduced energy requirements (Arnould et al. 2003). In contrast, lactating female AFS may be under stronger pressure to perform foraging trips >1 days in duration, to transfer sufficient energy to sustain pup activity and growth during maternal absence. Indeed, lactating female AFS spent a greater proportion of their foraging cycle at sea.

#### Interspecific differences in diving behaviour and diet

The major aspects of diving behaviour of lactating female AFS and SFS in our study differed little from allopatric populations of those species (Boyd and Croxall 1992; Georges et al. 2000b; Lea et al. 2002b). However, AFS may have greater versatility in diving behaviour, as they also dive frequently during the light hours in some populations (McCafferty et al. 1998; Lea et al. 2002b); presumably this is related to variation in diet. In contrast, our study and another one carried out at Amsterdam Island, <1% of all SFS dives occurred during light hours, and SFS diet consisted primarily of myctophid fish (Beauplet et al. 2004).

We documented diel changes in dive characteristics, which revealed some fine-scale ecological differences between AFS and SFS: (i) relatively deep and long dusk and dawn diving, with shallow, brief diving for most of the night in AFS, particularly during LFTs, (ii) dives to relatively constant depths and durations for most of the night, with a depth increase at dawn, and dive duration maxima at dusk and dawn during LFTs for SFS, and (iii) deep diving around midnight, decreasing to minima at dusk and dawn, with relatively constant dive duration for most of the night during OFTs for SFS.

These patterns resulted in SFS diving deeper and for longer periods overall. The associated changes in night dive rate and time spent diving also indicated that they concentrated diving efforts at different times of the night. Thus,

D Springer

AFS females focused their diving effort in the hour immediately after dusk and before dawn during LFTs, and in the hours between midnight and dawn during OFTs. In comparison, SFS females progressively increased diving effort between dusk and dawn during LFTs, and concentrated most of it around midnight during OFTs.

The first feature (i) of AFS female dives, noted above, has been considered typical of fur seals closely tracking the vertical migration of their prey (Goebel et al. 1991; Croxall et al. 1985); such as myctophid fish in our study. Most myctophids are known to undergo migrations from deep (200–800 m) layers in the water column during the daytime, to a few tens of metres from the surface at night (Robison 2003). Therefore, the deep crepuscular dives performed by AFS in both types of foraging trip suggest they were following their prey, as they return to their deeper daytime locations.

The diel diving pattern of SFS in LFTs suggests that this species did not follow the vertical migrations of their prey closely (feature ii, as noted above). Consistent with this observation, variability in dive depth throughout the night was lower in SFS, and their dives were concentrated deeper in the water column, so foraging exhibited some vertical segregation between species during LFTs. This was not mirrored in nocturnal dive rates or time spent diving, as diel patterns in those variables were similar between species. The diving behaviour of SFS during LFTs is similar to that of benthic feeding otariids (Costa and Gales 2003; Arnould and Hindell 2001); however, both SFS and AFS are pelagic foragers (Bailleul et al. 2005) and the bottom phase of dives was characterized by numerous "wiggles", which is not typical of benthic feeders. The overall similarity in the diets of both species suggests that they exploit the same prey resource, but in slightly different ways, as they distribute their diving effort differently over time and through the water column.

AFS and SFS females differed most strikingly in OFT diving characteristics. During OFTs, some of these differences resulted in vertical segregation of approximately 20 m around midnight. The nocturnal dive rate at dusk and dawn was very low for these trips among SFS, even lower than among AFS, hence they made very few dives at these times. Consistent with the reduction in diving effort at dawn, SFS females arrived at the colony earlier, and the later arrival of AFS females reflects their greater effort diving deeply at dawn.

The diet and diving behaviour of SFS have only been studied previously at Amsterdam Island. The myctophids consumed there differ greatly from those we identified (Beauplet et al. 2004), with none of the same species being noted. However, diving behaviour is strikingly similar between the two sites. Although OFTs do not occur at Amsterdam Island, LFT dives of SFS from both sites

#### Mar Biol (2007) 152:213-224

showed relatively constant depths throughout the night, and our limited data from winter also show similarities between the two sites. This contrasts with AFS studies showing broad differences in diving behaviour, in association with differences in diet. SFS may thus be less flexible in their diving behaviour than their southern cousins.

The vertical distribution and migration of myctophids consumed by fur seals in waters around Iles Crozet are unknown, but data from Iles Kerguelen (1,400 km to the southeast) provide some indications. The three most important myctophids identified in Iles Crozet fur seal scats have been found in the upper 50 m layer of waters around Iles Kerguelen (Duhamel et al. 2000). G. fraseri shows strong vertical migrations there, but is less abundant than G. nicholsi near the surface at that location. If the same pattern exists around Iles Crozet, it may explain the higher frequency of G. fraseri in SFS and of G. nicholsi in AFS scats. Interestingly, G. nicholsi from that location is richer in lipid content than G. fraseri (18.0 vs. 11.6% wet mass; Lea et al. 2002c). Therefore, AFS may forage more efficiently by trading off the larger abundance of an energetically poorer prey deeper in the water column, for a richer prey closer to the surface. The consequences of such foraging behaviour differences between sympatric fur seals with contrasting lactation durations need to be investigated in terms of mother-offspring energetics.

Acknowledgments This work was possible thanks to the financial and logistic support from the Institut Polaire Français Paul Emile Victor (IPEV), the Draney-Anderson Foundation, and a graduate student fellowship from the Department of Biology of Memorial University (SPL). We are very grateful to the members of the 39th and 40th missions to Iles Crozet, who participated in many aspects of field work. Research was conducted in accordance with the guidelines provided by IPEV.

#### References

- Arnould JPY, Hindell MA (2001) Dive behaviour, foraging locations, and maternal attendance patterns of Australian fur seals (Arctocephalus pusillus doriferus). Can J Zool 79:35-48
- Arnould JPY, Boyd IL, Socha DG (1996) Milk consumption and growth efficiency in Antarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus gazella) pups. Can J Zool 74:254-266
- Arnould JPY, Luque SP, Guinet C, Costa DP, Kingston J, Shaffer SA (2003) The comparative energetics and growth strategies of sympatric Antarctic and Subantarctic fur seal pups at Îles Crozet. J Exp Biol 206:4497-4506
- Bailleul F, Luque SP, Dubroca L, Arnould JPY, Guinet C (2005) Differences in foraging strategy and maternal behaviour between two sympatric fur seal species at the Crozet Islands. Mar Ecol Progress Ser 293:273-282
- Beauplet G, Dubroca L, Guinet C, Cherel Y, Dabin W, Gagne C, Hindell M (2004) Foraging ecology of subantarctic fur seals Arctocephalus tropicalis breeding on Amsterdam Island: seasonal changes in relation to maternal characteristics and pup growth. Mar Ecol Progress Ser 273:211-225

- Beck CA, Bowen WD, Iverson SJ (2000) Seasonal changes in buoyancy and diving behaviour of adult grey seals. J Exp Biol 203:2323-2330
- Bester MN, Bartlett PA (1990) Attendance behaviour of Antarctic and subantarctic fur seal females at Marion Island. Antarct Sci 2:309– 312
- Bester MN, Laycock PA (1985) Cephalopod prey of the Subantarctic fur seal, Arctocephalus tropicalis, at Gough Island. In: Siegfried WR, Condy PR, Laws RM (eds) Antarctic nutrient cycles and food webs. Springer, Berlin, pp 551-554
- Boness DJ, Bowen WD (1996) The evolution of maternal care in pinnipeds. Bioscience 46:645-654
- Bonner N (1999) Seals and sea lions of the world. Blandford, London Boyd IL (1999) Foraging and provisioning in Antarctic fur seals: interannual variability in time-energy budgets. Behav Ecol 10:198-208
- Boyd IL, Croxall JP (1992) Diving behaviour of lactating Antarctic fur seals. Can J Zool 70:919-928
- Boyd IL, Lunn NJ, Barton T (1991) Time budgets and foraging characteristics of lactating Antarctic fur seals. J Anim Ecol 60:577-592
- Boyd IL, Arnould JPY, Barton T, Croxall JP (1994) Foraging behaviour of Antarctic fur seals during periods of contrasting prey abundance. J Anim Ecol 63:703-713
- Casaux R, Baroni A, Arrighetti F, Ramón A, Carlini A (2003) Geographical variation in the diet of the Antarctic fur seal Arctocephalus gazella. Polar Biol 26:753-758
- Clarke MR (1986) A handbook for the identification of squid beaks. Clarendon Press, Oxford
- Costa DP (1991) Reproductive and foraging energetics of pinnipeds: implications for life history patterns. In: Renouf D (ed) The Behavior of Pinnipeds. Chapman and Hall, London, pp 300-344
- Costa DP, Gales NJ (2000) Foraging energetics and diving behavior of lactating New Zealand sea lions, *Phocarctos hookeri*. J Exp Biol 203:3655–3665
- Costa DP, Gales NJ (2003) Energetics of a benthic diver: seasonal foraging ecology of the Australian sea lion, Neophoca cinerea. Ecol Monogr 73:27–43
- Costa DP, Trillmich F, Croxall JP (1988) Intraspecific allometry of neonatal size in the Antarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus gazella). Behav Ecol Sociobiol 22:361-364
- Croxall JP, Everson I, Kooyman GL, Ricketts C, Davis RW (1985) Fur seal diving behaviour in relation to vertical distribution of krill. J Anim Ecol 54:1-8
- Daneri GA (1996) Fish diet of the Antarctic fur seal, Arctocephalus gazella, in summer, at Stranger Point, King George Island, South Shetland Islands. Polar Biol 16:353-355
- Doidge DW, Croxall JP (1985) Diet and energy budget of the Antarctic fur seal, Arctocephalus gazella, at South Georgia. In: Siegfried WR, Condy PR, Laws RM (eds) Antarctic nutrient cycles and food webs. Springer, Berlin, pp 543-550
- Duhamel G, Koubbi P, Ravier C (2000) Day and night mesopelagic fish assemblages off the Kerguelen Islands. Polar Biol 23:106-112
- Ferreira SM, Bester MN (1999) Chemical immobilization, physical restraint, and stomach lavaging of fur seals (Arctocephalus spp.) at Marion Island. S Afr J Wildl Res 29:55-61
- Gales R, Pemberton D (1994) Diet of the Australian fur seal in Tasmania. Aust J Mar Freshw Res 45:653-664
- Gentry RL (1998) Behavior and ecology of the northern fur seal. Princeton University Press, Princeton
- Gentry RL, Kooyman GL (1986) Fur seals: maternal strategies on land and at sea. Princeton University Press, Princeton
- Gentry RL, Costa DP, Croxall JP, David JHM, Davis RW, Kooyman GL, Majluf P, McCann TS, Trillmich F (1986) Synthesis and conclusions. In: Gentry RL, Kooyman GL (eds) Fur seals: maternal

D Springer

223

#### Mar Biol (2007) 152:213-224

strategies on land and at sea. Princeton University Press, Princeton, pp 220-264

224

- Georges JY, Guinet C (2000a) Early mortality and perinatal growth in the subantarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus tropicalis) on Amsterdam Island. J Zool (Lond) 251:277-287
- Georges JY, Guinet C (2000b) Maternal care in the Subantarctic fur seals on Amsterdam Island. Ecology 81:295-308
- Georges JY, Bonadonna F, Guinet C (2000a) Foraging habitat and diving activity of lactating Subantarctic fur seals in relation to seasurface temperatures at Amsterdam Island. Mar Ecol Progress Ser 196:291-304
- Georges JY, Tremblay Y, Guinet C (2000b) Seasonal diving behaviour in lactating Subantarctic fur seals on Amsterdam Island. Polar Biol 23:59-69
- Goebel ME, Bengtson JL, DeLong RL, Gentry RL, Loughlin TR (1991) Diving patterns and foraging locations of female northern fur seals. Fishery Bull 89:171-179
- Goldsworthy SD (1999) Maternal attendance behaviour of sympatrically breeding Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals, Arctocephalus spp., at Macquarie Island. Polar Biol 21:316-325
- Goldsworthy SD, Hindell MA, Crowley HM (1997) Diet and diving behaviour of sympatric fur seals Arctocephalus gazella and A. tropicalis at Macquarie Island. In: Hindell MA, Kemper C (eds) Marine mammal research in the Southern hemisphere: status, ecology and medicine, vol 1. Surrey Beatty & Sons, Chipping Norton, pp 151-163
- Green K (1997) Diving behaviour of Antarctic fur seals Arctocephalus gazella Peters around Heard Island. In: Hindell MA, Kemper C (eds) Marine mammal research in the Southern hemisphere: status, ecology and medicine, vol 1. Surrey Beatty & Sons, Chipping Norton, pp 97-104
- Green K, Williams R, Burton HR (1997) Foraging ecology of Antarctic fur seals Arctocephalus gazella Peters around Heard Island. In: Hindell MA, Kemper C (eds) Marine mammal research in the Southern hemisphere: status, ecology and medicine, vol 1. Surrey Beatty & Sons, Chipping Norton, pp 105-113
- Guinet C, Georges JY (2000) Growth in pups of the subantarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus tropicalis) on Amsterdam Island. J Zool (Lond) 251:289-296
- Guinet C, Jouventin P, Georges JY (1994) Long term population changes of fur seals Arctocephalus gazella and Arctocephalus tropicalis on subantarctic (Crozet) and subtropical (St. Paul and Amsterdam) islands and their possible relationship to El Niño Southern Oscillation. Antarct Sci 6:473-478
- Hurlbert SH (1984) Pseudoreplication and the design of ecological field experiments. Ecol Monogr 54:187-211
- Kerley GIH. (1987) Arctocephalus tropicalis on the Prince Edward islands. In Croxall JP, Gentry RL (eds) NOAA Technical Report NMFS 51, US Department of Commerce, pp 61-64
- Kirkman SP, Bester MN, Hofmeyr GJG, Pistorius PA, Makhado AB (2002) Pup growth and maternal attendance patterns in Subantarctic fur seals. Afr Zool 37:13–19
- Kirkman SP, Bester MN, Makhado AB, Pistorius PA (2003) Female attendance patterns of Antarctic fur seals at Marion Island. Afr Zool 38:402-405
- Kirkman SP, Wilson W, Klages NTW, Bester MN, Isaksen K (2000) Diet and estimated food consumption of Antarctic fur seals at Bouvetoya during summer. Polar Biol 23:745-752
- Klages NTW, Bester MN (1998) Fish prey of fur seals Arctocephalus spp. at subantarctic Marion Island. Mar Biol 131:559-566

- Lea MA, Cherel Y, Guinet C, Nichols PD (2002a) Antarctic fur seals foraging in the Polar Frontal zone: inter-annual shifts in diet as shown from fecal and fatty acid analyses. Mar Ecol Progress Ser 245:281-297
- Lea MA, Hindell M, Guinet C, Goldsworthy S (2002b) Variability in the diving activity of Antarctic fur seals, Arctocephalus gazella, at lles Kerguelen. Polar Biol 25:269–279
- Lea MA, Nichols PD, Wilson G (2002c) Fatty acid composition of lipid-rich myctophids and mackerel fish (*Champsocephalus* gunnari)—Southern Ocean food-web implications. Polar Biol 25:843-854
- Lunn NJ, Boyd IL (1993) Influence of maternal characteristics and environmental variation on reproduction in Antarctic fur seals. In: Boyd IL (ed) Symposia of the Zoological Society of London, vol 66. Clarendon Press, Oxford, pp 115-129
- Lunn NJ, Boyd IL, Barton T, Croxall JP (1993) Factors affecting the growth rate and mass at weaning of Antarctic fur seals at Bird island, South Georgia. J Mammal 74:908-919
- Luque SP (2007). Diving behaviour analysis in R. R News 7 (in press) McCafferty DJ, Boyd IL, Walker TR, Taylor R1 (1998) Foraging re-
- sponses of Antarchic fur seals to changes in the marine environment. Mar Ecol Progress Ser 166:285-299
- Mori Y (1998) Optimal choice of foraging depth in divers. J Zool (Lond) 245:279-283
- Mori Y, Yoda K, Sato K (2001) Defining dive bouts using a sequential differences analysis. Behaviour 138:1451-1466
- Ochoa-Acuña H, Francis JM (1995) Spring and summer prey of the Juan Fernández fur seal, Arctocephalus philippii. Can J Zool 73:1444-1452
- Page B, McKenzie J, Goldsworthy SD (2005) Inter-sexual differences in New Zealand fur seal behaviour. Mar Ecol Progress Ser 304:249-264
- Pinheiro JC, Bates DM (2000) Mixed-effects models in S and S-PLUS. Springer, Heidelberg
- R development Core Team (2006) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna. ISBN 3-900051-00-3. http://www.R-project.org
- Reid K, Arnould JPY (1996) The diet of Antarctic fur seals Arctocephalus gazella during the breeding season at South Georgia. Polar Biol 16:105-114
- Robinson SA, Goldsworthy SD, van den Hoff J, Hindell MA (2002) The foraging ecology of two sympatric fur seal species, Arctocephalus gazella and Arctocephalus tropicalis, at Macquarie Island during the austral summer. Mar Freshw Res 53:1071-1082
- Robison BH (2003) What drives the diel vertical migrations of Antarctic midwater fish? J Mar Biol Assoc U K 83:639-642
- Schulz TM (2004) Pinniped lactation strategies: evaluation of data on maternal and offspring life history traits. Mar Mammal Sci 20:86-114
- Smale MJ, Watson G, Hecht T (1995) Otolith atlas of southern African marine fishes. JBL Smith Institute of Ichthyology, Grahamstown
- Sparrow MD, Heywood KJ (1996) Current structure of the south Indian Ocean. J Geophys Res 101:6377–6391
- Wells RS, Boness DJ, Rathbun GB, Rommel SA (1999) Behavior. In: Reynolds JE III (ed) Biology of marine mammals, Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, pp 324-422
- Williams D, McEldowney A (1990) A guide to the fish otoliths from the waters off the Australian Antarctic Territory, Heard and Maquarie Islands. ANARE Res Notes 75:1-173

D Springer

B Published chapters and sections

# B.2 Maximum likelihood method for identifying diving bouts

Luque SP, Guinet C (2007) A maximum likelihood approach for identifying dive bouts improves accuracy, precision and objectivity *Behaviour* 144: 1315-1332

# A maximum likelihood approach for identifying dive bouts improves accuracy, precision and objectivity

# Sebastián P. Luque<sup>1,2)</sup> & Christophe Guinet<sup>2)</sup>

(<sup>1</sup> Department of Biology, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's, NL A1B 3X9, Canada; <sup>2</sup> Centre d'Etudes Biologiques de Chizé, CNRS, 79 360 Villiers en Bois, France)

(Accepted: 24 July 2007)

#### Summary

Foraging behaviour frequently occurs in bouts, and considerable efforts to properly define those bouts have been made because they partly reflect different scales of environmental variation. Methods traditionally used to identify such bouts are diverse, include some level of subjectivity, and their accuracy and precision is rarely compared. Therefore, the applicability of a maximum likelihood estimation method (MLM) for identifying dive bouts was investigated and compared with a recently proposed sequential differences analysis (SDA). Using real data on interdive durations from Antarctic fur seals (Arctocephalus gazella Peters, 1875), the MLM-based model produced briefer bout ending criterion (BEC) and more precise parameter estimates than the SDA approach. The MLM-based model was also in better agreement with real data, as it predicted the cumulative frequency of differences in interdive duration more accurately. Using both methods on simulated data showed that the MLM-based approach produced less biased estimates of the given model parameters than the SDA approach. Different choices of histogram bin widths involved in SDA had a systematic effect on the estimated BEC, such that larger bin widths resulted in longer BECs. These results suggest that using the MLM-based procedure with the seguential differences in interdive durations, and possibly other dive characteristics, may be an accurate, precise, and objective tool for identifying dive bouts.

Keywords: Antarctic fur seal, diving behaviour, foraging behaviour, foraging patch, pinniped.

# Introduction

Many seabirds and marine mammals dive in bouts (Gentry et al., 1986; Huin & Prince, 1997; Kato et al., 2003); i.e., most of their dives occur in rapid

© Koninklijke Brill NV, Leiden, 2007

Behaviour 144, 1315-1332 Also available online - www.brill.nl/beh

Corresponding author's e-mail address: sluque@mun.ca

# 1316

### Luque & Guinet

succession, while the remaining are separated by longer intervals. Dives occurring in the same bout tend to resemble each other more than those occurring in different bouts. Based on their characteristics (e.g., mean dive depth and time spent at the bottom of the dive), bouts can be associated with a particular activity, such as travelling or foraging (Lea et al., 2002). Numerous studies use dive bouts to infer instances of a forager exploiting discrete prey patches (Boyd, 1996; Mori et al., 2002; Harcourt et al., 2002; Mori & Boyd, 2004a), because food resources are patchily distributed (Wroblewski et al., 1975; Croxall et al., 1985) at scales that organisms respond to (With & Crist, 1995; Wu & Loucks, 1995). Depending on the scale(s) at which food resources display patchiness (Wiens, 1976; Levin, 1992), the same argument is applied more generally to most animal behaviours associated with foraging, in both terrestrial (e.g., Schaefer & Messier, 1995; Munger, 1984; Rotenberry & Wiens, 1998) and aquatic environments (e.g., Kruuk et al., 1990; Fauchald, 1999). Therefore, it is essential to accurately and objectively identify behavioural bouts in studies of foraging ecology of aquatic and terrestrial predators. This can be achieved by determining a bout ending criterion (BEC), or how long an interval between two successive dives should be to assign them to different bouts.

The theory and methods used to determine the BEC have been reviewed elsewhere (Slater & Lester, 1982; Tolkamp & Kyriazakis, 1999). Events occurring in bouts are thought to be generated by a combination of two or more processes operating on progressively larger time scales. At the smallest scale, events are separated by similar and brief intervals. Events separated by markedly longer intervals define different groups of events (or bouts), thereby distinguishing the scale at which one process generates individual events from that generating bouts. Processes of both types are thought to follow a random Poisson distribution, where the intervals between them are described by a mixture of exponential distributions (Slater & Lester, 1982). Defining the BEC is, therefore, a problem of finding the time intervals that separate each process from the others.

Methods for searching the BEC include log-survivorship and log-frequency analysis (Gentry & Kooyman, 1986; Sibly et al., 1990). Boyd (1996) developed an iterative method to group dives into bouts by comparing the interdive duration of a given dive with the mean of those preceding it, considering it as part of a new bout if these values differed significantly. More recently, Mori et al. (2001) suggested another method, termed sequential differences

## B Published chapters and sections

Identifying dive bouts

analysis (SDA hereafter), based on log-frequency analysis. The BEC in this method could be estimated using the absolute differences between interdive durations, rather than the interdive durations themselves. If the occurrence of dives can be described by a mixture of Poisson distributions, the mean interdive duration should be the same for all bouts (Karlis & Xekalaki, 2005). However, in cases where dive bouts are considered as instances of a diver foraging in patches, interdive duration is expected to vary between bouts because it is closely related to dive depth (Houston & Carbone, 1992; Carbone & Houston, 1996; Boyd, 1997), which in turn depends on prey species composition and determines foraging patch quality for the predator (Thompson & Fedak, 2001). Mori et al. (2001), therefore, pointed out that previous methods may erroneously assume that mean interdive duration is common to all bouts; an assumption that can be avoided with SDA.

Although SDA has been useful in studies of foraging behaviour (Mori, 1998; Mori & Boyd, 2004b; Mori et al., 2005), it is based on fitting a nonlinear model to the logarithm of frequencies of absolute differences in interdive durations, and possibly other dive characteristics (e.g., dive depth). SDA relies on the construction of a histogram, using the midpoints of each class as the independent variable (Sibly et al., 1990). Therefore, a certain level of subjectivity is involved in the selection of class widths, and some information is lost by summarizing data from each class with a single value. Furthermore, class widths must be adjusted, or a weighting scheme must be implemented, to avoid empty classes. There are currently no objective criteria for dealing with these problems. Johnson et al. (2006) recently pointed out that the choices made throughout this procedure can have large influences on the BEC.

Some of these issues have been raised by Langton et al. (1995), and proposed to address them by using a maximum likelihood estimation method (MLM hereafter) for defining the BEC. This approach uses the information in the entire dataset of intervals between events. Unfortunately, the method has not been adopted to identify behavioural bouts in general, and dive bouts of marine predators in particular, where understanding spatiotemporal variation in prey distribution and quality is of major interest. Our aim was, therefore, to demonstrate the usefulness of this approach in this field, incorporating the concept used in SDA to avoid the assumption of invariant mean dive characteristics between dive bouts. We used time-depth recorder (TDR) data from lactating female Antarctic fur seals (*Arctocephalus gazella* Peters,

1317

# 1318 Luque & Guinet

1875), during their foraging trips to sea, to compare models of the frequency of differences in interdive duration fit using SDA vs. those fit using MLM.

# Methods

Data were obtained from lactating female Antarctic fur seals at La Mare aux Elephants (MAE; 46°22′29″S, 51°40′13″E), at the western end of Ile de la Possession, Crozet archipelago, Southern Indian Ocean, during the 2001-02 (4 December-25 March) and 2002-03 (1 December-16 March) breeding seasons.

## Instrumentation and measurement of diving behaviour

Animal capture and handling procedures were described in Bailleul et al. (2005). Briefly, lactating females were captured on land during their nursing visits. Each individual was weighed to the nearest kg, and placed on a restraint board for attachment of instruments. One of 3 different time-depth recorder (TDR) models was glued to the dorsal fur between the scapulae, using a two-component glue (AW 2101 Ciba Specialty Chemicals): MK5, MK7, and MK8 (Wildlife Computers, Redmond, WA, USA). TDRs were programmed to record time and depth every 5 s when the seals were at sea, with a 1 m depth resolution. Instruments were left on the seals for 1 to 11 foraging trips, and were recovered by cutting the fur beneath them, upon the seals' return to the colony.

TDR data were downloaded to a portable computer, where analyses of the resulting time series of dive data were performed using custom written software, available as GNU R (R development Core Team, 2007) package diveMove (Luque, in press). Before analyses, depth readings were corrected for shifts in the pressure transducer of the TDR. Sections of each record were identified as foraging trips if continuous wet activity (i.e., continuous depth readings) was available for at least 6 h. This limit was selected to exclude short excursions to sea for activities other than foraging, because these contained isolated shallow dives and mainly surface behaviour.

Dives were defined as departures from the surface to depths  $\ge 4$  m plus the ensuing return to surface. Dives to shallower depths were not considered because they were indistinguishable from noise remaining after adjustment of pressure transducer drifts, which was greater than the resolution of the

## Identifying dive bouts

instrument (Beck et al., 2000). Dives were, thus, described by their duration, maximal depth, and interdive duration.

For the purposes of this paper, data from the first recorded foraging trip to sea of four randomly selected individual seals were used in subsequent analyses. The models described below were fitted to each seal's dive record separately because foraging trip durations varied between them, and to avoid effects of interindividual variation in diving behaviour masking bout structure.

# Identifying bouts using SDA

The variable used for defining bouts with SDA- and MLM-based methods was the absolute difference in interdive duration (t); the time between a dive and the preceding one. This procedure is based on a log-frequency analysis described in detail by Sibly et al. (1990) and further developed by Mori et al. (2001). Briefly, the first step of the method consists of creating a histogram of t, with the frequencies expressed as a logarithm. Because large values of tare considerably less frequent than small ones, some class intervals may have a frequency of zero, leading to the erroneous representation of frequencies in larger class intervals. To correct for this effect, the frequency of class intervals following intervals with zero frequency was divided by the number of preceding empty intervals plus one. The logarithm of the frequencies of all class intervals where frequency > 0 is, thus, considered a function of the midpoint of the intervals.

The distribution of t is assumed to be a mixture of two random Poisson processes; a fast and a slow one (Sibly et al., 1990). The fast process represents the small time scale at which individual dives occur, while the slow process represents the large time scale where bouts are distinguished. Therefore, the relationship described above can be defined as the sum of both processes:

$$y = \log[N_f \lambda_f e^{-\lambda_f t} + N_s \lambda_s e^{-\lambda_s t}]$$
(1)

where y is the logarithm of the frequency of any given t; the subscripts  $_f$  and  $_s$  denote the fast and slow processes, respectively; N is the number of interdive intervals occurring in each process; and  $\lambda$  represents the probability of an event occurring in a given process per unit time (Sibly et al., 1990). Initial values for the N and  $\lambda$  parameters must be obtained in order to fit this

## Luque & Guinet

negative exponential function. The broken-stick method was used for this purpose, following Sibly et al. (1990).

The BEC defining the threshold between the two Poisson processes can be obtained from equation (1):

$$BEC = \frac{1}{\lambda_f - \lambda_s} \log \frac{N_f \lambda_f}{N_s \lambda_s}$$
(2)

To assess the effect of the choice of histogram bin widths on the estimation procedure, the model was fit, and the BEC calculated using bin widths from 5 (i.e., the sampling resolution) to 50 s.

## Identifying bouts using MLM

Langton et al. (1995) suggested that equation (1) did not consider that the total number of events observed should be equal to  $N_f + N_s$ , and, hence, that the model can be simplified by expressing one of these parameters as a function of the other. The authors presented also a maximum likelihood estimation method using all observed data, rather than a histogram of these, to describe the frequency of any given event. The log likelihood of all the  $N_t$  absolute differences in interdive duration can be expressed as:

$$\log L_2 = \sum_{i=1}^{N_t} \log[p\lambda_f e^{-\lambda_f t_i} + (1-p)\lambda_s e^{-\lambda_s t_i}]$$
(3)

where p is a mixing parameter representing the proportion of fast to slow process events in the sampled population. The parameters from equation (3) must be estimated numerically, hence an optimization procedure is required using appropriate initial values. These values were obtained by first maximizing a reparameterized version of equation (3) using a logit transformation of the p parameter, and a logarithm transformation of the  $\lambda$  parameters. Initial values for this reparameterized model were in turn calculated as for the SDA (i.e., by using the broken-stick method). Such transformations stabilized the variance in the parameters, and rescaled them to avoid difficulties with the optimization algorithm. The parameter estimates obtained from this procedure were untransformed, and used as initial values for maximizing equation (3). Therefore, parameter estimates and their standard errors were obtained in their original scales.

# 1320

## B Published chapters and sections

## Identifying dive bouts

1321

The BEC in this case was estimated analogously to equation (2):

$$BEC = \frac{1}{\lambda_f - \lambda_s} \log \frac{p\lambda_f}{(1 - p)\lambda_s}$$
(4)

# Comparison between methods

Models describing the distribution of interdive differences in dive duration (t) should accurately predict t's relative cumulative frequency. The expected relative cumulative frequency  $(f_c)$  of t can be calculated from parameters in models (1) and (3) using:

$$f_c = 1 - p e^{-\lambda_f t} - (1 - p) e^{-\lambda_t t}$$
(5)

Thus,  $f_c$  for the range of observed t, and the actual relative cumulative frequency distribution of t were also calculated. The observed and expected relative cumulative frequencies of t were plotted simultaneously against t (logarithmically transformed) to compare the fit of the two models to data, as proposed by Langton et al. (1995). Differences in model outcomes, relative to observed cumulative frequencies, were tested by comparing the squared residuals (observed – predicted values, squared) between the models with a paired Student's t-test (Zar, 1996).

Standard errors (SEs) for each parameter estimate provided a measure of the precision of each fitted model, and hence that of the estimated BEC. Bias was compared using simulated data generated with chosen mixing (p)and probability  $(\lambda)$  parameters. Based on the mid-range of observed data for all four seals, the mixing parameter was set to 0.7, and values for the probability parameters were set to 0.05 and 0.005 ( $\lambda_f$  and  $\lambda_s$ , respectively). Thus, one thousand values for t were simulated 100 times with these values, by generating a mixture of two random samples with exponential distribution  $(f(\lambda_x, t) = \lambda_x e^{-\lambda_x t})$ : one with  $\lambda_x = 0.05$  if a random uniform variable x  $(1 \ge x \ge 0)$  from the total of 100 was <0.7, and another with  $\lambda_x = 0.005$  otherwise. Each simulated mixture was fit with both models, using the respective methods described above. The bias of the estimates in the simulations, with respect to the true value for the parameters, were subsequently calculated and compared. All data manipulations and computations were done in the GNU R statistical system and programming language (R development Core Team, 2007).

To compare the effect of each method on interpretations of the behaviour of study animals, each seal's dive record was divided into bouts using

# 1322

## Luque & Guinet

the estimated BECs. The mean and variance of bout duration and interval between bouts was calculated and compared between models for each seal using Wilcoxon rank-sum and Fligner-Killeen tests, respectively (Conover et al., 1981).

## Results

The number of dives observed for each seal varied from 910 to 1881 (Table 1). Probability parameter ( $\lambda$ ) estimates from these samples were larger using MLM compared to those obtained through SDA. Conversely, the mixing parameter (p) was consistently smaller using MLM, and the total number of interdive intervals ( $N_f + N_s$ ) was largely overestimated using SDA. As a result of these differences, estimated BECs were markedly larger using SDA, by factors ranging from 2 to 6 (Table 1). SEs of estimated parameters were generally smaller using MLM. More importantly, the total number of bouts identified for each seal was considerably smaller when using SDA (Table 1).

Varying the bin width for creating the histograms used in SDA resulted in systematic changes in most parameters: estimated BECs and numbers of interdive intervals ( $N_f$  and  $N_s$ ) increased, but  $\lambda_f$  tended to decrease. SEs of estimated parameters increased as class bin widths were increased (Table 1). Using the narrowest bin width for the sampling interval programmed for TDRs (5 s), variation in estimated BECs among seals was larger using SDA (range 91.3-191.2 s) than MLM (range 43.8-59.5 s).

Estimated and observed cumulative frequencies differed for high but nonasymptotic t values, regardless of the model (Figure 1). However, such departures were larger for models fit through SDA. Models fit through MLM followed the observed cumulative frequencies more closely, although they underestimated these frequencies for large t values (Figure 1). The sum of squared residuals from MLM-derived frequencies (relative to observed) ranged from 0.06 to 0.09, and from 0.5 to 1.0 for SDA-derived frequencies. The difference between models was significant for all seals (Figure 1).

Bias of estimated parameters from models of simulated t values were 0.001, 0.0002, 0.00002 when fit through MLM, and 0.031, -0.0028, -0.0010 when fit through SDA  $(p, \lambda_f, \lambda_s, \text{respectively})$ . Thus, biases were smaller, and variation for each parameter was smaller for MLM estimates, particularly in the case of  $\lambda_f$  estimated using this method (Figure 2).

# B Published chapters and sections

Identifying dive bouts

1323

**Table 1.** Estimated parameters and bout ending criteria (BEC) (mean  $\pm$  SE) from a model of sequential differences in interdive duration, using a maximum likelihood estimation method (MLM), and a log frequency analysis (SDA). Results from four different choices of bin widths (s) were used for the SDA approach. The number of dives observed for each seal is in paren-

. 1				
+ h	0	0	-	0
	-	<b>N</b>		3
	-	5		-

MLM <sup>a</sup>			SDAb		
		5 s	10 s	20 s	50 s
Seal 1 (/	V = 1081)				
р	$0.65 \pm 0.025$				
Nf		$3070 \pm 477$	$6480 \pm 1300$	$13500\pm 3800$	$36700\pm15600$
Ns		$803 \pm 95.7$	$1370 \pm 177$	$2270 \pm 390$	$4720 \pm 1220$
λf	$0.069 \pm 0.006$	$0.021 \pm 0.003$	$0.020 \pm 0.003$	$0.018 \pm 0.003$	$0.016\pm0.004$
$\lambda_s$	$0.005 \pm 0.0003$	$0.002 \pm 0.0002$	$0.002 \pm 0.0003$	$0.002 \pm 0.0003$	$0.002 \pm 0.0004$
BEC	51.1	191.2	209.6	249.6	289.3
Bouts	339	126	116	103	88
Seal 2 (A	V = 910)				
p	$0.63 \pm 0.026$				
Nf		$2440 \pm 427$	$5090 \pm 1170$	$10700\pm2910$	$29900\pm10800$
Ns		$1120 \pm 102$	$1960 \pm 203$	$3420 \pm 433$	$7390 \pm 1270$
λf	$0.060 \pm 0.004$	$0.023 \pm 0.003$	$0.022 \pm 0.004$	$0.019 \pm 0.004$	$0.017 \pm 0.004$
Às.	$0.004 \pm 0.0002$	$0.002 \pm 0.0002$	$0.002 \pm 0.0002$	$0.002 \pm 0.0002$	$0.002 \pm 0.0003$
BEC	59.5	156.8	173.9	202.4	237.9
Bouts	320	186	168	146	139
Seal 3 (A	V = 1881)				
р	$0.74 \pm 0.014$				
Nf		$5230 \pm 1220$	$10500\pm2990$	$22800 \pm 8890$	$90800\pm53200$
Ns		$1550 \pm 127$	$2850 \pm 285$	$5420 \pm 725$	$14000 \pm 2630$
λf	$0.096 \pm 0.004$	$0.047 \pm 0.007$	$0.042 \pm 0.008$	$0.041 \pm 0.010$	$0.044 \pm 0.014$
$\lambda_s$	$0.004 \pm 0.0003$	$0.003 \pm 0.0002$	$0.003 \pm 0.0002$	$0.003 \pm 0.0003$	$0.003 \pm 0.0003$
BEC	43.8	91.3	100.2	105.7	110.0
Bouts	478	287	276	270	270
Seal 4 (A	/ = 1164)				
p	$0.080 \pm 0.015$				
Nf		$3140 \pm 736$	$6120 \pm 1690$	$12900 \pm 4230$	$47400\pm24000$
Ns		$906 \pm 82$	$1530 \pm 152$	$2760 \pm 303$	$6570 \pm 1050$
λf	$0.083 \pm 0.004$	$0.046 \pm 0.007$	$0.038 \pm 0.006$	$0.034 \pm 0.007$	$0.036 \pm 0.009$
$\lambda_s$	$0.004 \pm 0.0003$	$0.002 \pm 0.0002$	$0.002 \pm 0.0002$	$0.002 \pm 0.0002$	$0.002 \pm 0.0003$
BEC	56.6	96.7	118.9	134.8	140.9
Bouts	223	169	156	144	132

<sup>a</sup> The log likelihood function is shown in equation (3).

<sup>b</sup> Columns represent four different choices of class interval width for fitting equation (1).


Figure 1. Relative cumulative frequencies (observed as a stepped function; estimated as the smooth lines) estimated through the maximum likelihood estimation method (MLM) were in better agreement with observed data than those estimated through log frequency analysis (SDA). A bin width of 5 s was used to fit the model through the log frequency analysis. Results of paired Student's *t*-tests comparing the squared residuals between models are also shown.

Variance in the duration of bouts was significantly larger (Fligner-Killeen  $\chi^2 = 50.9, 10.9$  and 13.6, seals 1, 2 and 3, respectively; p < 0.001 all cases) when SDA with a 5 s bin width was used (Figure 3), except for one seal ( $\chi^2 = 3.0, p = 0.08$ ; seal 4). Similar results were observed for postbout duration (Fligner-Killeen  $\chi^2 = 22.2, 16.6, 25.2$  and 18.2, seals 1, 2, 3 and 4, respectively; p < 0.001, all cases). Median duration of bouts (Wilcoxon



Figure 2. Bias of estimated parameters from 100 simulations of differences in interdive duration were smaller using the maximum likelihood estimation method (MLM), than with the histogram method (SDA). The median is indicated by the horizontal solid line; the interquartile range by the box; and the value that is, at most,  $1.5 \cdot$  interquartile range away from the box by the whiskers. The dashed lines indicate the true values of each parameter for all simulations.

U = 654, 1976, 6254 and 1220, p < 0.05, all cases) and postbout duration (Wilcoxon U = 1327, 1570, 6356 and 1048, p < 0.05, all cases) were also significantly larger when using SDA (Figure 3). The mean number of dives per bout was concomitantly smaller when using MLM (range 7.4-15.8), than when using SDA (range 11.5-20.1). Furthermore, the number of isolated dives varied from 158 to 323 when using MLM, whereas it varied from 54 to 170 when using SDA.



Figure 3. The median and variability of bout and postbout durations were significantly larger when using a log frequency analysis (SDA), compared to the maximum likelihood estimation method (MLM). Only bouts with at least 2 dives are shown. The median is indicated by the horizontal solid line; the interquartile range by the box; and the value that is, at most, 1.5 · interquartile range away from the box by the whiskers.

# Discussion

There are several advantages to using the MLM approach for defining the BEC, compared to other methods. Langton et al. (1995) showed that it provides more precise parameter estimates than log-frequency analysis (Sibly et al., 1990) by using all the information in the data, and that methods based on log-frequency analysis may include some subjectivity in the choice of histogram bin widths, which form the basis of the model. Despite these advantages, MLM approaches remain unused for identifying foraging bouts,

# Identifying dive bouts

and dive bouts in particular, where methods based on log-frequency analysis are predominantly selected for this purpose. Our results support and extend the conclusions in Langton et al. (1995), and suggest that SDA (Mori et al., 2001) may be improved by using this approach.

Because the BEC is defined in terms of the parameters of a mixture of Poisson distributions, its accuracy depends on how well the fitted models describe observed data. The MLM estimates of the model performed better than SDA at describing the cumulative frequency distribution of t. This was evident with real data from all four randomly selected seals. In contrast, expected cumulative frequency distributions based on SDA estimates showed large deviations from observed data, resulting in serious overestimation of the number of interdive intervals within or between bouts. This condition was reproduced in the simulated data, and suggests it is a property of equation (1) fit to the sequential absolute differences in interdive duration. Langton et al. (1995) found a bias in the opposite direction when fitting equation (1) to the interval between events; i.e.,  $N_f + N_s$ , was underestimated. These problems were avoided using MLM.

Differences between methods in their ability to predict observed cumulative frequencies were associated with large differences in estimated BECs. BECs determined through SDA were at least twice as large as BECs determined through MLM. Furthermore, simulated data suggest that BECs estimated through MLM are more accurate and precise than those estimated using log-frequency-based analyses. Such large differences between methods have not been previously shown, and the consequences for any study of foraging ecology based on diving behaviour can be important. Indeed, the number of bouts identified for each seal was considerably larger using MLM, providing finer temporal resolution of the animals' activity at sea. These differences lead to different interpretations of patch structure and characteristics (e.g., Boyd, 1996; Harcourt et al., 2002; Mori & Boyd, 2004a; Mori et al., 2005), where the BEC is used to determine different scales of foraging. Most notably, the temporal scale at which prey patches are encountered by the forager is smaller with the more accurate MLM approach.

Our results showed that increasing the bin widths for constructing the histograms required for identifying bouts based on log-frequency analysis result in larger BECs. A similar effect has been shown for identifying different scales of movement of ungulates (Johnson et al., 2006) using this technique. In our study, we varied the choice of bin width, from a minimum determined

## Luque & Guinet

by the sampling resolution to 10 times this value, and found associated increases in BEC estimates of approximately 50% using the largest bin widths. There are no guidelines for choosing appropriate bin widths when using this approach, but Sibly et al. (1990) recommended increasing the bin width of longer, infrequent, intervals. However, using larger bin widths resulted in larger estimates of the BEC. Regardless of the method used for selecting the histogram bin widths, it is not clear what procedure was adopted in any particular analysis of dive bouts, as proxies of patch structure. Therefore, it is difficult to evaluate conclusions about scales of foraging, optimal diving behaviour, and prey patch quality.

Despite the increased accuracy and precision of the MLM approach, some departures from the model were observed. All model fits to real data resulted in underestimation of the cumulative frequency for high but non-asymptotic values of t (see equation (1)) in all seals. Reasons for this departure are not clear with the available data, but may be related to the assumptions of the model. The distribution of intervals, or absolute differences between successive intervals, within each of the two Poisson processes is assumed to be random (Sibly et al., 1990). Therefore, the observed underestimations may indicate departures from this assumption. Large departures from a twoprocess model, similar to the one in equation (1), have been documented for very brief and very long intervals between meals in dairy cows (Tolkamp et al., 1998). Tolkamp et al. (1998) argued that the departures could be explained by the cows' level of satiety, and proposed an alternative model to account for this effect. However, Tolkamp et al. (1998) studied the feeding behaviour of cows with almost unlimited access to food, which differs from conditions encountered by free-ranging fur seals and their prey. That departures from the model occurred only for t > BEC supports this assertion. Therefore, it is difficult to assess the role of satiety levels in the departures from the model without independent measurements of prey ingestion, and distribution of prey patches.

The arguments and principles in favour of the MLM approach for identifying bouts not only apply to analyses of diving behaviour, but also to analyses of other foraging behaviours that are likely to reflect the spatiotemporal distribution of foraging patches (Wu & Loucks, 1995). For instance, log-survivorship plots of the number of steps taken by kudus (*Tragelaphus strepsiceros* Pallas, 1766) (Owen-Smith & Novellie, 1982) and by muskoxen

# Identifying dive bouts

(Ovibos moschatus Zimmermann, 1780) (Schaefer & Messier, 1995) between feeding stations have been used to identify different scales of food patchiness. Johnson et al. (2002) used the same methods, considering movement rates between successive woodland caribou (*Rangifer tarandus caribou* Linnaeus, 1758) location estimates as analogous to interdive durations in this study, and determined that ungulate movements within patches were strongly influenced by predation risk. Therefore, the improvements in accuracy achieved through MLM methods can bring new insights into foraging behaviour theory. In particular, accurately defining the time spent by animals in and between foraging patches is critical in models of optimal foraging (Stephens et al., 1986).

Whereas foraging behaviour bouts can provide a temporal proxy for foraging patches, the spatial location of those patches must be determined through animal movement data. Considerable efforts have been made to understand animal movement in relation to resource distribution, under the premise that animals move optimally through their habitat so as to maximize long-term energy intake rate (Fauchald, 1999; Fortin, 2002; Fauchald & Tveraa, 2003; Klaassen et al., 2006). The concept of first-passage time; the time taken for an animal to cross a circle of a given radius along its path (Johnson et al., 1992), has been useful for defining spatial scales at which predators concentrate foraging effort (Fauchald & Tveraa, 2003). Fauchald & Tveraa (2003) argued that the scale at which predators are most likely to display area-restricted search behaviour is equal to the radius at which variance in first-passage time is highest. However, this decision is based on the horizontal displacements of animals alone, and may not only reflect feeding activity (Robinson et al., 2007). Therefore, animal movement analysis techniques (e.g., first-passage time) combined with methods for accurate identification of behavioural bouts that can subsequently be attributed to foraging activities, may offer a better assessment of where and how animals exploit food resources.

The SDA procedure (Mori et al., 2001) improved upon previous methods of dive bout detection by removing the assumption of homogeneous dive bout characteristics. This assumption was considered inadequate, as animals may adjust their diving behaviour depending on the characteristics of the patch in which they forage (Mori et al., 2002, 2005). We suggest that the method can be further improved by adopting the MLM approach, which

# 1330

## Luque & Guinet

avoids the limitations associated with methods based on a histogram of observed data. Using this procedure to identify bouts based on other dive behaviour characteristics, in addition to differences in interdive duration (Mori et al., 2001), is possible, so more detailed information on foraging patches might be inferred. This approach may, thus, be a powerful tool to help understand foraging behaviour and prey patch characteristics more accurately.

## Acknowledgements

We are grateful for helpful and stimulating discussions with Drs. Chris Johnson, Steve Langton and Richard Sibly. We thank IPEV (Institut Paul Emile Victor) for their logistic support, and the numerous members of the 39th and 40th missions to Iles Crozet for their support during field work. Financial support for this project was provided through grants from the Draney-Anderson Foundation and through a Graduate Fellowship from the Department of Biology, Memorial University (SPL). We thank two anonymous reviewers for providing constructive criticism for this paper.

## References

- Bailleul, F., Luque, S.P., Dubroca, L., Arnould, J.P.Y. & Guinet, C. (2005). Differences in foraging strategy and maternal behaviour between two sympatric fur seal species at the Crozet Islands. — Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 293: 273-282.
- Beck, C.A., Bowen, W.D. & Iverson, S.J. (2000). Seasonal changes in buoyancy and diving behaviour of adult grey seals. — J. Exp. Biol. 203: 2323-2330.

Boyd, I.L. (1996). Temporal scales of foraging in a marine predator. — Ecology 77: 426-434. Boyd, I.L. (1997). The behavioural and physiological ecology of diving. — Trends Ecol.

Evol. 12: 213-217.

- Carbone, C. & Houston, A.I. (1996). The optimal allocation of time over the dive cycle: an approach using aerobic and anaerobic respiration. Anim. Behav. 51: 1247-1255.
- Conover, W.J., Johnson, M.E. & Johnson, M.M. (1981). A comparative study of tests for homogeneity of variances, with applications to the Outer Continental Shelf Bidding Data. — Technometrics 23: 351-361.
- Croxall, J.P., Everson, I., Kooyman, G.L., Ricketts, C. & Davis, R.W. (1985). Fur seal diving behaviour in relation to vertical distribution of krill. — J. Anim. Ecol. 54: 1-8.
- Fauchald, P. (1999). Foraging in a hierarchical patch system. Am. Nat. 153: 603-613.
- Fauchald, P. & Tveraa, T. (2003). Using first-passage time in the analysis of area-restricted search and habitat selection. — Ecology 84: 282-288.
- Fortin, D. (2002). Optimal searching behaviour: the value of sampling information. Ecol. Model. 153: 279-290.
- Gentry, R.L., Costa, D.P., Croxall, J.P., David, J.H.M., Davis, R.W., Kooyman, G.L., Majluf, P., McCann, T.S. & Trillmich, F. (1986). Synthesis and conclusions. — In: Fur Seals: maternal strategies on land and at sea (Gentry, R.L. & Kooyman, G.L., eds). Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, p. 220-264.

# Identifying dive bouts

- Gentry, R.L. & Kooyman, G.L. (1986). Methods of dive analysis. In: Fur Seals: maternal strategies on land and at sea (Gentry, R.L. & Kooyman, G.L., eds). Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, p. 28-40.
- Harcourt, R., Bradshaw, C.J.A., Dickson, K. & Davis, L.S. (2002). Foraging ecology of a generalist predator, the female New Zealand fur seal. — Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 227: 11-24.
- Houston, A.I. & Carbone, C. (1992). The optimal allocation of time during the diving cycle. — Behav. Ecol. 3: 255-265.
- Huin, N. & Prince, P.A. (1997). Diving behaviour of the grey-headed albatross. Antarct. Sci. 9: 243-249.
- Johnson, A.R., Wiens, J.A., Milne, B.T. & Crist, T.O. (1992). Animal movements and population dynamics in heterogeneous landscapes. — Landsc. Ecol. 7: 63-75.
- Johnson, C.J., Parker, K.L., Heard, D.C. & Gillingham, M.P. (2002). Movement parameters of ungulates and scale-specific responses to the environment. — J. Anim. Ecol. 71: 225-35.
- Johnson, C.J., Parker, K.L., Heard, D.C. & Gillingham, M.P. (2006). Unrealistic animal movement rates as behavioural bouts: a reply. — J. Anim. Ecol. 75: 303-308.
- Karlis, D. & Xekalaki, E. (2005). Mixed Poisson distributions. Int. Stat. Rev. 73: 35-58.
- Kato, A., Watanuki, Y. & Naito, Y. (2003). Foraging behaviour of chick-rearing rhinoceros auklets *Cerorhinca monocerata* at Teuri Island, Japan, determined by accelerationdepth recording micro data loggers. — J. Avian Biol. 34: 282-287.
- Klaassen, R.H.G., Nolet, B.A., van Gils, J.A. & Bauer, S. (2006). Optimal movement between patches under incomplete information about the spatial distribution of food items. — Theor. Popul. Biol. 70: 452-463.
- Kruuk, H., Wansink, D. & Moorhouse, A. (1990). Feeding patches and diving success of otters, *Lutra lutra*, in Shetland. — Oikos 57: 68-72.
- Langton, S.D., Collett, D. & Sibly, R.M. (1995). Splitting behaviour into bouts; a maximum likelihood approach. — Behaviour 132: 9-10.
- Lea, M.A., Hindell, M., Guinet, C. & Goldsworthy, S. (2002). Variability in the diving activity of Antarctic fur seals, Arctocephalus gazella, at Iles Kerguelen. — Polar Biol. 25: 269-279.
- Levin, S.A. (1992). The problem of pattern and scale in ecology. Ecology 73: 1943-1967. Luque, S.P. (in press). Diving behaviour analysis in R. — R News 7.
- Mori, Y. (1998). The optimal patch use in divers: optimal time budget and the number of dive cycles during the bout. J. Theor. Biol. 190: 187-199.
- Mori, Y. & Boyd, I.L. (2004a). The behavioral basis for nonlinear functional responses and optimal foraging in Antarctic fur seals. — Ecology 85: 398-410. http://esapubs.org/ archive/ecol/E085/008/appendix-A.htm
- Mori, Y. & Boyd, I.L. (2004b). Segregation of foraging between two sympatric penguin species: does rate maximization make the difference? Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 275: 241-49.
- Mori, Y., Takahashi, A., Mehlum, F. & Watanuki, Y. (2002). An application of optimal diving models to diving behaviour of Brünnich's guillemots. — Anim. Behav. 64: 739-745.
- Mori, Y., Watanabe, Y., Mitani, Y., Sato, K., Cameron, M.F. & Naito, Y. (2005). A comparison of prey richness estimates for Weddell seals using diving profiles and image data. — Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 295: 257-263.

## Luque & Guinet

- Mori, Y., Yoda, K. & Sato, K. (2001). Defining dive bouts using a sequential differences analysis. — Behaviour 138: 1451-1466.
- Munger, J.C. (1984). Optimal foraging? Patch use by horned lizards (Iguanidae: Phrynosoma). — Am. Nat. 123: 654-680.
- Owen-Smith, N. & Novellie, P. (1982). What should a clever ungulate eat? Am. Nat. 119: 151-178.
- R Development Core Team (2007). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. — R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Available online at http://www.R-project.org
- Robinson, P.W., Tremblay, Y., Crocker, D.E., Kappes, M.A., Kuhn, C.E., Shaffer, S.A., Simmons, S.E. & Costa, D.P. (2007). A comparison of indirect measures of feeding behaviour based on ARGOS tracking data. — Deep-Sea Res. II 54: 356-368.
- Rotenberry, J.T. & Wiens, J.A. (1998). Foraging patch selection by shrubsteppe sparrows. Ecology 79: 1160-1173.
- Schaefer, J.A. & Messier, F. (1995). Winter foraging by muskoxen: a hierarchical approach to patch residence time and cratering behaviour. Oecologia 104: 39-44.
- Sibly, R.M., Nott, H.M.R. & Fletcher, D.J. (1990). Splitting behaviour into bouts. Anim. Behav. 39: 63-69.
- Slater, P.J. & Lester, N.P. (1982). Minimising errors in splitting behaviour into bouts. Behaviour 79: 153-161.
- Stephens, D.W., Krebs, J.R. & Clutton-Brock, T. (1986). Foraging theory. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.
- Thompson, D. & Fedak, M.A. (2001). How long should a dive last? A simple model of foraging decisions by breath hold divers in a patchy environment. — Anim. Behav. 61: 287-296.
- Tolkamp, B.J., Allcroft, D.J., Austin, E.J., Nielsen, B.L. & Kyriazakis, I. (1998). Satiety splits feeding behaviour into bouts. — J. Theor. Biol. 194: 235-250.
- Tolkamp, B.J. & Kyriazakis, I. (1999). To split behaviour into bouts, log-transform the intervals. — Anim. Behav. 57: 807-817.
- Wiens, J.A. (1976). Population responses to patchy environments. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 7: 81-120.
- With, K.A. & Crist, T.O. (1995). Critical thresholds in species' responses to landscape structure. — Ecology 76: 2446-2459.
- Wroblewski, J.S., O'Brien, J.J. & Platt, T. (1975). On the physical and biological scales of phytoplankton patchiness in the ocean. — Mém. Soc. R. Sci. Liège 6: 43-57.
- Wu, J. & Loucks, O.L. (1995). From balance of nature to hierarchical patch dynamics: a paradigm shift in ecology. — Q. Rev. Biol. 70: 439-466.
- Zar, J.H. (1996). Biostatistical analysis. Prentice-Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ.

# B.3 Temporal structure of diving behaviour in adult females

Luque SP, Arnould JPY, Guinet C (2008) Temporal structure of diving behaviour in sympatric Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals Marine Ecology Progress Series **372**: 277-287

Vol. 372: 277-287, 2008 doi: 10.3354/meps07689 MARINE ECOLOGY PROGRESS SERIES Mar Ecol Prog Ser

**Published December 9** 

# Temporal structure of diving behaviour in sympatric Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals

Sebastián P. Luque<sup>1,2,\*</sup>, John P. Y. Arnould<sup>3</sup>, Christophe Guinet<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biology, Memorial University, St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador A1B 3X9, Canada <sup>2</sup>Centre d'Etudes Biologiques de Chizé, CNRS, 79 360 Villiers en Bols, France <sup>3</sup>School of Life and Environmental Sciences, Deakin University, 221 Burwood Highway, Burwood, Victoria 3125, Australia

ABSTRACT: Lactation is considerably briefer (4 vs. 10 mo) and daily pup energy expenditure higher in Antarctic (AFS) than in subantarctic fur seals (SFS), even in sympatric populations of both species, where their foraging locations and diets are similar. Therefore, lactational demands may be higher for AFS females. We investigated whether sympatric lactating AFS and SFS females differ in their physiological or behavioural diving capacities, and in the temporal structure of foraging behaviour. Mean dive depth and duration were greater in SFS, but dives below 140 m were performed only by AFS. An index of activity level during the bottom phase of dives, when fur seals are thought to capture prey, was higher in SFS. Despite these differences, SFS females showed a steady increase in the minimum postdive interval following dives lasting longer than 250 s, compared to the steady increase following dives lasting longer than only 150 s in AFS. These results suggest that physiological constraints on diving behaviour are stronger on AFS females, and that the behavioural aerobic dive limit is greater for SFS. Assuming that dive bouts reflect foraging in prey patches, AFS females exploited more patches per unit time, and remained in them for briefer periods of time, compared to SFS females. Dive bout structure did not differ between overnight and long foraging trips. Our data suggest that AFS females spend greater foraging effort, but may gain access to prey patches of better quality, which may help them cope with higher lactational demands.

KEY WORDS: Optimal foraging · Foraging niche segregation · Foraging behaviour · Diel trends · Diurnal activity · Myctophidae · Syntopy · Archival tags

Resale or republication not permitted without written consent of the publisher -

#### INTRODUCTION

Exploitative competition for food between animals is difficult to assess, partly because it requires knowledge of whether the level of their common resources is limiting or not (Birch 1957, MacArthur & Levins 1964). Yet it is considered a major component of species interactions, and influences community structure (Milinski & Parker 1991). In the absence of data on the level of common resources, exploitative competition is often inferred from measurements of resource overlap or manipulations of population densities (Schoener 1974). However, an approach based on comparisons of the biology and behaviour of potentially competing species may be more useful for understanding interspecific interactions (Tilman 1987). This approach has been used to study mechanisms of coexistence in a broad range of species (Stamps 1983, Cowlishaw 1999, Hull 1999, Robinson et al. 2002).

Using this approach, Ballance et al. (1997) showed that competitive ability and energetic constraints play a major role in the structure of seabird assemblages. Sympatry or syntopy in morphologically similar, related species is particularly attractive for studying these interactions. Under such conditions, it is possible to compare the ecology of co-occurring species, while minimizing the influence of extraneous factors, which are difficult or impossible to control. Studies of related seabirds have provided evidence of physiological constraints on the behavioural response of coexisting

\*Email: spluque@gmail.com

© Inter-Research 2008 · www.int-res.com

predators to heterogeneity in the distribution of common prey resources (Hull 1999, Mori & Boyd 2004b). Therefore, studies such as these can be used as a basis for predicting the outcome of reductions in prey abundance and/or availability.

Lactation constrains the foraging behaviour of mammals (Sæther & Gordon 1994), especially in the marine environment (Costa & Williams 1999). Therefore, new insights into the mechanisms linking prey distribution and predator behaviour can be gained by comparing the foraging behaviour of sympatric marine mammals. Otariid (fur seals and sea lions) pinnipeds are good models in comparative foraging ecology because they exhibit large variation in adult body size and lactation duration, while other life history traits are relatively homogeneous (Ridgway & Harrison 1981). Female body mass varies from ~30 (in Galápagos fur seals Arctocephalus galapagoensis [Heller 1904]) to 275 kg (in Steller sea lions Eumetopias jubatus [Schreber 1776]), and lactation duration varies from 4 (in Antarctic fur seal Arctocephalus gazella [Peters 1875]) to 36 mo (in Galápagos fur seals; range 12 to 36 mo; Trillmich & Kooyman 1986). Large pinnipeds have higher aerobic dive limits (ADL) than smaller ones (Kooyman 1989), so they can dive for longer periods of time (Halsey et al. 2006) without the negative effects of increased lactic acid concentration. Consequently, they have more time available for prey search and capture. However, species of similar body mass can display large differences in lactation duration, energy transfer to pups, and patterns of energy allocation by pups (Arnould 1997, Arnould et al. 2003). Therefore, the interplay among body mass, foraging behaviour, and lactation duration remain unclear. Sympatric otariids of similar body mass, yet different lactation duration, offer a unique opportunity to understand the physiological and behavioural tradeoffs faced by breeding females during lactation.

Diving marine predators often dive in bouts, i.e. most dives occur in rapid succession, while the rest are separated by longer intervals, and each bout may indicate foraging in a particular patch (Mori & Boyd 2004a). Researchers thus deduced that the temporal structure of diving may be used to infer the distribution and characteristics of foraging patches in several seabirds (Kato et al. 2000, Mehlum et al. 2001), and pinnipeds (Mori & Boyd 2004a, Mori et al. 2005). This provides a framework for comparing the foraging behaviour of sympatric marine mammals in relation to a common prey resource.

Antarctic and subantarctic (A. tropicalis [Gray 1872]) fur seals (AFS and SFS, respectively, hereafter) have broadly different spatial distributions. AFS breed mostly south of the Antarctic Polar Front, while SFS do so mostly north of it, but they breed sympatrically at 3 locations (Bonner 1999): Macquarie Island, Ile de la Possession (Iles Crozet), and Marion Island (Prince Edward Islands). Adult females of these species have similar body mass and show little differences in at-sea distribution and diet when sympatric (Klages & Bester 1998, Robinson et al. 2002, Bailleul et al. 2005, Lugue et al. 2007a), yet wean pups at 4 in (AFS) vs. 10 mo of age in (SFS) (Bester & Bartlett 1990), as they do in allopatric populations. Furthermore, AFS pups show higher daily energy expenditures (Arnould et al. 2003), and grow in body length faster (Luque et al. 2007b) at lle de la Possession. Thus, their mothers must meet these demands in addition to their own, and also complete lactation in  $< \frac{1}{2}$  the time compared to SFS. Lactational demands may thus be higher in AFS, which females should satisfy during their foraging trips to sea.

Previous comparisons of diving behaviour between these species in sympatry have not shown major differences at the scale of entire foraging trips (Goldsworthy et al. 1997, Robinson et al. 2002). At Ile de la Possession, however, overnight foraging trips (OFTs) are significantly more frequent in SFS, and AFS appear to spend a greater proportion of their time at sea (Bester & Bartlett 1990, Bailleul et al. 2005, Luque et al. 2007a), as in Marion Island. Differences at finer scales have been studied at Ile de la Possession, where lactating female AFS exhibit stronger diel variation in dive depth, with relatively shallow diving (AFS: 25 to 30 m; SFS: 35 to 50 m) during the noncrepuscular hours of the night, and deep diving (AFS: 45 to 65 m; SFS: 40 to 50 m) during crepuscular hours (Lugue et al. 2007a). At Marion (Klages & Bester 1998, Ferreira & Bester 1999) and Macquarie Islands (Robinson et al. 2002), no interspecific differences in diet were found. Scat analyses suggest that sympatric AFS and SFS feed on the same prey species (myctophid fish), although differences in their relative abundance were found at Ile de la Possession (Luque et al. 2007a). Comparisons of the temporal structure of diving behaviour between AFS and SFS, however, are unavailable, but may help us understand how these species with different lactational demands respond to distribution of similar prey.

Diving capacity of otariid species with similar body mass is expected to be similar (Kooyman 1989), assuming other factors do not differ. In this case, optimal diving models predict similar optimal foraging depth (Mori 1998a, 2002). Optimal diving models typically assume that divers maximize energy intake rate, although predation risk may significantly influence such predictions (Frid et al. 2007). They also predict that divers should increase the time spent in foraging patches as depth increases (Mori 1998b, Thompson & Fedak 2001), but only if diving remains aerobic (Houston & Carbone 1992) or patch quality (as reflected by

Luque et al.: Temporal structure of diving in sympatric fur seals

prey density) increases. A previous study does not support the first prediction of similar optimal foraging depth (Luque et al. 2007a), suggesting that important physiological or behavioural differences exist between female AFS and SFS, which may affect their exploitation of prey patches. Therefore, we investigated whether the temporal structure of diving behaviour and vertical distribution of foraging patches differ between fur seal species at Ile de la Possession. Given the briefer lactation and higher daily energy requirements of AFS pups, we tested the hypothesis that female AFS have higher energy demands during lactation, and should spend more foraging effort, despite their overlapping foraging areas.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data on diving behaviour of AFS and SFS was obtained at La Mare aux Elephants ( $46^{\circ} 22' 29^{*}$ S,  $51^{\circ} 40' 13''E$ ), at the western end of Ile de la Possession, Crozet archipelago, Southern Indian Ocean, during the 2001–02 (4 December to 25 March) and 2002–03 (1 December to 16 March) breeding seasons (2001 and 2002 hereafter). A total of 277 (AFS: 153, SFS: 124) pups were individually marked as previously described (Georges & Guinet 2000, Arnould et al. 2003, Bailleul et al. 2005), providing a means to identify their mothers, a subset of which were equipped with time and depth recorders (TDRs; Table 1).

Diving behaviour. Animal capture and handling procedures are described in Luque et al. (2007a). Briefly, lactating females of each species were captured on land during their nursing visits. Each individual was weighed to the nearest kg, and placed on a restraint board for attachment of instruments. One of 3 different time-depth recorder (TDR) models (MK5, MK7, and MK8; Wildlife Computers) was glued to the dorsal fur between the scapulae, using a 2-component epoxy glue (AW 2101 Ciba Specialty Chemicals). Fur seals travelled 50 to 100 km from the colony to forage, and there were no significant differences in foraging trip duration, dive depth, or dive duration between individuals instrumented with different TDR models (p > 0.5 in all cases). Thus, data from the 3 models were pooled for interspecific comparisons. TDRs were programmed to record time and depth every 5 s when the seals were at sea, with a 1 m depth resolution. MK8 TDRs also recorded speed to the nearest 0.02 m s<sup>-1</sup>. Instruments were left on the seals for 1 to 11 foraging trips, and were recovered by cutting the fur beneath them, upon the seals' return to the colony.

TDR data were downloaded to a portable computer, and analyses of the resulting time series of dive data were performed using custom written software package diveMove (Luque 2007), available through GNU R (R Development Core Team 2007). Before analyses, depth readings were corrected for shifts in the pressure transducer of the TDR. Sections of each record were identified as foraging trips if continuous wet activity (i.e. continuous depth readings) was available for at least 6 h. This limit was selected to exclude brief excursions to sea for activities other than foraging, which occurred mostly during daytime, and contained isolated shallow dives (<20 m), in contrast to the bout-organized dives typical of foraging trips (Luque et al. 2007a).

Dives were defined as departures from the surface to depths  $\geq 4$  m plus the ensuing return to the surface. Dives to lower depths were not considered, as they were indistinguishable from noise remaining after adjustment of pressure transducer drifts, which was greater than the resolution of the instrument (Beck et al. 2000). Each dive was divided into descent, bottom, and ascent phases, where: (1) descent started at the surface and ended when no further increases in depth were detected; (2) ascent was defined from the end of the dive and, with the reversed time series, ending when no further increases in depth were detected; and (3) the bottom phase was the period between descent and ascent. Dives were thus described by their

Table 1. Arctocephalus gazella (AFS), A. tropicalis (SFS). Summary of dive data obtained from lactating females fitted with timedepth recorders (TDRs) on Ile de la Possession, in the breeding seasons of 2001–02 and 2002–03; BEC = bout-ending criterion. Data are either number or mean ± SE

Species	Breeding season	Body mass (kg)	N	Foraging trips	Dives	BEC (s)	Bouts	Dives in bouts	Mean dive depth (m)	Mean dive duration (s)
AFS	2001	33.2 ± 0.44	37	102	42095	54.9 ± 0.44	3814	33522	$31.2 \pm 0.32$	80.1 ± 0.60
	2002	$31.6 \pm 0.58$	12	30	17541	$38.5 \pm 0.83$	1614	13500	$22.8 \pm 0.70$	73.4 ± 1.32
	Both	$32.7 \pm 0.36$	49	132	59636	$50.9 \pm 0.33$	5428	47022	$29.2 \pm 0.24$	78.5 ± 0.42
SFS	2001	30.6 ± 0.55	37	113	39102	84.8 ± 0.91	2839	33780	42.1 ± 0.44	94.2 ± 0.63
	2002	30.4 ± 0.78	10	32	17693	72.8 ± 1.44	1156	15302	$32.9 \pm 0.70$	90.2 ± 1.68
	Both	30.5 ± 0.45	47	145	56795	81.7 ± 0.61	3995	49082	$39.7 \pm 0.31$	93.2 ± 0.46

duration, maximum depth, bottom time, and postdive duration.

Fur seals catch their prey predominantly during the bottom phase of dives, although this has been demonstrated only for AFS (Hooker et al. 2002). As a measure of the level of activity during the bottom (foraging) phase of dives, we thus divided the absolute number of vertical meters each individual swam during this phase by bottom time. We also calculated mean swimming speed during the bottom phase of dives from fur seals deployed with MK8 TDRs. Speed measurements, however, do not correspond to true speed because they need to be calibrated against the true speed because we were more interested in comparing the levels of activity during the bottom phase of dives between species, rather than estimating true speed.

To investigate whether physiological constraints differ between species, we studied the relationship between the briefest postdive duration and dive duration binned at 5 s intervals. The dive duration beyond which the briefest postdive interval begins to rise was taken as a behavioural proxy for the ADL, i.e. the dive duration beyond which blood lactate levels rise, as a result of increasing anaerobic metabolism (Kooyman 1989).

Identification of dive bouts. Identification of bouts of most behaviours has traditionally relied on log-survivorship or log-frequency analysis (Gentry & Kooyman 1986, Sibly et al. 1990). However, Langton et al. (1995) pointed out that these methods include some level of subjectivity. The procedure involves fitting a curve to histogram data, an arbitrary choice of histogram class width, and adjustment for empty class intervals. Langton et al. (1995) presented an improved approach, based on maximum likelihood estimation, which uses the entire dataset to describe the frequency distribution of events such as diving. This procedure was used to model the distribution of sequential differences in surface interval duration, allowing for variation in dive characteristics between bouts (Mori et al. 2001). The log likelihood (log  $L_2$ ) of all  $N_t$  absolute differences in surface interval duration t is a combination of fast (within bouts) and slow (between bouts) events (Luque & Guinet 2007):

$$\log L_2 = \sum_{i=1}^{N_t} \log \left[ p \lambda_i \mathrm{e}^{-\lambda_i t_i} + (1-p) \lambda_\mathrm{s} \mathrm{e}^{-\lambda_s t_i} \right] \tag{1}$$

where p is a mixing parameter representing the proportion of fast to slow process events in the sampled population; the subscripts f and s denote the fast and slow processes, respectively, and  $\lambda$  represents the probability of an event occurring in a given process per unit time t (Sibly et al. 1990). A bout ending criterion (BEC), determining whether two successive dives should be grouped in the same bout or not, can be calculated from Eq. (1) as:

$$BEC = \frac{1}{\lambda_{\rm f} - \lambda_{\rm s}} \log \frac{p\lambda_{\rm f}}{(1 - p)\lambda_{\rm s}}$$
(2)

If the difference in surface interval duration between two successive dives exceeded the BEC, then they were grouped in different bouts.

Statistical approach. BECs were separately determined for each individual due to individual differences in foraging trip durations, and to avoid masking of bout structure by individual differences in diving behaviour. The number of bouts, their duration, and the duration of intervals between bouts were also similarly calculated. Because both AFS and SFS dived almost exclusively at night, the first two variables were divided by the number of night hours available during the foraging trip of each individual. Night time was defined as the number of hours between sunset and sunrise. Bouts consisting of a single dive were not deemed to indicate foraging behaviour, and were thus excluded from analyses.

Both AFS and SFS displayed bimodal distributions of foraging trip duration (Luque et al. 2007a), with overnight (OFT, <1 d) and long foraging trips (LFT, >1 d). Therefore, interspecific comparisons included fixed effects terms to test for differences between these types of foraging trip. Data for multiple trips of the same type were averaged for each individual, except for bout and postbout duration, which represent variation within the foraging trip. A single value per individual and bout was considered for bout and postbout duration. A random effect term for individuals was included, so mixed effects models (Pinheiro & Bates 2000) were used to describe data for the *i*th individual, *j*th species, and *k*th foraging trip type, as follows:

$$y_{ijk} = \beta_0 + \beta_j + \beta_k + \beta_{jk} + b_i + \varepsilon_{ijk}$$
  
$$b_j \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \sigma_b^2), \varepsilon_{ijk} \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \sigma^2)$$
(3)

where  $\beta_0$  represents an intercept;  $\beta_{Ii}\beta_{ki}\beta_{jk}$  represent the fixed effects for species, foraging trip type, and corresponding interaction, respectively;  $b_i$  denotes the random effect for individual, and  $\epsilon_{ijk}$  denotes an independent error term. The  $b_i$  and  $\epsilon_{ijk}$  terms are assumed to be normally distributed, with mean zero, and variances  $\sigma_b^2$ and  $\sigma^2$ , respectively. Multiple bout and postbout durations for the same individual were, thus, included as part of  $\epsilon_{ijk}$  for the corresponding models.

The significance of the interactions was assessed by comparing the models with and without the interaction term, using a log likelihood ratio test (Pinheiro & Bates 2000). The significance of other fixed effects was tested via Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) simulations based on samples of the posterior distribution of the

model parameters (Baayen et al. 2008). All analyses were carried out in the GNU R system (R Development Core Team 2007), with packages diveMove for dive behaviour analysis (Luque 2007) and lme 4 for fitting mixed effects models (Bates et al. 2008). Results are presented as means  $\pm$  SE, unless stated otherwise.

## RESULTS

Dive data from a total of 96 females were obtained, providing information from 277 foraging trips (Table 1). Most dives (83%) occurred in bouts for both species. However, this proportion was significantly larger  $(\chi^2 = 1157, df = 1, p < 0.001)$  in SFS (86.4 vs. 78.8%), indicating that isolated dives were relatively more common in AFS. The number of bouts per night of foraging trip was larger in AFS (log-transformed to normalize residuals;  $F_{1,148} = 58.85$ , p < 0.001) (Fig. 1a), regardless of foraging trip type (interaction term:  $\chi^2 = 0.08$ , p = 0.78). No significant differences between foraging trip types were found ( $F_{1,148} = 0.07$ , p = 0.8), and the pooled estimates for each species were  $35.7 \pm 1.05$  and  $21.5 \pm$ 1.05 bouts per night for AFS and SFS, respectively. Typical dive profiles are shown in Appendix 1 www.int-res.com/articles/suppl/m372p277\_app.pdf.

The BEC was significantly higher for SFS during both seasons ( $F_{1,88} = 52.39$ , p < 0.001), and higher for both species during the 2001 season ( $F_{1,88} = 7.42$ , p < 0.01). Although this suggests that foraging conditions may have differed between seasons, data for both seasons were pooled for further analyses because there was no interaction between species and season ( $F_{1,88} = 1.55$ , p = 0.2), and interannual differences were not the focus of this paper.

#### **Dive bout structure**

The total time spent in bouts per night was similar between species ( $F_{1,144} = 2.00$ , p = 0.2) and foraging trip types ( $F_{1,144} = 0.01$ , p = 0.9), without any interaction between both factors (interaction term  $\chi^2 = 0.01$ , p = 0.92) (Fig. 1b). Pooled estimates for each species were  $9.6 \pm$ 1.05 and  $10.6 \pm 1.05$  h night<sup>-1</sup> for AFS and SFS, respectively. Bout duration, however, was significantly longer in SFS during both foraging trip types ( $F_{1,9520} = 43.37$ , p < 0.001) (Fig. 1c) consistent with the higher number of bouts per night for AFS, but similar time spent in those bouts. Bout duration was similar between foraging trip types ( $F_{1,9520} = 0.24$ , p > 0.9), independently of differences between species ( $\chi^2 = 0.88$ , p = 0.35).

The temporal distribution of foraging patches, as reflected by the density distribution of postbout durations, showed that AFS encountered patches at a



Fig. 1. Arctocephalus gazella (AFS), A. tropicalis (SFS). OFT: overnight foraging trips, LFT: long foraging trips. Lactating AFS females perform more bouts per night, spend a similar amount of time in bouts per night, and have briefer bouts than lactating SFS females

slightly faster rate than SFS (Fig. 2). Albeit small, the difference was significant for OFTs (Kruskal-Wallis  $\chi^2 = 4.60$ , df = 1, p = 0.03) and LFTs ( $\chi^2 = 91.68$ , df = 1, p < 0.001). Patch encounter rate, as measured by postbout duration, did not differ significantly between foraging trip types ( $\chi^2 = 2.62$ , df = 1, p = 0.11). Foraging bouts were most frequent near the surface for both species, but their relative frequencies were higher near the surface and below 80 m in AFS, while depths between 30 and 60 m were more heavily used by SFS females (Fig. 3).

#### **Behavioural and physiological limits**

The absolute number of meters that fur seals swam per unit time during the bottom phase of dives was significantly higher in SFS ( $F_{1,149} = 13.2$ , p < 0.001), and

Mar Ecol Prog Ser 372: 277-287, 2008



282

Fig. 2. Arctocephalus gazella (AFS), A. tropicalis (SFS). Kernel density estimates of postbout intervals during overnight foraging trips (OFT) and long foraging trips (LFT). The temporal separation between foraging patches, as indicated by postbout intervals, is briefer in lactating Antarctic (AFS) than in subantarctic fur seal (SFS) females, during both LFT and OFT. Dotted lines indicate the postbout interval with the highest kernel density estimate. Shaded regions denote intervals >12 h, i.e. bouts occurring on different foraging nights

was independent of foraging trip type ( $\chi^2 = 2.08$ , p = 0.15). SFS swam 0.13  $\pm$  0.006 m s<sup>-1</sup>, and AFS 0.10  $\pm$  0.006 m s<sup>-1</sup> while at the bottom of dives. Furthermore, this rate was significantly higher ( $F_{1,149} = 22.3$ , p < 0.001) during LFTs (0.12  $\pm$  0.005 m s<sup>-1</sup>) than during OFTs (0.10  $\pm$  0.006 m s<sup>-1</sup>) for both fur seal species.

The mean swimming speed during the bottom phase of dives did not differ between species ( $F_{1,58} < 0.01$ , p > 0.9), nor between foraging trip types ( $F_{1,58} = 0.14$ , p = 0.7), and no interaction between these factors ( $\chi^2 = 0.01$ , p = 0.9) was noted. Similarly, mean swimming speed during surface intervals did not differ between species for OFTs ( $F_{1,20} = 1.18$ , p = 0.29), nor for LFTs ( $F_{1,36} = 4.1$ , p = 0.05), despite a significant interaction between foraging trip type and species ( $\chi^2 = 4.35$ , p = 0.04)

The relationship between the duration of the briefest surface interval and dive duration showed no changes in surface interval for dives lasting up to almost 150 s in both species (Fig. 4). However, surface intervals following dives longer than 150 s increased steadily for AFS, whereas SFS showed a similar response only for dives longer than 250 s (Fig. 4), despite the latter's larger rate of vertical movements at the bottom of dives.



Fig. 3. Arctocephalus gazella (AFS), A. tropicalis (SFS). Lactating Antarctic fur seal (AFS) females forage more frequently than subantarctic (SFS) females between the surface and 20 m, and below 80 m. SFS females spend a greater proportion of their bouts between 30 and 60 m



Fig. 4. Arctocephalus gazella (AFS), A. tropicalis (SFS). Briefest surface postdive intervals increase exponentially for dive durations longer than 150 and 250 s in lactating Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic fur seal (SFS) females, respectively

Luque et al.: Temporal structure of diving in sympatric fur seals

#### DISCUSSION

We hypothesized that lactating female AFS have higher energy demands during lactation and, therefore, should spend greater foraging effort to meet those demands. Female AFS displayed higher indices of diving effort, reduced patch residence times, and briefer postbout intervals, suggesting more effort spent foraging, and a faster rate of encounter with prey patches. An important premise of our analyses is that both species forage optimally, i.e. that they maximize energy intake rate relative to physiological constraints. Previous results have shown subtle interspecific differences in diet and dive depth associated with differences in life history and pup physiology (Luque et al. 2007a), so behavioural and physiological constraints may not be similar between AFS and SFS. Moreover, optimal foraging behaviour (e.g. time spent in foraging patches and patch encounter rate) may also differ between species, and affect their rates of energy intake. Our results largely support these predictions, and suggest a possible origin for the differences in foraging behaviour. We review the assumptions that were required to use our approach, and discuss the implications of our results for inferring the characteristics of the foraging habitat of sympatric AFS and SFS.

#### Assumptions

Using the information on differences in physiological constraints required making assumptions regarding the diving behaviour of fur seals (Mori et al. 2002, 2005, Mori & Boyd 2004b). A major assumption of the model is that energy intake is a function of time spent at the bottom of dives, i.e. prey is assumed to be obtained during the bottom phase of dives. Although it was not possible to ascertain the validity of this assumption with a 2-dimensional dive profile and sampling interval of 5 s, direction reversals (wiggles) during descent or ascent phases were rare. Furthermore, the mean vertical distance covered during the bottom phase of dives (a measure of the amount of wiggling) was relatively high for both species (AFS = 12.7 m; SFS = 15.0 m) for dive depths >10 m. These values exclude shallow V-shaped dives, which are indicative of travelling behaviour. Therefore, fur seals from La Mare aux Elephants probably concentrated their energy intake during bottom time.

A more fundamental assumption of the model is that fur seals dived optimally, so as to maximize the rate of energy intake during the dive cycle. Foragers may not always use an energy intake rate maximizing currency to behave optimally (Caraco 1980), as other factors may play important roles in determining what behaviour is optimal under particular time scales. Nonacs (2001) reviewed several studies testing predictions based on this assumption and found a consistent bias in the predictions, arguing that inclusion of the forager's state (e.g. nutritional status and predation risk) in the models can improve their predictive power. Heithaus & Frid (2003) proposed a model to account for predation risk during the surface interval for diving predators, which may partly explain why diving behaviour is often considered suboptimal in previously used models. Killer whales are common around lles Crozet during summer (Guinet 1992), but they feed mainly on penguins and elephant seals at this location. Although the risk of predation on fur seals can be high in some populations (Boveng et al. 1998), it is probably low at Ile de la Possession, because no females identified at La Mare aux Elephants were lost while nursing a pup, nor were there visible wounds or scars that could have been inflicted by a predator. Nonetheless, studies to determine whether predation risk differentially affects foraging behaviour of sympatric fur seals at Ile de la Possession may provide further insights into the mechanisms driving the observed differences in foraging behaviour.

Closely related to predation risk, the nutritional status of fur seals could also potentially influence foraging behaviour because animals may trade off energy gain with safety from predators (Nonacs 2001, Wirsing et al. 2008). Direct measurements of fat, the primary form of energy storage in pinnipeds, are not available for our study animals. However, a concurrent study showed that foraging trips at lle de La Possession were among the briefest reported for each species at comparable stages of lactation (Luque et al. 2007a). Furthermore, the large proportion of overnight foraging trips, the relative proximity (50 to 100 km) of foraging grounds (Bailleul et al. 2005), and the relatively fast growth rates of pups compared to other populations of both species, suggest that neither of them were under nutritional stress. Differences in energy stores between species under such conditions are expected to have minor influence on foraging behaviour (Houston et al. 1993, Nonacs 2001).

#### Behavioural versus physiological differences

We found conflicting evidence on the level of activity of fur seals, measured as the mean speed and absolute number of meters that fur seals swam during the bottom phase of dives. The former showed no differences between fur seal species, but the latter showed higher activity levels in SFS females. Speed is typically measured by counting the number of revolutions per unit time taken by a turbine on TDRs. These turbines are susceptible to clogging by debris (Shepard et al. 2008), rendering speed measurements for any given dive phase not as regular as depth measurements, despite similar sampling frequency. Consequently, fewer speed measurements were available for our comparisons of mean speed during any given dive phase, reducing the power of statistical comparisons relative to tests based on depth measurements. The vertical meters that fur seals swam per unit time during the bottom phase of dives may, thus, be a better index of activity level, and our results suggest that SFS females were more active during this phase. Despite the behavioural difference during the bottom phase of dives, SFS females showed increasing surface intervals following longer dives than AFS females.

Our data suggest that an important physiological parameter, the ADL, is higher in SFS than in AFS females. This result was unexpected and counter-intuitive because maximum dive depth was highest for AFS females, which was expected to be associated with a higher ADL. Lactating AFS females required exponentially longer periods at the surface when dive duration exceeded 150 s, while SFS females responded similarly, but to dives exceeding 250 s in duration. Consistent with these observations, SFS dived deeper and for longer periods of time, on average. ADL calculations based on direct measurements of oxygen stores and diving metabolic rates of fur seals from South Georgia (Costa et al. 2004) yielded a value (96 s) that is much lower than that reported here, especially considering the larger body mass of individuals in that study. However, our data cannot readily be compared with direct measurements of ADL, and factors such as exceeding the ADL during deep diving bouts could account for the difference. Unfortunately, similar data are not available for SFS females, but if the tendency of study individuals to exceed the ADL is similar, then the observed interspecific differences may parallel actual differences in ADL. Costa et al. (2004) suggest that the tendency of epipelagic feeders, such as AFS and SFS, to exceed the ADL are indeed expected to be similar and relatively low. Although direct measurements of diving metabolism are needed to corroborate our results, the differences illustrated in Fig. 4 are likely a result of actual differences in ADL.

#### Inferring foraging patch characteristics

Previous analyses suggest that AFS and SFS females from La Mare aux Elephants used similar foraging areas during the 2001 and 2002 breeding seasons (Bailleul et al. 2005). Dietary analyses (Luque et al. 2007a) indicate that these fur seals also feed on the same myctophid fish species, albeit in different proportions (Luque et al. 2007a). Similar results have been found in sympatric populations at Macquarie Island (Robinson et al. 2002). The present study suggests that differences in physiological constraints may have led to different temporal and vertical distribution of diving, despite similarities in horizontal distribution of foraging locations and prey species. Whereas AFS foraged between the surface and 20 m more frequently than SFS females, the latter foraged more extensively between 30 and 60 m. Furthermore, both species reduced the frequency of foraging below 80 m, although SFS females did so more rapidly, and dive bouts below 140 m were only observed in AFS females. Assuming that dive bouts reflect foraging in different prey patches, AFS females exploited more patches per night of foraging, and a larger fraction of patches close to the surface. It may have been more profitable for AFS females to rapidly move between different patches at shallow depths, thereby reducing mean dive time and, possibly, also the extent of anaerobic diving (Costa et al. 2004).

Similar segregation of foraging depth has been observed in macaroni Eudyptes chrysolophus and gentoo Pygoscelis papua penguins at Bird Island, South Georgia (Mori & Boyd 2004b), showing some analogies in their response with that of the fur seals in this study. Macaroni penguins increased surface times in response to briefer dive durations (Fig. 1 in Mori & Boyd 2004b), so their ADL is presumably lower than that of gentoo penguins. Macaroni penguins concentrated their foraging bouts at shallower depths compared to gentoo penguins, analogous to the higher frequencies of shallow bout depths observed in AFS compared to SFS females at La Mare aux Elephants. Although direct measurements of prey density and abundance at different depths were not available in the present study to validate an index of patch quality (IPQ; Mori & Boyd 2004a), this index can be calculated with the available data to examine potential interspecific differences in foraging patch quality. According to Mori & Boyd (2004a), energy intake rate (G) can be expressed in terms of dive duration (u) and travel time from/to the surface ( $\tau$ ) as  $G = a \times (u - \tau)^{x} / (u + y(u))$ , where y(u) is surface time as a function of dive duration, obtained from Fig. 4, and a is an energy conversion constant. If divers regulate dive duration so as to maximize the rate of energy intake, the IPQ for a dive can be determined by finding the value of x that maximizes G. The IPQ thus calculated indicates that foraging patch guality is higher for AFS below 50 m, suggesting that this species foraged more profitably deeper in the water column than SFS (Fig. 5). Concurrent measurements of the distribution and densities of different prey species and the foraging behaviour of their air-breathing predators are needed to evaluate this suggestion.





Fig. 5. Arctocephalus gazella (AFS), A. tropicalis (SFS). Lactating Antarctic fur seal (AFS) females encounter foraging patches with higher index of patch quality (IPQ) than subantarctic fur seal (SFS) females at depths between 50 and 100 m. They also exploit patches at depths > 140 m, which are not used by SFS and where variation in IPQ is large. Data for each species were shifted in opposite directions by a small amount on the vertical axis (within the same depth class) to avoid overlap of points. Values are means ± SE

Since the IPQ may be similar between species at shallow depths, why did SFS females not exploit patches at these depths as extensively as AFS females did, despite their higher ADL? Conversely, why did AFS females exploit deep patches more extensively than their congenerics, despite their lower ADL?

Optimal diving models (Mori 1998a,b) predict that divers with higher ADLs should have deeper optimal foraging depth, for any given prey patch quality. These models also predict that anaerobic diving is favourable when the prey patch is deep and of high quality (Mori 1998b). SFS females may thus require higher prey patch qualities near the surface to dive optimally. Factors such as swimming mechanics (Fish et al. 2003, Sato et al. 2007), and searching and/or travelling behaviour (Hindell et al. 2002) may explain why these favourable conditions were encountered less frequently above 20 and below 80 m by SFS compared to AFS females. For instance, both young and adult AFS and SFS show significant differences in fore- and hindflipper size and shape (Bester & Wilkinson 1989, Luque et al. 2007b). Supporting this conjecture, AFS females showed a larger proportion of isolated dives, suggesting that they searched for foraging patches more extensively. Interestingly, activity during the bottom foraging phase of dives was higher in SFS, although their behavioural ADL was higher. This suggests that differences in the relationship between surface interval and dive duration were a result of physiological, rather than behavioural, constraints. Otherwise, the behavioural ADL would have been lower in SFS. Further studies comparing foraging efficiency between these species should help explain this pattern.

Indeed, the briefer bout durations and postbout intervals, and the larger proportion of exploratory dives observed in AFS females, may allow them to sample prey patches near the surface more frequently, and provide better knowledge of foraging conditions in this part of the habitat (Charnov 1976). Dive traces from AFS females at La Mare aux Elephants display stronger diel changes in dive depth than those from SFS females (Appendix 1), so that AFS find their deepest foraging patches during the crepuscular vertical migration of their myctophid prey (Boyd et al. 1994, McCafferty et al. 1998, Luque et al. 2007a). Some myctophid fish species of this sector of the Southern Ocean are known to form denser patches at their deep daytime depth locations than during the night (Bost et al. 2002), when they are patchily distributed near the surface. AFS, and to a much lesser extent SFS, may profit from the more densely aggregated fish during dawn and dusk, as they shift between these depth locations and spatial organizations. Our observations, therefore, suggest that AFS females spent a larger fraction of foraging time in patches of higher quality, particularly after dusk and before dawn, both during OFTs and LFTs, even when costs may have been higher due to deep (Luque et al. 2007a), anaerobic diving.

To conclude, we have shown interspecific differences in the temporal distribution of diving and foraging depth between sympatric AFS and SFS, which are consistent with the hypothesis that lactation pressure is higher in AFS. The larger number of bouts, briefer postbout interval, and higher propensity to dive anaerobically in AFS, suggest more effort spent at foraging. Furthermore, AFS appeared to concentrate that effort in prey patches of higher quality. These differences were associated with lower ADL, briefer lactation, and higher pup energy demands in AFS. Gentry et al. (1986) hypothesized that a suite of fur seal life history traits, including foraging behaviour and lactation duration, follow a latitudinal gradient, ultimately being determined by environmental seasonality and predictability. Additional information from species inhabiting temperate latitudes indicate that prey ecology may be more important than latitude in influencing foraging and maternal behaviours (Francis et al. 1998). Moreover, our results suggest that intrinsic differences in physiological constraints and lactational demands play important roles in determining the fine-scale foraging behaviour in sympatric populations of some species, despite similarities in diet and prey ecology.

Acknowledgements. We thank the Institut Polaire Français Paul Emile Victor (IPEV), the Draney-Anderson Foundation, and a graduate student fellowship (to S.P.L.) from the Biology Department of Memorial University for financial and logistic support. We also thank the members of the 39th and 40th missions to lle de la Possession who participated in many aspects of field work, and several anonymous reviewers for valuable criticisms of the manuscript. Research was conducted in accordance with the guidelines set by IPEV for the Terres Australes et Antarctiques Françaises (French Antarctic and Austral Territories).

#### LITERATURE CITED

- > Arnould JPY (1997) Lactation and the cost of pup-rearing in Antarctic fur seals. Mar Mamm Sci 13:516-526
- Arnould JPY, Luque SP, Guinet C, Costa DP, Kingston J, Shaffer SA (2003) The comparative energetics and growth strategies of sympatric Antarctic and subantarctic fur seal pups at Îles Crozet. J Exp Biol 206:4497-4506
  - Baayen RH, Davidson DJ, Bates DM (2008) Mixed-effects modeling with crossed random effects for subjects and items. J Mem Lang 53:390-412
- Bailleul F, Luque SP, Dubroca L, Arnould JPY, Guinet C (2005) Differences in foraging strategy and maternal behaviour between two sympatric fur seal species at the Crozet Islands. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 293:273-282
  - Ballance LT, Pitman RL, Reilly SB (1997) Seabird community structure along a productivity gradient: importance of competition and energetic constraint. Ecology 78: 1502-1518
  - Bates D, Maechler M, Dai B (2008) Ime 4: linear mixed-effects models using S4 classes. R package version 0.999375-27. http://Ime4.r-forge.r-project.org
- Beck CA, Bowen WD, Iverson SJ (2000) Seasonal changes in buoyancy and diving behaviour of adult grey seals. J Exp Biol 203:2323-2330
- Bester MN, Bartlett PA (1990) Attendance behaviour of Antarctic and subantarctic fur seal females at Marion Island. Antarct Sci 2:309-312
  - Bester MN, Wilkinson IS (1989) Field identification of Antarctic and subantarctic fur seal pups. S Afr J Wildl Res 19: 140 - 144
- Birch LC (1957) The meanings of competition. Am Nat 91: 5-18
- Bonner N (1999) Seals and sea lions of the world. Blandford, London
- diving predators and diel vertical migration of prey: king penguins' diet versus trawl sampling at Kerguelen Islands. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 227:51-61
- Boveng PL, Hiruki LM, Schwartz MK, Bengtson JL (1998) Population growth of Antarctic fur seals: limitation by a

top predator, the leopard seal? Ecology 79:2863-2877

- > Boyd IL, Arnould JPY, Barton T, Croxall JP (1994) Foraging behaviour of Antarctic fur seals during periods of contrasting prev abundance. J Anim Ecol 63:703-713
- Caraco T (1980) On foraging time allocation in a stochastic environment. Ecology 61:119-128
- Charnov EL (1976) Optimal foraging, the marginal value theorem. Theor Popul Biol 9:129-136
- Costa DP, Williams TM (1999) Marine mammal energetics. In: Reynolds III JE (ed) Biology of marine mammals. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, DC, p 176-217
- Costa DP, Kuhn CE, Weise MJ, Shaffer SA, Arnould JPY (2004) When does physiology limit the foraging behaviour of freely diving mammals? Int Congr Ser 1275: 359-366
- Cowlishaw G (1999) Ecological and social determinants of spacing behaviour in desert baboon groups. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 45:67-77
- Ferreira SM, Bester MN (1999) Chemical immobilization, physical restraint, and stomach lavaging of fur seals (Arctocephalus spp.) at Marion Island. S Afr J Wildl Res 29: 55-61
- Fish FE, Hurley J, Costa DP (2003) Maneuverability by the sea lion Zalophus californianus: turning performance of an unstable body design. J Exp Biol 206:667-674
- Francis J, Boness D, Ochoa-Acuña H (1998) A protracted foraging and attendance cycle in female Juan Fernández fur seals. Mar Mamm Sci 14:552-574
- > Frid A, Heithaus MR, Dill LM (2007) Dangerous dive cycles and the proverbial ostrich. Oikos 116:893-902
  - Gentry RL, Kooyman GL (1986) Methods of dive analysis. In: Gentry RL, Kooyman GL (eds) Fur seals: maternal strategies on land and at sea. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, p 28-40
  - Gentry RL, Costa DP, Croxall JP, David JHM and others (1986) Synthesis and conclusions. In: Gentry RL, Kooyman GL (eds) Fur seals: maternal strategies on land and at sea. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, p 220-264
- Georges JY, Guinet C (2000) Early mortality and perinatal growth in the subantarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus tropicalis) on Amsterdam Island. J Zool (Lond) 251:277-287
  - Goldsworthy SD, Hindell MA, Crowley HM (1997) Diet and diving behaviour of sympatric fur seals Arctocephalus gazella and A. tropicalis at Macquarie Island. In: Hindell MA, Kemper C (eds) Marine mammal research in the Southern hemisphere: status, ecology and medicine. Surrey Beatty & Sons, Chipping Norton, NSW, p 151-163
- Guinet C (1992) Comportement de chasse des orques (Orcinus orca) autour des iles Crozet. Can J Zool 70:1656-1667 Halsey LG, Butler PJ, Blackburn TM (2006) A phylogenetic
- analysis of the allometry of diving. Am Nat 167:276-287
- Heithaus MR, Frid A (2003) Optimal diving under the risk of predation. J Theor Biol 223:79-92
- > Hindell MA, Harcourt R, Waas JR, Thompson D (2002) Finescale three-dimensional spatial use by diving, lactating female Weddell seals Leptonychotes weddellii. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 242:275-284
- Hooker SK, Boyd IL, Jessopp M, Cox O, Blackwell J, Boveng P, Bengston JL (2002) Monitoring the prey-field of marine predators: combining digital imaging with datalogging tags. Mar Mamm Sci 18:680-697
- > Houston AI, Carbone C (1992) The optimal allocation of time during the diving cycle. Behav Ecol 3:255-265
- Bost CA, Zorn T, Le Maho Y, Duhamel G (2002) Feeding of Houston AI, McNamara JM, Hutchinson JMC (1993) General results concerning the trade-off between gaining energy and avoiding predation. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 341:375-397
  - > Hull CL (2000) Comparative diving behaviour and segregation of the marine habitat by breeding Royal penguins,

#### Luque et al.: Temporal structure of diving in sympatric fur seals

Eudyptes schlegeli, and eastern Rockhopper penguins, Eudyptes chrysocome filholi, at Macquarie Island. Can J Zool 78:333-345

- Kato A, Watanuki Y, Nishiumi I, Kuroki M, Shaughnessy P, Naito Y (2000) Variation in foraging and parental behaviour of king cormorants. Auk 117:718-730
- Klages NTW, Bester MN (1998) Fish prey of fur seals Arctocephalus spp. at subantarctic Marion Island. Mar Biol (Berl) 131:559-566
- Kooyman GL (1989) Diverse divers: physiology and behavior. Springer-Verlag, Berlin
- Langton SD, Collett D, Sibly RM (1995) Splitting behaviour into bouts; a maximum likelihood approach. Behaviour 132: 781-799

Luque SP (2007) Diving behaviour analysis in R. R News 7: 8-14

- Luque SP, Guinet C (2007) A maximum likelihood approach for identifying dive bouts improves accuracy, precision, and objectivity. Behaviour 144:1315-1332
- ▶ Luque SP, Arnould JPY, Miller EH, Cherel Y, Guinet C (2007a) Foraging behaviour of sympatric Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals: does their contrasting duration of lactation make a difference? Mar Biol 152: 213-224
- Luque SP, Miller EH, Arnould JPY, Chambellant M, Guinet C (2007b) Ontogeny of body size and shape of Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals. Can J Zool 85:1275–1285
- MacArthur R, Levins R (1964) Competition, habitat selection, and character displacement in a patchy environment. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 51:1207–1210
- McCafferty DJ, Boyd IL, Walker TR, Taylor RI (1998) Foraging responses of Antarctic fur seals to changes in the marine environment. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 166:285-299
- Mehlum F, Watanuki Y, Takahashi A (2001) Diving behaviour and foraging habitats of Brünnich's guillemots (Uria lomvia) breeding in the High-Arctic. J Zool (Lond) 255: 413–423
  - Milinski M, Parker GA (1991) Competition for resources. In: Krebs JR, Davies NB (eds) Behavioural ecology: an evolutionary approach. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, p 137-168
- Mori Y (1998a) Optimal choice of foraging depth in divers. J Zool (Lond) 245:279-283
- Mori Y (1998b) The optimal patch use in divers: optimal time budget and the number of dive cycles during the bout. J Theor Biol 190:187-199
- Mori Y (2002) Optimal diving behaviour for foraging in relation to body size. J Evol Biol 15:269-276
- Mori Y, Boyd IL (2004a) The behavioral basis for nonlinear functional responses and optimal foraging in Antarctic fur seals. Ecology 85:398-410
- Mori Y, Boyd IL (2004b) Segregation of foraging between two sympatric penguin species: does rate maximization make the difference? Mar Ecol Prog Ser 275:241-249
- Mori Y, Yoda K, Sato K (2001) Defining dive bouts using a sequential differences analysis. Behaviour 138:1451-1466

Editorial responsibility: Hans Heinrich Janssen, Oldendorf/Luhe, Germany

- Mori Y, Takahashi A, Mehlum F, Watanuki Y (2002) An application of optimal diving models to diving behaviour of Brünnich's guillemots. Anim Behav 64:739-745
- Mori Y, Watanabe Y, Mitani Y, Sato K, Cameron MF, Naito Y (2005) A comparison of prey richness estimates for Weddell seals using diving profiles and image data. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 295:257-263
  - Nonacs P (2001) State dependent behavior and the marginal value theorem. Behav Ecol 12:71–83
  - Pinheiro JC, Bates DM (2000) Mixed-effects models in S and S-PLUS. Springer-Verlag, New York
  - R Development Core Team (2007) R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, www.R-project.org
  - Ridgway SH, Harrison RJ (eds) (1981) Handbook of marine mammals, I. The walrus, sea lions, fur seals and sea otters. Academic Press, San Diego, CA
- Robinson SA, Goldsworthy SD, van den Hoff J, Hindell MA (2002) The foraging ecology of two sympatric fur seal species, Arctocephalus gazella and Arctocephalus tropicalis, at Macquarie Island during the austral summer. Mar Freshw Res 53:1071-1082
- Sæther BE, Gordon LJ (1994) The adaptive significance of reproductive strategies in ungulates. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 256:263-268
- Sato K, Watanuki Y, Takahashi A, Miller PJO and others (2007) Stroke frequency, but not swimming speed, is related to body size in free-ranging seabirds, pinnipeds, and cetaceans. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 274:471-477
- Schoener TW (1974) Resource partitioning in ecological communities. Science 185:27-39
- Shepard ELC, Wilson RP, Liebsch N, Quintana F, Gómez Laich A, Lucke K (2008) Flexible paddle sheds new light on speed: a novel method for the remote measurement of swim speed in aquatic animals. Endang Species Res 4: 157-164
- Sibly RM, Nott HMR, Fletcher DJ (1990) Splitting behaviour into bouts. Anim Behav 39:63-69
- Stamps JA (1983) The relationship between ontogenetic habitat shifts, competition and predator avoidance in a juvenile lizard (Anolis aeneus). Behav Ecol Sociobiol 12:19–33
- Thompson D, Fedak MA (2001) How long should a dive last? A simple model of foraging decisions by breath-hold divers in a patchy environment. Anim Behav 61:287-296
- Tilman D (1987) The importance of the mechanisms of interspecific competition. Am Nat 129:769–774 Trillmich F, Kooyman GL (1986) Attendance behavior of Galá-
- pagos fur seals. In: Gentry RL, Kooyman GL (eds) Fur seals: maternal strategies on land and at sea. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, p 168-187
- Wirsing AJ, Heithaus MR, Frid A, Dill LM (2008) Seascapes of fear: evaluating sublethal predator effects experienced and generated by marine mammals. Mar Mamm Sci 24: 1-15

Submitted: May 6, 2008; Accepted: August 13, 2008 Proofs received from author(s): November 21, 2008

The following appendix accompanies the article

1

# Temporal structure of diving behaviour in sympatric Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals

# Sebastián P. Luque<sup>1,2,\*</sup>, John P. Y. Arnould<sup>3</sup>, Christophe Guinet<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biology, Memorial University, St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador A1B 3X9, Canada <sup>2</sup>Centre d'Etudes Biologiques de Chizé, CNRS, 79 360 Villiers en Bois, France <sup>3</sup>School of Life and Environmental Sciences, Deakin University, 221 Burwood Highway, Burwood, Victoria 3125, Australia <sup>\*</sup>Email: spluque@gmail.com

Marine Ecology Progress Series 372:277-287 (2008)







Appendix 1 (continued)

2



Fig. A2. Arctocephalus tropicalis (subantarctic fur seal). Typical dive profile of a lactating female showing little nocturnal changes in depth: (a) an entire night of foraging (black lines denote zoomed region in subsequent panels), (b) foraging before midnight, and (c) foraging after midnight

# B.4 Pup growth and physical development

Luque SP, Miller EH, Arnould JPY, Chambellant M, Guinet C (2007) Ontogeny of body size and shape of Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals Canadian Journal of Zoology 85: 1275-1285 Sebastián P. Luque, Edward H. Miller, John P.Y. Arnould, Magaly Chambellant, and Christophe Guinet

Abstract: Pre- and post-weaning functional demands on body size and shape of mammals are often in conflict, especially in species where weaning involves a change of habitat. Compared with long lactations, brief lactations are expected to be associated with fast rates of development and attainment of adult traits. We describe allometry and growth for several morphological traits in two closely related fur seal species with large differences in lactation duration at a sympatric site. Longitudinal data were collected from Antarctic (*Arctocephalus gazella* (Peters, 1875); 120 d lactation) and subantarctic (*Arctocephalus tropicalis* (Gray, 1872); 300 d lactation) fur seals. Body mass was similar in neonates of both species, but *A. gazella* neonates were longer, less voluminous, and had larger foreflippers. The species were similar in rate of preweaning growth in body mass, but growth rates of linear variables were faster for *A. gazella* pups. Consequently, neonatal differences in body shape increased over lactation, and *A. gazella* pups approached adult body shape faster than did *A. tropicalis* pups. Our results indicate that preweaning growth is associated with significant changes in body shape, involving the acquisition of a longer, more slender body with larger foreflippers in *A. gazella*. These differences suggest that *A. gazella* pups are physically more mature at approximately 100 d of age (close to weaning age) than *A. tropicalis* pups of the same age.

Résumé : Il y a souvent un conflit entre les demandes fonctionnelles d'avant et d'après le sevrage sur la taille et la forme corporelles chez les mammifères, particulièrement chez les espèces chez lesquelles le sevrage implique un changement d'habitat. Contrairement aux allaitements prolongés, on s'attend à ce que les allaitements courts soient associés à des taux rapides de développement et d'acquisition des caractéristiques adultes. Nous décrivons l'allométrie et la croissance de plusieurs variables morphologiques chez deux espèces fortement apparentées d'otaries à fourrure vivant dans un même site, mais possédant des périodes d'allaitement de durée différente. Nous avons récolté des données longitudinales sur des otaries à fourrure antarctiques (Arctocephalus gazella (Peters, 1875); allaitement de 120 j) et subantarctiques (Arctocephalus tropicalis (Gray, 1872); allaitement de 300 j). La masse corporelle est semblable chez les nouveau-nés des deux espèces, mais les nouveau-nés d'A. gazella sont plus longs et moins volumineux et ils possèdent des nageoires antérieures plus grandes. Les taux de croissance de la masse corporelle avant le sevrage sont similaires chez les deux espèces, mais les taux de croissance des variables linéaires sont plus rapides chez les petits d'A. gazella. En conséquence, les différences de forme corporelle à la naissance augmentent au cours de l'allaitement et les petits d'A. gazella acquièrent la forme adulte plus rapidement que les petits d'A. tropicalis. Nos résultats indiquent que la croissance avant le sevrage est associée à une importante modification de la forme corporelle, ce qui se traduit chez A. gazella par l'acquisition d'un corps plus long et plus élancé avec des nageoires antérieures plus grandes. Ces différences laissent croire que les petits d'A. gazella âgés d'environ 100 j (près de l'âge de sevrage) ont une maturité physique plus grande que les petits d'A. tropicalis du même âgc.

[Traduit par la Rédaction]

#### Introduction

Magnitude, rate, and pattern of mammalian growth determine adult body size and shape (Brody 1964; McNab 2002). Adult body size and shape, in turn, have major influences on viability and reproduction, among other life-history traits (Stearns 1992; Arendt 1997; Lindström 1999). Growth must bc optimized relative to other demands, therefore it varies across individuals, populations, and species (Mangel and Stamps 2001; Caley and Schwarzkopf 2004). Some tradeoffs occur in offspring, while others are imposed by different trade-offs acting on their mothers, which may alter the quality and quantity of milk that the mothers deliver. Interspecifically, milk composition and energy content are related to duration of lactation, so differences in the latter do not necessarily reflect total energy transferred to the offspring. Tilden and Oftedal (1997) noted that the energy den-

Received 20 January 2007. Accepted 29 August 2007. Published on the NRC Research Press Web site at cjz.nrc.ca on 21 December 2007.

S.P. Luque,<sup>1,2</sup> M. Chambellant, and C. Gulnet. Centre d'Études Biologique de Chizé, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS) Unité Propre 1934, 79 360 Villiers en Bois, France.

E.H. Miller. Department of Biology, Memorial University, St. John's, NL A1B 3X9, Canada.

J.P.Y. Arnould. School of Life and Environmental Sciences, Deakin University, 221 Burwood Highway, Burwood, VIC 3125, Australia. <sup>1</sup>Corresponding author (e-mail: sluque@mun.ca).

<sup>2</sup>Present address: Department of Biology, Memorial University, St. John's, NL A1B 3X9, Canada.

Can. J. Zool. 85: 1275-1285 (2007)

doi:10.1139/207-092

© 2007 NRC Canada

sity of milk is inversely related to duration of lactation in primates. Similarly, slowly growing and highly mobile offspring typify ungulate and macropod (kangaroos, wallabics, etc.) species with long lactations (Sæther and Gordon 1994; Fisher et al. 2002). However, body size is an important complicating factor, as lactation typically lasts longer in larger species (Peters et al. 1983; Clutton-Brock 1991; Ross 1998). Because of these confounding factors, reasons for interspecific variation in growth with respect to lactation duration remain poorly understood.

Pinnipcds are an attractive model for studying prewcaning development because they undergo a transition from suckling on land to foraging at sca, involving major physical, physiological, and behavioural changes in preparation for that transition. The success of the transition ultimately depends on the acquisition of sufficient oxygen stores in relation to energy expenditure while diving (Burns and Castellini 1996; Burns 1999; Thorson et al. 1994; Horning and Trillmich 1997a, 1997b). However, increased physiological diving capacity must be closely coordinated with physical growth and the gradual development of swimming skills (Jørgensen et al. 2001; Bowen et al. 1999). Recent studies suggest that oxygen storage capacity across a broad range of marine mammal species does not reach adult levels before independent foraging (Noren et al. 2001; Burns et al. 2004). Therefore, lactation duration is an important factor affecting the ontogeny of physical and behavioural traits of offspring.

Relationships between life-history traits have been extensively studied in pinnipeds because they are ecologically and reproductively diverse and display a wide range of body sizes (Stirling and Kleiman 1983; Bonner 1984; Oftedal et al. 1987; Costa 1993; McLaren 1993; Boyd 1998). For instance, lactation lasts from <4 d (hooded seal, Cystophora cristata (Erxleben, 1777)) to 2-3 years (walrus, Odobenus rosmarus (L., 1758)). Quality of knowledge, however, varies across species; good estimates of lactation duration are available for only eight species — three otariids and five phocids (Schulz 2004). Good quantitative estimates of growth rate and duration of lactation for the same species arc available for even fewer. Considering the difficulty in obtaining comprehensive and precise data, and given the widespread effects of spatiotemporal environmental variability on one-time estimates (Trillmich et al. 1991; Lunn et al. 1993), an alternative approach for comparing ecologically different and related species might be profitable. Two otariid species that have recently been used in the context of foraging and growth studies are the Antarctic (Arctocephalus gazella (Peters, 1875); AFS hereinafter) and subantarctic (Arctocephalus tropicalis (Gray, 1872); SFS hereinafter) fur seals (Kerley 1985; Goldsworthy et al. 1997; Klages and Bester 1998; Goldsworthy and Crowley 1999; Robinson et al. 2002).

We investigated comparative growth in AFS and SFS pups to determine the presence and nature of differences that may influence how the species cope with the critical postweaning period as pups become independent foragers. These species have similar adult body mass and length (Payne 1979; Bester and Van Jaarsveld 1994), yet exhibit a large disparity in lactation duration: 116 d in AFS (Costa et Can. J. Zool. Vol. 85, 2007

al. 1988; Lunn et al. 1993) and 300 d in SFS (Kerley 1987; Guinet and Georges 2000), respectively. Therefore, the time required to acquire the physical and physiological characteristics enabling pups to become independent foragers may differ between the species. Comparisons between two species cannot be used to elucidate the relationship between lactation duration and growth patterns, but they offer an advantage that is rarely found in multispecies comparisons the ability to control for confounding factors, such as environmental differences between populations of different species, in syntopic (locally sympatric) populations. AFS and SFS breed syntopically at a few locations where habitat differences between species are likely to be minimal, facilitating the interpretation of comparative analyses.

In previous research, Arnould et al. (2003) found that daily pup energy expenditure was higher in AFS than in SFS breeding syntopically at Ile de la Possession, Crozet archipelago, in the Southern Indian Ocean. In contrast, earlier reports from other syntopic sites suggested higher growth rates in body mass of AFS (Kerley 1985; Goldsworthy and Crowley 1999). We suggest that the reported disparity may reflect differences in body shape, which commonly differs adaptively between related species (Dodson 1975; Carrier 1983; Alatalo et al. 1984; Atchley 1984; Creighton and Strauss 1986; Gisbert 1999; Hochuli 2001).

Functional demands on body size and shape may change sharply between pre- and post-weaning ages in young pinnipeds, especially in otariids because of their long preweaning terrestrial existence (Koehler and Barclay 2000). Within the otariids, AFS and SFS differ substantially in this regard, so we predicted that these species would differ in growth trajectories and in the rate at which they acquire adult body form or shape (e.g., in foreflippers; Fish 1998; Fish et al. 2003). Specifically, we predicted that AFS pups should acquire adult flipper size and shape relatively sooner than would SFS pups, assuming that this allows them to make a successful transition to independent foraging at an earlier age.

#### Materials and methods

#### Fur seal colonies and identification procedures

Research was carried out at La Marc aux Elephants  $(46^{\circ}22'29''S, 51^{\circ}40'13''E)$ , at the western end of Ile de la Possession, Crozet archipelago, Southern Indian Ocean, during the 2001–2002 (4 December – 25 March) and 2002–2003 (1 December – 16 March) breeding seasons (2001 and 2002 hereinafter). The site consists of two adjacent AFS and SFS colonies on different types of substrate — AFS on the northern part of the beach, which is composed of small to medium-sized pebbles, with gentle slopes behind; SFS on the southern part of the beach, which is composed of large boulders that have fallen from the steep hinterlands. Both species give birth close to shore, but the AFS colony grows in size as the season progresses, while the other species tends to remain close to shore during the same period.

Pups were individually marked (Georges and Guinet 2000; Arnould et al. 2003; Bailleul et al. 2005) over a 6 d (2001) or 13 d (2002) period (Table 1). Pup production and mean pupping date were estimated using (*i*) total pup counts (both years; including dead and living pups) on a weekly ba-

C 2007 NRC Canada

# Luque et al.

Table 1. Summary of numbers of Antarctic (*Arctocephalus gazella*; AFS) and subantarctic (*Arctocephalus tropicalis*; SFS) fur seal used in the study, broken down by year, species, and sex.

	Breeding season				
	2001	2002	Both		
AFS					
Female	47 (10)	29 (24)	76		
Male	48 (6)	29 (19)	77		
Both	95	58	153		
SFS					
Female	31 (27)	36 (32)	67		
Male	27 (22)	30 (28)	57		
Both	58	66	124		

Note: Values indicate total number, including newborn pups; the number of newborn pups is shown in parentheses.

sis until no more births were observed and (*ii*) mark-recapture methods (2001 only). Peak pupping dates were 5 and 15 December (2001: 164 pups; 2002: 167 pups) for AFS, and 25 and 30 December (2001: 80 pups; 2002: 91 pups) for SFS. Populations of both species have been increasing at an annual rate of approximately 18% annually at least until 1994 (Guinet et al. 1994).

#### Morphometric measurements

Body mass (BM) of pups was measured to the nearest 0.05 at first capture, and every 5-9 d thereafter, on a 25 kg capacity digital suspension balance (ElectroSamson; Salter Brecknell, Fairmount, Minnesota). The following variables were also measured on pups upon first capture and every 12-16 d thereafter: body length (BL; nearest 0.5 cm, straight line from the tip of the nose to the flesh tip of the tail) with a tape measure, while animals were manually restrained over a board and positioned straight and flat on their ventral surface. In 2002, we also measured the following variables (nearest 0.5 cm) taken the same way and on the same schedule: body girth at levels of pinna, mid-neck, axillae, and umbilicus (G1-G4 hereinafter); distance from the tip of the nose to each of these points (see next; RL1-RL4 hereinafter). BL and RL1-RL4 were measured with a straight tape measure glued onto the board on which the animals were placed. Length, width, and surface area of foreflippers were measured as follows. First, the right foreflipper was extended and held to the side of and perpendicular to the body, and was placed on a wooden board with horizontal and vertical scales (20 cm, marked every 5 cm). Second, a photograph was taken (Nikon Coolpix E885) in dorsal aspect from a distance of approximately 1.25 m. Finally, measurements were made from the photographs: (*i*) length (FL), defined as the distance from proximal end of the humerus (estimated by palpation) to the tip of foreflipper through the midline of the flipper; (*ii*) width (FW), defined as the largest distance perpendicular to the foreflipper length; and (*iii*) area (FA), estimated from the traced outline of the foreflipper using Object-Image version 2.11 (US National Institutes of Health, available from http://simon.bio. uva.nl/Object-Image/object-image.html [accessed 12 December 2007]). FL and FW were also measured directly on the foreflipper for cross-validation and subsequent analyses.

The relationship between direct measurements on flippers, and those taken photogrammetrically, were tested for linearity to detect outliers or invalid estimates. This led to the exclusion of FA estimates for pups with FL >27 cm, as the corresponding relationship became asymptotic beyond this value, indicating decreasing accuracy.

We also took all measurements on 63 AFS and 70 SFS adult females, but BM was measured to the nearest 0.5 kg. For comparisons with pups, each female was measured at least twice, and the median value for each variable was used to set adult body measurements. Estimates for some variables on adult males were included using data taken at South Georgia for AFS (Payne 1979) and at Marion Island (about 950 km west of Crozet) for SFS (Bester and Van Jaarsveld 1994).

Body volume (BV; ±0.01 L) of pups was obtained by using model B in Luque and Aurioles-Gamboa (2001), in which the body was modelled as two cones plus two truncated cones. Volumes of cones  $(\frac{1}{3}\pi h(r_1^2 r_2^2 + r_1^2 r_2^2))$  and truncated cones  $(\frac{1}{3}(\pi r^2 h))$  were calculated using the lengths (h)of cones estimated from RL1 and RL4, and lengths of truncated cones were estimated from RL2 and RL3, respectively. Girth was used to calculate radius (r).

#### Analyses

Interspecific differences in neonatal and adult body size were assessed using double classification analyses of variance, with a term for sex effects, including only data for which accurate ages were available. However, adult females were assigned to a single age category because their ages were unknown.

To determine whether growth trajectories varied according to species or sex, a linear mixed effects model (Raudenbush and Bryk 2002) was designed for the *j*th observation on the *i*th individual:

 $[1] \qquad y_{ij} = (\beta_{00} + \beta_{01} \operatorname{species}_i + \beta_{02} \operatorname{sex}_i + \beta_{03} \operatorname{species}_i \operatorname{sex}_i + b_{i0}) + (\beta_{10} + \beta_{11} \operatorname{species}_i + \beta_{12} \operatorname{sex}_i + \beta_{13} \operatorname{species}_i \operatorname{sex}_i + b_{i1}) x_{ij} + \varepsilon_{ij}$ 

where  $\beta_{00}$  and  $\beta_{10}$  refer to the population intercept and slope, respectively, for AFS female pups, which is the baseline group.  $\beta_{01}$ ,  $\beta_{02}$ , and  $\beta_{03}$  are fixed effects for the change in population intercept associated with the species, sex, and their interaction in relation to the baseline group.  $\beta_{11}$ ,  $\beta_{12}$ , and  $\beta_{13}$  are the changes in population slope associated with the same effects.  $b_{i0}$  and  $b_{i1}$  are the random intercept and slope effects for the *i*th individual, respectively, and  $\varepsilon_{ij}$  is a within-subject residual term. Other terms were added to test for year effects and their interactions with body mass and

Can. J. Zool. Vol. 85, 2007

body length, but they were subsequently dropped if they were nonsignificant here and elsewhere at  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

Based on exploratory analyses and because ages were <300 d, a linear model was assumed, rather than a more complicated one. No assumptions were made regarding the autocorrelation structure of the  $\varepsilon_{ij}$  values. However, it was assumed that these were independent and normally distributed, regardless of the bi values. In this model, species, and sex, take on values of zero and one, to indicate whether yill refers to AFS or SFS, and to a female or a male pup, respectively. We fitted the model using a restricted log-likelihood method, as described in Pinheiro and Bates (2000), and implemented in the NLME R package (Pinheiro et al. 2004). We subsequently estimated lincar equations from this model, collapsing across and (or) within fixed effects that were not significantly different from zero. Only pups that were measured more than twice throughout the study period were considered for these analyses.

Because absolute age was not known for all individuals (Table 1), relative age was defined as the number of days elapsed since seals were first seen, which was taken as day zero. The difference in peak pupping dates between species was taken into account by adding the corresponding value from each breeding season (2001: 20 d; 2002: 15 d) to the relative age of AFS pups. Relative age was then used as the regressor x in eq. 1. Relative age was logarithmically transformed (logarithm base 10) and a constant was added to it to achieve linearity before using it as the regressor for BL in eq. 1. This transformation was chosen because BL changed faster in young pups (<30 d) than in older pups.

To address the question of whether growth trajectories gave rise to interspecific differences in the rate at which pups acquired adult body shape, two allometric relationships that might influence aquatic locomotory performance (e.g., Feldkamp 1987; Fish et al. 1988; Stelle et al. 2000) were studied: (1) foreflipper span (FS) squared vs. total FA (TFA) and RL3 vs. BL. FS was calculated as 2-FL + G3- $\pi^{-1}$ and TFA was calculated as 2.FA. The first relationship is the foreflipper aspect ratio expressed allometrically, whereas the second was used as an index of the position of foreflippers along the body axis relative to BL. One random measurement per female pup, where 80 d < age < 120 d, was selected for this analysis to eliminate any dependence between observations while maintaining a large enough sample size with valid foreflipper measurements (i.e., <27 cm). For adult females, the median value for each variable was used, assuming their growth was negligible.

To investigate how allometric relationships 1 and 2 compared between species and age groups (female pups vs. adult females), we used analysis of covariance (Zar 1996). We were interested in the interaction between age group (adult or pup) and species to test whether pups of one species were more allometrically similar to adults than the other. This approach avoided known biases associated with ratios between the variables from each relationship (Packard and Boardman 1999).

All statistical analyses were performed in the GNU R system (R Development Core Team 2006). The Shapiro-Wilks statistic and the Fligner-Killeen test were used to evaluate assumptions of normality of data distributions and homogeneity of variances, respectively, in analyses of variance and covariance. Results show SE as the measure of dispersion, unless stated otherwise.

#### Results

#### Neonatal and adult body size

There was no evidence of interannual effects on neonatal BM ( $F_{[1,160]} = 1.70$ , P = 0.19) or body length ( $F_{[1,157]} = 2.03$ , P = 0.16) when species and sex were taken into account. Therefore, measurements were pooled across years for subsequent analyses.

Male neonates were larger than females in most measurements (Table 2). AFS neonates were significantly longer than SFS neonates, had longer head and neck regions (RL1 and RL2), longer and narrower foreflippers, and greater FA (Table 2). Other interspecific differences were detected among females only; AFS female pups were larger in girth and BV than SFS pups. Adult female AFS were significantly heavier than adult female SFS. AFS adult females were larger in all flipper measurements than SFS adult females (Table 3).

#### Growth

Growth trajectories for each variable showed differing patterns of growth between species. No main effects or interactions of year with species or sex effects were significant in the models of mass and body length growth (P > 0.5, all cases), so the data were pooled. The magnitude and SE of interspecific and intersexual effects, in terms of eq. 1, are shown in Table 4. Estimated growth rates for each variable, with results of interspecific comparisons, are shown in Table 5.

In both species, sexual differences in BM increased steadily throughout lactation owing to the faster growth of male pups ( $l_{[2822]} = 4.0$ , P < 0.01). However, pups grew at a similar rate in both species ( $l_{[2822]} = -0.04$ , P > 0.90) after the sex effects were removed (Fig. 1). Neonatal BM did not differ between species, but the intercept of the relationship between BM and relative age was higher in AFS pups. No interactions were significant between species ( $l_{[264]} = -1.34$ , P > 0.1) and sex (;  $t_{[2822]} = 0.18$ , P > 0.8). A similar pattern was found for BV (Fig. 1), which is consistent with faster rates of growth in SFS girth (Table 5).

Growth in BL was faster in AFS pups  $(t_{[1321]} = -2.57, P = 0.01)$ , as well as in males of both species  $(t_{[1321]} = 2.21, P = 0.03)$  (Fig. 1). There were no interactions between species and sex for slope  $(t_{[1321]} = -0.05, P > 0.9)$  or intercept  $(t_{[260]} = -0.93, P > 0.3)$ . RL1 and RL2 showed faster rates of growth in AFS  $(t_{[441]} = -4.65, P < 0.01$  and  $t_{[441]} = -2.80$ , P < 0.01, respectively), irrespective of sex  $(t_{[441]} = 1.49, P > 0.1$  and  $t_{[441]} = 1.53, P > 0.1$ , respectively) (Table 5).

All foreflipper measurements increased in size faster in AFS: FL ( $t_{[441]} = -10.50$ , P < 0.02), FW ( $t_{[441]} -2.45$ , P < 0.02), and FA ( $t_{[208]} = -5.13$ , P < 0.01) (Fig. 2). There were no significant interactions with sex (FL:  $t_{[441]} = 0.96$ , P > 0.3; FW:  $t_{[441]} = 1.92$ , P > 0.3; FA:  $t_{[208]} = 0.47$ , P > 0.6).

#### Allometry

Pup growth trajectories along individual variables led to differing allometric relationships between species and age

Table 2. Summary of morphometric differences between species and sexes in neonatal Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seals.

	Female		Male			
Variable	AFS	SFS	AFS	SFS	F ratio <sup>a</sup>	
Body mass (BM; kg)	4.90±0.150	4.60±0.080	5.40±0.210	5.45±0.100	0.98; 35.28	
Body length (BL; cm)	60.3±0.54	58.8±0.32	63.8±0.75	61.7±0.40	11.34; 46.63	
Girth (G; cm)						
G1	30.4±0.30 <sup>b</sup>	28.9±0.14	30.6±0.26	30.4±0.15	9.57	
G2	29.5±0.32 <sup>b</sup>	27.4±0.26	28.6±0.48	29.2±0.27	16.22	
G3	39.6±0.54 <sup>b</sup>	37.2±0.33	39.3±0.71	39.6±0.43	7.87	
G4	39.1±0.64 <sup>b</sup>	36.7±0.41	39.1±0.72	40.2±0.55	9.27	
Reference length (RL; cm)						
RL1	8.3±0.13	7.8±0.11	8.8±0.17	8.1±0.11	25.33; 9.24	
RL2	12.9±0.15	12.1±0.16	13.6±0.30	12.8±0.19	16.86; 14.16	
RL3	30.3±0.41	29.0±0.37	31.1±0.62	30.9±0.43	2.45; 11.15	
RL4	43.8±0.43	40.2±0.34	45.0±0.59	41.9±0.37	62.84; 13.99	
Foreflipper length (FL; cm)	22.2±0.23	21.1±0.14	23.0±0.45	22.0±0.18	21.66; 13.77	
Foreflipper width (FW; cm)	8.0±0.11	8.2±0.10	8.4±0.17	8.8±0.10	10.95; 24.10	
Foreflipper surface area (FA; cm <sup>2</sup> )	142.1±3.57b	126.6±2.41	145.4±5.99	144.1±2.50	4.30	
Body volume (BV; L)	4.5±0.15 <sup>b</sup>	3.6±0.08	4.5±0.21	4.2±0.11	4.93	

Note: For all variables, sample sizes (n) were 22 females and 17 males (AFS) and 32 females and 28 males (SFS), except for body mass and body length, where the sample sizes were 34 females and 25 males (AFS) and 59 females and 50 males (SFS). Values are means  $\pm$  SE.

"Values for interspecific and intersexual comparisons, respectively, are shown. Significant effects are in **boldface** type. For significant interactions, only the value for the interaction is shown.

<sup>b</sup>For significant interactions, this is the species and sex with the highest mean.

Table 3. Summary of morphometric differences between adult Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur seal females.

AFS	SFS	F ratio <sup>a</sup>
32.7±0.36 (63)	30.5±0.45 (70)	6.88
118.0±0.49 (63)	117.0±0.51 (70)	1.07
75.0±0.70 (24)	73.8±1.12 (22)	0.44
63.3±0.52 (24)	61.6±0.55 (18)	2.74
40.3±0.25 (62)	33.9±0.23 (70)	179.80
12.9±0.08 (62)	11.9±0.07 (70)	43.8
431.5±11.46 (16)	348.1±6.4 (11)	17.67
	AFS 32.7±0.36 (63) 118.0±0.49 (63) 75.0±0.70 (24) 63.3±0.52 (24) 40.3±0.25 (62) 12.9±0.08 (62) 431.5±11.46 (16)	AFS SFS   32.7±0.36 (63) 30.5±0.45 (70)   118.0±0.49 (63) 117.0±0.51 (70)   75.0±0.70 (24) 73.8±1.12 (22)   63.3±0.52 (24) 61.6±0.55 (18)   40.3±0.25 (62) 33.9±0.23 (70)   12.9±0.08 (62) 11.9±0.07 (70)   431.5±11.46 (16) 348.1±6.4 (11)

Note: Values are means  $\pm$  SE, with sample size (n) in parentheses.

"Significant effects are in boldface type.

groups. A two-way analysis of covariance indicated that age-group differences in the slope of the relationship between FS<sup>2</sup> and TFA were dependent on species (slope interaction term:  $F_{[1,43]} = 5.00$ , P = 0.03). The age group did not significantly affect the allometric slope in AFS ( $F_{[1,27]} = 2.83$ , P = 0.10), but it did in SFS ( $F_{[1,16]} = 5.29$ , P = 0.04); female SFS pups had a higher allometric slope than adult females (Fig. 3A). Among pups, the allometric slope showed large differences between species among adults ( $F_{[1,18]} = 0.36$ , P = 0.5). In agreement with this trend, differences in the allometric slope between pups and adults were larger in SFS. Foreflipper size differences between pups and adults were also much larger in SFS.

RL3 scaled with BL differently between species ( $F_{[1,69]} = 6.01$ , P = 0.02), but similarly between age groups ( $F_{[1,69]} = 0.29$ , P = 0.59), without any interaction between these factors ( $F_{[1,65]} = 1.08$ , P = 0.30). The allometric slope of the

relationship was higher in AFS, particularly among female pups (Fig. 3B).

#### Discussion

#### Neonatal and adult body size

Based on multiple traits, we documented many interspecific differences in neonatal body size, preweaning growth, and changes in body growth between two otariid species, AFS and SFS. We hypothesized that AFS pups should mature physically faster than SFS pups, given their younger weaning age. Neonates of the two species differed little on any measurements, but differed greatly in rates of growth. However, if adults show larger differences between species than neonates, then the results may simply reflect intrinsic morphological differences between species rather than different development patterns. Therefore, we begin our discussion by comparing neonate and adult body size of AFS and

**Table 4.** Summary of the effects of species ( $\beta_{01}$  and  $\beta_{11}$ ), sex ( $\beta_{02}$  and  $\beta_{12}$ ), and their interactions ( $\beta_{03}$ ) on the growth of Antarctic and subantarctic fur seal pups, estimated using eq. 1.

	Intercept effect			Slope effect	
Variable	β01	$\beta_{02}$	$\beta_{03}$	$\beta_{11}$	B12
Body mass (BM)	-0.950 (0.180)		ns	115	0.010 (0.003)
Body length (BL) <sup>a</sup>			ns	-1.740 (0.680)	1.410 (0.640)
Foreflipper length (FL)		0.880 (0.330)	ns	-0.040 (0.004)	ns
Foreflipper width (FW)	ns	0.570 (0.140)	ns	-0.004 (0.001)	ns
Foreflipper surface area (FA)		ns	ns	-0.410 (0.080)	ns
Body volume (BV)	-1.030 (0.230)		ns	ns	0.010 (0.004)
Girth (G)					
Gl	-1.400 (0.300)	0.860 (0.310)	ns	ns	ns
G2		ns	1.700 (0.750)	0.040 (0.008)	ns
G3		ns	ns	0.030 (0.010)	ns
G4		ns	ns	0.060 (0.015)	ns
Reference length (RL)					
RLI		0.550 (0.190)	ns	-0.010 (0.003)	ns
RL2		1.150 (0.310)	ns	-0.020 (0.006)	ns
RL3	-2.770 (0.580)	1.530 (0.590)	ns	ns	ns
RL4	-4.070 (0.590)		ns	ns	ns

Note: The interactions in slope  $\beta_{13}$  were nonsignificant, therefore they were omitted. Significant effects are in boldface type; nonsignificant effects are indicated by ns; meaningless effects owing to interactions are blank. Standard errors are in parentheses.

"Relative age (d) was log-transformed to linearize this relationship.

	Female		Male			
Variable	AFS	SFS	AFS	SFS		
Body mass (BM; kg·d <sup>-1</sup> )	0.06 (0.	060.07) <sup>a</sup>	0.08 (0.07-0.08) <sup>a</sup>			
Body length (BL; $\operatorname{cm} \cdot \log(d^{-1})$ ) Girth (G: $\operatorname{cm} \cdot d^{-1}$ )	17.58 (16.68–18.47)	15.83 (14.85-16.82)	18.99 (18.11-19.86)	17.19 (16.15-18.23)		
G1	$0.04 (0.04 - 0.05)^{b}$					
G2	0.07 (0.06-0.08)	0.10 (0.09-0.11)	0.09 (0.07-0.10)	0.10 (0.09-0.1)		
G3	0.14 (0.13-0.15)	0.17 (0.15-0.18)	0.14 (0.13-0.15)	0.17 (0.15-0.18)		
G4	0.09 (0.08-0.11)	0.15 (0.13-0.18)	0.09 (0.08-0.11)	0.15 (0.13-0.18)		
Reference length (RL; cm·d <sup>-1</sup> )						
RLI	0.05 (0.05-0.06)	0.04 (0.03-0.04)	0.05 (0.05-0.06)	0.04 (0.03-0.04)		
RL2	0.10 (0.10-0.11)	0.09 (0.08-0.10)	0.10 (0.10-0.11)	0.09 (0.08-0.10)		
RL3		0.10 (0.0	9-0.11) <sup>b</sup>			
RL4	0.13 (0.13–0.14) <sup>b</sup>					
Foreflipper length (FL; cm·d-1)	0.08 (0.08-0.08)	0.04 (0.03-0.05)	0.08 (0.08-0.08)	0.04 (0.03-0.05)		
Foreflipper width (FW; cm·d <sup>-1</sup> )	0.02 (0.02-0.02)	0.02 (0.02-0.02)	0.02 (0.02-0.02)	0.02 (0.02-0.02)		
Foreflipper surface area (FA; cm·d <sup>-1</sup> )	0.99 (0.89-1.09)	0.58 (0.45-0.72)	0.99 (0.89-1.09)	0.58 (0.45-0.72)		
Body volume (BV; L·d <sup>-1</sup> )	0.04 (0.	03–0.04)°	0.04 (0.0	$0.04 (0.04 - 0.05)^a$		

Table 5. Comparison of growth rates of Antarctic (AFS) and subantarctic (SFS) fur scal pups, using the estimated slope (lower-upper 95% confidence limits) from eq. 1.

"Growth rate was common to both species.

<sup>b</sup>Growth rate was common to both species and both sexes.

SFS at Iles Crozet with other populations, and then focus on the factors that could have given rise to species differences in development.

We found no species differences in neonatal body mass at Iles Crozet, as Kerley (1985) also found for seven animals at Marion Island. No comparable data are available from Macquaric Island, the third site where the two species coexist. However, body mass alone cannot be used to compare body size between the species, because neonatal body shape differs — at birth, AFS pups are longer, have longer heads and necks, and have larger foreflippers. Therefore, the similarity between species in body mass may indicate differences in body composition rather than similarities in body size. Based on a small sample of our pups from 2001, Arnould et al. (2003) showed that AFS pups had lower total body lipid stores than SFS pups at approximately 2 months of age, and our results suggest that the difference may also be present at birth.

Neonates of both species from our study were about a kilogram heavier than those weighed by Sparrow and Heywood (1996), although the difference cannot readily be attributed to any ecological factor because of the small

Luque et al.

Fig. 1. Rates of growth in body mass (A) and body volume (B) did not differ between Antarctic (*Arctocephalus gazella*; AFS) and subantarctic (*Arctocephalus tropicalis*; SFS) fur seal pups during lactation, but growth in body length (C) was faster in AFS pups, based on eq. 1. The vertical broken line indicates weaning age of AFS pups. See Table 5 for estimated growth rates.



Flg. 2. Foreflipper length (A), width (B), and surface area (C) grew faster in Antarctic (AFS) compared with subantarctic (SFS) fur seal pups during lactation, based on eq. 1. The vertical broken line indicates weaning age of AFS pups. See Table 5 for estimated growth rates.



sample size in the latter study. Estimated pup birth dates in our study were similar to those reported by Kerley (1985) on Marion Island and were consistent with Sparrow and Heywood (1996), who showed that the two archipelagoes have a similar marine environment. The body mass of neonatal SFS pups in our study is comparable with that obtained from allopatric sites at Amsterdam Island (Georges and Guinet 2000) and Gough Island (Bester 1987; Bester and Van Jaarsveld 1994) for SFS and at Bird Island, South Georgia (Lunn et al. 1993), for AFS, suggesting that adult females are equally able to meet the demands of gestation in these environments, or can compensate for any differences without a cost to the newborn offspring.

Sexual differences in neonatal body size occur in all otariids, including in our species (Bester 1987; Kerley 1985; Lunn et al. 1993). However, pup sex did not influence most interspecific comparisons of neonatal body size in our analyses; sexual size differences were similar for both species, except for girth measurements, body volume, and foreflipper surface area. For the latter three variables, AFS pups were larger than their congenerics only among females. The larger axillary girth and body volume of female AFS pups may reflect sex-specific differences in relative body lipid stores. Several authors have reported higher total body lipid stores in female pups compared with male pups belonging to several species (e.g., Arnould et al. 1996; Donohue et al. 2002; Beauplet et al. 2003), including those in this study. Therefore, everything else being equal, female pups would be expected to be more voluminous than male pups (Luque and Auriolcs-Gamboa 2002).

Intraspecifically in pinnipeds, large mothers tend to give birth to large pups (Costa et al. 1988; Arnbom et al. 1997; Mellish et al. 1999). Boltnev and York (2001) found that neonatal mass increases at a decelerating rate with maternal mass in northern fur seals (*Callorhinus ursinus* (L., 1758)). The same relationship appears to hold interspecifically (Costa 1991), but whether the relationship is linear or not is unclear. Adult female AFS did not give birth to heavier pups in our study, despite being heavier than adult female SFS.

© 2007 NRC Canada

257

Fig. 3. Body shape of pups at approximately 100 d of age shows more similarities with that of adults in Antarctic (AFS) than in subantarctic (SFS) fur scals, based on (A) aspect ratio (relationship between foreflipper span<sup>2</sup> to foreflipper surface area) and (B) relationship between distance from tip of nose to axillae (RL3) and body length. The slopes (b) of the relationship (lower, upper 95% confidence limits) are shown.



Compared with body mass, linear measurements (body length, axillary girth, and RL3) of physically restrained fur scals include larger measurement errors, reducing the statistical power of interspecific comparisons. Therefore, comparisons of pup body size in relation to maternal body size require more accurate measurements.

Both adult females and neonates differed in body shape between species, so interspecific differences in growth of body size may simply reflect morphological differences between AFS and SFS. We did not measure adult males of both species at La Mare aux Elephants, so we cannot generalize the argument to both sexes. However, if growth rates of individual variables were mainly determined by speciesspecific morphometric traits, then interspecific differences in these traits would be expected to be similar in neonates and adults, and body shape would be expected to remain relatively constant with age. Both expectations from this argument were not supported by our results. The magnitudes of morphometric differences between species were considerably larger among adult females than among neonates, and more similarities in body shape between adult females and 80-120 d old pups were found in AFS than in SFS. Therefore, the growth patterns exhibited by each species may not be only related to intrinsic morphometric differences between them.

#### Preweaning growth and allometry

We found no interspecific differences in rate of growth in body mass. This contrasts with previous studies of these species where they are sympatric (Marion Island: Kerley 1985; Macquarie Island: Goldsworthy and Crowley 1999). Our estimates of growth rates in body mass also were lower at Ile de la Possession than at those two sites. The reasons for such discrepancy are not clear, but methodological differences in pup sampling protocol (longitudinal vs. cross-sectional) and period of lactation covered hinder the comparison of results among these studies.

In our study, SFS and AFS pups had similar rates of growth in body mass and body volume. However, AFS pups had (*i*) faster rates of growth in body length, length of anterior portions of the body (RLI-RL2), and foreflipper dimensions, and (*ii*) lower rates of growth in body girth. These differences lead to a more streamlined body with relatively large foreflippers in AFS and a stockier body in SFS.

Two-species comparisons cannot provide general conclusions about relations between lactation duration and growth pattern (Garland and Adolph 1994) in otariids, but by minimizing other confounding factors, such a comparison can provide insights into possible mechanisms (Fisher et al. 2002). We hypothesized that AFS pups would exhibit more precocial growth than SFS pups. In AFS, differences be-

© 2007 NRC Canada

#### Luque et al.

tween pup and adult foreflipper shape, as well as their position along the body, differed more than in SFS, which supports this hypothesis. These differences were reflected in the relationship between foreflipper span<sup>2</sup> and foreflipper surface area, which defines an important measure (aspect ratio) of aquatic locomotory ability (e.g., Feldkamp 1987; Fish et al. 1988; Norberg et al. 1993). For instance, low aspect ratio flippers arc associated with increased costs of transport during steady swimming, but are better suited for rapid accelerations during quick turns in open water (Fish and Nicastro 2003; Fish et al. 2003). A similar argument can be made for the relationship between RL3 and body length, which is an index of the position of the foreflippers along the body. Relative position of the foreflippers along the body may have functional significance in aquatic stability and maneuverability, which is favoured when foreflippers are located far from the center of gravity (Fish et al. 2003).

Allometric analysis (Figs. 3A, 3B) suggests that AFS pups have foreplippers positioned more posteriorly along the body, as well as lower foreflipper aspect ratio, than SFS pups, and hence potentially greater aquatic turning abilities at 100 d (±20) of age. However, while AFS pups are near the end of lactation at this age, SFS pups are in mid-lactation, so increased aquatic turning abilities may be more critical for the former. Indeed, the largest foreflipper surface areas of female AFS pups were close to adult values, which was not the case for female SFS pups. Further studies are needed to assess the effect of differences in flipper size and structure for terrestrial locomotion, as well as the acquisition of foraging skills at sca, of these two species. Other factors that are likely to influence this process, such as the timing and pattern of moulting, should also be considered because they are known to affect pup thermoregulatory ability (Donohue et al. 2000).

To summarize, we found many differences in growth of AFS and SFS pups at Iles Crozet, where the species breed sympatrically, but maintain species-specific differences in lactation duration. Compared with SFS pups, AFS pups adopted a growth strategy that favours the acquisition of a longer, more slender body with larger foreflippers. The growth differences between species led to different allometric relationships between female pups and adult females, whereby AFS pups showed more similarities in foreflipper shape and position along the body with their adult counterparts than SFS pups. These interspecific comparisons of allometric relationships suggest AFS pups are physically more mature at approximately 100 d of age (close to weaning age) than SFS pups of the same age. Whether SFS pups achieve a similar level of physical maturity close to their weaning age, and whether different morphological development patterns affect the ontogeny of foraging skills, remain to be determined.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was possible thanks to financial and logistic supports from the Institut Polaire Français Paul Emile Victor (IPEV), the Draney-Anderson Foundation, and a graduate student fellowship from the Department of Biology of Memorial University (S.P.L.). We thank Patrik Lindenfors and an anonymous reviewer for helping to improve a draft of the paper. We are very grateful to the members of the 39th and 40th missions to Iles Crozet, who participated in many aspects of fieldwork. Research was conducted in accordance with the guidelines provided by CNRS and IPEV.

#### References

- Alatalo, R., Gustafsson, L., and Lundberg, A. 1984. Why do young 401 passerine birds have shorter wings than older birds? Ibis, 126: 410-415.
- Arendt, J.D. 1997. Adaptive intrinsic growth rates: an integration across taxa. Q. Rev. Biol. 72: 149-177. doi:10.1086/419764.
- Arnborn, T., Fedak, M.A., and Boyd, I.L. 1997. Factors affecting maternal expenditure in southern elephant scals during lactation. Ecology, 78: 471-483.
- Arnould, J.P.Y., Boyd, I.L., and Socha, D.G. 1996. Milk consumption tion and growth efficiency in Antarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus gazella) pups. Can. J. Zool. 74: 254–266. doi:10.1139/z96-032.
- Arnould, J.P.Y., Luque, S.P., Guinet, C., Costa, D.P., Kingston, J., and Shaffer, S.A. 2003. The comparative energetics and growth strategies of sympatric Antarctic and Subantarctic fur seal pups at îles Crozet. J. Exp. Biol. 206: 4497–4506. doi:10.1242/jeb. 00703. PMID:14610034.
- Atchley, W.R. 1984. Ontogeny, timing of development, and genetic variance-covariances structure. Am. Nat. 123: 519-540. doi:10. 1086/284220.
- Bailleul, F., Luque, S.P., Dubroca, L., Arnould, J.P.Y., and Guinet, C. 2005. Differences in foraging strategy and maternal behaviour between two sympatric fur seal species at the Crozet Islands. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 293: 273-282. doi:10.3354/meps293273.
- Beauplet, G., Guinet, C., and Arnould, J.P.Y. 2003. Body composition changes, metabolic fuel use, and energy expenditure during extended fasting in subantarctic fur seal (*Arctocephalus tropicalis*) pups at Amsterdam Island. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 76: 262-270. doi:10.1086/367951. PMID:12794680.
- Bester, M.N. 1987. Subantarctic fur seal, Arctocephalus tropicalis, at Gough Island (Tristan Da Cunha group). In Status, biology, and ecology of fur seals. Edited by J.P. Croxall and R.L. Gentry. NOAA Tech. Rep. NMFS. No. 51, pp. 57-60.
- Bester, M.N., and Van Jaarsveld, A.S. 1994. Sex-specific and latitudinal variance in postnatal growth of the Subantarctic fur scal (Arctocephalus tropicalis). Can. J. Zool. 72: 1126–1133. doi:10. 1139/294-150.
- Boltnev, A.I., and York, A.E. 2001. Maternal investment in northern fur seals (*Collorhinus ursinus*): interrelationships among mothers' age, size, parturition date, offspring size and sex ratios. J. Zool. (Lond.), 254: 219-228. doi:10.1017/S0952836901000735.
- Bonner, W.N. 1984. Lactation strategies in pinnipeds: problems for a marine mammalian group. Symp. Zool. Soc. Lond. 51: 253– 272.
- Bowen, W.D., Boness, D.J., and Iverson, S.J. 1999. Diving behaviour of lactating harbour seals and their pups during maternal foraging trips. Can. J. Zool. 77: 978–988. doi:10.1139/cjz-77-6-978.
- Boyd, I.L. 1998. Time and energy constraints in pinniped lactation. Am. Nat. 152: 717-728. doi:10.1086/286202.
- Brody, S. 1964. Bionergetics and growth. Hafner Press, Darien, Conn.
- Burns, J.M. 1999. The development of diving behavior in juvenile Weddell seals: pushing physiological limits in order to survive. Can. J. Zool. 77: 737-747, doi:10.1139/cjz-77-5-737.
- Burns, J.M., and Castellini, M.A. 1996. Physiological and behavioral determinants of the aerobic dive limit in Weddell seal (*Leptonychotes weddelli*) pups. J. Comp. Physiol. B Biochem. Syst. Environ. Physiol. 166: 473–483. doi:10.1007/BF02338290.

Can. J. Zool. Vol. 85, 2007

- Burns, J.M., Clark, C.A., and Richmond, J.P. 2004. The impact of lactation strategy on physiological development of juvenile marine mammals: implications for the transition to independent foraging. Int. Congr. Ser. 1275: 341–350. doi:10.1016/j.ics. 2004.09.032.
- Caley, M.J., and Schwarzkopf, L. 2004. Complex growth rate evolution in a latitudinally widespread species. Evolution, 58: 862– 869. PMID:15154560.
- Carrier, D.R. 1983. Postnatal ontogeny of musculo-skeletal system in the black-tailed jack rabbit (*Lepus californicus*). J. Zool. (Lond.), 201: 27-55.
- Clutton-Brock, T.H. 1991. The evolution of parental care. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J.
- Costa, D.P. 1991. Reproductive and foraging energetics of pinnipeds: implications for life history patterns. In The behaviour of pinnipeds. Edited by D. Renouf. Chapman and Hall, New York. pp. 300-344.
- Costa, D.P. 1993. The relationship between reproductive and foraging energetics and the evolution of the Pinnipedia. Symp. Zool. Soc. Lond. 51: 293–314.
- Costa, D.P., Trillmich, F., and Croxall, J.P. 1988. Intraspecific allometry of neonatal size in the Antarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus gazella). Bchav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 22: 361–364.
- Creighton, G.K., and Strauss, R.E. 1986. Comparative patterns of growth and development in cricetine rodents and the evolution of ontogeny. Evolution, 40: 94–106. doi:10.2307/2408607.
- Dodson, P. 1975. Relative growth in two sympatric species of Sceloporus. Am. Nat. 94: 421-450. doi:10.2307/2424436.
- Donohue, M.J., Costa, D.P., Goebel, M.E., and Baker, J.D. 2000. The ontogeny of metabolic rate and thermoregulatory capabilities of northern fur seal, *Callorhinus ursinus*, pups in air and water. J. Exp. Biol. 203: 1003-1016. PMID:10683160.
- Donohue, M.J., Costa, D.P., Goebel, E., Antonelis, G.A., and Baker, J.D. 2002. Milk intake and energy expenditure of freeranging northern fur seal, *Callorhinus ursinus*, pups. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. **75**: 3-18. doi:10.1086/338284. PMID:11880973.
- Feldkamp, S.D. 1987. Swimming in the California sca lion: morphometrics, drag, and energetics. J. Exp. Biol. 131: 117-135. PMID:3694112.
- Fish, F.E. 1998. Comparative kinematics and hydrodyamics of odontocete cetaceans: morphological and ecological correlates with swimming performance. J. Exp. Biol. 201: 2867–2877. PMID:9866875.
- Fish, F.E., and Nicastro, A.J. 2003. Aquatic turning performance by the whirligig beetle: constraints on maneuvcrability by a rigid biological system. J. Exp. Biol. 206: 1649–1656. doi:10.1242/ jeb.00305. PMID:12682097.
- Fish, F.E., Innes, S., and Ronald, K. 1988. Kinematics and estimated thrust production in swimming harp and ringed seals. J. Exp. Biol. 137: 157-173. PMID:3209965.
- Fish, F.E., Hurley, J., and Costa, D.P. 2003. Maneuverability by the sea lion Zalophus californianus: turning performance of an unstable body design. J. Exp. Biol. 206: 667–674. doi:10.1242/jeb. 00144. PM1D:12517984.
- Fisher, D.O., Blomberg, S.P., and Owens, I.P.F. 2002. Convergent maternal care strategies in ungulates and macropods. Evolution, 56: 167-176. PMID:11915851.
- Garland, T., and Adolph, S.C. 1994. Why not to do two-species comparative studies: limitations on inferring adaptation. Physiol. Zool. 67: 797-828.
- Georges, J.Y., and Guinet, C. 2000. Early mortality and perinatal growth in the subantarctic fur seal (*Arctocephalus tropicalis*) on Amsterdam Island. J. Zool. (Lond.), **251**: 277–287. doi:10.1111/ j.1469-7998.2000.tb01078.x.

- Gisbert, E. 1999. Early development and allometric growth patterns in Siberian sturgeon and their ecological significance. J. Fish Biol. 54: 852-862. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.1999.tb02037.x.
- Goldsworthy, S.D., and Crowley, H.M. 1999. The composition of the milk of Antarctic (*Arctocephalus gazella*) and subantarctic (*A. tropicalis*) fur seals at Macquarie Island. Aust. J. Zool. 47: 593-603. doi:10.1071/ZO98067.
- Goldsworthy, S.D., Hindell, M.A., and Crowley, H.M. 1997. Diet and diving behaviour of sympatric fur seals Arctocephalus gazella and A. tropicalis at Macquarie Island. In Marine mammal research in the Southern Hemisphere: status, ecology and medicine. Vol. 1. Edited by M.A. Hindell and C. Kemper. Surrey Beatty & Sons, Chipping Norton, Australia. pp. 151– 163.
- Guinet, C., and Georges, J.Y. 2000. Growth in pups of the subantarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus tropicalis) on Amsterdam Island. J. Zool. (Lond.), 251: 289-296. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7998.2000. tb01079.x.
- Guinet, C., Jouventin, P., and Georges, J.Y. 1994. Long term population changes of fur seals Arctocephalus gazella and Arctocephalus tropicalis on subantarctic (Crozet) and subtropical (St. Paul and Amsterdam) islands and their possible relationship to El Niño Southern Oscillation. Antarct. Sci. 6: 473–478.
- Hochuli, D.F. 2001. Insect herbivory and ontogeny: how do growth and development inuence feeding behaviour, morphology and host use? Austral Ecol. 26: 563–570. doi:10.1046/j.1442-9993. 2001.01135.x.
- Horning, M., and Trillmich, F. 1997a. Development of hemoglobin, hematocrit, and erythrocyte values in Galápagos fur seals. Mar. Mamm. Sci. 13: 100-113. doi:10.1111/j.1748-7692.1997. tb00614.x.
- Horning, M., and Trillmich, F. 1997b. Ontogeny of diving behaviour in the Galápagos fur scal. Behaviour, 134: 1211-1257.
- Jørgensen, C., Lydersen, C., Brix, O., and Kovacs, K.M. 2001. Diving development in nursing harbour seal pups. J. Exp. Biol. 204: 3993-4004. PMID:11807117.
- Kerley, G.I.H. 1985. Pup growth in the fur scals Arctocephalus tropicalis and A. gazelle on Marion Island. J. Zool. Ser. B, 205: 315-324.
- Kerley, G.I.H. 1987. Arctocephalus tropicalis on the Prince Edward islands. In Status, biology, and ecology of fur seals. Edited by J.P. Croxall and R.L. Gentry. NOAA Tech. Rep. NMFS. No. 51. pp. 61–64.
- Klages, N.T.W., and Bester, M.N. 1998. Fish prey of fur seals Arctocephalus spp. at subantarctic Marion Island. Mar. Biol. (Berl.), 131: 559-566. doi:10.1007/s002270050348.
- Kochler, C.E., and Barclay, R.M.R. 2000. Post-natal growth and breeding biology of the hoary bat (*Lasiurus cinereus*). J. Mammal. 81: 234–244. doi:10.1644/1545-1542(2000)081<0234:PNGABB>2.0. CO;2.
- Lindström, J. 1999. Early development and fitness in birds and mammals. Trends Ecol. Evol. 14: 343–348. doi:10.1016/S0169-5347(99)01639-0. PMID:10441307.
- Lunn, N.J., Boyd, I.L., Barton, T., and Croxall, J.P. 1993. Factors affecting the growth rate and mass at weaning of Antarctic fur seals at Bird island, South Georgia. J. Mammal. 74: 908–919. doi:10.2307/1382429.
- Luque, S.P., and Aurioles-Gamboa, D.G. 2001. Sex differences in body size and body condition of California sea lion (*Zalophus* californianus) pups from the Gulf of California. Mar. Mamm. Sci. 17: 147-160. doi:10.1111/j.1748-7692.2001.tb00985.x.
- Luque, S.P., and Aurioles-Gamboa. D. 2002. Estimation of body volume and body density in California sea lion pups. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U.K. 82: 1019–1022. doi:10.1017/S0025315402006550.

© 2007 NRC Canada

Luque et al.

- Mangel, M., and Stamps, J. 2001. Trade-offs between growth and mortality and the maintenance of individual variation in growth. Evol. Ecol. Res. 3: 583-593.
- McLaren, I.A. 1993. Growth in pinnipeds. Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc. 68: 1-79. PMID:8457634.
- McNab, B.K. 2002. The physiological ecology of vertebrates: a view from energetics. Cornell University Press, Ithaca, N.Y.
- Mellish, J.A.E., Iverson, S.J., and Bowen, W.D. 1999. Variation in milk production and lactation performance in grey seals and consequences for pup growth and weaning characteristics. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 72: 677–690. doi:10.1086/316708. PMID:10603331.
- Norberg, U.M., Kunz, T.H., Steffensen, J.F., Winter, Y., and von Helversen, O. 1993. The cost of hovering and forward flight in a nectar feeding bat, *Glossophaga soricina*, estimated from acrodynamic theory. J. Exp. Biol. 182: 207–227. PMID:8228780.
- Noren, S.R., Williams, T.M., Pabst, D.A., McLellan, W.A., and Dearolf, J.L. 2001. The development of diving in marine endotherms: preparing the skeletal muscles of dolphins, penguins, and scals for activity during submergence. J. Comp. Physiol. B Biochem. Syst. Environ. Physiol. 171: 127–134. doi:dx.doi.org/ 10.1007/s003600000161.
- Offedal, O.T., Boness, D.J., and Tedman, R.A. 1987. The behavior, physiology, and anatomy of lactation in the pinnipedia. *In Current mammalogy*. Vol. 1. *Edited by* H.H. Genoways. Plenum Press, New York. pp. 175–245.
- Packard, G.C., and Boardman, T.J. 1999. The use of percentages and size-specific indices to normalize physiological data for variation in body size: wasted time, wasted effort? Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A Mol. Integr. Physiol. 122: 37–44. doi:10.1016/S1095-6433(98)10170-8.
- Payne, M.R. 1979. Growth in the Antarctic fur seal Arctocephalus gazella. J. Zool. (1965-1984), 187: 1-20.
- Peters, R.H., Birks, H.J.B., and Connor, E.F. 1983. The ecological implications of body size. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Pinheiro, J.C., and Bates, D.M. 2000. Mixed-effects models in S and S-PLUS. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Pinheiro, J.C., Bates, D. Debroy, S., and Sarkar, D. 2004. NLME: linear and nonlinear mixed effects models. R package version 3.1– 53. Available from http://r-project.org [accessed 5 June 2007].
- Raudenbush, S.W., and Bryk, A.S. 2002. Hierarchical linear models: applications and data analysis methods, advanced quantitative techniques in the social sciences. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, Calif. Vol. 1, 2nd ed.
- R Development Core Team. 2006. R: A language and environment

for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Available from http://r-project.org [accessed 5 June 2007].

- Robinson, S.A., Goldsworthy, S.D., van den Hoff, J., and Hindell, M.A. 2002. The foraging ecology of two sympatric fur scal species, Arctocephalus gazella and Arctocephalus tropicalis, at Macquarie Island during the austral summer. Mar. Freshw. Res. 53: 1071-1082. doi:10.1071/MF01218.
- Ross, C. 1998. Primate life histories. Evol. Anthropol. 6: 54–63. doi:10. 1002/(SICl)1520-6505(1998)6:2<54::AID-EVAN3>3.0.CO;2-W.
- Schulz, T.M. 2004. Pinniped lactation strategies: evaluation of data on maternal and offspring life history traits. Mar. Mamm. Sci. 20: 86-114. doi:10.1111/j.1748-7692.2004.tb01142.x.
- Sparrow, M.D., and Heywood, K.J. 1996. Current structure of the south Indian Ocean. J. Geophys. Res. 101: 6377-6391. doi:10. 1029/95JC03750.
- Stearns, S.C. 1992. The evolution of life historics. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Stelle, L.L., Blake, R.W., and Trites, A.W. 2000. Hydrodynamic drag in Steller sca lions (*Eumetopias jubatus*). J. Exp. Biol. 203: 1915–1923. PMID:10821748.
- Stirling, I., and Kleiman, D.G. 1983. The evolution of mating systems in pinnipeds. In Advances in the study of mammalian behavior. Edited by J.F. Eisenberg. American Society of Mammalogists Spec. Publ. No. 7. pp. 489–527.
- Sæther, B.E., and Gordon, I.J. 1994. The adaptive significance of reproductive strategies in ungulates. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 256: 263-268. doi:10.1098/rspb.1994.0079.
- Thorson, P.H., Le Boeuf, B.J., and Laws, R.M. 1994. Developmental aspects of diving in northern elephant seal pups. *In* Elephant seals: population ecology, behavior, and physiology. *Edited by* B.J. Le Boeuf. University of California Press, Berkeley. pp. 271–289.
- Tilden, C.D., and Oftedal, O.T. 1997. Milk composition reects pattern of maternal care in prosimian primates. Am. J. Primatol. 41: 195–211. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-2345(1997)41:3<195::AID-AJP3>3.0.CO;2-S. PMID:9057965.
- Trillmich, F., Ono, K.A., Costa, D.P., DeLong, R.L., Feldkamp, S.D., Francis, J.M., Gentry, R.L., Heath, C.B., LeBocuf, B.J., Majluf, P., and York, A.E. 1991. The effects of El Niño on pinniped populations in the Eastern Pacific. *In Pinnipeds and El Niño: responses to environmental stress. Vol. 88. Edited by F.* Trillmich. Springer-Verlag, Berlin. pp. 247–270.
- Zar, J.H. 1996. Biostatistical analysis. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Upper Saddle River, N.J.

# C Co-authored publications

# C.1 At-sea distribution of adult females

This publication compares the general distribution of adult females of Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals equipped at Ile de la Possession during the 2002 and 2003 study periods. The idea for the study developed from my initial Ph.D. research programme proposal. In addition to the initial idea for the study, I participated in all field activities, and provided suggestions for analyses on diving behaviour.
### C Co-authored publications

Vol. 293: 273-282, 2005

MARINE ECOLOGY PROGRESS SERIES Mar Ecol Prog Ser

**Published June 2** 

# Differences in foraging strategy and maternal behaviour between two sympatric fur seal species at the Crozet Islands

Frédéric Bailleul<sup>1,\*</sup>, Sebastian Luque<sup>1,2</sup>, Laurent Dubroca<sup>1</sup>, John P. Y. Arnould<sup>3</sup>, Christophe Guinet<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Centre d'Etudes Biologiques de Chizé, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, 79360 Villiers en Bois, France <sup>2</sup>Department of Biology, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's, Newfoundland A1B 3X9, Canada <sup>3</sup>School of Biological and Chemical Sciences, Deakin University, Burwood 3125, Victoria, Australia

ABSTRACT: Marine top-predators such as marine mammals forage in a heterogeneous environment according to their energetic requirements and to the variation in environmental characteristics. In this study, the behaviour of breeding females in 2 sympatric fur seal species, Antarctic fur seal *Arctocephalus gazella* and Subantarctic fur seal *A. tropicalis*, was investigated in relation to foraging effort. Foraging effort was hypothesised to be greater in Antarctic fur seal than in Subantarctic fur seal due to their shorter lactation period. Using satellite telemetry, time-depth recorders and satellite images of sea-surface temperature and chlorophyll *a* concentration, the foraging grounds, the at-sea activity budgets and the environmental features were determined for both species breeding on the Crozet Archipelago. Foraging cycle duration was similar for the 2 species, and the seals exhibited similar at-sea activity budgets. Only the proportion of time spent at sea was higher in Antarctic fur seals. Separate foraging areas were identified for the 2 species. Antarctic fur seal distribution was related to bathymetric features, while we did not find any direct relationship between chlorophyll *a* concentration and seal foraging areas. Our results suggest that Antarctic fur seals tend to respond to the higher needs of their pups by having a higher foraging efficiency and concentrating their foraging areas.

KEY WORDS: Activity budget · Spatial distribution · Environmental features · Otariidea · Arctocephalus gazella · Arctocephalus tropicalis

-Resale or republication not permitted without written consent of the publisher

### INTRODUCTION

The foraging behaviours of marine mammals are related to the energetic requirements of individuals and environmental characteristics (McCafferty et al. 1998, Costa & Gales 2003). Indeed, according to optimal foraging theory (McArthur & Pianka 1966), organisms are supposed to adopt foraging behaviours that optimise fitness for given environmental conditions. These determine how, when and where each animal acquires its food. More precisely, in a 'patchy habitat', according to the marginal-value theorem (Charnov 1976), a predator must make decisions as to which patch types it will visit and when it will leave the patch. In the marine environment, food resources are distributed heterogeneously in space and time and their distribution is generally related to the heterogeneity in oceanographic features (Pakhomov & McQuaid 1996, Loeb et al. 1997, Guinet et al. 2001). Distribution and behaviour of top marine predators are related to physical and biological features (bathymetry, sea-surface temperature, primary productivity), as found in seabirds (Bost et al. 1997, Guinet et al. 1997, Weimerskirch 1998) and pinnipeds (Boyd et al. 1998, Georges et al. 2000). Resources are also limited in space and time. If 2 species exploit the same ecological niche and if the resources are limited, ecological segregation resulting from competition between these species should

'Email: bailleul@cebc.cnrs.fr

© Inter-Research 2005 · www.int-res.com

inevitably take place (Hutchinson 1957). So sympatric species must have different ecological functions in the ecosystem in order to coexist.

During the breeding season there is a double problem for marine predators: to obtain food for themselves and their offspring. Furthermore, during the breeding period, seabirds and otariids are central-place foragers (Orians & Pearson 1979), alternating between periods of foraging at sea and feeding their chicks or suckling their pups on land (Bonner 1984, Gentry & Kooyman 1986). The behaviours adopted by parents are spatially and temporally limited to avoid progeny starvation. Therefore, time and energetic expenditure are the 2 principal constraints for central-place foragers during the breeding season (Ydenberg et al. 1994, Houston 1995).

Among pinnipeds, otariids have the longest lactation period, but with a large degree of variation in its duration. Generally, species that breed at temperate latitudes, like the New Zealand fur seals Arctocephalus forsteri, Juan Pernandez fur seals A. philipii, South African fur seals A. pusillus or Subantarctic fur seals A. tropicalis, suckle their pup for 10 mo, while the Alaskan fur seals Callorhinus ursinus and the Antarctic fur seals A. gazella, which breed in high latitudes and productive water, raise their pups over a 4 mo lactation period (Gentry & Kooyman 1986).

Two species that display markedly different lactation lengths, Antarctic fur seal and Subantarctic fur seal, breed sympatrically on the Crozet Archipelago. At weaning, the size and the body mass of pups of the 2 species are identical (S. Luque unpubl. data), but a previous study showed that in-air resting metabolic rates (RMR) and daily energy expenditure (DEE) were higher in Antarctic fur seal pups than in similar-aged Subantarctic fur seals at Crozet (Arnould et al. 2003). These observations corroborate observations that Antarctic fur seal pups spend more time swimming than in similar-aged Subantarctic fur seal pups (S. Luque, J. P. Y. Arnould & C. Guinet unpubl. data). We, therefore, hypothesised that Antarctic fur seal females have to expend a higher foraging effort or forage more efficiently to acquire more resources at sea to cover the higher needs of their pups compared to Subantarctic fur seal females. However, amongst marine mammals, the foraging efficiency of parents is not easy to measure, because it is difficult to assess precisely the amount of energy acquired in relation to the energy spent by the female to acquire that energy. One means of evaluating foraging effort is to use the time budget as a proxy of energy expenditure (Arnould & Boyd 1996, Boyd 1999).

Both species have been studied at their allopatric sites, revealing a variety of foraging behaviours. For example, very long trips (maximum distance from the colony > 100 km) were recorded for Subantarctic fur seals from Amsterdam Island (Georges et al. 2000, Beauplet et al. 2004). Similarly, an important variability in the diving activity of Antarctic fur seals was observed at the Kerguelen Islands (Bonadonna et al. 2000, Lea et al. 2002). The sympatric populations of Antarctic fur seals and Subantarctic fur seals at Crozet Island, like at Marion Island (Kerley 1985) and Macquarie Island (Robinson et al. 2002), allow comparisons of the foraging behaviour between 2 taxonomically similar species with different breeding strategies but under identical environmental conditions. The aim of this paper was (1) to investigate the spatial segregation and foraging behaviours of sympatric lactating female Antarctic and Subantarctic fur seals at Crozet and (2) to uncover new aspects of the relationship between foraging behaviours and energy expenditure.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study area and seals. The study was conducted in the Crozet Islands, an archipelago in the Southern Indian Ocean, during the austral summers 2001/2002 and 2002/2003 (December to March). La Mare aux Elephants (46.37°S, 51.69°E), north-west of Possession Island, accommodates 1 breeding colony. Each species, Antarctic fur seal Arctocephalus gazella and Subantarctic fur seal Arctocephalus tropicalis, has different preferred substrate types, beaches for Antarctic fur seals and rock platforms and large boulders for Subantarctic fur seals, but they breed within a few metres of each other. Population growth rates for both Antarctic and Subantarctic fur seals on this island are currently ~18% per annum (Guinet et al. 1994, C. Guinet unpubl. data). Annual pup productions at La Mare aux Elephants were 164 for Antarctic fur seals and 80 for Subantarctic fur seals in 2001/2002.

Capture and device attachment. Lactating female fur seals of both species were instrumented. Individuals were selected randomly, captured using a hoop net, weighed and restrained for up to 20 min on a restraining board while the devices were attached. At-sea behaviour was investigated using several loggers described in Table 1. Time-depth recorders (MK7 TDR, Wildlife Computers) were mounted on a satellite transmitter (platform terminal transmitter [PTT], Sirtack New Zealand, Telonics) in all cases. The larger size of the velocity-time-depth recorders (MK8 TDR, Wildlife Computers) precluded simultaneous deployment of an additional PTT. The package (MK7 + PTT) was shaped to minimise drag and was attached, like the MK8, with plastic cable ties to a nylon webbing strap that was glued on the dorsal midline between the scapulae of each animal with double component araldite glue

274

Bailleul et al.: Differences in foraging strategies between 2 sympatric fur seal species

Devices			Physical features		Parameters measured and used in this study				Configuration	
Generic name	Туре	Memory	Dimensions (mm)	Weight (g)	Cross- sectional area (cm²)	Pressure (depth)	Speed of swim	Sensor 'wet-dry'	Location (latlong.)	Record interval
Time depth recorder	TDR MK7	x	90 × 20 × 10	30	2.2	Resolution (1 m)		x		5 s
Time depth recorder	TDR MK8	х	80 × 50 × 30	100	8	Resolution (1 m)	Resolution (0.1 m s <sup>-1</sup> )	x		5 5
Satellite Argos system	PTT 100		110 × 42 × 14	120	5.7				x	

Table 1. Features of logger used (x indicates that the parameter is present or measured)

(AW 2101, Ciba Speciality Chemicals). The seals were recaptured after 1 to 3 consecutive foraging trips (the trip duration ranged from 2.5 h to 6.5 d). Devices were removed by cutting the fur underneath with a scalpel blade and subsequently deployed on different individuals. Individual devices were deployed alternately on the 2 species.

Activity budgets. The MK7 TDRs measured wet and dry periods and depth  $(\pm 1 \text{ m})$  every 5 s with a precalibrated pressure transducer. The MK8 TDRs also measured speed, with a pre-calibrated rotating turbine. The downloaded hexadecimal TDR files were converted into binary files using 'Hex Decoder' software (Wildlife Computers). Data were used to estimate the foraging-trip composition of the seals. We defined a foraging cycle (FC) as a trip to sea plus the subsequent period on land. In order to exclude short bathing periods undertaken by females during the suckling period on land, an individual was considered to undertake a foraging trip when at sea for > 1 h.

The at-sea activity budget was calculated for each complete foraging trip recorded for each seal equipped with a MK8 TDR and defined as the amount of time dedicated to diving, travelling and resting. Diving activity was defined when depth was >4 m (Lea et al. 2002). Travelling activity was defined when depth was <4 m and speed was >0, while resting corresponded to the period in which fur seals were not diving and when speed equalled 0. All data manipulations and statistical analyses were conducted using R software (Ihaka & Gentleman 1996).

The average swimming velocity, obtained from the MK8 data, was first compared between global foraging trips and next just on a section of a trip, where fur seals travelled regularly (Bonadonna et al. 2000). Therefore, a possible difference in the diving speed can be deduced.

Satellite transmitters and spatial distribution. PTT locations were calculated by reference to 3 satellites and assigned by the Argos system (Toulouse, France) to 6 classes on the basis of their estimated accuracy. The accuracy of locations provided by Argos is classified as follows: Class 3 is accurate to 150 m; Class 2, to 350 m; Class 1, to 1 km; and Classes 0, A and B have no accuracy assigned. Only 5 classes (A, 0, 1, 2, 3), allowing the location of animals with an error margin of <4.5 ± 5.9 km (Bonadonna et al. 2000), were included in these analyses. Data were plotted using Elsa99 software (release 1.0, Soft & Technique Informatique). Locations were filtered such that those that suggested transit speeds  $>3 \text{ m s}^{-1}$  were excluded (Weimerskirch et al. 1995, Bost et al. 1997, Boyd et al. 1998, Bonadonna et al. 2000). The maximal distance from the colony reached by each seal was measured between the farthest point and the colony, and the total length of a foraging trip was obtained by summing all distances between 2 consecutive points of this trip. We also calculated a curvilinear index to determine the shape of each trip. Indeed, with this index, it was possible to determine whether the seal went to the foraging area directly or using a loop like some marine birds (Weimerskirch et al. 1993). The index was calculated by the following formula:

### $s = (2 \times \text{maximal distance})/(\text{total length of trip})$

The closer this index is to 1 the more direct the trip is. Females of the 2 species dive almost exclusively at night at Crozet (87 and 89% of dives occurred at night for Antarctic and Subantarctic fur seals, respectively (S. Luque unpubl. data). This result is coherent with diving behaviour of most fur seal species (Gentry & Kooyman 1986, Goldworthy et al. 1997). As a result, only at-sea, night-time locations were used to evaluate the spatial distribution of foraging ground for both species. To determine the accurate limits of the night, we consulted a sun time table (suntab.exe software, www.cafe.rapidus.net/sbelange/logiciel.html). Moreover, to avoid problems of independence of the data, only 1 foraging trip for each animal was used in the analyses. In order to analyse the intensity of use of different areas within the activity range of seals, the pattern of locations (satellite fixes) must be transformed into an estimate of density. Therefore, a Kernel-based method, which transforms point distributions into density estimates (Powell 2000), was used. The treatment of data was conducted using the GIS software Arcview<sup>®</sup> (version 3.2, Esri Corporation) and 'Animal Movement' extension, v.2B (Hooge & Eichenlaub 1997, Alaska Biological Science Center, www.absc.usgs.gov/glba/ gistools).

Environmental data. To investigate the relationships between the foraging areas and oceanographic features, bathymetric data (resolution of 5' grid) were extracted from the Integrated Global Ocean Service System database (http://ingrid.ldeo.columbia.edu/ SOURCES/IGOSS/). In addition, sea surface temperature (SST) and chlorophyll a concentration data were provided by NOAA/NASA (http://daac.gsfc. nasa.gov/ oceancolor) at 4 km resolution and read by HDF view software (release 1.2, University of Illinois). These data were extracted from October 2001 to February 2002 and from October 2002 to February 2003. In addition to covering the dates of device deployment, this period covered the 2 mo prior to deployment, in order to observe the evolution of SST and chlorophyll a, as several studies have shown that time lags may result in a lag between the distribution of primary production and top predators (Runge 1988, Jaquet et al. 1995, Lehodey et al. 1998).

Statistical analysis. Some data were discarded due to TDR dysfunction or breakdown. A synthesis of the number of individuals equipped and the number used in the analysis is presented in Table 2. Parametric test application conditions were verified using a Kolmogorov-Smirnov test and a variance-equality test. If these conditions were not verified, data were transformed to use parametrics. However, when the transformation did not provide a normal distribution, we used non-parametric statistics. In the 'Results' section we have used some abbreviations for the species names: Ag = Arctocephalus gazella and At = A. tropicalis. Data are presented as means ( $\pm$ SE), and values were considered significant at p < 0.05.

### RESULTS

### **Foraging cycles**

There was no effect of the individuals on all parameters tested ( $n_{Ag} = 26$ ,  $n_{At} = 34$ , p > 0.05 in each ANOVA). Therefore, we calculated means of all parameters for each individual. The type of logger affected trip duration (F = 8.011, p < 0.01, GLM), with animals equipped with an MK8 TDR making longer trips than animals equipped with an MK7 TDR ( $2.6 \pm 1.6$  d against  $1.7 \pm$ 1.38 d, respectively). No significant differences were found between the 2 study years, for each species and each device type ( $n_{Ag} = 26$ ,  $n_{At} = 34$ , p > 0.05 in all *U*-tests). No effect of the month in which devices were deployed (stage of lactation) was found on any of the FC parameters investigated ( $n_{Ag} = 26$ ,  $n_{At} = 34$ , p > 0.05in all Kruskal-Wallis tests). Therefore, all variables of the 2 study years were pooled for further the analyses.

No differences were observed in the length of foraging cycles between the 2 species equipped with MK7, but differences were found for animals equipped with MK8 (Table 3). Either equipped with MK7 or MK8, Antarctic fur seals had longer foraging trips than Subantarctic fur seals (Table 3). Consequently, Antarctic fur seals were found to spend proportionally more time at sea and less time ashore (Fig. 1), regardless of the type of TDR used (Table 3). No relationship was found between trip duration and time spent on land for the 2 species (Ag:  $r_s = -0.02$ , p = 0.90 and At:  $r_s = 0.13$ , p =0.44, Spearman rank correlation test).

### At-sea activity budgets

The activity budget could only be calculated for females of both species equipped with MK8 TDRs. We distinguished 3 different activities at sea: diving, travel-

	Table 2. Summary of deployments and data analysis. Ag = Arctocephalus gazella, At = A. tropicalis: no data	
-		-

		PTT + TDR MK7				MK8	
		P	TT		MK7		
		No. of ind. equipped	No. used in trips analysis	No. of ind. equipped	No. used in time budget analysis	No. of ind. equipped	No. used in time budget analysis
Ag	2001-2002	18	14	18	11	17	8
	2002-2003	3	-	4	4	5	3
At	2001-2002	14	10	14	12	18	15
	2002-2003	2	-	4	3	4	3
Total		37	24	40	30	44	29

276

Bailleul et al.: Differences in foraging strategies between 2 sympatric fur seal species

	MK7			MK8		
	Ag, n = 15	At, n = 15	Tests	Ag, n = 11	At, n = 18	Tests
Foraging cycle (d)	3.19 ± 1.33	2.70 ± 1.67	U = 144 p = 0.191	4.52 ± 1.39	3.04 ± 1.66	<i>U</i> = 149 <b>p</b> = 0.025
Trip duration (d)	$2.09 \pm 0.98$	1.40 ± 1.65	<i>U</i> = 166 <b>p</b> = <b>0.026</b>	3.61 ± 1.41	1.98 ± 1.47	<i>U</i> = 154 p = 0.013
On land duration (d)	1.10 ± 0.58	1.30 ± 0.74	<i>U</i> = 92 p = 0.395	$0.90 \pm 0.74$	1.05 ± 0.46	U = 67 p = 0.150
Proportion of time at sea (%)	64.2 ± 9.9	37.7 ± 17.8	U = 204 p < 0.001	76.1 ± 16.0	53.5 ± 18.7	<i>U</i> = 163 <b>p</b> = <b>0.004</b>
Proportion of time in diving (%)	19.4 ± 12.5	18.0 ± 8.6		19.1 ± 10.6	18.6 ± 8.5	KS test
Proportion of time in swimming (%)	-	-	-	$54.0 \pm 14.3$	54.7 ± 8.5	D = 0.268 p = 0.695
Proportion of time in resting (%)	-	-	-	26.1 ± 9.7	20.7 ± 14.2	J

Table 3. Details of activity budget (the results are means ± SD, significant results are indicated in bold. -: no data

ling and resting. The proportions of time spent in diving, swimming and resting were identical for the 2 species (D = 0.268, p = 0.69, Kolmogorov-Smirnov test). During a foraging trip, the 2 species devoted 18.8%, on average, of the time to diving, 54.3%, on average, to swimming and 23.4%, on average, to resting (Table 3, Fig. 2). There were no relationships between the proportion of time spent swimming and trip duration for the 2 species (Ag:  $r_s = -0.17$ , p = 0.61, n = 11and At:  $r_s = -0.11$ , p = 0.66, n = 18, Spearman rank correlation test), nor for the time spent diving for Antarctic fur seals (r<sub>s</sub> = 0.2, p = 0.55, n = 11, Spearman rank correlation test), but this relationship tended towards significance for Subantarctic fur seals ( $r_s = -0.44$ , p = 0.07, n = 18, Spearman rank correlation test). In contrast, we observed a positive relationship between the propor-

(%) eutition (%) e



tion of time spent resting at sea and the trip duration for

Subantarctic fur seals (r<sub>s</sub> = 0.58, p = 0.01, n = 18, Spear-

man rank correlation test), but not for Antarctic fur

seals ( $r_n = -0.14$ , p = 0.67, n = 11, Spearman rank corre-

lation test). No differences were found in the proportion

of time spent diving for females of both species equipped either an MK7 or an MK8 TDR (Table 3).

No difference was found in the overall swimming

speed along a foraging trip between Antarctic fur seals (0.61  $\pm$  0.15 m s<sup>-1</sup>, n = 12) and Subantarctic fur seals

 $(0.54 \pm 0.17 \text{ m s}^{-1}, \text{ n} = 13; U = 151, \text{ p} = 0.18)$ . Moreover,

no differences were found in surface swimming speeds

in transit to foraging grounds (Ag:  $1.32 \pm 0.28$  m s<sup>-1</sup>, n = 12; At:  $1.20 \pm 0.31$  m s<sup>-1</sup>, n = 13; U = 98.5, p = 0.26). Con-

sequently, it is very likely that no differences exist in

the diving speeds.

Fig. 1. Arctocephalus gazella (Ag), A. tropicalis (At). Proportion of time spent at sea during a foraging cycle (\*\*\*: differences are significant at 99.9%)



### **Foraging areas**

PTT tags recorded 39 foraging trips (31 in 2001/2002 and 8 in 2002/2003) for 29 individuals (14 Ag and 10 At in 2001/2002 and 3 Ag and 2 At in 2002/2003) during the study period. No difference was found in the number of locations (loc.) by unit of time between the 2 species (Ag:  $16.64 \pm 8.22 \text{ loc. } d^{-1}$ , n = 17; At:  $14.12 \pm$  $6.99 \text{ loc. } d^{-1}$ , n = 12; t = 1.135, p = 0.27). Trips recorded were divided thus: Ag: 9 trips in December and 8 in January, and At: 4 trips in December and 8 in January. No influence of the year or of the month during which devices were deployed was found on the number of locations by day (F = 1.183, p = 0.35, ANCOVA).

Two particularly long trips (>500 km), 1 for each species, were removed from Kernel analysis to increase accuracy of foraging areas in 2001/2002. Because of a very low sample size obtained during the second year of the study (2002/2003), trips recorded during this period (Ag: 3 trips and At: 2 trips) were removed from analyses. No overlap was observed between the foraging distributions of the 2 species. The Antarctic fur seals concentrated foraging activity preferentially in the west of Possession Island, while the Subantarctic fur seals occupied 2 main areas in the north-west and north of the island (Fig. 3). Both species foraged over the channel separating the Possession Island shelf from Hog Island.

No significant differences were found in the total trip lengths between the 2 species (Ag: 196 ± 122 km, n = 14; At: 289 ± 239 km, n = 10; U = 145, p = 0.38), but the Subantarctic fur seals went farther from the colony than the Antarctic fur seals (Ag:  $50 \pm 27$  km, n = 14; At:  $95 \pm 69$  km, n = 10; U = 100, p < 0.05). Moreover, we found a positive relationship between total length and trip duration for the Subantarctic fur seals (r<sub>s</sub> = 0.905, p < 0.01), but no such relationship for the Antarctic fur seals (r<sub>s</sub> = 0.314, p = 0.56). Shape index indicates that the Antarctic fur seals used more trips with a loop structure compared to the Subantarctic fur seals, which used straighter trips (Ag: 0.56 ± 0.17, n = 14; At: 0.72 ± 0.18, n = 10; U = 73, p < 0.01).

The Antarctic fur seals foraged mainly over 500 to 1500 m water depth, while Subantarctic fur seals tended to forage over 2000 m water depth (Fig. 3). Monthly averages of near-surface chlorophyll a concentrations from October 2001 to February 2002 are presented in Fig. 3. At the scale of the Crozet Archipelago, the distribution of chlorophyll a concentrations, prior to and during the 2001/2002 study period, showed that most of the surface primary production took place in the northern half of this archipelago, with highest concentrations taking place in December 2001 in the area where Subantarctic fur seals concentrated their foraging activity, while the Antarctic fur seals foraged along the southern edge of the area of the maximum chlorophyll *a* concentration.

### DISCUSSION

In the present study we did not compare foraging trip duration between animals equipped and unequipped, but the effect of an additional burden on the behaviour of fur seals has already been taken into account in several earlier papers (Boyd et al. 1991, 1997, Walker & Boveng 1995). However, we observed that the foraging trips of animals carrying MK8 TDRs were longer than the trips of PTT + MK7 TDRequipped seals, suggesting MK8 TDRs affect the foraging behaviour of the seals. Bonadonna et al. (2000) found similar results. It is interesting to note that both species were affected in a similar way by MK8 TDRs compared to MK7 TDRs. Indeed, compared to females equipped with MK7 TDRs, both Antarctic and Subantarctic female fur seals (Arctocephalus gazella, A. tropicalis) equipped with MK8 TDRs exhibited an increase in their foraging trip duration, while the subsequent shore visit was unchanged. Consequently and despite similar cross-sectional areas (about 8 cm<sup>2</sup>, see Table 1) of the 2 devices (MK8 and PTT + MK7), the proportion of time spent at sea for a foraging cycle in females of both species equipped with an MK8 TDR compared to females equipped with MK7 TDRs increased. Such consistent differences suggest that it is the hydraulic turbine of the MK8 TDRs that may be responsible for most of the drag effect during swimming compared to the other device. The biases introduced into the data are not a problem in a study that is based on the comparison between species subjected to the same treatment (MK8). Indeed, the biases are similar for the 2 species. Consequently, the conclusions would be correct in terms of the inter-specific comparison, while they should be considered more cautiously in terms of the absolute value of the foraging duration and possibly the relative percentage of activity.

### **Activity budget**

Our results indicate that the duration of a foraging cycle and the proportion of time allocated during a foraging trip to different activities were identical among the 2 species. However, for a foraging cycle of a given duration, the at-sea part was longer for the Antarctic fur seals, resulting in a higher proportion of time spent at sea in the Antarctic fur seals compared to the Subantarctic fur seals. Indeed, over an average 3 d foraging cycle, the Antarctic female fur seals spent an aver-



Bailleul et al.: Differences in foraging strategies between 2 sympatric fur seal species

279



Oct 2001

50

50

Jan 2002

100 km

100 km

Mar Ecol Prog Ser 293: 273-282, 2005

age of 24% more time at sea, but, more importantly, 1 night longer at sea than Subantarctic female fur seals. As both species fish almost exclusively at night at Crozet, we can assume that the absolute amount of resources acquired over a foraging trip is higher in the Antarctic fur seals compared to the Subantarctic fur seals, resulting from a higher energy acquisition rate over a foraging cycle for the Antarctic fur seals than for the Subantarctic fur seals. No precise values of energetic metabolism are available for this study, but Costa et al. (1989), using the double-marked water method, measured a metabolism at sea of 9.52 W kg<sup>-1</sup> for lactating females. They also found that the at-sea metabolism of the Antarctic fur seal females was only 1.9 times higher than the metabolism measured on land while fasting and lactating (Costa et al. 1989). Similar results were found for the Alaska fur seals Callorhinus ursinus (Costa & Gentry 1986). To our knowledge, no measurements of resting or active metabolism are available for Subantarctic fur seals. However, according to the allometric relation between the rate of base metabolism and body mass, established for pinnipeds by Lavigne et al. (1986), we can suppose that metabolism is equivalent for our 2 study models, which are taxonomically and morphologically very similar. Indeed, it is unlikely, even if there is a need to confirm this by measuring the actual metabolic rate of these 2 species at Crozet, that these species, with an identical at-sea behaviour (S. Luque unpubl. data), have very different metabolic rates. Thus, considering both identical metabolic rates at sea and on land between the 2 species, we can estimate at Crozet, due to the difference in the proportion of time spent at sea, that the Antarctic fur seals spent about 13% more energy than Subantarctic fur seals over a foraging cycle.

Arnould & Boyd (1996) found a negative relationship between the proportion of time spent diving and the at-sea metabolic rate for Antarctic fur seals at Bird Island, South Georgia. According to Butler et al. (1995), the metabolism during diving is only 20% higher than the metabolism during swimming for the Antarctic fur seal. The interpretation of Arnould & Boyd (1996) was based on the hypothesis that an animal with a higher rate of diving should spend more time resting at the surface to recover and should have a lower at-sea metabolic rate than an animal with a lower rate of diving, but spending more time swimming. However, opposite from this assumption, we found no relationship between the proportion of time spent diving and proportion of time spent resting. This result could be explained by the smaller range of trip durations sampled at Crozet Islands (2 d for both species) compared to Bird Island (4 d on average). We can therefore hypothesise that during foraging trips taking place close to the colony, as in our study, fur seals tend to

come back on land to rest and suckle their pup, rather than resting at sea. The relationship between foraging trip duration and the proportion of time females spent resting and the relationship between foraging trip duration and the maximum distance from the colony support this assumption.

### Foraging trip distribution in relation to oceanographic parameters

Maximum location densities were identified using the main foraging areas of the 2 species. The technique used may be biased, as the at-sea, night-time locations do not necessarily correspond to a foraging location. However, as the foraging activity is maximal at night, we can consider that these locations reveal the foraging areas of both species.

As ocean currents encounter topographic features such as seamounts, oceanic islands, or ridges, cold and deep nutrient-rich waters can be brought into the generally nutrient-poor surface water, enhancing primary production. Topographic features can also induce local aggregation of marine organisms (Lavoie et al. 2000). Advection processes would induce the aggregation process at medium to large scale, over several months, while at a smaller scale appears to result mainly from accumulation processes and behavioural and/or physiological adaptation (Mackas et al. 1985). Local aggregations are generally related to small-scale processes that are often related to a topographic change, which may indirectly act on the marine organisms.

The Subantarctic fur seals tended to forage both in an area located over the deeper water of the channel between Possession Island and Hog Island and in an area close to shore, while the Antarctic female fur seals limited their foraging to a much smaller area located on the northern edge of the 'Crête de la Meurthe', a sub-marine ridge close to Possession Island. A complementary study on the diet of the 2 species at Crozet (Y. Cherel unpubl. data) showed that the Antarctic and Subantarctic fur seals fed on the same myctophid prey organisms (principally *Gymnoscopelus* sp. and *Electrona* sp.).

The distribution of surface chlorophyll a over the study period indicates that the highest concentration takes place in December over that channel, and the fact that both species concentrate their foraging activity over or very close to that area from December to early March suggests that the myctophids are probably aggregated over that area in relation to some still unknown physical processes.

The absence of major differences, both in diving behaviour (S. Luque unpubl. data) and diet (Y. Cherel

280

### C Co-authored publications

Bailleul et al.: Differences in foraging strategies between 2 sympatric fur seal species

unpubl. data), suggests that both species are exploiting similar prey in a similar way, but in different locations. At this stage we cannot tell if this behaviour results from active competition exclusion processes and/or the selection of different qualities of foraging habitat by the 2 species. We can hypothesise that the Antarctic fur seals, which have higher needs per unit of time, could restrict their foraging behaviour to higher density prey patches, located on the northern edge of the 'Crête de la Meurthe', compared to Subantarctic fur seals, which use a less efficient foraging mode because of greater transit time (temporally shorter and spatially longer trips). Only a myctophid sampling survey like the one conducted at Kerguelen Island (Duhamel 1987, Guinet et al. 2001) will clarify these patterns.

### CONCLUSIONS

Interestingly, when these 2 species are confronted with the same environmental conditions, they tend to show similar foraging behaviour, while the same species in different environments exhibit very different foraging behaviours. These observations strongly support the assertion that the foraging behaviour of fur seal species is mainly mediated by local environmental conditions.

This study also found, like another one at Macquarie Island (Robinson et al. 2002), that these sympatric fur seals exploited the marine environment in similar ways. However, the higher proportion of time spent at sea by female Antarctic fur seals compared to Subantarctic fur seals suggests that lactating female Antarctic fur seals expend more energy to acquire more energy per unit of time to match the higher energetic requirement of their pups compared to Subantarctic fur seals. This higher energy expenditure assumed in lactating female Antarctic fur seals is consistent with a shorter lactation period that still allows pups to grow to a weaning mass similar to that of Subantarctic fur seal pups over a longer lactation period.

Acknowledgements. This work was supported by Institut Paul Emile Victor (IPEV) and by the Territoire des Terres Australes et Antarctiques Françaises (TAAF). The authors would like to thank the members of the 38th, 39th and 40th research mission at Crozet Island for their assistance in the field. We wish particularly to thank T. Cook, J. Kingston, M. Chambellant, N. Servera, F. Pawlowski, M. Le Corre and Y. Cherel for the analysis of scats and D. Pinaud for helpful advice with GIS. We also thank all the members of the Centre d'Etudes Biologiques de Chizé for their assistance with small daily problems. Many thanks to the anonymous reviewers for suggestions to improve this manuscript.

### LITERATURE CITED

- Arnould JPY, Boyd IL (1996) The relationship between foraging behaviour and energy expenditure in Antarctic fur seals. J Zool Lond 239:769-782
- Arnould JPY, Luque SP, Guinet C, Costa DP, Kingston J, Schaffer SA (2003) The comparative energetics and growth strategies of sympatric Antarctic and Subantarctic fur seal pups at Iles Crozet. J Exp Biol 206:4497-4506
- Beauplet G, Dubroca L, Guinet C, Cherel Y, Dabin W, Gagne C, Hindell M (2004) Foraging ecology of Subantarctic fur seals (Arctocephalus tropicalis) breeding on Amsterdam Island: seasonal changes in relation to maternal characteristics and pup growth. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 273:211-225
- Bonadonna F, Lea MA, Guinet C (2000) Foraging routes of Antarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus gazella) investigated by the concurrent use of satellite tracking and time-depth recorders. Polar Biol 23:149-159
- Bonner WN (1984) Lactation strategies in pinnipeds: problems for a marine mammalian group. Symp Zool Soc Lond 51:253-257
- Bost CA, Georges JY, Guinet C, Cherel Y and 6 others (1997) Foraging habitat and food intake of satellite-tracked king penguins during the austral summer at Crozet Archipelago. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 150:21–33
- Boyd IL (1999) Foraging and provisioning in Antarctic fur seals: interannual variability in time-energy budgets. Behav Ecol 10:198-208
- Boyd IL, Lunn NJ, Barton T (1991) Time budgets and foraging characteristics of lactating antarctic fur seals. J Anim Ecol 60:577–592
- Boyd IL, MacCafferty DJ, Walker TR (1997) Variation in foraging effort by lactating Antarctic fur seal: response to simulated increased foraging costs. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 40:135-144
- Boyd IL, MacCafferty DJ, Reis K, Taylor R, Walker TR (1998) Dispersal of male and female Antarctic fur seals (Arctocephalus gazella). Can J Fish Aquat Sci 55:845-852
- Butler PJ, Bevan RM, Woakes AJ, Croxall JP, Boyd IL (1995) The use of data loggers to determine the energetics and physiology of aquatic birds and mammals. Braz J Med Biol Res 28:1307–1317
- Charnov EL (1976) Optimal foraging, the marginal value theorem. Theo Popul Biol 9:129-136
- Costa DP, Gales NJ (2003) Energetics of a benthic diver: seasonal foraging ecology of the Australian sea lion, *Neophoca cinerea*. Ecol Monogr 73:27–43
- Costa DP, Gentry RL (1986) Free-ranging energetics of northern fur-seals. In: Gentry RL, Kooyman GL (eds) Fur seals: maternal strategies on land and at sea. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, p 19-101
- Costa DP, Croxall JP, Duck CD (1989) Foraging energetics of Antarctic fur seals in relation to changes in prey availability. Ecology 70:596–606
- Duhamel G (1987) Distribution and abundance of fish on the Kerguelen islands shelf. In: Kullander SO, Fernholm B (eds) Proc V Congr Eur Ichthyol Stockholm, 1985, Swedish Museum of Natural History, Stockholm, p 397–403
- Gentry RL, Kooyman GL (1986) Fur seals: maternal strategies on land and at sea. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ
- Georges JY, Bonadonna F, Guinet C (2000) Foraging habitat and diving activity of lactating subantarctic fur seals in relation to sea surface temperatures at Amsterdam Island. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 196:291–304
- Goldworthy SD, Hindell MA, Crowley HM (1997) Diet and diving behaviour of sympatric fur seals, Arctocephalus

281

gazella and A. tropicalis, at Macquarie Island. In: Hindell MA, Kemper C (eds) Marine mammal research in the southern hemisphere: status, ecology and medicine. Surrey Beatty & Sons, Chipping Norton, p 151–163

- Guinet C, Jouventin P, Georges JY (1994) Long term population changes of fur seals Arctocephalus gazella and A. tropicalis on Subantarctic (Crozet) and subtropical (St Paul and Amsterdam) islands and their possible relationship to El Niño Southern Oscillation. Antarct Sci 6: 473-478
- Guinet C, Koudil M, Bost CA, Durbec JP, Georges JY, Mouchot MC, Jouventin P (1997) Foraging behavior of satellite-tracked king penguins in relation to sea-surface temperatures obtained by satellite telemetry at Crozet Archipelago, a study during 3 austral summers. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 150:11-20
- Guinet C, Dubroca L, Lea MA, Goldsworthy S, Cherel Y, Duhamel G, Bonadonna F, Donnay JP (2001) Spatial distribution of foraging in female Antarctic fur seals Arctocephalus gazella in relation to oceanographic variables: a scale-dependent approach using geographic information systems. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 219:251-264
- Hooge PN, Eichenlaub B (1997) Animal movement extension to Arcview. Alaska Biological Science Center, US Geological Survey, Anchorage, AK
- Houston AI (1995) Energetic constraints and foraging efficiency. Behav Ecol 6(4):393-396
- Hutchinson GE (1957) Concluding remarks. Cold Spring Harbor Symp Quantitative Biol 22:415-527
- Ihaka R, Gentleman R (1996) R: a language for data analysis and graphics. J Comput Graph Stat 5:299-314
- Jaquet N, Whitehead H, Lewis M (1995) Relationship between sperm whale distribution and primary productivity over large spatial scale in the Pacific Ocean. Eur Res Cetac 9:188–192
- Kerley GIH (1985) Pup growth in the fur seals Arctocephalus tropicalis and A. gazella on Marion Island. J Zool Lond 205:315-324
- Lavigne DM, Innes S, Worthy GAJ, Kovacs KM, Schmitz OJ, Hickie JP (1986) Metabolic rates of seals and whales. Can J Zool 64:279–284
- Lavoie D, Simard Y, Saucier FJ (2000) Aggregation and dispersion of krill at channel heads and shelf edges: the dynamics in the Sagvenay-St Lawrence Marine Park. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 57:1853-1869
- Lea MA, Hindell MA, Guinet C, Goldsworthy S (2002) Variability in the diving activity of Antarctic fur seals, Arctocephalus gazella, at lles Kerguelen. Polar Biol 25:269-279
- Lehodey P, André JM, Bertignac M, Hampton J, Stoens A, Menkes C, Mémery L, Grima N (1998) Predicting skipjack tuna forage distributions in the equatorial Pacific using a coupled dynamical biogeochemical model. Fish Oceanogr 7(3/4):317-325

Editorial responsibility: Otto Kinne (Editor-in-Chief), Oldendorf/Luhe, Germany

- Loeb V, Siegel V, Holm-Hansen O, Hewitt R, Fraser W, Trivelpiece W, Trivelpiece S (1997) Effects of sea-ice extent and krill or salp dominance on the Antarctic food web. Nature 387:897–900
- MacArthur RH, Pianka ER (1966) On optimal use of a patchy environment. Am Nat 100:603-609
- MacCafferty DJ, Boyd IL, Walker TR, Taylor RI (1998) Foraging responses of Antarctic fur seals to changes in the marine environment. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 166:285–299
- Mackas DL, Denman K, Abolt MR (1985) Phytoplankton patchiness: biology in the physical vernacular. Bull Mar Sci 37:652-674
- Orians GH, Pearson NE (1979) On the theory of central place foraging. In: Horn DJ, Stairs GR, Mitchell RD (eds) Analysis of ecological systems. Ohio State University Press, Columbus, OH, p 155–177
- Pakhomov EA, McQuaid CD (1996) Distribution of surface zooplankton and seabirds across the Southern Ocean. Polar Biol 16:271-286
- Powell RP (2000) Animal home ranges and territories and home range estimators. In: Boitani L, Fuller TK (eds) Research techniques in animal ecology: controversies and consequences. Columbia University Press, New York, p 65-110
- Robinson SA, Goldworthy SG, Van den Hoff J, Hindell MA (2002) The foraging ecology of two sympatric fur seal species, Arctocephalus gazella and A. tropicalis, at Macquarie Island during the austral summer. Mar Freshw Res 53:1071-1082
- Runge JA (1988) Should we expect a relationship between primary production and fisheries? The role of copepod dynamics as a filter of trophic variability. Hydrobiologia 167/168:61-71
- Walker BG, Boveng P (1995) Effects of time-depth recorders on maternal foraging and attendance behavior of Antarctic fur seals Arctocephalus gazella. Can J Zool 73: 1538-1544
- Weimerskirch H (1998) Foraging strategies of Indian Ocean albatrosses and their relationship with fisheries. In: Robertson G, Gales R (eds) Albatross: biology and conservation. Surrey Beatty & Sons, Chipping Norton, p 168–179
- Weimerskirch H, Salamolard M, Sarrazin F, Jouventin P (1993) Foraging strategy of wandering albatrosses through the breeding season: a study using satellite telemetry. Auk 110:325-342
- Weimerskirch H, Wison RP, Guinet C, Koudil M (1995) The use of seabirds to monitor sea-surface temperatures and to validate satellite remote-sensing measurements in the Southern Ocean. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 126:299–303
- Ydenberg RC, Welham CVJ, Schmid-Hempel R, Schmid-Hempel P, Beauchamp G (1994) Time and energy constraints and the relationships between currencies in foraging theory. Behav Ecol 5(1):1045-2249

Submitted: June 8, 2004; Accepted: December 16, 2004 · Proofs received from author(s): May 2, 2005

## C.2 Pup metabolism

This paper was prepared as a complementary, concurrent, project comparing the metabolism of pups of both species, which includes a preliminary comparison of body composition between AFS and SFS. I participated in all field activities for this study, and as second author of the paper, contributed revisions and comments on drafts during the publication process.

### C Co-authored publications

The Journal of Experimental Biology 206, 4497-4506 © 2003 The Company of Biologists Ltd doi:10.1242/jeb.00703 4497

# The comparative energetics and growth strategies of sympatric Antarctic and subantarctic fur seal pups at Îles Crozet

J. P. Y. Arnould<sup>1,\*</sup>, S. P. Luque<sup>2,3</sup>, C. Guinet<sup>2</sup>, D. P. Costa<sup>4</sup>, J. Kingston<sup>5</sup> and S. A. Shaffer<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Zoology, University of Melbourne, VIC 3010, Australia, <sup>2</sup>Centre d'Etudes Biologiques de Chizé, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, 79360 Villiers en Bois, France, <sup>3</sup>Department of Biology, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's, Newfoundland, Canada, A1B 3X9, <sup>4</sup>Department of Ecology and Evolutionary

Biology, University of California, Santa Cruz, CA 95060, USA and <sup>5</sup>School of Biological Sciences, Macquarie University, Sydney, NSW 2109, Australia

\*Author for correspondence (e-mail: j.arnould@zoology.unimelb.edu.au)

Accepted 2 September 2003

#### Summary

The period of maternal dependence is a time during which mammalian infants must optimise both their growth and the development of behavioural skills in order to successfully meet the demands of independent living. The rate and duration of maternal provisioning, postweaning food availability and climatic conditions are all factors likely to influence the growth strategies of infants. While numerous studies have documented differences in growth strategies at high taxonomic levels, few have investigated those of closely related species inhabiting similar environments. The present study examined the body composition, metabolism and indices of physiological development in pups of Antarctic fur seals (Arctocephalus gazella) and subantarctic fur seals (Arctocephalus tropicalis), congeneric species with different weaning ages (4 months and 10 months, respectively), during their overlap in lactation at a sympatric breeding site in the lles Crozet. Body lipid reserves in pre-moult pups were significantly greater (t28=2.73, P<0.01) in subantarctic (26%) than Antarctic fur seals (22%). Antarctic fur seal pups, however, had significantly higher (t26=3.82, P<0.001) in-air resting metabolic rates (RMR; 17.1±0.6 ml O2 kg<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup>) than subantarctic fur seal pups (14.1±0.5 mi O2 kg-1 min-1). While In-water standard metabolic rate (SMR; 22.9±2.5 ml O2 kg-1 min-1) was

#### Introduction

Throughout the period of maternal dependence, mammalian infants must balance the demands of lean body growth, lipid storage and energy expenditure for behavioural development from the finite nutritional resources (milk or solid food) provided by their mother (Loudon and Racey, 1987; Martin, 1984; Peaker, 1989). Trade-offs, however, exist in devoting nutritional resources to various developmental pressures. For example, rapid lean growth may confer advantages to the infant in being large at weaning (e.g. enhanced defence of food resources or against predators) but limits the amount of energy greater than in-air RMR for Antarctic fur seal pups (19=2.59, P<0.03), there were no significant differences between in-air RMR and in-water SMR for subantarctic fur seal pups (112=0.82, P>0.4), although this is unlikely to reflect a greater ability for pre-moult pups of the latter species to thermoregulate in water. Pup daily energy expenditure was also significantly greater (127=2.36, P<0.03) in Antarctic fur seals (638±33 kJ kg<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>) than in subantarctic fur seals (533±33 kJ kg-1 day-1), which corroborates observations that pups of the former species spend considerably more time actively learning to swim and dive. Consistent with this observation is the finding that blood oxygen storage capacity was significantly greater (19=2.81, P<0.03) in Antarctic (11.5%) than subantarctic fur seai (8.9%) pups. These results suggest that, compared with subantarctic fur seals, Antarctic fur seal pups adopt a strategy of faster lean growth and physiological development, coupled with greater amounts of metabolically expensive behavioural activity, in order to acquire the necessary foraging skills in time for their younger weaning age.

Key words: maternal provisioning, metabolic rate, growth strategy, resource partitioning, energetics, weaning, fur seal, Arctocephalus gazella, Arctocephalus tropicalis.

that can be devoted to physical activity due to the high maintenance metabolism costs associated with a large lean body mass (Blaxter, 1989; Innes and Millar, 1995). Conversely, high levels of energy expenditure devoted to behavioural development (usually through play) may enhance hunting ability or predator avoidance but limit the storage of body lipids that could be crucial to post-weaning survival during the early period of nutritional independence when foraging efficiency may still be low (Birgersson and Ekvall, 1997; Fisher et al., 2002). Furthermore, the ability of infants

### 4498 J. P. Y. Arnould and others

to direct resources to various expenditures may depend on the composition (protein, lipid, carbohydrate) of the maternally provided nutrition and its rate of delivery (McAdam and Millar, 1999; Owens et al., 1993; Price and White, 1985). Therefore, as mortality in mammals is generally highest during the post-weaning stage (Clutton-Brock et al., 1987; Coulson et al., 2001; Le Boeuf et al., 1994; Van Ballenberghe and Mech, 1975), knowledge of infant growth strategies and how they differ according to environmental and maternal constraints may provide important insights into mechanisms influencing juvenile survival and life history.

Otariid seals (fur seals and sea lions) are an ideal group for investigating this topic, as females give birth to a single offspring, there is no post-weaning maternal care, and offspring are entirely dependent on milk for nutrition throughout most of lactation (Bonner, 1984). Furthermore, lactation in these species is characterised by mothers alternating between short nursing periods ashore and long foraging trips to sea during which their pup must fast (Gentry and Kooyman, 1986). Consequently, the nutritional resources delivered to the dependent pups must be allocated for growth, storage and behavioural development (e.g. learning to swim) during fasting periods as well as when the mother is ashore.

Lactation in otariid seals generally lasts 10-12 months, although in some species offspring may be suckled for up to 3 years (Bonner, 1984). Exceptions to this pattern are the Antarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus gazella) and the northern fur seal (Callorhinus ursinus), which have lactation periods lasting only 4 months. The brevity of lactation in these two species is thought to have evolved to exploit the predictably high but brief productivity of the subpolar summer and to maximise maternal transfer and offspring growth before the onset of the polar winter (Gentry and Kooyman, 1986). By contrast, the longer lactation periods of the other otariid species are thought to have evolved in response to the low seasonal variation but less predictable nature of the temperate and sub-tropical marine environments they inhabit. At three locations in the subantarctic region, however, there is the surprising situation where species representative of each strategy breed sympatrically. Macquarie Island, Marion Island and Iles Crozet are the northern and southern extents, respectively, of the Antarctic fur seal and subantarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus tropicalis) breeding ranges (Guinet et al., 1994; Kerley, 1984; Robinson et al., 2002). At these sites, the majority of pupping for each species occurs in December but, despite similarity in their maternal masses and pup birth masses (Goldsworthy et al., 1997; Kerley, 1985), Antarctic fur seal pups wean at the end of the Austral summer (March-April) whereas subantarctic fur seal pups wean in late winter (August-September). There are few examples worldwide of such closely related sympatric species having such divergent lactation strategies (Dempster et al., 1992; Innes and Millar, 1994).

Numerous studies have investigated the maternal characteristics (e.g. diet, foraging behaviour, foraging areas, colony attendance patterns and milk composition) and pup responses (e.g. growth rate and weaning mass) of Antarctic and

subantarctic fur seals at their sympatric sites in order to understand the mechanisms driving the divergent strategies and their impacts (Goldsworthy, 1999; Goldsworthy and Crowley, 1999; Goldsworthy et al., 1997; Green et al., 1990; Kerley, 1983, 1984, 1985; Klages and Bester, 1998; Robinson et al., 2002). At Macquarie Island and Marion Island, no differences have been found in maternal diet, foraging areas or diving behaviour between the species during their summer lactational overlap (Goldsworthy and Crowley, 1999; Goldsworthy et al., 1997; Klages and Bester, 1998; Robinson et al., 2002) yet, over the same time period, growth rates of Antarctic fur seal pups are significantly greater than those of subantarctic fur seals at all sympatric sites (Goldsworthy and Crowley, 1999; Kerley, 1985; S. P. Luque et al., unpublished data). Goldsworthy and Crowley (1999) suggested that the difference in growth rates could reflect either a higher milk consumption rate in Antarctic fur seals or greater metabolic expenditure by subantarctic fur seals. However, the limited information on pup metabolic rates for the species is restricted to their allopatric sites (making comparisons difficult) and there is no information on their milk consumption rates at sympatric sites (Arnould et al., 1996a, 2001; Beauplet et al., 2003; Georges et al., 2001; Guinet et al., 1999). Furthermore, while mass gain differs between the species, it is not known whether the divergent lactation strategies influence the composition of growth and development (Owens et al., 1993; Spray and Widdowson, 1950).

The aims of this study, therefore, were to determine whether differences in body composition, metabolism and physiological development exist between sympatric Antarctic and subantarctic fur seal pups.

### Materials and methods

### Study site and animals

The study was conducted at La Mare aux Elephants  $(46^{\circ}22'29'' \text{ S}, 51^{\circ}40'13'' \text{ E})$ , Possession Island (Îles Crozet), during the 2001/2002 breeding season. Population growth rates for both Antarctic fur seals (*Arctocephalus gazella* Peters) and subantarctic fur seals (*Arctocephalus tropicalis* Gray) on Possession Island are currently ~18% per annum (Guinet et al., 1994). Annual pup productions at La Mare aux Elephants were 164 and 80 for Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals, respectively, in 2001/2002 and peak-pupping dates were 5 December and 25 December, respectively.

During the pupping period, 95 Antarctic and 58 subantarctic fur seal newborn pups were sexed and identified by a unique numbered piece of plastic tape glued to the fur on the top of the head (Georges and Guinet, 2000a). At about one month of age, each of these pups was tagged in the trailing-edge of both fore-flippers with an individually numbered plastic tag (Dalton Rototag, Nettlebed, UK). As part of concurrent studies, the attendance patterns of mothers of marked pups were monitored from birth until the end of March by visual inspection of the natal colony three times per day (09:00 h, 12:00 h and 17:00 h local time).

### C Co-authored publications

Sampling was conducted in February 2002 and was staggered by 10-15 days between the species in order to cover similar pup ages. Mean ambient and sea surface temperature during sampling were 8.0°C and 8.0°C, respectively (http//ingrid.ldgo.columbia.edu/). For all aspects of the study, selected pups were captured 1-3 days after the mother's departure to sea following a normal suckling period in order to allow sufficient time for complete voiding of ingested milk from the stomach (Arnould et al., 1996a; Donohue et al., 2002; Oftedal and Iverson, 1987). Each study pup was selected at random from the population of marked individuals and sampled for only one aspect of the study. Upon each capture, pups were weighed in a sack with an electronic suspension balance (±0.01 kg). All the study pups still had the black natal pelage and, based on close examination of the pelage, all individuals were considered to be at the pre-moult stage.

### Respirometry and resting metabolic rate

Oxygen consumption, determined by an open circuit respirometry system (Butler and Woakes, 1982), was used to measure the resting metabolic rates (RMR) of pups. Pups were placed in a wooden respirometry chamber ( $80 \text{ cm} \times 60 \text{ cm} \times 50 \text{ cm}$ ; sealed with silicone and varnish) that was equipped with a small Plexiglas window and large fan that ensured complete and rapid mixing of air. Foam rubber seals ensured an air-tight junction between the door and the body of the respirometer. The chamber had a removable floor below which there was a basin 60 cm deep. The basin was filled with fresh water to within 10 cm of the rim and covered by a sheet of wire grating when a pup was placed in it.

Air was drawn through the respirometer using an air pump (B105; Charles Austen Pumps, Byfleet, Surrey, UK), and flow rate (maintained at 50 l min<sup>-1</sup>) was measured using a rotameter (Fisher-Rosemount Ltd, Catham, Kent, UK). A subsample of the outlet air flow was passed through Drierite (CaSO<sub>4</sub>) and CO<sub>2</sub> absorbent (Baralyme<sup>®</sup>) to an O<sub>2</sub> analyser (S103; Qubit Systems Inc., Kingston, Ontario, Canada). Sampling of ambient air was conducted every 10 min by manually switching a valve in the chamber outlet airflow line. The O2 analyser was calibrated prior to each measurement period with atmospheric air and nitrogen (Air Products PLC, Crewe, Cheshire, UK). Ambient atmospheric pressure, temperature and humidity were measured on a digital barometer (Model BA116; Oregon Scientific Pty Ltd, Sydney, NSW, Australia) and recorded every 10 min. A humidity/temperature sensor was affixed inside the chamber.

The output signals from the  $O_2$  analyser and the humidity/temperature sensor passed through a purpose-built interface box that amplified the signals to a range of -10 V to +10 V and then transferred them to an analogue-digital converter unit (DAQPad-1200; National Instruments Corporation, Austin, TX, USA) in a desktop computer. The computer sampled the outputs 100 times per second, took a mean of these values and saved them to a file every 1 s with a program developed using a software package for automatic

### Growth strategies in fur seal pups 4499

instrumentation (LabView<sup>®</sup> 4.0; National Instruments Corporation). Ambient atmospheric pressure, temperature and humidity readings were manually entered into the software package as they were recorded. Water temperature was measured with a glass thermometer (±0.1°C; Hanna Instruments Ltd Pty, Keysborough, VIC, Australia) prior to, and immediately after, the pup was in the basin. For logistical reasons, the body temperature of study pups was not recorded.

The pups were introduced into the chamber and left to rest and acclimatise for 1 h. Measurements of  $O_2$ , humidity, temperature, pressure and flow were taken continuously throughout the duration of the experiment but for calculations of resting rates the values from the 10 min of minimum oxygen consumption after the hour of acclimatisation were used. Confirmation that the pup was resting but not sleeping was made by visual inspection through the Plexiglas window, which was usually kept covered. Once the measurements in air had been completed, the pup was placed in the water-filled basin and left to acclimatise for 1 h, and, thereafter, values from the 10 min of minimum oxygen consumption were used to calculate in-water standard rates. Due to equipment problems, in-air and in-water metabolic rates were not measured for all pups.

Oxygen consumption  $(V_{02})$  was calculated using the equation of Withers (1977):

$$\dot{V}_{O_2} = \frac{\dot{V}_{\text{STPD}} \times (F_{O_2,\text{Amb}} - F_{O_2,\text{Exp}})}{1 - F_{O_2,\text{Amb}} + RQ \times (F_{O_2,\text{Amb}} - F_{O_2,\text{Exp}})}, \quad (1)$$

where  $\dot{V}_{\rm STPD}$  is the flow rate of dry air through the respirometer (in ml min<sup>-1</sup>) corrected for standard temperature and pressure,  $F_{O_2,Exp}$  and  $F_{O_2,Amb}$  are the fractional concentrations of O<sub>2</sub> in outlet and ambient air, respectively, and RQ is the respiratory quotient. Assuming a diet of milk, an RQ of 0.71 was calculated with the following metabolic constants: 2.109 1 O<sub>2</sub> g<sup>-1</sup> lipid, 0.976 1 O<sub>2</sub> g<sup>-1</sup> protein, 1.433 1 CO<sub>2</sub> g<sup>-1</sup> lipid and 0.783 1 CO<sub>2</sub> g<sup>-1</sup> protein (Costa, 1987).

#### Body composition, daily energy expenditure and milk consumption

The body composition and daily energy expenditure (DEE) rates of pups were measured using hydrogen isotope dilution and doubly labelled water (DLW) techniques (Costa, 1987). After weighing upon capture, a background blood sample (5 ml) was collected into a heparinised syringe from each pup by venipuncture of an inter-digital vein in a hind-flipper. They were then given an intramuscular injection of a weighed dose (±0.01 g) of tritiated water (HTO; ~1 ml, 7.4 mBq ml<sup>-1</sup>). Each animal was also given an oral dose, by stomach tube, of 15-20 ml H218O 10% AP (Isotec Inc., Miamisburg, OH, USA). Pups were then kept in an enclosure for 3 h before an equilibration blood sample (5 ml) was collected, to determine the total body water (TBW) pool size and initial plasma <sup>18</sup>O levels, before being released at the point of capture, left undisturbed and allowed to suckle normally during the next visit ashore by their mother. Each pup was recaptured 2-3 days after the departure of the mother on her subsequent foraging

### 4500 J. P. Y. Arnould and others

trip to sea (4-6 days after initial capture), weighed and a final blood sample (5 ml) was collected.

All blood samples were kept at 4°C for several hours before being centrifuged (3000 r.p.m., for 10 min) and the plasma fraction separated. Aliquot samples (2-5 ml) of plasma were stored frozen (-20°C) in plastic screw-cap vials (with silicon Orings; Sarstedt Inc., Newton, NC, USA) until analysis. For tritium analysis, thawed sub-sample aliquots of plasma (0.2 ml) were distilled into pre-weighed scintillation vials following the procedures of Ortiz et al. (1978). The vials were then re-weighed to obtain the mass of the sample water  $(\pm 0.1 \text{ mg})$ . Scintillant (10 ml Ultima Gold; Canberra Packard, Mt Waverly, VIC, Australia) was added to the vials, which were then counted for 5 min in a Packard Tri-Carb 2100TR liquid scintillation analyser (Canberra Packard) with correction for quenching by means of the sample channels ratio and an external standard to set the counting window for each vial. Samples were analysed in duplicate and each vial was counted twice. Sub-samples (0.2 ml) of the injectant were counted in the same way, and at the same time, as the water from the plasma samples to determine the specific activity of the tritium injected. The <sup>18</sup>O enrichment of plasma water was determined by Metabolic Solutions (Nashua, NH, USA) using gas isotope ratio mass spectrometry.

TBW was calculated from HTO dilution space using an equation determined empirically in Antarctic fur seal pups (Arnould et al., 1996b). Lean body mass (LBM) was calculated from TBW assuming a hydration constant of 74.7% (Arnould et al., 1996b), and total body lipid (TBL) was calculated by subtracting LBM from total body mass. Total water influx (TWI) rates were calculated from the decrease in specific activity of HTO and equations 5 and 6 in Nagy and Costa (1980), assuming an exponentially changing TBW. Carbon dioxide production rates were calculated using equation 3 of Nagy (1980). DEE was calculated from CO2 production assuming a conversion factor of 27.44 kJ 1-1 CO2 (Costa, 1987). Oxygen consumption was determined by dividing CO2 production by the RQ (0.71; see above). Metabolic water production (MWP) rates were calculated from the metabolic rate determined by DLW assuming a conversion factor of 0.02629 g H2O kJ-1 (Schmidt-Nielsen, 1983).

Milk consumption rates were calculated using the following equation (Ortiz, 1987):

$$Milk consumption rate = \frac{TWI - MWP}{Milk water content} .$$
 (2)

Milk composition does not differ significantly between Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals at the study site, and mean milk water and energy contents during the study period were 41.5% and 18.9 kJ g<sup>-1</sup>, respectively (S. P. Luque et al., unpublished data). Similar findings have been reported on Macquarie Island (Goldsworthy and Crowley, 1999).

#### Blood volume

The physiological ability of infant pinnipeds to make foraging dives has been shown to increase throughout the period of maternal dependence (Burns, 1999; Horning and Trillmich, 1997a,b). In the present study, therefore, factors affecting oxygen storage [haematocrit (Hct), haemoglobin (Hb) and total blood volume] were measured and used as indices of physiological development.

After weighing upon capture, a background blood sample (5 ml) was collected into a heparinised syringe from each pup by venipuncture of an inter-digital vein in a hind-flipper and stored cool (4°C) until all samples were centrifuged (see below). Each pup was then given an intravenous injection (~1 ml) of a weighed dose of Evans Blue dye (0.5 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> body mass; Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA) to measure total blood volume (El-Sayed et al., 1995). After completing the injection but before removing the needle from the blood vessel, the syringe was flushed with blood 2–3 times to ensure that all dye was administered. Serial blood samples (5 ml) were collected at 10 min, 20 min and 30 min post-injection to measure the equilibration and dilution of the dye (El-Sayed et al., 1995).

Prior to centrifugation, each background blood sample was thoroughly mixed by gentle agitation. An 20  $\mu$ l sample was placed in 2.5 ml of Drabkins reagent (Sigma kit 525A; Sigma-Aldrich) and later assayed for Hb concentration by colorimetric analysis. Absorbance was measured in duplicate samples on a Spectronic 1001 (Milton Roy, Ivyland, PA, USA) spectrophotometer at a wavelength of 540 nm. Hb concentration of each sample was determined by comparison with a dilution curve created from protein standards. Hct was measured in triplicate from an aliquot of the whole blood as the packed red blood cell volume in capillary tubes following centrifugation for 5 min at 11 500 r.p.m.

Total blood volume was measured by colorimetric analysis of the Evans Blue dilution. Following centrifugation at 3000 r.p.m. for 10 min, aliquots of plasma were separated and stored frozen (-20°C) in plastic vials until analysis several months later. In the laboratory, the thawed samples were agitated and centrifuged again at 3000 r.p.m. for 5 min. The absorbance of the decanted dyed plasma was determined on a Spectronic 1001 (Milton Roy) spectrophotometer at 624 nm and 740 nm following procedures outlined in Foldager and Blomqvist (1991). Dye concentrations were determined from a serial dilution curve of Evans Blue standards measured at both wavelengths. It is common practice to back-calculate the dye concentration at the time of injection by determining the intercept of a regression line between dye concentration of each serial sample and the time it was collected (Costa et al., 1998; El-Sayed et al., 1995; Foldager and Blomqvist, 1991). This method was not used because the regression between dye concentration and time post-injection for most of the seals was not statistically significant (P>0.05). Therefore, a mean dye concentration using all three samples (i.e. 10 min, 20 min and 30 min post-injection) was calculated and used for determination of blood volume. Plasma volume was calculated as follows:

$$V_{\rm p} = \frac{[m_{\rm i}]}{[C_{\rm e}]} , \qquad (3)$$

where  $[m_i]$  is the initial quantity (mg) of Evans Blue dye injected,  $[C_e]$  is the concentration of Evans Blue dye (mg l<sup>1</sup>) obtained from the mean of the serial samples and  $V_p$  is plasma volume (litres). Total blood volume ( $V_b$ ) was then calculated as:

$$V_{\rm b} = V_{\rm p} \left[ 100 \left( 1 - {\rm Hct} \right) \right] - 1$$
, (4)

where Hct is haematocrit expressed as a fraction of whole blood.

Statistical analyses were performed using the Systat<sup>®</sup> statistical software (Version 7.0.1; SPSS lnc., Richmond, CA, USA). The Kolmogorov–Smirnov test was used to determine whether the data were normally distributed, and an F test was used to confirm homogeneity of variances (P>0.2 in all cases). Differences between linear regressions were tested by analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) after testing for homogeneity of slopes. Unless otherwise stated, data are presented as means  $\pm$  1 S.E.M. and results considered significant at the P<0.05 level.

### Results

### Resting metabolic rate

Measurements of in-air resting metabolic rate (RMR) were obtained for 14 Antarctic (six female, eight male) and 14 subantarctic (seven female, seven male) fur seal pups. Mean ambient air temperature during measurements was  $10.5\pm0.6^{\circ}$ C (range:  $6-15^{\circ}$ C). In-air RMR of pups was significantly positively related to body mass in Antarctic fur seals ( $r^{2}=0.58$ , P<0.02) but not subantarctic fur seals (P>0.2; Fig. 1). Massspecific in-air RMR did not differ significantly between the sexes in either species (P>0.1 in both cases) so the data were combined (Table 1). Mean mass-specific in-air RMR of pups was significantly greater in Antarctic fur seals



Fig. 1. The relationship between in-air resting metabolic rate (RMR) and body mass of Antarctic and subantarctic fur seal pups at Possession Island, Îles Crozet. The equation given is for Antarctic fur seal pups. No significant relationship was found for subantarctic fur seals.

### Growth strategies in fur seal pups 4501

(17.1±0.6 ml O<sub>2</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup>) than subantarctic fur seals (14.1±0.5 ml O<sub>2</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup>; t<sub>26</sub>=3.82, P<0.001).

Measurements of in-water standard metabolic rate (SMR) were obtained for 12 Antarctic (six female, six male) and 15 subantarctic (seven female, eight male) fur seal pups. Mean water temperature during the measurements was  $10.0\pm0.6^{\circ}$ C (range: 9–12°C). There was no relationship between body mass and in-water SMR in either species (*P*>0.1 in both cases). Mass-specific in-water SMR did not differ significantly between the sexes in either species (*P*>0.1 in both cases) so the data were combined (Table 1). Mean mass-specific in-water SMR of pups was significantly greater in Antarctic (22.9±2.5 ml O<sub>2</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup>) than subantarctic fur seals (14.6±1.0 ml O<sub>2</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup>; t<sub>25</sub>=3.41, *P*<0.003).

Measurements of both in-air RMR and in-water SMR were made in 10 Antarctic and 13 subantarctic fur seal pups. Mean in-water SMR was significantly greater than in-air RMR for Antarctic fur seal pups (paired *t*-test,  $t_9=2.59$ , P<0.03) but not for subantarctic fur seal pups ( $t_{12}=0.82$ , P>0.4).

### Body composition, daily energy expenditure and milk consumption

Body composition upon capture was determined for a total of 16 (eight male, eight female) Antarctic and 14 subantarctic (seven male, seven females) fur seal pups. No significant differences were detected between the sexes in either species (P>0.2 in both cases) so the data were combined. As expected, significant positive correlations were found between total body water (TBW) and body mass in both species (Fig. 2). However, the regressions differed significantly between the species (ANCOVA,  $F_{1,27}$ =5.82, P<0.02), with Antarctic fur seal pups having higher TBW per unit mass and, thus, relatively lower TBL stores (22.2±1.0%) than subantarctic fur seal pups (26.1±1.0%;  $t_{28}$ =2.73, P<0.02; Table 2).

With the exception of one female Antarctic fur seal pup ( $^{18}O$  levels were too close to background upon recapture), field metabolic rate measurements were obtained for all of the above individuals. There were no significant differences in CO<sub>2</sub> production between the sexes for either species (P>0.1 in both cases) so data were combined. Antarctic fur seal pups

Table 1. Mass-specific metabolic rates of Antarctic and subantarctic fur seal pups on Possession Island, Îles Crozet

	Antarctic fur seal	N	Subantarctic fur seal	N
Body mass (kg)	9.64±0.43	14	9.45±0.31	15
Age (days)	64±1	14	62±1	15
In-air RMR (ml O <sub>2</sub> kg <sup>-1</sup> min <sup>-1</sup> )	17.1±0.6*	14	14.1±0.5*	14
In-water SMR	22.9±2.5 <sup>†</sup>	12	14.6±1.0 <sup>†</sup>	15

Values are means ± S.E.M.

 and <sup>†</sup> denote significant differences at P<0.001 and P<0.003, respectively.

RMR, resting metabolic rate; SMR, standard metabolic rate.



4502 J. P. Y. Arnould and others

Fig. 2. The relationship between body mass and (A) total body water and (B) total body lipid in Antarctic (solid lines) and subantarctic (broken lines) fur seal pups at Possession Island, Iles Crozet. Regression statistics for both species in A: y=0.50x+0.70 ( $r^{2}=0.93$ , P<0.0001) and y=0.55x-0.01 ( $r^{2}=0.93$ , P<0.0001), respectively. Regression statistics for both species in B: y=0.32x-0.94 ( $r^{2}=0.75$ , P<0.0001) and y=0.26x+0.02 ( $r^{2}=0.63$ , P<0.0001), respectively.

had a significantly higher mean CO2 production rate (0.97±0.05 ml g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) than subantarctic fur seal pups  $(0.81\pm0.05 \text{ ml g}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}; t_{27}=2.36, P<0.03)$ . These values represent mean daily energy expenditure (DEE) and O2 consumption rates, respectively, of 638±33 kJ kg-1 day-1 and 1.36±0.07 mlg<sup>1</sup> h<sup>1</sup> for Antarctic fur seals and 533±33 kJ kg<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup> and 1.14±0.07 ml g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> for subantarctic fur seal pups (Table 2). The higher DEE of Antarctic fur seal pups resulted in them having significantly greater metabolic water production (MWP) rates (16.8±0.8 ml kg<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>) than subantarctic fur seal pups (14.0±0.9 ml kg<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>;  $t_{27}=2.36$ , P<0.03). Mean milk water intake (MWI), however, did not differ significantly between the species (127=1.66, P>0.1; Table 2). Consequently, as milk composition did not differ between the species (S. P. Luque, J. P. Y. Arnould and C. Guinet, unpublished data), there was no significant difference

Table 2. Energy expenditure and milk consumption rates of
Antarctic and subantarctic fur seal pups on Possession Island.
Îles Crozet

	Antarctic fur seal (N=15)	Subantarctic fur seal (N=14)					
Body mass (kg)	10.05±0.35	10.47±0.49					
Age (days)	64±1	66±2					
Total body lipid (%)	22.2±1.0†.‡	26.1±1.0 <sup>†</sup>					
CO <sub>2</sub> production (ml g <sup>-1</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> )	0.97±0.05*	0.81±0.05*					
Daily energy expenditure (kJ kg <sup>-1</sup> day <sup>-1</sup> )	638±33*	533±33*					
O <sub>2</sub> consumption (ml g <sup>1</sup> h <sup>1</sup> )	1.36±0.07*	1.14±0.07*					
Total water influx (ml kg <sup>-1</sup> day <sup>-1</sup> )	51.2±2.7*	40.7±3.5 <sup>†</sup>					
Metabolic water production (ml kg <sup>-1</sup> day <sup>-1</sup> )	16.8±0.8*	14.0±0.9*					
Milk water intake (ml kg <sup>-1</sup> day <sup>-1</sup> )	34.4±3.0	26.2±3.9					
Milk consumption (ml kg-1 day-1)	82.9±7.1	63.2±9.5					
Milk consumption (ml bout 1)	3879±260	$3637 \pm 544$					

\* and † denote significant differences between the species at P<0.03 and P<0.02, respectively. n=16 (see text for details).

between the species in the amount of milk consumed per day by pups during the study period ( $t_{27}=1.70$ , P>0.1; Table 2). The amount of milk consumed per maternal attendance bout also did not differ significantly between the species ( $t_{27}=1.70$ , P>0.1).

#### Blood volume

Haematocrit (Hct) and haemoglobin (Hb) values were obtained for 10 (five male, five female) Antarctic and eight subantarctic (five male, three female) fur seal pups. There were no significant differences in either Hct or Hb between the sexes for either species (P>0.1 in all cases) so data were combined. Mean Hct did not differ significantly between Antarctic ( $50.2\pm0.9\%$ ) and subantarctic ( $48.1\pm1.0\%$ ) fur seal pups ( $t_{16}=1.5, P>0.1$ ). Similarly, there was no significant difference in Hb content between Antarctic ( $14.5\pm0.3$  g dl<sup>-1</sup>) and subantarctic ( $14.6\pm0.4$  g dl<sup>-1</sup>) fur seal pups ( $t_{16}=0.25, P>0.8$ ).

Blood volume estimates were obtained for five Antarctic (two male, three female) and six subantarctic (four male, two female) fur seal pups. Blood volume as a proportion of body mass was significantly greater in Antarctic (11.5 $\pm$ 0.8%) than subantarctic (8.9 $\pm$ 0.5%) fur seal pups ( $t_9$ =2.81, P<0.03). Assuming the same mean body composition for these pups as determined above, the difference in blood volume between the species was still significant when considered as a proportion of LBM ( $t_9$ =2.35, P<0.05).

### Discussion

# Body composition, resting metabolic rate and daily energy expenditure

In contrast to numerous recent studies that have documented higher mass-specific body lipid contents in female than male fur seal pups (Arnould et al., 1996a, 2001; Arnould and Hindell, 2002; Beauplet et al., 2003; Donohue et al., 2002), no significant differences in body composition were observed between the sexes of either species in the present study. However, as with the lack of sex differences in other variables measured in the present study (e.g. mass-specific in-air RMR and in-water SMR), this is likely to be due to low statistical power because, with the small sample sizes used, only differences of >30% would have been detected (at an alpha of 0.05 and a power of 0.9). The TBL of Antarctic fur seal pups observed in the present study (22%) is within the range previously recorded for conspecific pups at South Georgia and lles Kerguelen (Arnould et al., 1996a, 2001; Lea et al., 2002). By contrast, the TBL of subantarctic fur seal pups (26%) is substantially greater than that recorded for conspecific pups of approximately the same age at Amsterdam Island (8-12%; Beauplet et al., 2003). This difference may reflect a reduced need for subcutaneous blubber insulation in the warmer temperate climate of Amsterdam Island. Interestingly, despite similar maternal foraging trip durations during the present study (S. P. Luque, J. P. Y. Amould and C. Guinet, unpublished data), subantarctic fur seal pups had significantly greater TBL than Antarctic fur seal pups. These data are consistent with those collected from a larger sample size (N=41 and 47, respectively, for the two species) throughout the summer overlap in lactation (S. P. Luque, J. P. Y. Arnould and C. Guinet, unpublished data).

The in-water SMR of Antarctic fur seal pups was significantly greater than their in-air RMR. Similar findings have been reported in comparable ambient and water temperatures for similar-aged pre-moult northern fur seals (Donohue et al., 2000). The ratio of in-water SMR to in-air mass-specific RMR, however, was substantially lower in Antarctic fur seals (1.3) than in northern fur seals (2.4), due primarily to the greater in-water mass-specific SMR  $(37 \text{ ml O}_2 \text{ kg}^{-1} \text{ min}^{-1})$  yet similar RMR  $(15 \text{ ml O}_2 \text{ kg}^{-1} \text{ min}^{-1})$ of the latter species. Baker and Donohue (2000) found that premoult northern fur seal pups spent little time in water, and Donohue et al. (2000, 2002) suggested that this was due to their inability to thermoregulate efficiently in water at that age. By contrast, Antarctic fur seal pups in the present study spent considerable amounts of time swimming in shallow water close to the shore (S. P. Luque, J. P. Y. Arnould and C. Guinet, unpublished data), and similar-aged pups on South Georgia have been recorded as spending up to 50% of their time in the water (McCafferty et al., 1998). It is possible, therefore, that pre-moult Antarctic fur seals are better able to thermoregulate in water than northern fur seal pups. Indeed, the higher body lipid content (22%) of Antarctic fur seal pups in the present study compared with that of northern fur seal pups (15%; Donohue et al., 2000) is likely to provide them with greater subcutaneous thermal insulation.

Unexpectedly, in contrast to Antarctic fur seal pups, in-water SMR of subantarctic fur seal pups was not significantly greater than their in-air RMR. This could indicate that pre-moult subantarctic fur seal pups have better thermoregulatory capabilities than Antarctic fur seal pups. If this was the case,

### Growth strategies in fur seal pups 4503

pre-moult subantarctic fur seal pups might be expected to spend considerable amounts of time in water developing important swimming and diving skills (Baker and Donohue, 2000; McCafferty et al., 1998). However, while the 4% greater body lipid content of subantarctic fur seal pups might provide them with some advantage in thermal insulation, they were rarely seen in water during the study (S. P. Luque, J. P. Y. Arnould and C. Guinet, unpublished data, see below), suggesting that they do not have exceptional thermoregulatory capabilities. An alternative explanation is that pre-moult pups of this species have less developed thermoregulatory ability than Antarctic fur seal pups, and immersion in water, representing a severe thermal challenge they would not normally experience, resulted in metabolic depression (Boily and Lavigne, 1996; Lee et al., 1997). Unfortunately, core body temperature could not be measured in the present study, so this proposition cannot be investigated. Additional studies determining the thermal conductance of subantarctic fur seal pups both in water and in air are required to elucidate the reasons behind the unexpected findings of their similar in-air RMR and in-water SMR.

A further surprising finding of the present study was that Antarctic fur seal pups had a mean in-air mass-specific RMR 21% higher than that of subantarctic fur seal pups. The higher TBL of subantarctic fur seals may have provided them with some thermoregulatory advantage and, conversely, the corresponding higher LBM of Antarctic fur seals would result in a greater metabolically active mass and, thus, higher metabolic costs. On their own, however, these factors are unlikely to account for the large differences in RMR. One possibility is that the higher RMR of Antarctic fur seal pups is related to their generally greater levels of activity (see below). Numerous studies with humans and rats have shown that sustained increases in daily activity levels result in the elevation of RMR (Byrne and Wilmore, 2001; Poehlman and Danforth, 1991; Tremblay et aL, 1992).

Concomitant with a higher mass-specific RMR, Antarctic fur seal pups also had a daily energy expenditure 20% greater than that of subantarctic fur seal pups. This is consistent with opportunistic observations at the study site of subantarctic fur seal pups spending significantly less time in both terrestrial and aquatic activities than Antarctic fur seal pups, preferring instead to sleep (S. P. Luque, J. P. Y. Arnould and C. Guinet, unpublished data). Indeed, the low DEE recorded for subantarctic fur seal pups at Amsterdam Island (see below) has been attributed to their low activity levels (Beauplet et al., 2003). The ratio of DEE to in-air RMR was 1.3 for both species, which is less than the ratio of 1.7 reported for premoult Antarctic fur seal pups at South Georgia and northern fur seal pups (Arnould et al., 2001; Donohue et al., 2002). The DEE of Antarctic fur seal pups in the present study (638 kJ kg<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>) is less than the DEE reported for freeranging pre-moult northern fur seal pups (700 kJ kg<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>; Donohue et al., 2002) and conspecific pups of similar age on South Georgia (1044 kg-1 day-1; calculated from MWP values in Arnould et al., 2001). These differences may reflect the

### 4504 J. P. Y. Arnould and others

colder ambient and sea water temperatures during summer at the Pribilof Islands (5°C and 4°C, respectively; http://ingrid.ldeo.columbia.edu/SOURCES/.IGOSS/) and South Georgia (4°C and 3°C, respectively; British Antarctic Survey, unpublished data) in comparison with those during the present study (8°C and 8°C, respectively; http://ingrid.ldeo.columbia.edu/SOURCES/.IGOSS/), leading to higher thermoregulatory costs. Similarly, the difference between the DEEs of pre-moult subantarctic fur seal pups in the present study (533 kJ kg<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>) and on Amsterdam Island (416 kJ kg<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>; Beauplet et al., 2003) may reflect the substantially warmer summer climate of the latter (17°C and 18°C for ambient and sea water temperatures, respectively; Meteo France, unpublished data).

Errors in calculating DEE from CO<sub>2</sub> production values can arise if incorrect RQ values are assumed (Costa, 1988; Nagy, 1980). Indeed, differences in body composition may reflect differences in metabolic fuel use (Beauplet et al., 2003; Blaxter, 1989) such that differences in calculated DEE could be an artefact of RQ assumptions. In the present study, however, if subantarctic fur seal pups were catabolising proportionately more protein than were Antarctic fur seal pups (as might be suggested by their body composition differences) then the difference in DEE between the species would actually be greater.

### Milk consumption and growth strategy

The lack of any significant difference in daily or per bout milk consumption between Antarctic and subantarctic fur seal pups is consistent with the similarity in foraging trip durations of their mothers (S. P. Luque, J. P. Y. Arnould and C. Guinet, unpublished data). The mean daily milk energy consumption by Antarctic fur seal pups in the present study (1.6 MJ kg<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>) is the same as that recorded for pre-moult conspecific pups at South Georgia (1.6 MJ kg 1 day 1; Arnould et al., 1996a) and similar to that reported for pre-moult northern fur seal pups (1.4 MJ kg<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>; Donohue et al., 2002). By contrast, consumption by subantarctic fur seal pups (1.2 MJ kg-1 day-1) is greater than reported for similar-aged pre-moult pups of the Australian fur seal (A. pusillus doriferus Jones; 0.8 MJ kg<sup>1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>), a temperate species with a comparable lactation length (Arnould and Hindell, 2002). Unfortunately, milk consumption estimates are not available for other fur seal species or for subantarctic fur seals at allopatric colonies, so it cannot be ascertained whether pups of this nominally temperate species normally consume such quantities of milk or if this only occurs at the subantarctic breeding sites. Comparison of subantarctic fur seal pup growth rates during the first four months at sympatric colonies (e.g. present study site, 70 g day-1, S. P. Luque, J. P. Y. Arnould and C. Guinet, unpublished data; Marion Island, 72 g day<sup>-1</sup>, Kerley, 1985) with those at allopatric colonies further north (Gough Island, 58 g day-1, Kirkman et al., 2002; Amsterdam Island, 54 g day-1, Guinet and Georges, 2000), however, would tend to suggest a greater milk consumption by pups at the subantarctic sites during this period.

As has been reported on Marion and Macquarie islands (Goldsworthy and Crowley, 1999; Kerley, 1985), Antarctic fur seal pup growth rates are significantly greater than those of subantarctic fur seals at the present study site on Possession Island (80 g day<sup>-1</sup> and 70 g day<sup>-1</sup>, respectively; S. P. Luque, J. P. Y. Arnould and C. Guinet, unpublished data). This finding appears inconsistent with the observed parity in milk consumption, especially in conjunction with the observed differences in the rates of energy expenditure. Differences in body composition, however, could account for this apparent contradiction. As adipose tissue is more energy dense than lean mass, its deposition requires greater amounts of nutrition (Blaxter, 1989). This is especially so in infant mammals, where the hydration of lean body mass is 3-4% greater than in physiologically mature adults (Adolph and Heggeness, 1971; Arnould et al., 1996b; Reilly and Fedak, 1990). Furthermore, if the observed body composition differences reflect differences in metabolic substrate use, as has recently been shown for sex-based body composition differences in subantarctic fur seals at Amsterdam Island (Beauplet et al., 2003), preferential lipid catabolism could provide Antarctic fur seals with the additional energy to account for their greater metabolic expenditure. Consequently, it is feasible that equal milk energy consumption could produce the differing growth rates.

A question that the findings of this study pose is why do Antarctic fur seal pups not conserve energy and accumulate greater lipid reserves to sustain them once they are weaned, especially as food availability may be reduced during the colder winter months? Why do they have higher energy expenditure rates than their sympatric congenerics? Pups of this species only have four months in which to develop all the swimming and diving skills necessary to forage independently (Bonner, 1984). While greater lipid reserves would provide some advantages (e.g. thermal insulation, 'nutritional buffer'), their benefit would be limited if pups did not have any ability to dive and know how to hunt at weaning. Hence, selection should favour the early acquisition of necessary behavioural skills relative to species with longer maternal dependence. Comparison of the diving behaviour of Antarctic and subantarctic fur seal pups at Possession Island indicates that the former do indeed spend greater amounts of time in water and learning to dive at an earlier age (S. P. Luque, J. P. Y. Arnould and C. Guinet, unpublished data). Such increased activity would lead to a higher energy expenditure (Baker and Donohue, 2000; Donohue, 1998). Consistent with this earlier development of diving behaviour in Antarctic fur seals is the finding of the present study that pups of this species have greater mass-specific blood volumes than do subantarctic fur seal pups. As Hb and Hct content did not vary between the species, the larger blood volume translates into greater blood oxygen stores in Antarctic fur seal pups (El-Sayed et al., 1995). Blood oxygen storage capacity in pinnipeds generally increases with age until maturity (Costa et al., 1998; Horning and Trillmich, 1997a; Jorgensen et al., 2001). Consequently, the results of the present study suggest that physiological development is faster in Antarctic than in subantarctic fur seal pups.

The converse question posed by the findings of the present study is, as pups of both species appear to receive similar amounts of nutrition during the summer overlap in lactation, why do subantarctic fur seal pups not devote more resources to faster behavioural and physiological development? The answer may lie in the 'anticipation' of a reduced rate of nutrient delivery during the winter months. While there is no corresponding information available for the present study site on Possession Island, average winter maternal foraging trips of subantarctic fur seals at both Amsterdam Island and Marion Island are the longest recorded for any otariid species (23-28 days; Georges and Guinet, 2000b; Kirkman et al., 2002). The fasting durations experienced in winter by pups at these sites, therefore, are some of the most extreme for any infant mammal (Guinet and Georges, 2000). Pups endure these fasts by greatly reducing activity, adopting protein conserving pathways and relying mainly on lipid catabolism for metabolic energy (Beauplet et al., 2003). Furthermore, initial body lipid stores and daily mass loss in these pups are, respectively, positively and negatively related to the fasting durations endured (G. Beauplet, unpublished data; Guinet and Georges, 2000). Hence, a strategy of limiting energy expenditure and directing nutritional resources to adipose tissue growth by subantarctic fur seal pups during the summer months may be an adaptation for accumulating sufficient lipid reserves to survive repeated extreme fasts later in lactation.

In summary, the results of the present study indicate that differences exist in the resting metabolic rates, total energy expenditure and development between Antarctic and subantarctic fur seal pups, two closely related congeneric species (Wynen et al., 2001), at a sympatric breeding site. These differences are consistent with adaptations for rapid development of foraging abilities necessary for the earlier nutritional independence in the former and extended periods of fasting during prolonged maternal dependence in the latter. The mechanisms controlling the physiological differences observed between the two species are unknown but are likely to involve thyroid hormones, which are known to play an important role in regulating metabolism and development in neonatal mammals (Bernal and Refetoff, 1977). While thyroid hormones have been shown to vary throughout development, lactation and between seasons in phocid seals (Haulena et al., 1998; John et al., 1987; Little, 1991; Litz et al., 2001; Ortiz et al., 2001; Woldstad and Jenssen, 1999), their dynamics in otariid seals remain to be investigated.

We are grateful to the members of the 38th research mission to Crozet for their assistance in the field. This research program was conducted under the ethics and scientific approval of the IPEV Ethics Committee (Program 109). The work was supported financially and logistically by Terres Austral et Antarctiques Françaises and the Institut Paul-Emil Victor.

### Growth strategies in fur seal pups 4505

### References

- Adolph, E. F. and Heggeness, F. W. (1971). Age changes in body water and fat in fetal and infant mammals. Growth 35, 55-63.
- Arnould, J. P. Y., Boyd, I. L. and Socha, D. G. (1996a). Milk consumption and growth efficiency in Antarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus gazella) pups. Can. J. Zool. 74, 254-266.
- Arnould, J. P. Y., Boyd, I. L. and Speakman, J. R. (1996b). Measuring the body composition of Antarctic fur seals (*Arctocephalus gazella*): validation of hydrogen isotope dilution. *Physiol. Zool.* 69, 93-116.
- Arnould, J. P. Y., Green, J. A. and Rawlins, D. R. (2001). Fasting metabolism in Antarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus gazella) pups. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A 129, 829-841.
- Arnould, J. P. Y. and Hindell, M. A. (2002). Milk consumption, body composition and pre-weaning growth rates of Australian fur seal (Arctocephalus pusillus doriferus) pups. J. Zool. Lond. 256, 351-359.
- Baker, J. D. and Donohue, M. J. (2000). Ontogeny of swimming and diving in northern fur seal (Callorhimus ursinus) pups. Can. J. Zool. 78, 100-109.
- Beauplet, G., Guinet, C. and Arnould, J. P. Y. (2003). Body composition changes, metabolic fuel use, and energy expenditure during extended fasting in subantarctic fur seal (*Arctocephalus tropicalis*) pups at Amsterdam Island. *Physiol. Biochem. Zool.* 76, 262-270.
- Bernal, J. and Refetoff, S. (1977). The action of thyroid hormone. J. Endocrinol. 6, 227-249.
- Birgersson, B. and Ekvall, K. (1997). Early growth in male and female fallow deer fawns. Behav. Ecol. 8, 493-499.
- Blaxter, K. L. (1989). Energy Metabolism in Animals and Man. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Bolly, P. and Lavigne, D. M. (1996). Thermoregulation of juvenile grey seals, Halichoerus grypus, in air. Can. J. Zool. 74, 201-208.
- Bonner, W. N. (1984). Lactation strategies in pinnipeds: problems for a marine mammalian group. Symp. Zool. Soc. Lond. 51, 253-272.
   Buras, J. M. (1999). The development of diving behavior in juvenile Weddell
- Burns, J. M. (1999). The development of diving behavior in juvenile Weddell seals: pushing physiological limits in order to survive. *Can. J. Zool.* 77, 737-747.
- Batter, P. J. and Woakes, A. J. (1982). Telemetry of physiological variables from diving and flying birds. Symp. Zool. Soc. Lond. 49, 106-128.Byrne, H. K. and Wilmore, J. H. (2001). The effects of a 20-week exercise
- Byrne, H. K. and Wilmore, J. H. (2001). The effects of a 20-week exercise training program on resting metabolic rate in previously sedentary, moderately obese women. *Int. J. Sport Nutr. Exe.* 11, 15-31.
- moderately obese women. Int. J. Sport Nutr. Exe. 11, 15-31. Clutton-Brock, T. H., Major, M., Albon, S. D. and Guinness, F. E. (1987). Early development and population dynamics in red deer. I. Densitydependent effects on juvenile survival. J. Anim. Ecol. 56, 53-67.
- Costa, D. P. (1987). Isotopic methods for quantifying material and energy intake of free-ranging marine mammals. In *Approaches to Marine Mammal Energetics* (ed. A. C. Huntley, D. P. Costa, G. A. J. Worthy and M. A. Castellini, pp. 43-66. Lawrence, Kanasa: Allen Press.
- Castellini), pp. 43-66. Lawrence, Kansas: Allen Press.
  Costa, D. P. (1988). Methods for studying the energetics of freely diving animals. Can. J. Zool. 66, 45-52.
- Costa, D. P., Gales, N. J. and Crocker, D. E. (1998). Blood volume and diving ability of the New Zealand sea lion, *Phocarctos hookeri*. *Physiol. Zool.* 71, 208-213.
- Coulson, T., Catchpole, E. A., Albon, S. D., Morgan, B. J. T., Pemberton, J. M., Clutton-Brock, T. H., Crawley, M. J. and Grenfell, B. T. (2001). Age, sex, density, winter weather, and population crashes in Soay sheep. *Science* 292, 1528-1531.
- Dempster, E. R., Perrin, M. R. and Nuttall, R. J. (1992). Postnataldevelopment of 3 sympatric small mammal species of southern Africa. Z. Saugetierkd. 57, 103-111.
- Donohue, M. J. (1998). Energetics and development of northern fur seal, Callorhinus ursinus, pups. Ph.D. Thesis. University of California, Santa Cruz, USA.
- Donohue, M. J., Costa, D. P., Goebel, E., Antonelia, G. A. and Baker, J. D. (2002). Milk intake and energy expenditure of free-ranging northern fur seal, *Callorhinus ursinus*, pups. *Physiol. Biochem. Zool.* **75**, 3-18.
- Donohue, M. J., Costa, D. P., Goebel, M. E. and Baker, J. D. (2000). The ontogeny of metabolic rate and thermoregulatory capabilities of northern fur seal, *Callorhinus ursinus*, pups in air and water. J. Exp. Biol. 203, 1003-1016.
- El-Sayed, H., Goodall, S. R. and Hainsworth, R. (1995). Re-evaluation of Evans Blue dye dilution method of plasma volume measurements. *Clin. Lob. Haem.* 17, 189-194.
- Fisher, D. O., Biomberg, S. P. and Owens, I. P. F. (2002). Convergent maternal care strategies in ungulates and macropods. Evolution 56, 167-176. Foldager, N. and Biomqvist, C. G. (1991). Repeated plasma volume

### 4506 J. P. Y. Arnould and others

determination with the Evans blue dye dilution technique; the method and a computer program. Comput. Biol. Med. 21, 35-41.

- Gentry, R. L. and Kooyman, G. L. (1986). Fur seals: Maternal Strategies on Land and at Sea. Princeton: Princeton University Press Georges, J. Y., Groscolas, R., Guinet, C. and Robin, J. P. (2001). Milking
- strategy in subantarctic fur seals Arctocephalus tropicalis breeding of Amsterdam island: evidence from changes in milk composition. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 74, 548-559.
- Georges, J. Y. and Guinet, C. (2000a). Early mortality and perinatal growth in the subantarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus tropicalis) on Amsterdam Island. J. Zool. 251, 277-287.

Georges, J. Y. and Guinet, C. (2000b). Maternal care in the subantarctic fur seals on Amsterdam Island. Ecology 81, 295-308.

- Goldsworthy, S. D. (1999). Maternal attendance behaviour of sympatrically breeding Antarctic and subantarctic fur seals, Arctocephalus spp., at Macquarie Island. Polar Biol. 21, 316-325.
- Goldsworthy, S. D. and Crowley, H. M. (1999). The composition of the milk of Antarctic (Arctocephalus gazella) and subantarctic (A. tropicalis) fur seals at Macquarie Island, Aust, J. Zool. 47, 593-603.
- Goldswortby, S. D., Hindell, M. A. and Crowley, H. M. (1997). Diet and diving behaviour of sympatric fur seals Arctocephalus gazella and A. tropicalis at Macquarie Island. In Marine Mammal Research in the Southern Hemisphere, Vol. 1: Status, Ecology and Medicine (ed. M. Hindell and C.
- Kemper), pp. 151-163. Chipping Norton: Surrey Beatty. Green, K., Williams, R., Handasyde, K., Burton, H. R. and Shaughnessy, P. D. (1990). Interspecific and intraspecific differences in the diets of three species of Arctocephalus (Pinnipedia:Otariidae) at Macquarie Island. Aust. Mamm. 13, 193-200.
- Guinet, C. and Georges, J. Y. (2000). Growth in pups of the subantarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus tropicalis) on Amsterdam Island. J. Zool. 251, 289-296. Guinet, C., Goldsworthy, S. D. and Robinson, S. (1999). Sex differences in
- mass loss rate and growth efficiency in Antarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus gazella) pups at Macquarie Island. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 46, 157-163. Guinet, C., Jouventin, P. and Georges, J. Y. (1994). Long-term population
- changes of fur seals Arctocephalus gazella and Arctocephalus tropicalis on sub-Antarctic (Crozet) and subtropical (St-Paul and Amsterdam) Islands and their possible relationship to El-Nino-Southern-Oscillation. Antarct. Sci. 6, 473-478
- Haulena, M., St Aubin, D. J. and Duignan, P. J. (1998). Thyroid hormone dynamics during the nursing period in harbour seals, *Phoca vitulina. Can.* J. Zool. 76, 48-55.
- Horning, M. and Trillmich, F. (1997a). Development of hemoglobin, hematocrit, and erythrocyte values in Galapagos fur seals. Mar. Mamm. Sci. 13. 100-113.
- Horning, M. and Trillmich, F. (1997b). Ontogeny of diving behaviour in the Galapagos fur scal. Behaviour 134, 1211-1257.
- Innes, D. G. L. and Millar, J. S. (1994). Life-Histories of Clethrionomys and Microtus (Microtinae). Mammal Rev. 24, 179-207,
- Innes, D. G. L. and Millar, J. S. (1995). Correlates of life-history variation
- in Clethrionomys and Microtus (Microtinae). Ecoscience 2, 329-334. John, T. M., Ronald, K. and George, J. C. (1987). Blood-levels of thyroid hormones and certain metabolites in relation to molt in the Harp seal (Phoca groenlandica). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A 88, 655-657. Jorgensen, C., Lydersen, C., Brix, O. and Kovaca, K. M. (2001). Diving

in nursing harbour seal pups. J. Exp. Biol. 204, 3993-4004.

- Kerley, G. I. H. (1983). Comparison of seasonal haul-out patterns of fur seals Arctocephalus tropicalis and A. gazella on subantarctic Marion Island. S. Afr. J. Wildl. Res. 13, 71-77.
- Kerley, G. I. H. (1984). The relationship between two species of fur seals Arctocephalus tropicalis (Gray) and A. gazella (Peters) on Marion Island. Ph.D. Thesis. University of Pretoria, South Africa
- Kerley, G. I. H. (1985). Pup growth in the fur seals Arctacephalus tropicalis and A. gazella on Marion Island. J. Zool. Lond. 205, 315-324.
- Kirkman, S. P., Bester, M. N., Hofmeyr, G. J. G., Pistorius, P. A. and Makhado, A. B. (2002). Pup growth and maternal attendance patterns in Subantarctic fur seals. Afr. Zool. 37, 13-19.
- Klages, N. T. W. and Bester, M. N. (1998). Fish prey of fur seals Arctocephalus spp. at subantarctic Marion Island. Mar. Biol. 131, 559-566. Le Boeuf, B. J., Morris, P. and Reiter, J. (1994). Juvenile survival of
- northern elephant seals. In Elephant seals: Population Ecology, Behavior, and Physiology (ed. B. J. Le Boeuf and R. M. Laws), pp. 121-137. Berkeley: University of California Press. Les, M. A., Bonadonna, F., Hindell, M. A., Guinet, C. and Goldsworthy,
- S. D. (2002). Drinking behaviour and water turnover rates of Antarctic fur

seal pups: implications for the estimation of milk intake by isotopic dilution. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A 132, 321-331.

- Lee, D. T., Toner, M. M., McArdle, W. D., Vrabas, I. S. and Pandolf, K. B. (1997). Thermal and metabolic responses to cold-water immersion at knee, hip, and shoulder levels. J. Appl. Physiol. 82, 1523-1530.
- Little, G. J. (1991). Thyroid morphology and function and its role in thermoregulation in the newborn southern elephant seal (*Mirounga leonina*) at Macquarie Island. J. Anat. 176, 55-69.
- Litz, B. J., Gurun, G., Houser, D. S., Ortiz, R. M. and Ortiz, C. L. (2001). Comparison of thyroid hormone concentrations between nursing and fasting in northern elephant seal pups. FASEB J. 15, A414.
- Loudon, A. S. I. and Racey, P. A. (eds) (1987). Reproductive Energetics of Mammals. Symp. Zool. Soc. Lond. 57, 1, Martin, P. (1984). The meaning of weaning. Anim. Behav. 32, 1257-1259.
- McAdam, A. G. and Müllar, J. S. (1999). Dietary protein constraint on age at maturity: an experimental test with wild deer mice. J. Anim. Ecol. 68, 733-740.
- McCafferty, D. J., Boyd, L. L. and Taylor, R. I. (1998). Diving behaviour of Antarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus gazella) pups. Can. J. Zool. 76, 513-520.
- Nagy, K. A. (1980). CO2 production in animals: an analysis of potential errors in the doubly-labeled water method. Am. J. Physiol. 238, R466-R473. Nagy, K. A. and Costa, D. P. (1980). Water flux in animals: analysis of
- potential errors in the tritiated water method. Am. J. Physiol. 238, R454-R465.
- Oftedal, O. T. and Iverson, S. J. (1987). Hydrogen isotope methodology for measurement of milk intake and energetics of growth in suckling young. In Approaches to Marine Mammal Energetics (ed. A. C. Huntley, D. P. Costa, G. A. J. Worthy and M. A. Castellini), pp. 67-96. Lawrence, Kansas: Allen Press.
- Ortiz, C. L. (1987). Measurement of protein metabolism in naturally fasting phocids. In Approaches to Marine Mammal Energetics (ed. A. Huntley, D. P. Costa, G. A. J. Worthy and M. A. Castellini), pp. 29-43. Lawrence: Society for Marine Mammalogy
- Ortiz, C. L., Costa, D. P. and Le Bocuf, B. J. (1978). Water and energy flux in elephant seal pups fasting under natural conditions. Physiol. Zool. 51, 166-178.
- Ortiz, R. M., Wade, C. E. and Ortiz, C. L. (2001). Effects of prolonged fasting on plasma cortisol and TH in postweaned northern elephant seal pups. Am. J. Physiol.-Reg. 1 280, R790-R795.
- Owens, F. N., Duheski, P. and Hanson, C. F. (1993). Factors that alter the
- growth and development of ruminants. J. Anim. Sci. 71, 3138-3150. Peaker, M. (1989). Evolutionary strategies in lactation: nutritional implications. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 48, 53-57.
- Pochiman, E. T. and Danforth, E. (1991). Endurance training increases metabolic-rate and norepinephrine appearance rate in older individuals. Am. J. Physiol. 261, E233-E239.
- Price, M. A. and White, R. G. (1985). Growth and development. In Bioenergetics of Wild Herbivores (ed. R. J. Hudson and R. G. White), pp. 183-213. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Rellly, J. J. and Fedak, M. A. (1990). Measurement of the body composition of living gray seals by hydrogen isotope dilution. J. Appl. Physiol. 69, 885-891.
- Robinson, S. A., Goldsworthy, S. G., van den Hoff, J. and Hindell, M. A. (2002). The foraging ecology of two sympatric fur seal species, Arctocephalus gazella and Arctocephalus tropicalis, at Macquarie Island during the austral summer. Mar. Freshwater Res. 53, 1071-1082.
- Schmidt-Nielsen, K. (1983). Animal Physiology: Adaptation and Environment. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Spray, C. M. and Widdowson, E. M. (1950). The effect of growth and
- development on the composition of mammals. Br. J. Nutr. 4, 332-353. Tremblay, A., Covency, S., Despres, J. P., Nadeau, A. and Prudhomme,
- D. (1992). Increased resting metabolic-rate and lipid oxidation in exercisetrained individuals - evidence for a role of beta-adrenergic stimulation. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 79, 1342-1347.
- Van Ballenberghe, V. and Mech, L. D. (1975). Weights, growth, and survival of timber wolf pups in Minnesota, J. Mamm. 56, 44-63. Withers, P. C. (1977). Measurement of VO2, VCO2 and evaporative water loss
- Woldstad, S. and Jenssen, B. M. (1999). Thyroid hormones in grey scal pups (Halichoerus grypus). Comp Biochem Physiol. A 122, 157-162.
- Wynen, L. P., Goldsworthy, S. D., Insley, S. J., Adams, M., Bickham, J. W., Francis, J., Gallo, J. P., Hoelzel, A. R., Majluf, P., White, R. W. G. et al. (2001). Phylogenetic relationships within the cared seals (Otariidae: Carnivora): implications for the historical biogeography of the family. Mol. Phylogenet, Evol. 21, 270-284.



